
 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING 

 

April 05, 2022 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 

 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Virtual Meeting Information: 

Zoom link: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88387585556?pwd=bDhncFEvSlMwdmN2VW9NWUR5OHduQT09 

Phone Number: 1-929-436-2866 

Meeting ID: 883 8758 5556 

Access Code: 645218 

 
 

I. Roll Call 

II. Call to Order 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes - Consideration to approve the March 15, 2022 Board of Commissioners regular 
meeting minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Agenda Items ONLY 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website 

 

 

1



 

Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – April 05, 2022 

IX. Consent Agenda 

1. [2022-162 Contracts]  

Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and Architectural 
Services for one (1) year 

X. Old Business 

1. [2022-129 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by Jerome S. Konter as Agent 
for JGH Commercial LLC to rezone 18.67 acres located on Hodgeville Road from PD 
(commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for a 206-unit multi-family residential 
development Map# 416 Parcel# 20D in the Second District (postponed from the 
3/1/2022 meeting) 

2. [2022-130 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jerome S. Konter as 
Agent for JGH Commercial LLC to rezone 18.67 acres located on Hodgeville Road 
from PD (commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for a 206-unit multi-family 
residential development Map# 416 Parcel# 20D in the Second District (postponed from 
the 3/1/2022 meeting) 

XI. New Business 

1. [2022-163 Audit Presentation] Mark Barnes 

Presentation of the Fiscal Year 2021 audited financial report by Lanier, Deal & Proctor  

2. [2022-164 Audit] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve the transmission of the Fiscal Year 2021 audited annual 
financial report to the State of Georgia  

3. [2022-165 Resolution] Stephanie Johnson  

Consideration to approve Resolution# 022-020 in recognition of the Eden Missionary 
Baptist Church 150th Anniversary  

4. [2022-166 Agreement/DC Plan] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve an Agreement and  Resolution (#022-021) to Adopt  the 2022 
Defined Contribution Plan with the Association of County Commissioners of Georgia 
(ACCG) 

5. [2022-167Ordinance] Eric Larson 

Consideration to approve an Ordinance to reduce the speed limit from 45 mph to 35 mph 
on Blue Jay Road and McCall Road at their new intersection 

6. [2022-168 Change Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Change Order #2 for Contract  21-25-005 with McLendon 
Enterprises, Inc. for TSPLOST/LMIG Road Resurfacing  

7. [2022-169 Positions] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve reorganization of current personnel, authorized positions and 
addition of requested positions for the Recreation and Sports Management Department  

2



 

Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – April 05, 2022 

8. [2022-170 Contract] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Contract Amendment 2022-08.36 from the Coastal Regional 
Commission for the 2022 grant budget related to home delivered and congregate meals 

9. [2022-171 Contract] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve a Contract with ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation Georgia County 
Internship Program (GCIP) 

10. [2022-172 Grant] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to ratify and affirm acceptance of a Grant Award from the Governor's 
Office of Planning and Budget (OPB) for the Georgia Public Safety Officials and First 
Responders Supplement Grant  

11. [2022- 173 Change Order] Eric Larson 

Consideration to approve Change Order# 1 with Pond Company for a  design and traffic 
study of the Blue Jay Road and Effingham Parkway   

XII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIII. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XIV. Executive Session Minutes - Consideration to approve the March 15, 2022 executive 
session minutes 

XV. Planning Board 

1. [2021-174 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommend approving an application by Zeny Carmen Rafael to 
rezone 3 of 14 acres located at 591 Zittrouer Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the 
separation of a home site Map# 374 Parcel# 29 (First District) 

2. [2022-175 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Zeny Carmen 
Rafael to rezone 3 of 14 acres located at 591 Zittrouer Road from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow 
for the separation of a home site Map# 374 Parcel# 29 (First District) 

3. [2022-176 Sketch Plan]  

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Buckel Design Group, 
LLC as Agent for Drayton-Parker Companies, LLC for a Sketch Plan for: “Parker’s 
Kitchen ".located at US Highway 80 & GA Highway 17 South, zoned B-3.  Map# 378 
Parcels# 40 & 41 (First District) 

4. [2022-177 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Alan Fred Hazard Jr. to 
rezone 3.5 acres located at 3535 Noel C. Conaway Road from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the 
creation of two lots under 5 acres Map# 436 Parcel# 44 (Second District) 

5. [2022-178 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Alan Fred Hazard 
Jr. to rezone 3.50 acres  located at 3535 Noel C. Conaway Road from AR-1 to AR-2 allow 
for the creation of two lots under 5 acres  Map# 436 Parcel# 44 (Second District) 

 

3



 

Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – April 05, 2022 

6. [2022-179 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Shelley McCraw requests 
a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 238 Griffin Lake Road, zoned AR-
1.  Map# 234 Parcel# 7 (Third District) 

7. [2022-180 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Shelley 
McCraw requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 238 Griffin Lake 
Road, zoned AR-1.  Map# 234 Parcel# 7 (Third District) 

8. [2022-181 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by La Von Morell to rezone 
3.84 of 10.15 acres located at 519 Savannah Town Road from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for 
the separation of a home site Map# 264 Parcel# 23 (Third District) 

9. 2022-182 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by La Von 
Morell to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres located at 519 Savannah Town Road from AR-
1 to AR-2, to allow for the separation of a home site Map# 264 Parcel# 23 (Third 
District) 

10. [2022-183 Public Hearing] Stephanie Johnson 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Katie McGrory Brown 
requests a conditional use for a rural business to offer equine therapy to clients. 
Located at 716 Floyd Avenue, zoned AR-1.  Map# 296 Parcel# 27 (Third District) 

11. [2022-184 Second Reading]  

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Katie McGrory 
Brown requests a conditional use for a rural business to offer equine therapy to 
clients. Located at 716 Floyd Avenue, zoned AR-1.  Map# 296 Parcel# 27 (Third 
District) 

12. [2022-185 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jonathan Yates as Agent 
for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester  to rezone 38.495 acres located at 2800 Little McCall 
Road from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower Map# 392 Parcel# 2A 
(Fourth District) 

13. [2022-186 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of by Jonathan Yates as Agent for Donald 
A. & Lyn M. Wester  to rezone 38.495 acres located at 2800 Little McCall Road from R-
1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower Map# 392 Parcel# 2A (Fourth 
District) 

14. [2022-187 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Jonathan Yates as Agent 
for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester for a Conditional Use located at 2800 Little McCall 
Road to allow for a telecommunications tower, zoned R-1 proposed zoning AR-1. Map# 
392 Parcel# 2A (Fourth District) 

4



 

Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting – April 05, 2022 

15. [2022-188 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jonathan Yates as 
Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester for a Conditional Use located at 2800 Little 
McCall Road to allow for a telecommunications tower, zoned R-1 proposed zoning AR-
1. Map# 392 Parcel# 2A (Fourth District) 

16. [2022-189 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends denying an application by On Site Truck 
Maintenance, LLC as Agent for William Henry Webb requests a conditional use to 
allow for a diesel truck and semi-truck service business. Located at 1105 Stillwell Road, 
zoned B-2. Map# 409 Parcel# 49A (Fourth District) 

17. [2022-190 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Jonathan Yates as 
Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester for a Conditional Use located at 2800 Little 
McCall Road to allow for a telecommunications tower, zoned R-1 proposed zoning AR-
1. Map# 392 Parcel# 2A (Fourth District) 

18. [2022-191 Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by DR Horton for a 
Variance located at 136 Ramsey Way from Section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk 
requirement in a major subdivision, zoned R-1 Map# 445C Parcel# 141 (Fourth 
District) 

19. [2022-192 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve Second Reading by DR Horton for a Variance located at 136 
Ramsey Way from Section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk requirement in a major 
subdivision, zoned R-1 Map# 445C Parcel# 141 (Fourth District)  

20. [2022-193 [Public Hearing] Teresa Concannon 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Dennis Trotter as Agent 
for Krista Seckinger to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres located at 1369 Ebenezer Road from 
AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store Map# 460 
Parcel# 48 (Fourth District) 

21. [2022-194 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Dennis Trotter as 
Agent for Krista Seckinger to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres located at 1369 Ebenezer Road 
from AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store Map# 
460 Parcel# 48 (Fourth District) 

XVI. Adjournment 

5



Staff Report 

 

Subject: Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and Architectural 

Services for one (1) year 

Author: Eric Larson, Asst. County Manager, Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: County Manager 

Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 

Item Description: Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and 

Architectural Services for one (1) year with multiple firms 

 

Summary Recommendation:  

Throughout the year, the County will advertise and select professional design consultants to 

provide services to the County.  These services vary from roadway, water and sewer, building, 

and site design, transportation, utility, and road planning documents, small scale / short timeline 

repairs and renovations, etc.  The time need to properly prepare an Request for Qualification, 

advertise for responses, reviewing Statements of Qualifications, awarding contracts and 

negotiating fees can be extensive and has the potential to delay needed project several months.  

The IDC process is needed to pre-qualify teams and individual firms and establish negotiated 

rates under a master service agreement.  Once each firm is under contract, requesting a scope 

of service and man-hour estimate would take only a day or two instead of the traditional 90+ days.    

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 The County prepared a RFQ for firms to submit qualifications and hourly fees for 12 

different service areas and received 20 submittals. A selection committee consisting of the 

Purchasing Director, County Engineer, EOM Engineering Consultant, and the County 

Manager reviewed and ranked the teams and firms in each of the 12 service areas. See 

attached summary. 

 These contracts were approved by the Board of Commissioners in April of 2021, and staff 

is requesting renewal for another year.  

 While utilizing these agreements, staff has been able to expedite multiple projects with a 

shortened bidding process saving the county both time and money.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1 – Approve the Renewal of the Indefinite Delivery Contracts (IDC) for Engineering and 

Architectural Services for one (1) year 

2 – Take no action 

 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1 

Other Alternatives: N/A 

Department Review: County Engineering; County Attorney 

Funding Source: N/A (Master Service Agreements have no funding.  Each Task Order 

authorized under the MSA will have dedicated funding associated with the project.) 

Attachments:  1. IDC Listing breakdown by category 

2. Current IDC Contracts 

 

6

Item IX. 1.



Contact list for IDC Consultants

Civil/Site Design/Surveying Construction Management

Kimley Horn Kimley Horn

Atlas Atlas

Pittman Engineering CHA Consulting

POND POND

Coleman Company Hussey Gay Bell

Thomas & Hutton

Hussey Gay Bell Landscape Architecture

WK Dickson Kimley Horn

Roberts Civil Engineering Cogdell Mendrala

CHA Consulting

Utilities Infrastructure POND

Black & Veatch Thomas & Hutton

POND Hussey Gay Bell

Coleman Company WK Dickson

Thomas & Hutton

Alliance Facility Assessment & Space Allocation

Hussey Gay Bell Kimley Horn

WK Dickson Atlas

Cogdell Mendrala

Transportation CHA Consulting

Atlas POND

Pittman Engineering Greenline Architecture

POND Hussey Gay Bell

Thomas & Hutton

Alliance Building Systems Evaluation

Hussey Gay Bell Kimley Horn

Atlas

Structural Cogdell Medrala

Kimley Horn CHA Consultaing

Cogdell Mendrala POND

POND Greenline Architecture

Thomas & Hutton Hussey Gay Bell

Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson Interior & Exterior Renovations

Kimley Horn

Stormwater Design & Stormwater Management Atlas

Pittman Engineering Cogdell Mendrala

POND CHA Consulting

Thomas & Hutton POND

Alliance Greenline Architecture

Hussey Gay Bell Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson

Building and Park Design

Geotechnical & Enviornmental Services Kimley Horn

Kimley Horn Atlas

Cogdell Mendrala Cogdell Mendrala

CHA Consulting CHA Consulting

POND POND

Coleman Company Coleman Company

Hussey Gay Bell Greeline Architecture

WK Dickson Hussey Gay Bell

WK Dickson

7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



., 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 North Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

Services Contract 

Between 

and Cogdell & Mendrala Architects, PC 
517 East Congress Street 
Savannah, GA 31401 

This Contract (hereinafter referred to as "Contract" or "Agreemenf) is made and entered into by and between the Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the "Board" and/or "County") and Cogdell & Mendrala 
Architects, PC (hereinafter called the "Consultant"). This Contract shall be effective and binding on the date that the last 
authorized signature is affixed. 

WITNESS ETH 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to engage a qualified surveying company as specified in RFQ No. 21-007- Indefinite Delivery 
Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant has represented to the Board that it is experienced, licensed and qualified to provide the services 
contained herein, and the Board has relied upon such representation; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, it is agreed by and between the 
Board and the Consultant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CONTRACT 

SECTION 1-1 TERMS OF SERVICE. 
The initial contract term will be for a 12-month period with option to be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the 
Board of Commissioners. scope of services and the terms and conditions of performance shall be as specified in this document 
and in RFQ No. 21-007 - Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services and related 
addenda which are hereby adopted and incorporated as if set forth fully herein. 

SECTION 1.2 CONTRACT. 
This Contract is an Indefinite Delivery Contract based on specific on Professional Engineering Services. Specific Contract 
Amounts to be determined and awarded via Task Orders based on work requested and proposals provided by the Consultant 
and approved by the County Manager/County Engineer. 

SECTION 1.3 REQUIREMENT FOR MANDATORY PERFORMANCE. 
The words "shall", "will" and "must" may be used interchangeably in this Contract and in any case will indicate mandatory. 

SECTION 1-4 PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT. 
The Consultant represents that it has secured and will secure, at its own expense, all personnel and equipment necessary to 
perform the services of this Contract, none of whom shall be employees of, nor have any contractual relationship with Effingham 
County. All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Consultant under its supervision, and all personnel 
engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under law to perform such services. 

SECTION 1-5 CHANGES TO THIS CONTRACT. 
The County may, at any time, request changes in the Scope of Services of the Consultant to be performed hereunder. Such 
changes, including any increase or decrease in term, rate, or amount of the Consultant's compensation, as more fully described 
elsewhere herein, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the County and the Consultant shall be incorporated in 
written amendments to this Contract. 

SECTION 1-6 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR CAUSE. 
County may terminate this Contract for cause or Consultant's persistent failure to perform the work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. If County terminates the Contract for cause, Consultant shall not be entitled to any further payment from 
the effective date of the termination which shall be stated in the termination letter sent by the County. 

SECTION 1-7 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT CAUSE. 
County may terminate without cause, upon seven (7) days written notice to Consultant. In such case, Consultant shall be paid 
for completed and acceptable work executed in accordance with this Contract prior to the effective date of termination. 

1of14 

engineering/architectural
---------

10

Item IX. 1.



11

Item IX. 1.



12

Item IX. 1.



13

Item IX. 1.



14

Item IX. 1.



15

Item IX. 1.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 North Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

Services Contract 

Between 

and Roberts Civil Engineering 
301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 1 O 
St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

This Contract (hereinafter referred to as "Contract" or "Agreement") is made and entered into by and between the Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the "Board" and/or "County") and Roberts Civil 
Engineering (hereinafter called the "Consultant"). This Contract shall be effective and binding on the date that the last 
authorized signature is affixed. 

WITNESS ETH 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to engage a qualified surveying company as specified in RFQ No. 21-007- Indefinite Delivery 
Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant has represented to the Board that it is experienced, licensed and qualified to provide the services 
contained herein, and the Board has relied upon such representation; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, it is agreed by and between the 
Board and the Consultant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CONTRACT 

SECTION 1-1 TERMS OF SERVICE. 
The initial contract term will be for a 12-month period with option to be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the 
Board of Commissioners. scope of services and the terms and conditions of performance shall be as specified in this document 
and in RFQ No. 21-007 - Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services and related 
addenda which are hereby adopted and incorporated as if set forth fully herein. 

SECTION 1.2 CONTRACT. 
This Contract is an Indefinite Delivery Contract based on specific on Professional Engineering Services. Specific Contract 
Amounts to be determined and awarded via Task Orders based on work requested and proposals provided by the Consultant 
and approved by the County Manager/County Engineer. 

SECTION 1.3 REQUIREMENT FOR MANDATORY PERFORMANCE. 
The words "shall", "will" and "musf' may be used interchangeably in this Contract and in any case will indicate mandatory. 

SECTION 1-4 PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT. 
The Consultant represents that it has secured and will secure, at its own expense, all personnel and equipment necessary to 
perform the services of this Contract, none of whom shall be employees of, nor have any contractual relationship with Effingham 
County. All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Consultant under its supervision, and all personnel 
engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under law to perform such services. 

SECTION 1-5 CHANGES TO THIS CONTRACT. 
The County may, at any time, request changes in the Scope of Services of the Consultant to be performed hereunder. Such 
changes, including any increase or decrease in term, rate, or amount of the Consultant's compensation, as more fully described 
elsewhere herein, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the County and the Consultant shall be incorporated in 
written amendments to this Contract. 

SECTION 1-6 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR CAUSE. 
County may terminate this Contract for cause or Consultant's persistent failure to perform the work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. If County terminates the Contract for cause, Consultant shall not be entitled to any further payment from 
the effective date of the termination which shall be stated in the termination letter sent by the County. 

SECTION 1-7 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT CAUSE. 
County may terminate without cause, upon seven (7) days written notice to Consultant. In such case, Consultant shall be paid 
for completed and acceptable work executed in accordance with this Contract prior to the effective date of termination. 

1of7 

engineering

16

Item IX. 1.

abruton
Highlight



Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 North Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

Services Contract 

Between 

and Thomas & Hutton Engineering Co 
50 Park of Commerce Way 
Savannah, GA 31405 

This Contract (hereinafter referred to as "Contracf' or "Agreemenf') is made and entered into by and between the Board of 
Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the "Board" and/or "County") and Thomas & Hutton 
Engineering Co. (hereinafter called the "Consultant"). This Contract shall be effective and binding on the date that the last 
authorized signature is affixed. 

WITNESS ETH 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to engage a qualified surveying company as specified in RFQ No. 21-007 - Indefinite Delivery 
Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services; and 

WHEREAS, the Consultant has represented to the Board that it is experienced, licensed and qualified to provide the services 
contained herein, and the Board has relied upon such representation; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, it is agreed by and between the 
Board and the Consultant as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CONTRACT 

SECTION 1-1 TERMS OF SERVICE. 
The initial contract term will be for a 12-month period with option to be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the 
Board of Commissioners. scope of services and the terms and conditions of performance shall be as specified in this document 
and in RFQ No. 21-007 - Indefinite Delivery Contract for Professional Engineering & Architectural Services and related 
addenda which are hereby adopted and incorporated as if set forth fully herein. 

SECTION 1.2 CONTRACT. 
This Contract is an Indefinite Delivery Contract based on specific on Professional Engineering Services. Specific Contract 
Amounts to be determined and awarded via Task Orders based on work requested and proposals provided by the Consultant 
and approved by the County Manager/County Engineer. 

SECTION 1.3 REQUIREMENT FOR MANDATORY PERFORMANCE. 
The words "shall", "will" and "musf' may be used interchangeably in this Contract and in any case will indicate mandatory. 

SECTION 1-4 PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT. 
The Consultant represents that it has secured and will secure, at its own expense, all personnel and equipment necessary to 
perform the services of this Contract, none of whom shall be employees of, nor have any contractual relationship with Effingham 
County. All of the services required hereunder will be performed by the Consultant under its supervision, and all personnel 
engaged in the work shall be fully qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under law to perform such services. 

SECTION 1-5 CHANGES TO THIS CONTRACT. 
The County may, at any time, request changes in the Scope of Services of the Consultant to be performed hereunder. Such 
changes, including any increase or decrease in term, rate, or amount of the Consultant's compensation, as more fully described 
elsewhere herein, which are mutually agreed upon by and between the County and the Consultant shall be incorporated in 
written amendments to this Contract. 

SECTION 1-6 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR CAUSE. 
County may terminate this Contract for cause or Consultant's persistent failure to perform the work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. If County terminates the Contract for cause, Consultant shall not be entitled to any further payment from 
the effective date of the termination which shall be stated in the termination letter sent by the County. 

SECTION 1-7 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT CAUSE. 
County may terminate without cause, upon seven (7) days written notice to Consultant. In such case, Consultant shall be paid 
for completed and acceptable work executed in accordance with this Contract prior to the effective date of termination. 

1 of7 

consultant
---------

17

Item IX. 1.



18

Item IX. 1.



19

Item IX. 1.



20

Item IX. 1.



21

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report  

Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Jerome S. Konter as Agent for JGH Commercial, LLC requests to rezone 18.67 
acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for 206-unit multi-family residential development.  
Located on Hodgeville Road. Map# 416 Parcel# 20D 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD 
(commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for multi-family residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant has determined that market conditions favor multifamily residential rental development over 

commercial development at this location, and requests a change in permitted land use for this parcel. 

 Pursuant to section 5.15.2.2 (Planned Development), any substantial change (such as land use, acreage, 

and project intent) is treated as a proposed amendment to the zoning ordinance, and must be approved 

by the Board of Commissioners. 

 At the July 21, 2021 pre-application meeting, staff provided input on requirements for open space, 

amenities, resident parking, common element maintenance, and a traffic study to identify necessary 

improvements for Hodgeville Road.  

 A PD amendment/rezoning application was submitted for the December Planning Board meeting agenda. 

Staff requested revisions to clarify the PD amendment. The current version of the PD document proposes 

a multifamily development with up to 206 units in 25 buildings (12 buildings with 2-bedroom units, and 13 

buildings with 3-bedroom units), which represents a gross density of 11 units per acre, and a net density 

of 15 units per acre. 174 units are shown on attached concept plan, which represents a gross density of 

9.3 units per acre, and a net density of 12.7 units per acre. This project will be served by county water 

and sewer. 

 The development will include parking in front of the buildings and five 6-unit garage buildings. 1.5 parking 

spaces are required per multifamily unit (174 units*1.5=261 spaces); 375 total spaces are proposed. 206 

units would require at least 309 parking spaces. 

 At the February 14 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to deny the request to rezone 

18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential), with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

4. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to 

Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

 On March 1, the applicant requested to postpone the public hearing to the April 5 Board meeting. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve the request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD residential), with the following 
conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 
22

Item X. 1.



2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

4. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

2.  Deny request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential). 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 4. Deed  

2. Ownership certificate   5. Aerial photograph 
3. Plat 

  

 

23

Item X. 1.



24

Item X. 1.



25

Item X. 1.



26

Item X. 1.



27

Item X. 1.



28

Item X. 1.



29

Item X. 1.



30

Item X. 1.



31

Item X. 1.



32

Item X. 1.



33

Item X. 1.



34

Item X. 1.



35

Item X. 1.



36

Item X. 1.



37

Item X. 1.



38

Item X. 1.



39

Item X. 1.



40

Item X. 1.



Staff Report  

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Jerome S. Konter as Agent for JGH Commercial, LLC requests to rezone 18.67 
acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for 206-unit multi-family residential development.  
Located on Hodgeville Road. Map# 416 Parcel# 20D 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD 
(commercial) to PD (residential) to allow for multi-family residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. 

 The applicant has determined that market conditions favor multifamily residential rental development over 

commercial development at this location, and requests a change in permitted land use for this parcel. 

 Pursuant to section 5.15.2.2 (Planned Development), any substantial change (such as land use, acreage, 

and project intent) is treated as a proposed amendment to the zoning ordinance, and must be approved 

by the Board of Commissioners. 

 At the July 21, 2021 pre-application meeting, staff provided input on requirements for open space, 

amenities, resident parking, common element maintenance, and a traffic study to identify necessary 

improvements for Hodgeville Road.  

 A PD amendment/rezoning application was submitted for the December Planning Board meeting agenda. 

Staff requested revisions to clarify the PD amendment. The current version of the PD document proposes 

a multifamily development with up to 206 units in 25 buildings (12 buildings with 2-bedroom units, and 13 

buildings with 3-bedroom units), which represents a gross density of 11 units per acre, and a net density 

of 15 units per acre. 174 units are shown on attached concept plan, which represents a gross density of 

9.3 units per acre, and a net density of 12.7 units per acre. This project will be served by county water 

and sewer. 

 The development will include parking in front of the buildings and five 6-unit garage buildings. 1.5 parking 

spaces are required per multifamily unit (174 units*1.5=261 spaces); 375 total spaces are proposed. 206 

units would require at least 309 parking spaces. 

 At the February 14 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to deny the request to rezone 

18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential), with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

4. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to 

Effingham County Traffic Study Requirements. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

 On March 1, the applicant requested to postpone the public hearing to the April 5 Board meeting. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve the request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD residential), with the following 
conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 
41

Item X. 2.



2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

4. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

2.  Deny request to rezone 18.67 acres from PD (commercial) to PD (residential). 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  

 

42

Item X. 2.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

416-20D 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

416-20D 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS JEROME S. KONTER as Agent for JGH COMMERCIAL, LLC has filed an application to rezone eighteen and 

sixty-seven hundredth (18.67) +/- acres; from PD Commercial to PD Residential to allow for multi-family residential development; 

map and parcel number 416-20D, located in the 2nd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on March 1, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on February 2, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on January 26, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT eighteen and sixty-seven hundredth (18.67) +/- acres; map and parcel number 416-20D, 

located in the 2nd commissioner district is rezoned from PD Commercial to PD Residential, with the following conditions: 

1. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are submitted. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance and the Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual. 

3. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

4. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham County Traffic Study 

Requirements. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

43

Item X. 2.



AUDIT PRESENTATION  
 

Presentation of the Fiscal Year 2021 audited financial report by Lanier, Deal & Proctor  

44

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Approval of the audited annual financial report for transmission to 

the State of Georgia 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 4/5/22  

Item Description: Consideration to approve the FY 2021 audited annual financial 
report for transmission to the State of Georgia 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval to submit the audited annual financial report for the fiscal 
year ended June 30th, 2021 to the State of Georgia 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year an audit is conducted.  The audit is designed, planned, and conducted to 
comply with state and federal regulations, to provide our residents and the Board of 
Commissioners with an independent review of our financial status, and to ensure our 
financial statements are in compliance with GAAP (generally accepted accounting 
principles) and GASB (Governmental Accounting Standards Board) standards using 
GAGAS (generally accepted government auditing standards). 
 
 Background: 
1. There are three major portions of the audited annual financial report which consists 

of the independent auditor’s report, management’s discussion and analysis, and the 
audited financial statements. 

2. The independent auditor’s report is the auditor’s opinion regarding our financial 
statements. 

3. Management’s discussion and analysis is the staff’s financial narrative of the audited 

financial statements. 

4. The financial statements contain both county-wide and individual fund statements 

prepared in accordance with GAAP and GASB standards. 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Affirm the audited annual financial report and approve the audit and submission to 
the State of Georgia  

2. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Affirm the audited annual financial report and 

approve the audit and submission to the State of Georgia. 

 

 

45

Item XI. 2.



Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

N/A 

 

Attachments: 

Bound copy of FY 2021 audited annual financial report provided 

 

 

 

46

Item XI. 2.



 

 

Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Resolution Recognizing Eden Missionary Baptist Church  

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: 02/15/2022 

Item Description: Consideration to approve Resolution#022-020 in recognition of the Eden 

Missionary Baptist Church 150th Anniversary 
 

Summary Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approval of the request.  
 

Executive Summary: 

A request was received from Mr. Willie Wright on behalf of the church for approval of a 
Resolution recognizing the founding of the church 150 years ago.   
 

Background: 

The church was organized April 12, 1872 by Rev. Inman E. Bryant and Rev. J.G. Norris at a 

site one-mile north of Eden near old Central of Georgia Railroad track.  The church erected 

at this location was destroyed by fire in 1914 and was reconstructed by its members.  This 

sanctuary remained the home site for 88 years.  Due to road issues and the deteriorating 

condition of the house of worship a new location was established, with the first church 

service being held May 28, 1961.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve Resolution# 022-020 in recognition of the Eden Missionary Baptist Church 
2. To not approve the resolution.   

 
 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative 1  
 

Other Alternatives: N/A  Department Review: Administration 
 

Funding Source: No funding is required related to this request.  
 

Attachments: 

1. Resolution 
2. Request Letter 

 

47

Item XI. 3.



 

 

 

 

FROM THE DESK OF THE  

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

Recognition of The Eden Missionary Baptist Church’s 150th Anniversary 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Eden Missionary Baptist Church was organized on April 12, 1872 by Reverend Inman E. 
Bryant, one of the founding fathers of the Pilgrim Missionary Baptist Association, and Reverend J. G. 
Norris, Pastor of Powers Baptist Church of Eden and; 
 

WHEREAS, prior to the organization of the church individuals of various races fellowshipped at the 
Powers Baptist Church and; 
 

WHEREAS, Reverend Inman E. Bryant and Reverend J.G. Norris bravely assembled a church council 
consisting of sixteen members and was instrumental in building the first church for blacks in the 
community on a site in Eden and; 
 

WHEREAS, the church served as the black community worship center and school for many years until 
its replacement in 1905 due to the growing congregation and; 
 

WHEREAS, after the church was destroyed by fire in 1914 a new church was reconstructed by the 
members, and worship continued at this location for 88 years. In 1960 a ground breaking ceremony was 
held at the church’s current site on Dogwood Way, with the first worship service in this building taking 
place on May 28, 1961;  
 
THEREFORE, a celebratory event will be held on June 5, 2022 to observe the founding of the Church 
and now;  
 
BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia to join the Eden 

Missionary Baptist Church family in celebrating this 150th year commemoration of the Eden Missionary 

Baptist Church. We further honor the forefathers and foremothers who so graciously laid the foundation 

to establish this edifice of refuge and pillar of comfort for the Eden community.   
 

Humbly submitted this 4th day of April, in the Year of our Lord, 2022. 

 
____________________  ____________________  ____________________ 
 Wesley Corbitt - Chairman      Forrest Floyd - 1st District              Roger Burdette - 2nd District 

 
_______________________ ________________________ _______________________ 
 Jamie Deloach - 3rd District                 Reginald Loper - 4th District     Phil Kieffer - 5th District 

 

R e s o l u t I o n 

 

 

48

Item XI. 3.



 

Eden Missionary Baptist Church 
435 Dogwood Way 

Eden (Effingham County) Georgia, 31307 
 

Reverend Jonah E. German, Pastor    Deacon Keith Burroughs, Clerk 
 
 
 
Date: March 08, 2022 
 
To: Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 802-804 S Laurel St. 
 Springfield, GA. 31329 
 
Subj: County Resolution Request 
 
 On the behalf of the Pastor, Officers and Members, on June 05, 2022 we will be 
celebrating our Church 150th Anniversary/Founders Day in the Eden, Community.  This will be a 
historical event for our church congregation and the community.  We solicit the support and 
approval of the Effingham County Commissioners office in recognition of this event. 
 Church history excerpts have been provided to your office to assist with preparing the 
resolution, along with reference information listed below, if needed.  
 
Ref: Pilgrim Baptist Association Minutes from the October 1872 session. 
Ref: Book, River to River; by Historic Effingham Society, Inc. year 2005. 
Ref: Effingham Herald, Friday May 31, 2013 edition. 
 
Done by order and behalf of the church. 
 
 
Submitted by: Willie H. Wright Jr., Church Deacon 
  912-441-3989 
  

49

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report 
 
 
Subject:    ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement 

Author:    Sarah Mausolf, Director 

Department:   Human Resources 

Meeting Date:   April 5, 2022 

Item Description:  Approval of ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement. 

There are no changes to our current plan; this just brings our plan document up to the 

current IRS requirements. This process occurs every seven years.  

 
Alternatives 
1.  Recommend approval of ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement.  
 
Other Alternatives: 
None 
 
Department Review:  County Manager and County Attorney 
 
Funding Source:  No impact on funding. 
 
Attachments:   

1. Notice- Instructions to Participating Employer 
2. IRS Opinion Letter on Restated ACCG 401 (a) Defined Contribution Plan 
3. Restated ACCG 401 (a) Defined Contribution Plan Document 
4. Effingham County 2022 Restated DC Adoption Agreement 
5. Effingham County Resolution to Adopt 2022 Restated DC Plan 
6. Summary of Default Elections in Restated Adoption Agreement 

50

Item XI. 4.



Y ttrA

~ ~ '+.

~ 

~.
t

.

+,~ r .'.
r F1:

TAX EXEMPT AND

GOVCgNMlNT ENTITICS

DIVISION

DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20224

Plan Description: Non-Standardized Pre-Approved Profit Sharing Plan

FFN: 3'17E1090002-001 Case: 201.800528 EIN: 58-1044477

Letter Ser1a! No: Q702321a
Date of Submission: 12/18/2018

ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA

191 PEACHTREE STREET NE, SUITE 700

ATLANTA, GA 30303

Dear Applicant:

Contact Person:
Janeli Hayes
Telephone Number.
513-975-6319

In Reference To: TEGE:EP:7521

Date: 06/30/2020

In our opinion, the forrn of the planldentified above Is acceptable. far use by employe
rs for the benefit of their

employees under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 401.

We considered the changes in qualification requirements 1n the 20'17 Cumulative Llst of N
otice 2017-37,

20tZ 29 internal Revenue Bulletin (IR8) 89.Our opinion relates only to the acceptabili
ty of the form of the

plan under the iRC. We dId not cons(der the effect of other federal or local statutes
.

You must provide the following to each employer who adopts this plani

. A copy of this letter

. A copy of the approved plan

. Copies of any subsequent amendments including their dates of adoption

. Direct contact Information Including address and telephone number of the plan pro
vider

Our opp~ion on the acceptability of the plan's form is a determ)nation as to the qualificat
ion of the plan as

adopted by a particular employer only under the circumstances, and to -the extent, described in Revenue

.Procedure (Rev. Proc.) 2017-41, 2017-291.R.6.92. The employer who adopts thi
s plan can generally rely

on this letter to the extent described in Rev. Prot. 2017-41. Thus, Emplo
yee Plans Determinations, except as

provided in Section 12 of Rev: Proc. 2020-4, 2020-d1 I.R.B. 148 (as updated an
nually), will not Issue a

determination letter to an employer who adopts this plan, Review Rev. Proc. 2
020-4 to determine the

eligibility of an adopting employer, and the items needed, to submit a determina
tion letter application. The

employer must also follow the terms of the plan In operation.

Except as provided below, our opinion doesn't apply to the requirements of I
RC Sections 401(a)(4), 401(1),

410(b), and 414(s). Our opinion doesn't apply to IRC Sections 415 and 41
6 if an employer maintains or ever

maintained another qualified plan for one or more employees covered by this pl
an. For this purpose, we will

not consider the. employer to have maintained another defined contributi
on plan provided both of the following;

are true:
. The employer terminated the other plan before the effective date of this 

plan

. No annual additions have bean credited to any participant's account unde
r the other plan as of any date

within the limitation, year of this plan

Also, for this purpose, we'll consider an employer as maintaining anoth
er defined contribution plan, if the

employer maintains any of the following:

. A welfare benefit fund defined in IRC Section 419(e}, which provides 
post-retirement medical benefits

allocated to separate accounts for key employees as defined in 1RC Sect
ion 419A(d)

51

Item XI. 4.



ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONE
RS OF GEORGIA

FFN:317E1090002-001

Page: 2

. An Individual medical account as defined 
in IRC Section 415(1)(2), which is part of a p

ension or annuity plan

malnta(ned by the employer

. A simplified employee pension plan

Our opinion doesn't apply to Treasury Regulati
ons Section 1.401(a)-1{b)(2) requirements for

 a money

purchase plan or target benefit plan where the n
ormal retirement age under the employer's pl

an is lower than

age 62.

Our opinion doesn't constitute a determination t
hat the plan is an IRC Section 414(dj governm

ental plan.

Th(s letter is not a ruling with respect to the ta
x treatment to be given contributions which ar

e picked up by the

governmental employing unit within the mean
ing of !RC Section 414(h)(2).

Our opinion doesn't constitute a determination t
hat the plan is an IRC Section 414(ej church pla

n.

Our opinion may not be relied on by anon-elect
ing .church plan for rules governing pre-FRIBA

 participation

and coverage.

Our opinion applies to the requirements of IRC
 Section 410(b) if 100 percent of all non-exclu

dable employees

benefit under the plan.

Employers who choose a safe harbor allocation
 formula and a safe harbor compensation defini

tion may also

rely on this opinion letter for the non-discr(minat
ory amounts requirement under IRC Section 401

(aj(4),

If th(s plan includes a cash or deferred aRang
ement (CODA) or otherwise provides for contrib

utions subject to

!RC Sections 401(k) and/or 401(m), the employ
er may rely on the opinion letter regarding the. form 

of the

non-discrimination tests of IRC Sections 40
1(k)(3) and 401 {m)(2), if the employer uses a sate har

bor

compensation definition. For plans described i
n IRC Sections 401(kj(12) or (13) and/or 401(m)(11)

 or. (12j,

employers may rely on the opinion letter regardin
g whether the plan's Corm satisfies the requiremen

ts of those

sections unless the plan provides for fhe safe ha
rbor contribution to be made under another plan. 

For

SIMPLE plans described In IRC Sections 401(k
)(11) and 401(m)(10), employers may also rely 

on the opinion

letter regarding whether the plan's form satisf
ies the requirements of those sections.

The provisions of this plan overr(de any confli
cting provision contained in the trust or custodial a

ccount

documents used with the plan, and an adoptin
g employer may not rely on this letter to the,extent

 that

provisions of a trust or custodial account that a
re a separate portion of the plan override or conflict

 with the

provisions of the plan document. This opinion- l
etter does not cover any provisions in trust or cust

odial account

documents.

An employer who adopts this plan may not rely 
on this letter when:

. the plan is being used to amend or restate a
 plan of the employer which was not previousl

y qual(fled

. the employer's adoption of the. plan precetl
es the issuance of the letter

. the employer doesn't correctly complete the
 adoption agreementor other elective provisi

ons !n the plan

. the plan is not identical to the pre-approved
 plan (that is, the employer has made amendmen

ts that cause

the plan not to be considered Identical to th
e pre-approved plan, as described in Section 8.

03 of Rev. Proc.

2017-41)

Our opinion doesn't apply to what is contained (
n any documents referenced outside the pl

an or adoption

agreement, if applicable, such as e collect(ve
 bargaining agreement.

Our opinion doesn't consider issues under 
Title i of the Employee Retirement Income.Secur

ity Act (FRIBA)

which are administered by the Department of
 Labor.

If you, the pre-approved plan provider, ha
ve questions about the status of this case, yo

u can call the

telephone number at the top of the first pag
e of this letter. This number is only for the pro

viders use.

52

Item XI. 4.



ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONE
RS OF GEORGIA

FFN: 317E1090002-001

Page: 3

Individual participants or adopt(ng eligi
ble employers with questions about the pl

an should contact you.

You must include. your address and telep
hone number on the pre-approved plan 

or the plan's adoption

agreement, if applicable, so that adopting e
mployers can contact you directly.

It you write to us about this plan, provid
e your telephone numberand the best ti

me to call iF we need more

information. Whether you. call or write, ref
er to the letter serial number and file folder num

ber at the top of the

first page 'of this letter: `

Let us know if you change or discontinue
 sponsorship of this plan.

Keep this letter for your records.
Sincerely Yours,

Khan M~ Chow.
Director, EP Rulings &Agreements

Letter 6188 {June•2020)

Catalog Number 72434C

53

Item XI. 4.



RESOLUTION TO ADOPT 
AMENDED AND RESTATED  

ACCG 401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
FOR EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMPLOYEES 

 
WHEREAS, Effingham County, Georgia (the “Employer”) has previously adopted the Association County 

Commissioners of Georgia (ACCG) 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Effingham County Employees (the “Plan”) 

through an Adoption Agreement;  

 

WHEREAS, ACCG has appointed a Defined Contribution Plan Program Board of Trustees (the “DC Board”) 

pursuant to the ACCG Defined Contribution Plan Program Master Trust Agreement (the “Master Trust”), to oversee 

Plan administration, Plan documentation and to select investment options for investment of the assets of the Plan;  

 

WHEREAS, ACCG has amended and restated the ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan Document and the 

accompanying Adoption Agreement to reflect changes in applicable law and has obtained Internal Revenue Service 

(IRS) preapproval for the amended and restated ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan Document and Adoption 

Agreement (the “2020 IRS Pre-Approved Plan Documents”);  

 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to amend and restate its Plan by adopting the 2020 IRS-Preapproved Plan 

Documents. 

 

WHEREAS, the Employer previously approved Adoption Agreement Amendment #2 which amended 

Adoption Agreement Section 4.02, Employer Basic and Discretionary Contributions, to provide an Employer Basic 

Contribution, effective as of January 1, 2017; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to further amend Adoption Agreement Section 3.01, Participation 

Eligibility, in order to conform the terms of the Plan to the Employer’s past practice with respect to Employer Basic 

Contributions and to provide that there shall not be a minimum period of Service required as a condition of eligibility for 

Employer Basic Contributions, but Eligible Employees shall still be required to complete one (1) Year of Service as a 

condition of eligibility for Employer Matching Contributions.     

 

NOW THEREFORE, at a meeting held on the _____  day of _________________, 20______, the Effingham 

County Board of Commissioners hereby resolves as follows: 

 
 RESOLVED that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners hereby approves the adoption of the 

attached amended and restated ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Effingham County Employees, consisting 

of the ACCG Basic Plan Document and the accompanying Adoption Agreement which reflects the elections made by 

the Employer under the provisions of the amended and restated Plan, including the elections made in Adoption 

Agreement Section 3.01, Participation Eligibility in order to conform the terms of the Plan to the Employer’s past 

administration of the Plan with respect to Employer Basic Contributions. 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED that, except as otherwise specifically provided therein, the effective date of the 

amended and restated Plan shall be January 1, 2022.  The election made under Adoption Agreement Section 3.01 

Participation Eligibility, Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Basic Contributions, shall apply retroactively to 

January 1, 2017, or if later, the date the provision was first implemented by the Employer.  

 

 FURTHER RESOLVED that the Commission Chair is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to take all 

further actions and to execute all documents necessary to implement these resolutions.  

 

 

 

 
    Page 1 of  2 

 

54

Item XI. 4.



 

 
FURTHER RESOLVED that any resolution in conflict with this resolution is hereby repealed. 

 

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

  

 

By: __________________________________________   

       Chair, Effingham County Board of Commissioners  

  

Date: ________________________________________ 

 

 

Attest: 

 

By:  _________________________________________ 

        County Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Page 2 of  2 

55

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

1  

ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 
401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

FOR  
EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMPLOYEES 

 
ARTICLE I: PURPOSE 

The undersigned Effingham County, Georgia, by executing this Adoption Agreement, elects to become a 

participating Employer in the Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Contribution Plan Program 

(the “Plan”), the Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Contribution Plan Program Master Trust 

(the “Trust”), and adopts the accompanying Plan and Trust documents in full as if the Employer were a signatory to 

those agreements.  The Employer makes the following elections granted under the provisions of the Plan. 

TYPE OF PLAN ADOPTION 

[--] New Plan 

[X] Amendment and Restatement of Previously Adopted Plan 

[--] Frozen Plan.  While the Plan is frozen, Compensation earned after the Plan is frozen shall not be taken into 

account.  Plan assets will continue to be held on behalf of Participants and their Beneficiaries until 

distributed in accordance with the Plan terms. 

ARTICLE II: DEFINITIONS 

Any capitalized terms used in this Adoption Agreement but not defined herein shall be given the meaning 

set forth in the Plan and Trust. 

2.09 COMPENSATION 

 Compensation Defined 

[X] Amounts as defined in Code Section 3401(a) for purposes of income tax withholding at the source 

(as reported to the Employee on IRS Form W-2 for such year) 

[X] Includes Differential Wage Payments 

[--] Excludes Differential Wage Payments 

[--] Short Plan Years use Compensation only during short year (Default provision) 

[--] Short Plan Years use Compensation for entire year  

[--] Other Definition of Compensation (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Determination Period Defined for Compensation 

[X] The Plan Year  (Default provision) 

[--] The Calendar Year 

 A consecutive 12-month period ending in or within the Plan year beginning ___________ (day) 

__________ (month) 

56

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

2  

2.11 DISABILITY OR DISABLED 

[X] Entitled to disability retirement benefits under the federal Social Security Act 

[--] Entitled to benefits under long term disability plan or policy of Employer 

[--] Other Definition of Disability  (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

2.14 EFFECTIVE DATE 

[--] New qualified Plan with an Effective Date of ___________________, 20__ (the “Original 

Effective Date”). 

[X] Amendment and restatement of a previously established qualified Plan with a previous Effective 

Date of December 1, 2000 (the “Original Effective Date”).  Except as specifically provided in the 

Plan, the Effective Date of this amendment and restatement is January 1, 2022. 

[The Effective Date for a new or amended and restated Plan can be no earlier than the first day of 

the Plan Year in which the Employer executes this Adoption Agreement, except that provisions 

permitting Employee Contributions in Section 4.01 may be prospective only.] 

2.16 ELIGIBILITY COMPUTATION PERIOD 

[X] The 12-consecutive–month period beginning on the Employee’s Employment Commencement 

Date and each 12-consecutive-month period beginning on the anniversary of the Employee’s 

Employment Commencement Date.  (Default) 

[--] The 12-consecutive–month period beginning on the Employee’s Employment Commencement 

Date to the first anniversary thereof.  Subsequent Eligibility Computation Periods shall be 

measured by the 12-consecutive month periods coinciding with the Plan Year, beginning with the 

Plan Year that contains the first anniversary of the Employee’s Employment Commencement 

Date.  An Employee who is credited with a Year of Service in both the initial Eligibility 

Computation Period and the Plan Year that includes the first anniversary of the Employee's 

Employment Commencement Date shall receive credit for two (2) Years of Service for purposes of 

eligibility to participate.  

2.17 ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE 

 Employees, other than Elected Officials Include Exclude 

[--] All Employees [--] [--] 

[--] Senior Management Only  (Specify Eligible Positions:  

       ) 
[--] [--] 

[X] Full-time Employees only [X] [--] 

[X] Working for the Employer at least thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) 

Hours of Service per week for Compensation 
  

[--] Other Definition of Full-time  (see Additional Provisions 

Addendum) 
  

[X] Grant-funded Employees (Complete only if treated differently than other 

Eligible Employees other than Elected Officials; complete Additional 

Provisions Addendum if necessary to distinguish between different classes 

of grant-funded employees)    

[--] [--] 

57

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

3  

[--] Other Definition of Eligible Employees other than Elected Officials  (See 

Additional Provisions Addendum) 
[--] [--] 

 Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer (Not eligible for a State of 

Georgia Retirement System) 

Include Exclude 

 County Commissioners [X] [--] 

 Coroner [--] [X] 

 Other Elected Official  (Not eligible for a State of Georgia Retirement 

System) (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 
[--] [X] 

 Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer (Eligible for one or more 

State of Georgia Retirement Systems) 

  

 Sheriff [X] [--] 

 Tax Commissioner (elected before 7/1/2012) [X] [--] 

 Clerk of Superior Court [X] [--] 

 Chief Magistrate Judge [X] [--] 

 Assistant Magistrate Judge(s) [--] [X] 

 Probate Court Judge [X] [--] 

 Other Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer  (Eligible for one or 

more State of Georgia Retirement Systems) (See Additional Provisions 

Addendum) 

[--] [X] 

 Other Elected or Appointed Officials Eligible for Limited Plan 

Participation (Based Solely on Allowable Compensation under Georgia 

law) 

  

 State Court Judge [X] [--] 

 Superior Court Judge [--] [X] 

 Solicitor or Solicitor General [X] [--] 

 District Attorney [--] [X] 

 Other Elected or Appointed Officials Eligible for Limited Plan 

Participation  (Based Solely on Allowable Compensation under Georgia 

law) (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

[--] [X] 

 Other Personnel Eligible for one or more State of Georgia Retirement 

Systems 

  

 Employees of Tax Commissioners (hired before 7/1/2012) [X] [--] 

 Tax Commissioners and Employees of Tax Commissioners (if not 

participating in the Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia) 

  

 Tax Commissioner (hired on or after 7/1/2012) [X] [--] 

 Employees of Tax Commissioners (hired on or after 7/1/2012) [X] [--] 

 Other Personnel Receiving Supplemental Compensation from the 

Employer  

  

 Extension Agents [--] [X] 

58

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

4  

 Other Personnel Receiving Supplemental Compensation from the 

Employer (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 
[--] [X] 

 Excluded Employees Include Exclude 

[X] Excluded employees as provided in section 2.17 of the ACCG Basic Plan 

Document 
[--] [X] 

[--] Excluded employees as provided in section 2.17 of the ACCG Basic Plan 

Document other than: 
  

[--] Individuals electing into a retirement system sponsored by the State 

of Georgia are included to the extent permitted under Georgia law 
[--] [--] 

[--] Tax commissioners, collectors and receivers and their employees 

who took office or and after July 1 2012, who participate in a 

retirement system sponsored by the State of Georgia 

[--] [--] 

[--] Juvenile Court Judges [--] [--] 

[--] Nonresident Aliens  [--] [--] 

[X] Other Excluded Employees (See Additional Provisions Addendum) [--] [X] 

2.23 EMPLOYER 

 The term “Employer” means Effingham County, Georgia 

 Employer EIN: 58-6000821  

 Employer Fiscal year: July 1 – June 30 

2.28 ENTRY DATE 

 Entry Date for Employee Contributions 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] Other Entry Date for Employee Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Entry Date for Employer Basic Contributions 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first meets the 

59

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

5  

eligibility requirements 

[X] Other Entry Date for  Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Entry Date for Employer Discretionary Contributions 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] Other Entry Date for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Entry Date for Employer Matching Contributions 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[X] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] Other Entry Date for Matching Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

2.31 HOURS OF SERVICE METHOD 

 Eligibility Service  

[X] Not Applicable 

[--] 1000 Hours of Service  in an Eligibility Computation Period  

[--] The following number of Hours of Service in an Eligibility Computation Period (not to exceed 

2,080): ____________________ 

 Vesting  Service  

[X] Not applicable 

[--] 1000 Hours of Service in a Vesting Computation Period 

[--] The following number of Hours of Service in an Eligibility Computation Period (not to exceed 

2,080): _____________________ 

2.36 LIMITATION YEAR 

[--] Calendar Year 

[X] Plan Year 

[--] Fiscal year 

60

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

6  

[--] Other: 12 month period ending on the following date: __________________________________ 

2.39 NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE 

The term “Normal Retirement Age” means: 

[--] Age 65  

[--] Age _____ (specify between 55 and 64, inclusive) 

[--] Later of age _______ (not to exceed 65) or the ___________ anniversary (not to exceed 5th) of the 

Participant’s Employment Commencement Date 

[X] Age: Sixty (60) (not to exceed 65) plus five (5) Years of Service (specify)  (Year of Service 

requirement shall not cause any Participant’s Normal Retirement Age to exceed 65) 

2.44 PLAN 

 The name of the Plan as adopted by the Employer is the: 

[X] 

 

“ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Effingham County Employees” 

[--] 

 

“ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Senior Management Employees of 

_______________________________ County” 

2.61 YEAR OF SERVICE 

 Method of Measurement for Eligibility Purposes 

[--] Hours of Service Method: 

A twelve (12) consecutive month period during which the Eligible Employee completes one 

thousand (1000) Hours of Service or the equivalency described in Section 2.31 of the Basic Plan 

Document 

[--] Hours of Service Method: 

A twelve (12) consecutive month period during which the Eligible Employee completes one 

thousand (1000) Hours of Service or the equivalency described in the Hours of Service 

Equivalency Addendum 

[X] Elapsed Time Method: 

A period of twelve (12) consecutive months during which the Employee performs at least one (1) 

Hour of Service during the measuring period, following the Employee’s first day of employment 

by the Employer and prior to the Employee’s Severance from Employment Date 

 Adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility Purposes 

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan included 

[X] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan excluded 

[X] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan included 

[--] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan excluded 

[--] Other Adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility  (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

61

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

7  

[--] Exclude Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of Severance (as applicable) for 

purposes of Eligibility to participate after a Reemployment Commencement Date 

 Method of Measurement for Vesting Purposes 

[--] Hours of Service Method: 

A twelve (12) consecutive month period during which the Eligible Employee completes one 

thousand (1000) Hours of Service or the equivalency described in Section 2.31 of the Basic Plan 

Document 

[--] Hours of Service Method: 

A twelve (12) consecutive month period during which the Eligible Employee completes one 

thousand (1000) Hours of Service or the equivalency described in the Hours of Service 

Equivalency Addendum 

[X] Elapsed Time Method: 

A period of twelve (12) consecutive months during which the Employee performs at least one (1) 

Hour of Service during the measuring period, following the Employee’s first day of employment 

by the Employer and prior to the Employee’s Severance from Employment Date 

 Vesting Computation Period 

[X] The 12-consecutive–month period beginning on the Employee’s Employment Commencement 

Date or Reemployment Commencement Date and each 12-consecutive-month period beginning on 

the anniversary of the Employee’s Employment Commencement Date or Reemployment 

Commencement Date. (Default) 

[--] The 12-consecutive–month period beginning on the Employee’s Employment Commencement 

Date or Reemployment Commencement Date to the first anniversary thereof. Subsequent Vesting 

Computation Periods shall be measured by the 12-consecutive month periods coinciding with the 

Plan Year, beginning with the Plan Year that contains the first anniversary of the Employee’s 

Employment Commencement Date or Reemployment Commencement Date. An Employee who is 

credited with a Year of Service in both the initial Vesting Computation Period and the Plan Year 

that includes the first anniversary of the Employee's Employment Commencement Date or 

Reemployment Commencement Date shall receive credit for two (2) Vesting Computation 

Periods. 

 Adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting 

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan included 

[X] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan excluded 

[X] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan included 

[--] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan excluded 

[--] Unused Sick Leave included 

[--] Unused Annual Leave included 

[--] Other Adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

[X] Exclude Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of Severance (as applicable) for 

purposes of Vesting in amounts accrued after Reemployment Commencement Date  

 

62

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

8  

ARTICLE III: PARTICIPATION AND SERVICE 

3.01 PARTICIPATION ELIGIBILITY 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employee Contributions 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Employee Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Basic Contributions 

[X] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____ (__) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Discretionary Contributions 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Matching Contributions 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[X] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes one (1) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Matching Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 

63

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

9  

3.06 ELECTION NOT TO PARTICIPATE 

[--] Employees may elect out of participating in the Plan. (Note: If the Plan provides for Mandatory 

Employee Contributions, the election must be provided prior to the time the Employee first 

becomes eligible to participate in any qualified Plan sponsored by the Employer.)  

[X] Employees may not elect out of participating in the Plan. 

ARTICLE IV: CONTRIBUTIONS 

4.01 EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 

 Mandatory Employee Contributions 

[X] Not Required 

[--] Required in the amount of ___________ (____%) of Compensation per payroll period effective as 

of __________________ [May not exceed 100%.] 

 Employee After Tax Contributions 

[X] Not Permitted 

[--] Permitted up to ______% of Compensation [May not exceed 100%.] 

[--] Not currently permitted but the Employer maintains a frozen or transferred after-tax Employee 

Contribution Account. 

4.02 EMPLOYER BASIC AND DISCRETIONARY CONTRIBUTIONS 

 Employer Basic Contributions (May not exceed 100% of Compensation unless a lower maximum 

percentage is noted below.) 

[--] No Basic Contributions 

[X] Basic Contributions equal to three percent (3.0%) of each Participant’s Compensation (not to 

exceed 25%) 

[--] Basic Contributions in a flat dollar amount equal to ________ dollars ($___) for each Participant  

[--] Basic Contributions allocated based on Points equal to $_______ times number of each 

Participant’s points. 

[--] Points for each year of age (in whole numbers):___________________ 

[--] Points for each Year of Service (in whole numbers):__________________ 

[--] Points for each unit of Compensation:______________ 

[--] A unit of Compensation is _______________________ 

[--] Maximum Years of Service taken into account, if any: ____________ 

[--] Each Participant’s allocation shall bear the same relationship to the Employer Contribution as the 

number of his or her total point bears to all points awarded. 

[--] Other Basic Contribution Formula  (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

64

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

10  

 Basic Contributions shall be made: 

[X] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other Basic Contribution remittance period:      (must be at least annual) 

[--] Basic Contributions made more frequently than on an annual basis will be recalculated (“trued-up”) 

at the end of the year.  If this box is not checked, Basic Contributions will not be recalculated at the 

end of the year. 

 Eligibility Requirements for Basic Contributions 

[X] No additional requirements 

[--] Participant must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and 

Participants who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last 

day or Hours of Service requirements. 

[--] Other Eligibility Requirements for Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Employer Discretionary Contributions (May not exceed 100% of Compensation unless a lower 

maximum percentage is noted below.) 

[X] No Discretionary Contributions 

[--] Discretionary Contributions as determined each year by the Employer using the following 

Allocation Formula: 

[--] Pro-Rata Based on Compensation 

Each Participant is credited with a portion of the Employer Contribution for the Plan 

Year equal to the ratio that the Participant’s Compensation for the Plan Year bears to 

all Participants’ Compensation for the Plan Year 

[--] Fixed Dollar Formula 

Each Participant shall be credited with an equal dollar amount 

[--] Discretionary Contributions allocated based on Points  

[--] Other Formula for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Discretionary Contributions shall be made: 

[--] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other remittance period for Discretionary Contributions:        

(must be at least annual)  

65

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

11  

[--] Discretionary Contributions made more frequently than on an annual basis will be recalculated 

(“trued-up”) at the end of the year.  If this box is not checked, Discretionary Contributions will not 

be recalculated at the end of the year. 

 Eligibility Requirements for Discretionary Contributions 

[--] No additional requirements [Must elect if made less frequently than annually] 

[--] Participant must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and Participants who 

die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last day or Hours of Service 

requirements. 

[--] Other Eligibility Requirements for Discretionary Contributions  (See Additional Provisions 

Addendum) 

4.03 EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS 

(Matching Contributions may not exceed 100% of Compensation.) 

[--] No Matching Contributions on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred 

Compensation Plan 

[X] Matching Contributions equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the first three percent (3.0%) 

on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan.  The 

maximum Matching Contribution shall be no more than three percent (3.0%) of Compensation or 

$ (N/A). 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of the first _______ percent (____%) 

on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed. The maximum 

Matching Contribution shall be no more than _________ percent (___%) of Compensation or 

$________________. 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of amounts Participants contribute to 

the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan. 

[--] Other Matching Contribution Formula (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

[--] Discretionary Matching Contributions as determined each year by the Employer 

 Matching Contributions shall be made on the following types of deferrals: 

[X] Deferral Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[X] Catch-up Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[X] Roth Contributions under the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[--] Matching Contributions shall be calculated based on the lowest whole percentage of Compensation 

deferred by the Participant (no fractions) 

 Matching Contributions shall be made: 

[X] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

66

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

12  

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other remittance period for Matching Contributions:      (must be at 

least annual) 

[--] Matching Contributions made more frequently than on an annual basis will be recalculated (“trued-

up”) at the end of the year.  If this box is not checked, Matching Contributions will not be 

recalculated at the end of the year. 

 Employer Matching Contribution Eligibility Requirements 

[X] No requirements [Must elect if made more frequently than annually] 

[--] Participant  must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant  must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and 

Participants who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last 

day or Hours of Service requirements.  

[--] Other Matching Contribution Eligibility Requirements (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

4.05 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTIONS 

[--] No rollovers permitted 

[X] Eligible rollover contributions permitted to be made by: 

[--] Eligible Employees, whether or not a Plan Participant 

[X] Plan Participants Only 

4.07 QUALIFIED MILITARY SERVICE 

 Employer Contributions (Other Than Matching) Upon Return to Employment 

[X] Mandatory Employee Contributions required to receive Employer Contributions 

 Employer Matching Contributions Upon Return to Employment 

[X] Elective deferrals under the Employer’s 457(b) Plan must be made up to receive Employer 

Matching Contributions 

[--] Elective deferrals under the Employer’s 457(b) Plan ARE NOT required to be made up receive 

Employer Matching Contributions. Employee is deemed to have made maximum deferrals 

permitted. 

 Employer Contributions Upon Death 

[--] Employer Contributions made for a Participant who dies during Qualified Military Service 

[--] Employer Basic Contributions 

[--] Employer Discretionary Contributions 

[--] Employer Matching Contributions 

67

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

13  

 
 Employer Contributions Upon Disability 

[--] Employer Contributions made for a Disabled Participant during Qualified Military Service: 

[--] Employer Basic Contributions 

[--] Employer Discretionary Contributions 

[--] Employer Matching Contributions 

 Vesting Upon Disability 

[--] Service for vesting purposes granted to a Disabled Participant during Qualified Military Service.  

(Must select if making Employer Contributions for Disabled Participants 

 Differential Wage Payments 

[X] Differential Wage Payments treated as Compensation during Qualified Military Service 

 

ARTICLE V: ALLOCATIONS TO PARTICIPANTS’ ACCOUNTS 

5.03 CODE SECTION 415 LIMITATIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS 

 Maximum Permissible Amount for Participants Covered by Another Plan 

[X] Reduce Annual Additions in this Plan by amounts contributed to other plans (default provision) 

[--] Maximum Contributions  up to Section 415 limit made to this Plan 

[--] See Additional Provisions Addendum. 

ARTICLE VI: RETIREMENT/SEVERANCE BENEFITS/IN-SERVICE 
DISTRIBUTIONS 

6.02 VESTING SCHEDULE 

Additional rows may be added to any option to the extent permissible under the Plan document.  An 

Additional Provisions Addendum may be completed for purposes of providing different Vesting Schedules for 

different classes of Participants.  Any cliff vesting schedule must be at least as favorable as 15-year cliff (20-year 

cliff for a class in which substantially all of the participants are qualified public safety employees as defined in 

Internal Revenue Code Section 72(t)(10)(B)).  Any graded vesting schedule must be at least as favorable as 5-20 

year graded. 

Vesting for Employer Basic Contribution 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[X] Full Years of Service With the 

Employer 

 Percent Vested in Account 

Less than five (5) years     0 % 

Five (5) years or more    100 % 

[--] Full Years of Service With the 

Employer 

 Percent Vested in Account 

68

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

14  

___  years 

___  years 

___  years 

___  years 

___  years or more 

 

 ___% 

___% 

___% 

___% 

___% 

 

[--] Other Vesting Schedule for Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

Vesting for Employer Discretionary Contribution 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

 ____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Less than  ____ (__) years     0 % 

_____ (__) years or more  100 % 

[--] Other Vesting Schedule for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

Vesting for Employer Matching Contribution 

[--]                  100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[X] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

 ____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Less than five (5) years     0 % 

Five (5) years or more  100 % 

[--] Other Vesting Schedule for Employer Matching Contributions (See Additional Provisions 

Addendum) 

6.04 IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWALS. 

[--] No in-service withdrawals permitted 

[X] In-Service withdrawals shall be permitted as designated below. 

[--] After-tax Accounts may be withdrawn at any time 

[X] Rollover Accounts may be withdrawn at any time 

[X] Withdrawals from vested Accounts on and after attainment of age sixty-five (65)  

[--] Withdrawals from vested Accounts on and after  Normal Retirement Age  

69

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

15  

[X] Active Military Distribution 

[--] Withdrawal after __________ years of participation (must be at least 5) of the lesser of 

     (specify a dollar amount) or 100% of the Participant’s 

Vested Account  

[--] Other conditions for In-Service withdrawals (See In-Service Withdrawal Addendum) (Must be at 

least as restrictive as the options available above). 

ARTICLE VII: DEATH BENEFITS 

7.01 DEATH BENEFITS  

[--] Death benefits paid in one lump sum 

[X] Death Benefits paid in any form permitted under the Plan for Participants 

[--] Other forms of Death Benefit payment (see Forms of Payment Addendum)  

ARTICLE VIII: PAYMENT OF BENEFITS 

8.01 NORMAL PAYMENT FORMS 

[--] Distributions may be made in  one lump sum only  

[X] Distributions may be made in any form provided in Section 8.01(a)(i)and(ii) (Lump sums or 

installment) 

[--] Other  forms of distributions permitted (see Forms of Payment Addendum)  

8.05 PARTICIPANT CONSENT TO DISTRIBUTIONS. 

[X] The Employer shall not cash-out de minimis Accounts without the consent of the Participant or 

Beneficiary.  

[--] If the vested Account balance payable to an individual is less than or equal to the cash out limit as 

designated below, such Account may be distributed without the consent of the Participant (or 

Beneficiary).  (Note: Any distribution greater than $1,000 that is made to a Participant without the 

Participant’s consent before the Participant attains Normal Retirement Age, will be rolled over to an 

individual retirement plan designated by the Third Party Service Provider.) 

[--] $1000 or less 

[--] The dollar amount specified in Code Section 411(a)(11)(A) ($5,000 or less as of January 1, 

2018). 

 

70

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

16  

ARTICLE IX: TRUST FUND INVESTMENTS 

9.03 PARTICIPANT DIRECTION OF INVESTMENTS 

 Accounts Invested by Participants   

[X] Participants direct investment of all Accounts 

[--] Direct investment of following Accounts only: Participant Employer 

 Employee Mandatory Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employee After-Tax Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Basic Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Discretionary Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Matching Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Self-directed Brokerage   

[X] Self-directed Brokerage not permitted   

[--] Self-directed Brokerage permitted for all Participants’ Accounts   

[--] Self-directed Brokerage permitted for following Accounts only:  Yes No 

 Employee Mandatory Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employee After-Tax Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Basic Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Discretionary Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 Employer Matching Contribution Account [--] [--] 

 

71

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

17  

MISCELLANEOUS 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS AND PROTECTED BENEFITS  

[X] The Employer has included certain provisions that are not delineated in this Adoption Agreement 

but are consistent with provisions in the ACCG Basic Plan Document and are described in the 

Additional Provisions Addendum. 

 Note: The Plan may include provisions that are protected under State law.  Protected Benefits under 

Code Section 411(d)(6) do not apply to governmental plans.  

 

SUPERSEDING PROVISIONS  

[--] The Employer has completed the Plan Superseding Provision Addendum to show the provisions of 

the Plan that supersede provisions of this Adoption Agreement or the Basic Plan Document.  

 Note: if the Employer elects superseding provisions, the Employer may not be able to rely on 

ACCG’s Preapproved Plan opinion letter for qualification of its Plan.  In addition such superseding 

provision may in certain circumstances affect the Plan’s status as a preapproved Plan eligible for 

the 6 year remedial amendment cycle. 

 

RELIANCE ON OPINION LETTER  

An adopting Employer may rely on an opinion letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service as evidence that this 

Plan is qualified under Code Section 401 only to the extent provided in section 7.02 of Rev. Proc. 2017-41.  The 

Employer may not rely on the opinion letter in certain other circumstances or with respect to certain qualification 

requirements that are specified in the opinion letter issued with respect to this Plan and in Section 7.03 of Rev. 

Proc. 2017-41.  In order to have reliance in such circumstances or with respect to such qualification requirements, 

application for a determination letter must be made to Employee Plan Determinations of the Internal Revenue 

Service, if eligible.  

Failure to properly complete this Adoption Agreement and failure to operate the Plan in accordance with the terms 

of the Plan document may result in disqualification of the plan.  

This Adoption Agreement may be used only in conjunction with the ACCG Basic Plan document. ACCG will 

inform the adopting Employer of any amendments made to the Plan or of the discontinuance or abandonment of the 

preapproved document.  

ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND RECORDS 

This Adoption Agreement, and any amendment thereto, may be executed or affirmed by an electronic signature or 

electronic record permitted under applicable law or regulation, provide the type or method of electronic signature or 

electronic record is acceptable to the Trustees. 

ACCG BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT INFORMATION  

Preapproved Plan Sponsor: 

Association County Commissioners of Georgia 

191 Peachtree Street #700 

Atlanta, Ga 3030 

(404) 522-5022 

 

ACCG will inform the Employer of any amendments made to the Plan or if the Plan is discontinued or abandoned 

by ACCG. 

72

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

18  

The ACCG Basic Plan Document and accompanying Adoption Agreement together comprise the Preapproved 

Defined Contribution Plan. It is the responsibility of the adopting Employer to review this preapproved plan 

document with its legal counsel to ensure that the preapproved plan is suitable for the Employer and that the 

Adoption Agreement has been properly completed prior to signing.  

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

By:  ____________________________________ 

Title:  ____________________________________ 

Date:  ____________________________________ 

ACCEPTANCE (on behalf of the DC Board): 

By:  ____________________________________ 

Title:  ____________________________________ 

Date:  ____________________________________ 

73

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

19  

PRIOR SERVICE ADDENDUM 

Use this Prior Service Addendum to indicate prior employers or types of service that will 

be recognized as Vesting Service or Eligibility Service 

 

74

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

20  

IN-SERVICE WITHDRAWAL ADDENDUM 

(A) Other In-service Withdrawal Provisions – In service withdrawals from a Participant’s Accounts specified 

below shall be available to Participants who satisfy the requirements also specified below (must be at least 

as restrictive as the options in Section 6.04 of the Adoption Agreement):  

 

75

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

21  

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 

Additional Provision(s):  The following provisions supplement and, to the degree described herein, supersede other 

provision of this Adoption Agreement and the Basic Plan Document.  Each provision of the Adoption Agreement 

for which an Additional Provision Addendum is available may be modified (i) to the extent permitted in this 

Additional Provisions Addendum, to the extent permitted by the Adoption Agreement and/or to the extent permitted 

by the Basic Plan Document; (ii) to apply different Adoption Agreement elections to different groups of Employees 

or Participants, as applicable; and (iii) as described in both (i) and (ii).  If different provisions apply to different 

groups of Employees or Participants, the provision subject to modification shall be reproduced in its entirety for 

each group of Employees or Participants.  Any permitted election in the Adoption Agreement may be modified in an 

Additional Provision Addendum solely for purposes of applying different elections to different groups of Employees 

or Participants.  Any election made in an Additional Provisions Addendum must satisfy the definite written program 

requirement of Treasury regulations section 1.401-1(a)(2). 

2.09 COMPENSATION 

 Compensation Defined 

 The following definition of Compensation applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants:  ________________________________________ 

[--] Amounts as defined in Code Section 3401(a) for purposes of income tax withholding at the 

source (as reported to the Employee on IRS Form W-2 for such year) 

[--] Includes Differential Wage Payments 

[--] Excludes Differential Wage Payments 

[--] Short Plan Years use Compensation only during short year (Default provision) 

[--] Short Plan Years use Compensation for entire year  

[--] Includes the following: __________________________________________ 

[--] Excludes the following: __________________________________________ 

2.11 DISABILITY OR DISABLED 

 The following definition of Disability applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ________________________________________ 

[--] Entitled to disability retirement benefits under the federal Social Security Act 

[--] Entitled to benefits under long term disability plan or policy of Employer 

[--] Other: _____________________________________________________________ (May not 

permit the Employer’s chosen physician to be the sole determinant of Disability.) 

 

76

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

22  

2.17 ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE 

Employees may not be included or excluded by name, but only by employee classification (which 

may be modified to include specific dates) or job title, and only if the employee classification or 

job title satisfies the definitely determinable requirement under Treasury regulation 1.401-1(a)(2). 

 Employees, other than Elected Officials Include Exclude 

 The following definition of Employees, other than Elected Officials, applies to:   

[--] All Participants   

[--] Only the following Participants: ________________________   

 All Employees [--] [--] 

 Senior Management Only (Specify eligible positions:         ) [--] [--] 

 Full-time Employees only [--] [--] 

[--] Working for the Employer at least ______ Hours of Service 

per week for Compensation 
  

[--] Other Definition of Full-time: ________________________  [--] [--] 

[X] Grant-funded Employees (List employee classifications and check 

“Include” or “Exclude” as appropriate.) 

Pass Through Grant Employees - Any individual who is wholly 

compensated from a grant known as a “pass through grant,” where 

Effingham County is only acting as a fiscal agent, or where the 

primary job functions and/or tasks associated with the grant are not 

directed by the County Commissioners, County Administrator, or a 

County Department Head, whether or not such individual is ever 

treated as a common law employee of the Employer by the Internal 

Revenue Service (IRS) or the Employer. 

           Grant-funded Employees who are not Pass Through Grant 

Employees as defined above and who otherwise qualify as Eligible 

Employees. 

 

 

[--] 

 

 

 

 

 

[X] 

 

 

[X] 

 

 

 

 

 

[--] 

[--] Other Definition of Eligible Employees other than Elected Officials:  

(List employee classifications and check “Include” or “Exclude” as 

appropriate.)  

  

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer (Not eligible for a State of 

Georgia Retirement System) 

  

 County Commissioners [--] [--] 

 Coroner [--] [--] 

[--] Other Elected Official (Not eligible for a State of Georgia Retirement 

System) (List and check “Include” or “Exclude” as appropriate.) 
  

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

77

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

23  

 Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer (Eligible for one or more 

State of Georgia Retirement Systems) 

  

 Sheriff [--] [--] 

 Tax Commissioner (elected before 7/1/2012) [--] [--] 

 Clerk of Superior Court [--] [--] 

 Chief Magistrate Judge [--] [--] 

 Assistant Magistrate Judge(s) [--] [--] 

 Probate Court Judge [--] [--] 

[--] Other Elected or Appointed Officials of the Employer (Eligible for one or 

more State of Georgia Retirement Systems) (List and check “Include” or 

“Exclude” as appropriate.) 

  

  Include Exclude 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Other Elected or Appointed Officials Eligible for Limited Plan 

Participation (Based Solely on Allowable Compensation under Georgia 

law) 

  

 State Court Judge [--] [--] 

 Superior Court Judge [--] [--] 

 Solicitor or Solicitor General [--] [--] 

 District Attorney [--] [--] 

[--] Other Elected or Appointed Officials Eligible for Limited Plan 

Participation (Based Solely on Allowable Compensation under Georgia 

law) (List and check “Include” or “Exclude” as appropriate.) 

  

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Other Personnel Receiving Supplemental Compensation from the 

Employer  

  

[--] Other Personnel Receiving Supplemental Compensation from the 

Employer (List and check “Include” or “Exclude” as appropriate.) 
  

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Excluded Employees   

 Excluded employees as provided in Section 2.17 of the ACCG Basic Plan 

Document 
[--] [--] 

 Excluded employees as provided in Section 2.17 of the ACCG Basic Plan 

Document other than: 
[--] [--] 

 Individuals electing into a retirement system sponsored by the State 

of Georgia are included to the extent permitted under Georgia law 
[--] [--] 

78

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

24  

 Tax commissioners, collectors and receivers and their employees 

who took office or and after July 1 2012, who participate in a 

retirement system sponsored by the State of Georgia 

[--] [--] 

 Juvenile Court Judges [--] [--] 

 Nonresident Aliens  [--] [--] 

 
[X] Other Excluded Employees (List and check “Include” or “Exclude” as 

appropriate.) 
  

 Employees who are members of, or retired from, any State 

Retirement System in Georgia as permitted by law. 

[--] [X] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 [--] Grant-Funded Employees (List and check “Include” or “Exclude” as 

appropriate.) 
  

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 __________________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

2.28 ENTRY DATE 

 Entry Date for Employee Contributions 

The following  Entry Date for Employee Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: __________________________________________ 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant 

first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets 

the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] Other Entry Date for Employee Contributions:  the first day of the pay period beginning on or 

after the following date:  __________________________________________________________ 

 Entry Date for Employer Basic Contributions 

 The following Entry Date for Employer Basic Contributions applies to: 

[X] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: __________________________________________ 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant 

first meets the eligibility requirements 

[X] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets 

the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

79

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

25  

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] Other Entry Date for Basic Contributions: __________________________________________ 

[X] Whichever option is selected above or below, but no earlier than the date on or after 

January 1, 2017 as of which the Employer first began making Employer Basic 

Contributions to the Plan (insert date).  

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the __________ (insert a date other than January 1st} that the date 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirement 

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ month on or after the 

Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ calendar quarter on or after 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

 Entry Date for Employer Discretionary Contributions 

 The following Entry Date for Employer  Discretionary Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: __________________________________________ 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant 

first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets 

the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] Whichever option is selected above or below, but no earlier than __________ (insert date)  

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the __________ (insert a date other than January 1st} that the date 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirement 

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ month on or after the 

Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ calendar quarter on or after 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

 Entry Date for Employer Matching Contributions 

 The following Entry Date for Employer Matching Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: __________________________________________ 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the January 1st that the Participant 

first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets 

80

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

26  

the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the month on or after the Participant first meets the 

eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the first pay period of the calendar quarter on or after the Participant first 

meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] Whichever option is selected above or below, but no earlier than __________ (insert date)  

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the __________ (insert a date other than January 1st} that the date 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirement 

[--] The first day of the __________ (insert a designation other than “first”) pay period 

beginning on or after the date the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ month on or after the 

Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

[--] The first day of the __________ pay period of the __________ calendar quarter on or after 

the Participant first meets the eligibility requirements 

 

2.61 YEAR OF SERVICE 

 Adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility Purposes Include Exclude 

 The following adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility Purposes applies 

to: 
  

[--] All Participants [--] [--] 

[--] Only the following Participants: _________________________________ [--] [--] 

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan included [--] [--] 

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan excluded [--] [--] 

[--] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan 

included 
[--] [--] 

[--] 

 

[--] 

Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan 

excluded 

Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of Severance (as 

applicable) for purposes of Eligibility to participate after a 

Reemployment Commencement Date 

[--] 

 

[--] 

[--] 

 

[--] 

[--] Other Adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility:   

 Include: ________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Exclude: ________________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting Purposes   

 The following adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting Purposes applies to:   

[--] All Participants   

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________   

81

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

27  

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan 

included 
[--] [--] 

[--] Service Before the Original Effective Date of the Plan 

excluded 
[--] [--] 

[--] Service Before the  Effective Date of this amended and 

restated Plan included 
[--] [--] 

[--] 

 

[--] 

Service Before the Effective Date of this amended and 

restated Plan excluded 

Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of 

Severance (as applicable) for purposes of Vesting in amounts 

accrued after Reemployment Commencement Date 

[--] 

 

[--] 

[--] 

 

[--] 

[--] Other Adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting:   

 Include: __________________________________________ [--] [--] 

 Exclude: __________________________________________ [--] [--] 

3.01 PARTICIPATION ELIGIBILITY 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employee Contributions 

 The following Eligibility Date for Employee  Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of 

Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ 

(___) Years of Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Employee Contributions:  _________________________ (Must be 

based on service, age or a combination of service and age.)   

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Basic Contributions 

 The following Eligibility Date for Employer Basic Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of 

Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ 

(___) Years of Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Basic Contributions: ____________________(Must be based on 

service, age or a combination of service and age).  

82

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

28  

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Discretionary Contributions 

 The following Eligibility Date for Employer Discretionary Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--]  The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--]  Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of 

Service 

[--]  Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--]  The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ 

(___) Years of Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Discretionary Contributions ______________________________ 

(Must be based on service, age or a combination of service and age. 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Matching Contributions 

 The following Eligibility Date for Employer Matching Contributions applies to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Matching Contributions ____________________________________ 

(Must be based on service, age or a combination of service and age. 

3.02 PARTICIPATION UPON REEMPLOYMENT 

 The following special rules for Participation Upon Reemployment apply to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] Upon the Eligible Employee’s Reemployment Commencement Date, the Eligible Employee shall have 

the following status in the Plan based on his status as of his most recent Severance Date: 

[--] (a) If the Eligible Employee was a Participant, he shall reenter the Plan as a Participant on 

________________________ (describe the applicable date.) 

[--] (b) If the Eligible Employee had satisfied the Plan’s eligibility conditions but had not become a 

Participant, he shall become a Participant on the ________ (earlier or later) of 

_________________________ (describe the applicable date) or ______________________ 

(describe the applicable date.) 

[--] (c) If the Eligible Employee had not satisfied the Plan’s eligibility conditions, he 

_______________________ (shall or shall not) receive _____________ (all or the portion 

described) previous Years of Service and shall become a Participant on _________________ 

(describe the date) 

83

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

29  

 

4.02 EMPLOYER BASIC AND DISCRETIONARY CONTRIBUTIONS 

 Employer Basic Contributions 

 The following Employer Basic Contribution shall apply to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] No Basic Contributions 

[--] Basic Contributions equal to _________________ percent (___ %) of each 

Participant’s Compensation (not to exceed 25% ) 

[--] Basic Contributions in a flat dollar amount equal to ________ dollars ($___) for each 

Participant 

[--] 

 

Basic Contributions allocated based on Points equal to $_______ times the number of 

each Participant’s points.  (Complete Description of Points below.) 

[--] Basic Contributions allocated based on Points (or ranges of Points) equal to the 

following percentage of each Participant’s Compensation (not to exceed 25% or the 

same flat dollar amount).  (Complete Description of Points below.) 

Number of Points $ Amount % of Compensation 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

[--] Points for each year of age (in whole numbers):___________________ 

[--] Points for each Year of Service (in whole numbers):__________________ 

[--] Points for each unit of Compensation:______________ 

[--] A unit of Compensation is _______________________ 

[--] Maximum Years of Service taken into account, if any: ____________ 

[--] 

 

Each Participant’s allocation shall bear the same relationship to the Employer 

Contribution as the number of his or her total Points bears to all Points awarded 

[--] Other Basic Contribution Formula  (Must be a combination of the options above, e.g., 2% of 

Compensation, but not more than $1500; 2% of the first $70,000 of Compensation; or a 

percentage of Compensation based on Points or ranges of Points) _____________________  

_______________________________________ 

 Basic Contributions shall be made: 

[--] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

84

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

30  

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other Basic Contribution remittance period (Must be based on one or more of the options 

above, such as semi-monthly or quarterly with an annual true-up.) _____________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 Eligibility Requirements for Basic Contributions 

[--] No additional requirements 

[--] Participant must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and Participants 

who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last day or Hours 

of Service requirements. 

[--] Other Eligibility Requirements for Basic Contributions (Must be a combination of 

employment date and a minimum number of Hours of Service during a specified period of 

time, but no Hour of Service requirement shall, if extrapolated to a Plan Year basis, require 

more than 2,080 Hours of Service/Plan Year.  For example, 40 Hours of Service/week or 

173/month is acceptable; 42 hours/week or 175/month is not.): ________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 Employer Discretionary Contributions 

 The following Employer Discretionary Contribution shall apply to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] No Discretionary Contributions 

[--] Discretionary Contributions as determined each year by the Employer using the following 

Allocation Formula: 

[--] Pro-Rata Based on Compensation 

[--] Each Participant is credited with a portion of the Employer Contribution for the Plan 

Year equal to the ratio that the Participant’s Compensation for the Plan Year bears to 

all Participants’ Compensation for the Plan Year 

[--] Fixed Dollar Formula 

[--] Each Participant shall be credited with an equal dollar amount 

[--] Discretionary Contributions allocated based on Points  

[--] Discretionary Contributions allocated based on Points equal to $_______ times the 

number of each Participant’s points.  (Complete Description of Points below.) 

[--] Discretionary Contributions allocated based on Points (or ranges of Points) equal to 

the following percentage of each Participant’s Compensation (not to exceed 25% or 

the same flat dollar amount) (Complete Description of Points below.) 

Number of Points $ Amount % of Compensation 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

85

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

31  

________ $________ _______% 

________ $________ _______% 

[--] Points for each year of age (in whole numbers):___________________ 

[--] Points for each Year of Service (in whole numbers):__________________ 

[--] Points for each unit of Compensation:______________ 

[--] A unit of Compensation is _______________________ 

[--] Maximum Years of Service taken into account, if any: ____________ 

[--] 

 

Each Participant’s allocation shall bear the same relationship to the Employer 

Contribution as the number of his or her total Points bears to all Points awarded  

 Discretionary Contributions shall be made: 

[--] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other Discretionary Contribution remittance period (Must be based on one or more of the 

options above, such as semi-monthly or quarterly with an annual true-up.) _______________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

 Eligibility Requirements for Discretionary Contributions 

[--] No additional requirements [Must elect if paid on less than annual basis] 

[--] Participant must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and Participants 

who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last day or Hours 

of Service requirements. 

[--] Other Eligibility Requirements for Discretionary Contributions (Must be a combination of 

employment date and a minimum number of Hours of Service during a specified period of 

time, but no Hour of Service requirement shall, if extrapolated to a Plan Year basis, require 

more than 2,080 Hours of Service/Plan Year.  For example, 40 Hours of Service/week or 

173/month is acceptable; 42 hours/week or 175/month is not.):_________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

4.03 EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS 

(Matching Contributions may not exceed 100% of Compensation.) 

 The following Employer Matching Contribution shall apply to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

[--] No Matching Contributions on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred 

86

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

32  

Compensation Plan 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of the first _______ percent (____%) 

on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan.  The 

maximum Matching Contribution shall be no more than _________ percent (___%) of 

Compensation or  $______________. 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of the first _______ percent (____%) 

on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed. The 

maximum Matching Contribution shall be no more than _________ percent (___%) of 

Compensation or $________________. 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of amounts Participants contribute to 

the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan. 

[--] Discretionary Matching Contributions as determined each year by the Employer 

 Matching Contributions shall be made on the following types of deferrals: 

[--] Deferral Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[--] Catch-up Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[--] Roth Contributions under the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[--] Matching Contributions shall be calculated based on the lowest whole percentage of 

Compensation deferred by the Participant (no fractions) 

 Matching Contributions shall be made: 

[--] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other remittance period for Matching Contributions:      (must be at 

least annual) 

 Employer Matching Contribution Eligibility Requirements 

[--] No requirements [Must elect if made more frequently than annually] 

[--] Participant  must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant  must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and 

Participants who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any 

last day or Hours of Service requirements.  

 (Note:  Matching contributions made on a payroll basis will not be recalculated at the end of the 

year) 

 

 

 

87

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

33  

 

5.03 MAXIMUM LIMITS WHEN EMPLOYER SPONSORS TWO DEFINED 

CONTRIBUTION PLANS - SPECIAL PROVISIONS 

 The following ____________________ shall apply to: 

[--] All Participants 

[--] Only the following Participants: ______________________________ 

Describe allocation between this Plan and the other plan:  ___________________________________  

88

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

34  

6.02 VESTING SCHEDULE 

Additional rows may be added to any option to the extent permissible under the Plan document.  Any cliff 

vesting schedule must be at least as favorable as 15-year cliff (20-year cliff for a class in which substantially all of 

the participants are qualified public safety employees as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 72(t)(10)(B)),  

Any graded vesting schedule must be at least as favorable as 5-20 year graded. 

Vesting for Employer Basic Contribution 

This Vesting Schedule for Basic Contributions Additional Provisions Addendum applies to:    

          .  (Employees may not be 

included or excluded by name, but only by employee classification (which may be modified to include specific 

dates) or job title, and only if the employee classification or job title satisfies the definitely determinable 

requirement under Treasury regulation 1.401-1(a)(2). 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

Less than  ____ (__) years     0 % 

_______ (__) years or more  100 % 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Vesting for Employer Discretionary Contribution 

This Vesting Schedule for Employer Discretionary Contributions Additional Provisions Addendum applies to:  

           (Employees may 

not be included or excluded by name, but only by employee classification (which may be modified to include 

specific dates) or job title, and only if the employee classification or job title satisfies the definitely determinable 

requirement under Treasury regulation 1.401-1(a)(2). 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

 ____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Less than  ____ (__ ) years     0 % 

_____ (__) years or more  100 % 

89

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

35  

Vesting for Employer Matching Contribution 

This Vesting Schedule for Employer Matching Contributions Additional Provisions Addendum applies to:   

           (Employees may 

not be included or excluded by name, but only by employee classification (which may be modified to include 

specific dates) or job title, and only if the employee classification or job title satisfies the definitely determinable 

requirement under Treasury regulation 1.401-1(a)(2). 

100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

 ____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Less than  _____ (__) years     0 % 

_____ (__) years or more  100 % 

2.31 HOURS OF SERVICE EQUIVALENCY ADDENDUM 

Per Section 2.30(g) of the Basic Plan Document, Each Employee who works _______________ Hour(s) of 

Service during a _________________________ shall be credited with _____________________ Hours of Service 

for that period.  (The equivalency selected must be at least as generous as the equivalencies set for forth in 

paragraph (e) of Department of Labor Regulation Section 2530.2006-3.) 

 

90

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

36  

FORMS OF PAYMENT ADDENDUM 

This Forms of Payment Addendum shall apply to the following classes of Participants or to the following sources of 

contributions:            (must satisfy the definitely 

determinable requirement under Treasury regulation 1.401-1(a)(2). 

Per Section 8.01(a)(iv) of the Plan Document, the Employer may permit any of the following forms of payment in 

addition to those otherwise available under the Basic Plan Document and/or the Adoption Agreement.  The 

Employer also may use this Addendum to provide for different elections for different classifications of employees or 

for different sources of contributions:  

[--] Distributions may be made in one lump sum only 

[--] Distributions may be made in any form provided in Section 8.01(a) (Lump sums,  installments or 

systematic payments) 

[--] Distributions may be made in any form provided in Section 8.01(a) (Lump sums, installments or 

systematic payments, except that: 

[--] The maximum length of the installment period shall be:  ____________ (may not exceed the 

joint life expectancy of the Participant and his designated Beneficiary) 

[--] The Participant or Beneficiary whose distribution is in the form of installments may not elect to 

receive the remainder of his Account in a single lump sum or otherwise change the installment 

method previously selected. 

[--] In addition to the lump sum and installment options, Participants and Beneficiaries may elect 

partial withdrawals provided the minimum withdrawal is $____________. 

[--] Annuities: 

[--] 1. Any form of annuity 

[--] 2. Only the following forms of annuity (select one or more): 

[--] a. Straight life annuity 

[--] b. Life and 5 years certain 

[--] c. Life and 10 years certain 

[--] d. Life and 15 years certain 

[--] e. Life and 20 years certain 

[--] f. Straight life with reduction upon receipt of Social Security benefits 

[--] g. Joint and 50% survivor annuity 

[--] h. Joint and 66 2/3% survivor annuity 

[--] i. Joint and 75% survivor annuity 

[--] j. Joint and 100% survivor annuity 

[--] Annuity options are available only to Participants who have attained age: __________ (specify). 

[--] Annuity options are available only to Participants who have completed ___________ (specify) Years 

of Service. 

[--] Joint Annuity may be: 

[--] Spouse only 

[--] No restrictions, subject to incidental benefit rules described in Treasury Regulation 

Section 1.401(a)(9)-2 

91

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

37  

[--] Distributions may be made in: 

[--] cash only (except for insurance or annuity contracts) 

[--] cash or property 

 

92

Item XI. 4.



401(a) Adoption Agreement (2018)  Effingham County 

 

38  

SUPERSEDING PROVISIONS ADDENDUM 
 

Unless the provisions of this Superseding Provisions Addendum are described in Section 8.03 of Revenue 

Procedure 2017-41 as not causing a plan to fail to be identical, e.g., changes to the administrative provisions of the 

Plan, such as provisions relating to investments or plan claims procedures, the Employer will not be permitted to 

rely on ACCG’s opinion letter for qualification of its plan.  In addition, such superseding provisions may, in certain 

circumstances, affect the plan’s status as a pre-approved plan eligible for the 6-year remedial amendment cycle.   

The following provisions supersede other provisions of this Adoption Agreement and the ACCG Basic Plan 

document in the manner described below: 

 

93

Item XI. 4.



SUMMARY OF DEFAULT ELECTIONS 

IN RESTATED ACCG DC ADOPTION AGREEMENT 

 

1. Section 2.17 Eligible Employee; Eligibility of Grant-Funded Employees (p. 2) – The new Adoption Agreement 

lists “Grant-funded Employees” and allows the Employer to indicate if grant-funded employees are treated 

differently than other “Eligible Employees Other Than Elected Officials.” The default election is to treat grant-

funded employees the same as “Eligible Employees Other Than Elected Officials.” Please contact ACCG before 

signing the Adoption Agreement if you wish to change this election.   

  

2. Section 2.17 Eligible Employee; Eligibility of Chief and Assistant Magistrate Judge (p. 3) – The new Adoption 

Agreement includes an election to include or exclude the Chief Magistrate Judge and any Assistant Magistrate 

Judge. The default election under the new Adoption Agreement is to include the Chief Magistrate Judge if 

“Magistrate Judge” is included under the current Adoption Agreement and to exclude the Chief Magistrate Judge 

if “Magistrate Judge” is excluded under the current Adoption Agreement.  The default election under the new 

Adoption Agreement is to exclude any Assistant Magistrate Judge.  Please contact ACCG before signing the 

Adoption Agreement if you wish to change these elections. 

 

3. Section 2.61 Year of Service; Adjustments to Years of Service for Eligibility (p. 6) – The new Adoption 

Agreement includes an election to exclude Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of Severance 

(as applicable) for purposes of eligibility to participate after a Reemployment Commencement Date.  The default 

election under the new Adoption Agreement is to include such Service.  Please contact ACCG before signing 

the Adoption Agreement if you wish to change this election. 

 

4. Section 2.61 Year of Service; Adjustments to Years of Service for Vesting (p. 7) – The new Adoption Agreement 

includes an election to exclude Service before a five-year Break in Service or Period of Severance (as applicable) 

for purposes of becoming vested in amounts accrued after an Employee’s Reemployment Commencement Date.  

The default election under the new Adoption Agreement is to exclude such Service. Please contact ACCG before 

signing the Adoption Agreement if you wish to change this election.  

 

5. Section 3.06 Election Not to Participate (p. 9) – The new Adoption Agreement includes an election to allow 

Eligible Employees to opt out of participating in the Plan.  In keeping with the practice of most ACCG DC 

Program participating employers, the default election is not to allow Eligible Employees to opt out of 

participating in the Plan, (i.e., participation is automatic for employees who satisfy the eligibility requirements).  

Please contact ACCG before signing the Adoption Agreement if you wish to change this election.   

 

6. Section 6.04 In-Service Withdrawals (p. 14) – The new Adoption Agreement includes an election to permit in-

service withdrawals from the Plan.  The default election is to permit in-service withdrawals only for Rollover 

Accounts and Active Military Distributions, (i.e., no other withdrawals permitted until Severance from 

Employment).   If other in-service withdrawals are to be permitted, the Employer must specify the conditions for 

such withdrawal in the Adoption Agreement.  Please contact ACCG before signing the Adoption Agreement if 

you wish to change this election.  

 

7. Section 7.01 Death Benefits (p. 15) – The new Adoption Agreement includes an election with respect to death 

benefit payment forms.  The default election is to allow death benefits to be paid in any form permitted under 

the Plan for Participants. Please contact ACCG before signing the Adoption Agreement if you wish to change 

this election. 

 

8. Section 8.05 Participant Consent to Distributions (p. 15) – The new Adoption Agreement includes an election to 

require cash-out of small accounts without the consent of the Participant or Beneficiary.  The default election is 

not to mandate cash-outs of small accounts without the consent of the Participant or Beneficiary.  If the Employer 

elects to require small account cash-outs without consent, the Employer must also elect the small account cash-

out limit in Section 8.05 of the Adoption Agreement. 

94

Item XI. 4.



 

  

 
191 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 700 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
p 770.952.5225 
t 800.736.7166 
f 770.563.9356 
ACCGretirement.org 
 

Retirement Services. 

 
 
DATE:  March 18, 2022 
 
TO: Effingham County, a Participating Employer in the ACCG Defined Contribution Plan 
 
RE: Action Required by March 31, 2022, to Restate Your ACCG Defined Contribution Plan 

 
We are writing to inform you that your jurisdiction needs to restate your ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution 
Plan (“DC Plan” or “Plan”) by March 31, 2022.  The restatement incorporates changes to the Plan that must 
be made to reflect changes in the law and to protect the Plan’s tax-qualified status under the Internal 
Revenue Code.  The restatement also incorporates any amendments to the Plan that have been approved 
by your jurisdiction and by ACCG since the last Plan restatement. 
 
ACCG has obtained Internal Revenue Service (IRS) preapproval for the amended and restated ACCG 401(a) 
Defined Contribution Plan Document and the accompanying amended and restated Adoption Agreement.  
The effective date of the amended and restated DC Plan will be January 1, 2022.  Below is a more detailed 
description of the steps you will need to take to complete the restatement process: 
 
1.  Keep the Amended and Restated ACCG 401(a) DC Plan Document and IRS Letter for Your Files 
 
Copies of the amended and restated ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan Document (“Governmental 
401(a) Defined Contribution Plan ACCG Basic Plan Document No. 1”) and the IRS’s advisory opinion on the 
document are included with this notice.  Please keep a copy of both documents for your files.  It is not 
necessary for you to execute the Plan Document.   
 
2.  Review Elections Included in Amended and Restated Adoption Agreement      
 
A copy of the amended and restated DC Plan Adoption Agreement is included with this notice. The 
numbered sections of the new Adoption Agreement correspond with the numbered sections of the new 
Plan Document. The new Adoption Agreement has been completed to reflect your current Plan elections 
except as otherwise noted below with respect to certain default elections.  Please review the new 
Adoption Agreement carefully to make sure that the checked boxes and other provisions accurately reflect 
the current terms of your Plan, including any amendments you may have previously made. 
 
Some new elections have been added to the Adoption Agreement to reflect changes in the law or 
administrative requirements.  Your new Adoption Agreement has been completed to reflect suggested 
default elections in connection with these items.  Included with this notice is a list highlighting some of 
these default elections.  Please contact your ACCG Regional Client Manager before the Adoption 
Agreement is adopted and executed if you need ACCG to check a different box or otherwise make a 
change to any of the elections shown in the new Adoption Agreement.  ACCG must be informed in 
writing of any changes you wish to make.  Each jurisdiction should review the amended and restated DC 
Plan with its legal counsel to ensure that the new Adoption Agreement has been properly completed 
before it is adopted and executed.   
 
 

95

Item XI. 4.



  

At the back of the new Adoption Agreement you will see an Additional Provisions Addendum and a 
Superseding Provisions Addendum.  If your current DC Plan Adoption Agreement includes certain “other” 
box provisions that will not fit within the new Adoption Agreement, they appear in the Additional 
Provisions Addendum or in the Superseding Provisions Addendum.  Please note the IRS determination 
letter received for the amended and restated DC Plan does not extend to provisions included in the 
Superseding Provisions Addendum.  The Superseding Provisions Addendum includes more information on 
the IRS’s position on Superseding Provisions.  If this affects your jurisdiction, please consult with your 
ACCG representative if you have questions. 
 
3.  Adopt Resolution to Approve Amended and Restated DC Plan, Execute Adoption Agreement 
 
When you have reviewed the new Adoption Agreement and are satisfied that it has been properly 
completed, please have your jurisdiction’s governing authority adopt the new Adoption Agreement. We 
have included a draft resolution with this notice that you may use for this purpose in consultation with 
your legal counsel.   
 
Once the resolution has been adopted, please have the authorized individual, i.e., the individual 
authorized by the resolution to sign the document, sign and date the Adoption Agreement on behalf of 
the jurisdiction in the signature block on the last page of the Adoption Agreement, just before the Prior 
Service Addendum.  In most cases the signature block appears on page 18 of the Adoption Agreement.  
 
4.  Return Copy of Executed Resolution and Adoption Agreement to ACCG 
  
After the resolution and Adoption Agreement have been executed on behalf of the jurisdiction, please 
scan and return a copy of both executed documents to your ACCG Regional Client Manager via email.  
 
Thank you for your attention to the above.  Please contact me at 404.401.0692 or via email at 
khodges@accg.org if you have any questions or need further information about the DC Plan restatement 
or ACCG Retirement Services. 
 

Sincerely, 

 

R. Kale Hodges 

Retirement Services Director 

ACCG Retirement Services 

 

 

96

Item XI. 4.

mailto:khodges@accg.org


 

   

GOVERNMENTAL 
401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
ACCG BASIC PLAN DOCUMENT No. 1

401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PROGRAM 
 

97

Item XI. 4.



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I: PURPOSE AND ADOPTION ............................................................................... 1  

ARTICLE II: DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................... 1  

2.01 ACCOUNT ......................................................................................................................... 1 
2.02 ACTIVE PARTICIPANT ....................................................................................................... 1 
2.03 ADOPTION AGREEMENT ................................................................................................... 1 
2.04 AFFILIATE ........................................................................................................................ 2 
2.05 ANNUAL ADDITION .......................................................................................................... 2 
2.06 BENEFICIARY ................................................................................................................... 2 
2.07 BREAK IN SERVICE ........................................................................................................... 2 
2.08 CODE ............................................................................................................................... 3  
2.09 COMPENSATION ............................................................................................................... 3 
2.10 CONTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................................................... 5 
2.11 DISABLED OR DISABILITY ................................................................................................ 5 
2.12 DIFFERENTIAL WAGE PAYMENTS ..................................................................................... 5 
2.13 DISTRIBUTEE .................................................................................................................... 5 
2.14 EFFECTIVE DATE .............................................................................................................. 6 
2.15 ELAPSED TIME METHOD .................................................................................................. 6 
2.16 ELIGIBILITY COMPUTATION PERIOD ................................................................................. 6 
2.17 ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE ........................................................................................................ 6 
2.18 ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLAN ........................................................................................... 7 
2.19 ELIGIBLE ROLLOVER DISTRIBUTION ................................................................................. 8 
2.20 EMPLOYEE ....................................................................................................................... 8 
2.21 EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................................. 8 
2.22 EMPLOYEE AFTER-TAX CONTRIBUTIONS ......................................................................... 9 
2.23 EMPLOYER ....................................................................................................................... 9 
2.24 EMPLOYER BASIC CONTRIBUTIONS .................................................................................. 9 
2.25 EMPLOYER DISCRETIONARY CONTRIBUTIONS .................................................................. 9 
2.26 EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................... 9 
2.27 EMPLOYMENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ............................................................................ 9 
2.28 ENTRY DATE .................................................................................................................... 9 
2.29 FORFEITURE ..................................................................................................................... 9 
2.30 HOUR OF SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 10 
2.31 HOURS OF SERVICE METHOD ......................................................................................... 11 
2.32 INACTIVE PARTICIPANT .................................................................................................. 11 
2.33 INVESTMENT FUND OR FUNDS ........................................................................................ 11 

98

Item XI. 4.



 ii 

2.34 LEASED EMPLOYEE ........................................................................................................ 11 
2.35 LEAVE OF ABSENCE ....................................................................................................... 12 
2.36 LIMITATION YEAR .......................................................................................................... 12 
2.37 MANDATORY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS ..................................................................... 12 
2.38 MATERNITY OR PATERNITY LEAVE ................................................................................ 12 
2.39 NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE ........................................................................................... 12 
2.40 NORMAL RETIREMENT DATE ......................................................................................... 12 
2.41 PARTICIPANT .................................................................................................................. 13 
2.42 PERIOD OF SERVICE........................................................................................................ 13 
2.43 PERIOD OF SEVERANCE .................................................................................................. 13 
2.44 PLAN .............................................................................................................................. 13  
2.45 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR .................................................................................................. 14 
2.46 PLAN YEAR .................................................................................................................... 14 
2.47 QUALIFIED MILITARY SERVICE ...................................................................................... 14 
2.48 REEMPLOYMENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ...................................................................... 14 
2.49 RESTORATION CONTRIBUTIONS...................................................................................... 14 
2.50 ROLLOVER CONTRIBUTION ............................................................................................ 14 
2.51 SERVICE ......................................................................................................................... 14 
2.52 SEVERANCE FROM EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................... 14 
2.53 SEVERANCE DATE .......................................................................................................... 15 
2.54 SPOUSE OR SURVIVING SPOUSE ..................................................................................... 15 
2.55 THIRD PARTY SERVICE PROVIDER ................................................................................. 15 
2.56 TRUST FUND .................................................................................................................. 15 
2.57 TRUSTEE(S) .................................................................................................................... 15 
2.58 TRUST(S) OR TRUST AGREEMENT .................................................................................. 15 
2.59 USERRA ....................................................................................................................... 15  
2.60 VALUATION DATE .......................................................................................................... 16 
2.61 YEAR OF SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE III: PARTICIPATION AND SERVICE ............................................................... 16 

3.01 PARTICIPATION ELIGIBILITY ........................................................................................... 16 
3.02 PARTICIPATION UPON REEMPLOYMENT ......................................................................... 16 
3.03 TRANSFERS .................................................................................................................... 17 
3.04 OMISSION OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE ................................................................................. 17 
3.05 INCLUSION OF INELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE ............................................................................ 17 
3.06 ELECTION NOT TO PARTICIPATE ..................................................................................... 18 

ARTICLE IV: CONTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................................... 18  

4.01 EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS ........................................................................................... 18 
4.02 EMPLOYER BASIC AND DISCRETIONARY CONTRIBUTIONS ............................................. 18 

99

Item XI. 4.



 iii 

4.03 EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS ........................................................................ 19 
4.04 TIMING OF CONTRIBUTION ............................................................................................. 19 
4.05 ROLLOVERS FROM OTHER PLANS .................................................................................. 20 
4.06 RESTORATION CONTRIBUTIONS...................................................................................... 20 
4.07 QUALIFIED MILITARY SERVICE ...................................................................................... 21 
4.08 FORM OF CONTRIBUTIONS .............................................................................................. 23 
4.09 CIRCUMSTANCES PERMITTING RETURN OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS ........................ 23 
4.10 TRUSTEE-TO-TRUSTEE TRANSFER .................................................................................. 24 

ARTICLE V: ALLOCATIONS TO PARTICIPANTS’ ACCOUNTS .................................. 24 

5.01 INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNTS ................................................................................................. 24 
5.02 ALLOCATIONS ................................................................................................................ 24 
5.03 CODE SECTION 415 LIMITATIONS ON CONTRIBUTIONS ................................................... 25 
5.04 NOTICE TO PARTICIPANTS OF ACCOUNT BALANCES ....................................................... 29 
5.05 GOOD FAITH VALUATION BINDING ................................................................................ 29 

ARTICLE VI: RETIREMENT/SEVERANCE BENEFITS/IN-SERVICE 
DISTRIBUTIONS ....................................................................................................................... 30  

6.01 RETIREMENT .................................................................................................................. 30 
6.02 SEVERANCE FOR OTHER REASONS ................................................................................. 30 
6.03 TIMING AND APPLICATION OF FORFEITURES; VESTING AFTER RESTORATION 

CONTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................................................ 31 
6.04 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS ........................................................................................... 32 

ARTICLE VII: DEATH BENEFITS ........................................................................................ 33  

7.01 DEATH ........................................................................................................................... 33 
7.02 PAYMENT OF DEATH BENEFITS ...................................................................................... 33 
7.03 BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION ........................................................................................... 34 
7.04 FACILITY OF PAYMENT TO MINORS OR FOR INCAPACITY ............................................... 34 

ARTICLE VIII: PAYMENT OF BENEFITS .......................................................................... 34  

8.01 NORMAL PAYMENT FORMS ............................................................................................ 34 
8.02 ASSETS DISTRIBUTED ..................................................................................................... 37 
8.03 APPLICATION FOR BENEFITS ........................................................................................... 37 
8.04 TIME OF PAYMENT ......................................................................................................... 37 
8.05 PARTICIPANT CONSENT TO DISTRIBUTION ...................................................................... 37 
8.06 SMALL PAYMENTS AND AUTOMATIC ROLLOVERS ......................................................... 38 
8.07 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................ 38 
8.08 NONALIENATION OF BENEFITS ....................................................................................... 42 
8.09 FORFEITURE OF BENEFITS .............................................................................................. 42 
8.10 UNCLAIMED BENEFITS ................................................................................................... 43 
8.11 MAINTENANCE OF ACCOUNT ......................................................................................... 43 

100

Item XI. 4.



 iv 

8.12 DENIAL OF CLAIMS ........................................................................................................ 43 
8.13 EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN ROLLOVER DISTRIBUTIONS ................................................. 44 

ARTICLE IX: TRUST FUND INVESTMENTS ..................................................................... 44 

9.01 CONTRIBUTIONS TO TRUST FUND ................................................................................... 44 
9.02 INVESTMENT FUNDS ....................................................................................................... 44 
9.03 PARTICIPANT DIRECTION OF INVESTMENTS .................................................................... 45 
9.04 EXPENSES ...................................................................................................................... 45 
9.05 VOTING AND TENDER OFFER RIGHTS WITH RESPECT TO INVESTMENT FUNDS ............... 45 

ARTICLE X: ADMINISTRATION .......................................................................................... 46  

10.01 PLAN ADMINISTRATOR’S POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITY ............................................... 46 
10.02 DIRECTIONS ................................................................................................................... 47 
10.03 REPORTING AND DISCLOSURE ........................................................................................ 47 
10.04 CONSTRUCTION OF THE PLAN ......................................................................................... 47 
10.05 EFFECT OF FAILURE TO QUALIFY UNDER THE CODE. ..................................................... 47 
10.06 ASSISTANTS AND ADVISERS ........................................................................................... 47 
10.07 BONDING ....................................................................................................................... 48 

ARTICLE XI: ALLOCATION OF AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITIES ................. 48 

11.01 GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES .......................................................................................... 48 
11.02 THIRD PARTY SERVICE PROVIDER ................................................................................. 48 
11.03 TRUSTEES ...................................................................................................................... 48 
11.04 LIMITATIONS ON OBLIGATIONS OF FIDUCIARIES ............................................................. 49 
11.05 DELEGATION .................................................................................................................. 49 
11.06 MULTIPLE FIDUCIARY ROLES ......................................................................................... 49 

ARTICLE XII: MISCELLANEOUS ........................................................................................ 49  

12.01 NO GUARANTEE OF EMPLOYMENT ................................................................................. 49 
12.02 RIGHTS TO ASSETS ......................................................................................................... 49 
12.03 NONFORFEITABILITY OF BENEFITS ................................................................................. 50 
12.04 GOVERNING LAW ........................................................................................................... 50 
12.05 CONSTRUCTION .............................................................................................................. 50 
12.06 ACTION BY THE EMPLOYER ............................................................................................ 50 
12.07 UNIFORMITY .................................................................................................................. 50 

ARTICLE XIII: AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND ADOPTION ............................... 51 

13.01 AMENDMENTS ................................................................................................................ 51 
13.02 TERMINATION OF PLAN .................................................................................................. 52 
13.03 AMENDMENT AND CONTINUATION OF PRIOR PLAN; TRANSFER OF FUNDS ..................... 53 

 

101

Item XI. 4.



 1

ARTICLE I: PURPOSE AND ADOPTION 

This preapproved plan consists of two parts: (1) an Adoption Agreement that is a separate 
document and (2) a preapproved ACCG Basic Plan Document.  Each part contains substantive 
provisions that are integral to the operation of the Plan.  The Adoption Agreement is the means by 
which an adopting Employer elects the optional provisions that shall apply under its plan.  The 
ACCG Basic Plan Document describes the standard provisions elected in the Adoption Agreement. 

The Adoption Agreement is completed by the adopting Employer.  Provisions appearing on 
the Additional Provisions Addendum of the Adoption Agreement, if present, supplement or alter 
provisions appearing in the Adoption Agreement and the ACCG Basic Plan Document in the manner 
described within that Addendum.  Provisions appearing on the Plan Superseding Provisions 
Addendum of the Adoption Agreement, if present, supersede any conflicting provisions appearing in 
the Adoption Agreement, the ACCG Basic Plan Document or any addendum to either in the manner 
described therein.  This Plan is intended to be a profit sharing plan that meets the applicable 
requirements of Sections 401(a), and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”) by meeting the requirements for governmental plans under Code Section 414(d) and 
414(h).  The Basic Plan Document and Adoption Agreement are for adoption only governmental 
Employers, as defined under Code Section 414(d).  No Employer may adopt this Plan without the 
consent of the Association County Commissioners of Georgia (ACCG). 

ARTICLE II: DEFINITIONS  

For purposes of the Plan, the following terms, when used with an initial capital letter, shall have the 
meanings set forth below unless a different meaning plainly is required by the context. 

2.01 Account 

Account means the amount of money or other property set aside for the Participant in the 
Trust Fund, evidenced by the last balance posted to the account established for such 
individual.  The Third Party Service Provider may establish and maintain separate 
subaccounts for each such individual.  “Account” shall refer to the aggregate of all separate 
subaccounts or to individual, separate subaccounts, as may be appropriate in context. 

2.02 Active Participant 

Active Participant means, for any Plan Year (or any portion thereof), any Eligible Employee 
who, pursuant to the terms of Article III, has been admitted to, and not removed from, active 
participation in the Plan since his Employment or Reemployment Commencement Date. 

2.03 Adoption Agreement 

Adoption Agreement means the document executed by each Employer adopting this Plan.  
The terms of the Plan and Trust, as modified by the terms of an adopting Employer’s 
Adoption Agreement shall constitute a separate Plan to be construed as a single Plan. 

102

Item XI. 4.



 2

2.04 Affiliate 

Affiliate means the Employer and any company, person or organization which is a member 
of the same controlled group of corporations [within the meaning of Code Section 14(b)] as 
the Employer; is a trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which controls, is 
controlled by or is under common control with [within the meaning of Code Section 414(c)] 
the Employer; is a member of an affiliated service group [as defined in Code Section 414(m)] 
which includes the Employer; or is required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to 
regulations promulgated under Code Section 414(o).  Solely for purposes of Code 
Section 415 and Section 5.03 of the Plan, the term “Affiliate” as defined in this Section shall 
be deemed to include corporations that would be Affiliates if the phrase “more than 
50 percent” were substituted for the phrase “at least 80 percent” in each place the latter 
phrase appears in Code Section 1563(a)(1). 

2.05 Annual Addition 

Annual Addition means the sum of the amounts described in Section 5.03(c). 

2.06 Beneficiary 

Beneficiary means the person(s) designated by a Participant who is or may become entitled to 
a death benefit under the Plan.  Beneficiary designations shall be made in accordance with 
Section 7.03 of the Plan. 

2.07 Break in Service 

Break in Service means, with respect to an Eligible Employee, any consecutive twelve (12) 
month period during which such Eligible Employee fails to complete more than five hundred 
(500) Hours of Service with the Employer.  Unless otherwise elected by the Employer in 
Section 2.61 of its Adoption Agreement, the consecutive twelve (12) month period shall be 
measured from the Employment or Reemployment Commencement Date and each 
anniversary thereof. 

If an individual is absent from work because of Maternity or Paternity Leave on the first 
anniversary of his or her Severance Date, the 12-consecutive month period beginning on that 
individual’s Severance Date shall not constitute a Break in Service. 

For a Leave of Absence due to Military Leave under USERRA and FMLA Leave under the 
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, a Break in Service shall not be deemed to have 
occurred if the Eligible Employee returns to the Service of the Employer following the Leave 
of Absence within the time required by federal and state law. 

For purposes of determining whether an Eligible Employee has incurred a Break in Service, 
an Eligible Employee absent from work due to a Maternity or Paternity Leave shall be 
credited with the greater of (a) the number of Hours of Service actually worked or (b)(i) the 
number of Hours of Service he normally would have been credited but for the Maternity or 
Paternity Leave, or (ii) if the Employer is unable to determine the hours described in 
clause (b)(i) hereof, eight (8) Hours of Service for each day of absence included in the 
Maternity or Paternity Leave; provided, the maximum number of Hours of Service credited 
for purposes of clause (b) shall not exceed five hundred and one (501) hours.  Hours of 
Service credited shall be applied only to the year in which the Maternity or Paternity Leave 

103

Item XI. 4.



 3

begins unless such Hours of Service are not required to prevent the Eligible Employee from 
incurring a Break in Service, in which event such Hours of Service shall be credited to the 
Eligible Employee in the immediately following year.  No Hour of Service shall be credited 
under clause (b) due to Maternity or Paternity Leave as described in this Section unless the 
Eligible Employee furnishes proof satisfactory to the Employer (i) that his absence from 
work was due to a Maternity or Paternity Leave, and (ii) of the number of days he was absent 
due to the Maternity or Paternity Leave.  The Employer shall prescribe uniform and 
nondiscriminatory procedures by which to make the above determinations. 

2.08 Code 

Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any succeeding federal tax 
provisions. 

2.09 Compensation 

(a) General Definition.  Compensation means, except as otherwise provided in the 
Employer’s Adoption Agreement, the total of all payments, direct or indirect, made 
by the Employer to a Participant for services rendered to the Employer, as defined in 
Code Section 3401(a) for purposes of income tax withholding at the source and as 
required to be reported to the Employee by the Employer under Code 
Section 6041(d), 6051(a)(3) and 6052, but determined without regard to any rules 
that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the 
employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in 
Code Section 3401(a)(2)).  Compensation shall include before-tax or salary deferral 
contributions made to this Plan or any other plan of the Employer, under Code 
Sections 125, 132(f), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k), 457(b) or 414(h), on behalf of 
the Participant.   

(b) Determination Period.  Except as provided elsewhere in this Plan, Compensation 
shall include only that Compensation that is actually paid to the Participant during the 
determination period, and the determination period shall be elected by the Employer 
in its Adoption Agreement.  If the Employer makes no election, the determination 
period shall be the Plan Year.  For Employees whose date of hire is less than 
12 months before the end of the 12-month period designated by the Employer in its 
Adoption Agreement, Compensation will be determined over the Plan Year. 

(c) Severance Payments.  Compensation shall include payments made after Severance 
from Employment if the payments  are for regular compensation for service during 
the Employee’s regular working hours or compensation for services outside the 
Employee’s regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), 
commissions, bonuses, or other similar payments to the extent such payment would 
have been made prior to the Employee's Severance Date  if the Employee had 
continued in employment with the Employer, provided such amounts are paid within 
the post-severance period as defined below.   

Compensation may include payment for unused leave (i.e. unused accrued bona fide 
sick, vacation, or other leave) that is paid within the post-severance period as defined 
below, but only if the Employee would have been able to use the leave if employment 

104

Item XI. 4.



 4

had continued and only if inclusion of unused leave is included in Years of Service as 
elected by the Employer in Section 2.61 of its Adoption Agreement. 

For purposes of this Section the “post-severance period” begins on the date the 
Employee has a Severance from Employment and ends on the later of (i) 2 ½ months 
after Severance from Employment or (ii) the end of the Limitation Year that includes 
the date of the Employee’s Severance from Employment. 

(d) Differential Wage Payments.  Compensation shall also include Differential Wage 
Payments if so elected by the Employer under Section 4.07 of its Adoption 
Agreement. 

(e) State Pension Plans.  Compensation shall exclude that portion of an Employee’s 
Compensation defined by O.C.G.A. 47-23-100, as it is in effect as of October 1, 2019 
and is set forth in Schedule A hereto, which definition is used for purposes of 
participation in a State pension plan under O.C.G.A. 47-23.    

(f) Leave of Absence.  Compensation for purposes of Qualified Military Service and 
USERRA is defined in Section 4.07(d) of the Plan. 

(g) Section 415 Compensation.  Compensation for purposes of Code Section 415 is 
defined in Section 5.03(e) of the Plan. 

(h) Short Plan Years.  If the initial Plan Year of a new Plan consists of fewer than 
12 months, calculated from the Original Effective Date through the end of such initial 
Plan Year, Compensation shall be determined from such Original Effective Date 
through the end of the initial Plan Year unless otherwise provided in the Employer’s 
Adoption Agreement.  

(i) Leased Employees.  If a Leased Employee is treated as an Employee and is eligible to 
participate in this Plan, Compensation for such Leased Employee shall include 
compensation from the leasing organization which is attributable to services 
performed by the Leased Employee for the Employer.  If a Leased Employee is 
covered by a “safe harbor leasing plan” sponsored by the leasing organization, any 
allocation otherwise due to such Leased Employee under this Plan shall be reduced 
by the Leased Employee’s allocations under the leasing organization’s plan to the 
extent that such allocations are attributable to services performed for the Employer.  

(j) Code Section 401(a)(17) Limits.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall 
Compensation taken into account under the Plan for any 12-month determination 
period exceed the annual Compensation Limit under Code Section 401(a)(17)(B) as 
in effect on the first day of the determination period.  The “determination period” 
means the Plan Year or other 12-consecutive month period (i.e. the Limitation Year.) 
 If Compensation for any prior determination period is taken into account in 
determining a Participant’s allocations for the current Plan Year, the Compensation 
for such prior determination period is subject to the applicable annual Compensation 
limit in effect for that prior period.  The annual Compensation limit under Code 
Section 401(a)(17) shall be adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury to reflect 
increases in the cost of living as provided in Code Section 401(a)(17)(B) provided 
that the dollar increase in effect on January 1 of any calendar year is effective for the 

105

Item XI. 4.



 5

determination period beginning in such calendar year.  Compensation determined 
over a period of less than 12-consecutive months shall be prorated.  Any adjustment 
in the limit under Code Section 401(a)(17) shall continue to be incorporated by 
reference. 

The Code Section 401(a)(17) limits in this Section shall not apply to an individual 
who first became a Participant in the Plan prior to the first day of the first Plan Year 
beginning after the earlier of (a) the last day of the Plan Year by which a Plan 
amendment to reflect the amendments made by Section 13212 of the Omnibus 
Budget Reconciliation Act of 1993 (OBRA ‘93) was both adopted and effective; or 
(b) December 31, 1995, to the extent the application of the limitation would reduce 
the amount of Compensation that is allowed to be taken into account under the Plan 
below the amount that was allowed to be taken into account under the Plan as in 
effect on July 1, 1993. 

2.10 Contributions 

Contributions mean, individually or collectively, the Mandatory Employee, Employee After-
Tax, Employer Basic, Employer Discretionary, Employer Matching, and Rollover 
Contributions as required by the selections made by the Employer under Article IV of its 
Adoption Agreement. 

2.11 Disabled or Disability 

Disabled or Disability means a disability of a Participant within the meaning of Code 
Section 72(m)(7) to the extent that the Participant is, or would be, entitled to disability 
retirement benefits under Title II of the Federal Social Security Act, or such other definition 
as specified in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement.  The Plan Administrator may, after 
receiving notice of a Disability, arrange to have the Participant examined by a medical 
practitioner of the Plan Administrator's choosing as often as the Plan Administrator 
determines necessary or desirable to confirm continuation of the Participant’s Disability, 
until all benefits have been paid to the Participant, but not to exceed more than once annually 
and not if it would violate the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act.  In the 
case of a Plan restatement, a Participant who was previously determined to have been 
Disabled prior to the earlier of the date of execution or the effective date of the restatement 
shall continue to be disabled in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Plan 
prior to the restatement.  

2.12 Differential Wage Payments 

Differential Wage Payments mean any payments that are made by the Employer to an 
individual with respect to any period during which the individual is performing Qualified 
Military Service (as defined in Sections 2.47 and 4.07 hereof) while on active duty for a 
period of more than 30 days, and represents all or a portion of the wages the individual would 
have received from the Employer if the individual were performing services for the 
Employer.  

2.13 Distributee 

Distributee means a Participant or former Participant, the Participant’s or former 
Participant’s Surviving Spouse and the Participant’s or former Participant’s Spouse or former 

106

Item XI. 4.



 6

Spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order (if domestic 
relations order are recognized under the Plan) who is entitled to receive a distribution from 
the Participant’s vested Account.  The term Distributee shall also include a Designated 
Beneficiary (as defined in Code Section 401(a)(9)(E)) of a Participant who is not the 
Surviving Spouse of the Participant, in which case the distribution can only be transferred to 
a traditional IRA or Roth IRA established on behalf of the nonspouse Designated Beneficiary 
for the purpose of receiving such distribution. 

2.14 Effective Date 

Effective Date means the date specified in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement.  The 
“Original Effective Date” means the date the Plan was initially adopted by the Employer. 

2.15 Elapsed Time Method 

Elapsed Time Method means the method of computing a Year of Service by reference to the 
total time (years, months and days) that elapses between the Employee’s Employment 
Commencement Date or Reemployment Commencement Date and the Employee’s 
Severance Date.  The total time need not be consecutive. 

2.16 Eligibility Computation Period 

Eligibility Computation Period means each 12-consecutive month period beginning with an 
Employee’s Employment Commencement Date and each anniversary thereof, unless 
otherwise elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement.  

2.17 Eligible Employee 

Eligible Employee means any Employee of the Employer who is eligible to participate in the 
Plan, as specified in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement.  Eligible Employee shall exclude 
the following, unless otherwise elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement: 

(a) Any individual employed by a local elected official who is eligible to elect to 
participate in a retirement system sponsored by the State of Georgia (such as the 
Employee’s Retirement System of Georgia) and who elects to participate in such 
State-sponsored plan.  This exclusion does not apply to non-Employer plans 
including plans established for peace officers and firefighters and the Georgia 
National Guard. 

(b) Tax Commissioners, tax collectors, and tax receivers and employees in their offices 
who first or again take office or become employed on or after July 1, 2012, if such 
individuals participate in the Employee’s Retirement System of Georgia, by 
resolution of the Employer. 

(c) Juvenile court judges as defined in O.C.G.A. 47-23-1(13), as it is in effect as of 
October 1, 2019 and is set forth in Schedule A hereto.  

(d) Nonresident aliens who do not receive any earned income from the Employer which 
constitutes United States sourced income are automatically excluded unless their 
inclusion is elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement. 

107

Item XI. 4.



 7

(e) Any individual who is a public employee on July 1, 1985; has not, on or after such 
date, ceased to be a public employee; commits a public employment related crime on 
or after July 1, 1985, in his or her capacity as a public employee; and is convicted for 
the commission of such crime, shall no longer be an Eligible Employee as of the date 
of such final conviction.  Such an Employee shall not, at any time thereafter, be an 
Eligible Employee under the Plan as adopted by any Employer, not just the Employer 
against whom the individual committed the public-employment related crime.  The 
terms “conviction,” “final conviction,” “public employee,” and “public employment 
related crime” of this Section 2.17(e) shall have the meaning assigned to such terms 
under O.C.G.A. Section 47-1-20, as it is in effect as of October 1, 2019 and is set 
forth in Schedule A hereto.  The purpose of this Section 2.17(e) is to reflect the 
requirement of O.C.G.A. Section 47-1-21. 

(f) Any individual who first or again becomes a public employee after July 1, 1990, but 
commits a drug-related crime and is convicted for such crime, shall no longer be an 
Eligible Employee as of the date of such final conviction.  Such an Employee shall 
not, at any time thereafter, be an Eligible Employee under the Plan as adopted by any 
Employer, not just the Employer against whom the individual committed the public-
employment related crime.  The terms in this Section 2.17(f) shall have the meaning 
applicable to such terms under O.C.G.A. Section 47-1-22.1, as it is in effect as of 
October 1, 2019 and is set forth in Schedule A hereto.  The purpose of this 
Section 2.17(f) is to reflect the requirement of O.C.G.A. Section 47-1-22.1.  

(g) Any other individual employed by the Employer who is not designated as an Eligible 
Employee in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement, or who is specifically excluded as 
an Eligible Employee in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement. 

2.18 Eligible Retirement Plan 

Eligible Retirement Plan means a plan which is a defined contribution plan or deferred 
compensation plan, the terms of which permit the acceptance of rollover distributions and 
which is either: (a) a traditional individual retirement account described in Code 
Section 408(a), (b) an individual retirement annuity described in Code Section 408(b) (other 
than an endowment contract), (c) a qualified trust described in Code Section 401(a) and 
exempt from taxation under Code Section 501(a), (d) an annuity plan described in Code 
Section 403(a), (e) an annuity contract described in Code Section 403(b), (f) an eligible plan 
under Code Section 457(b) which is maintained by a state or agency or instrumentality of a 
state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts 
transferred into such plan from this Plan, or (g) a Roth individual retirement account 
described in Code Section 408A.  If any portion of an Eligible Rollover Distribution is 
attributable to payments or distributions from a designated Roth Account, an Eligible 
Retirement Plan with respect to such portion shall include only another designated Roth 
account of the individual from whose account the payments or distributions were made, or a 
Roth IRA for such individual.  Eligible Retirement Plan shall also apply in the case of a 
distribution to a Surviving Spouse or a Spouse or former Spouse who is an alternate payee 
under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Code Section 414(p).   

108

Item XI. 4.



 8

2.19 Eligible Rollover Distribution 

Eligible Rollover Distribution means any distribution to an Eligible Employee or his 
Surviving Spouse of all or any portion of the balance to his credit in a qualified trust 
(including any distribution to a Participant of all or any portion of his Account); provided an 
Employee’s “Eligible Rollover Distribution” shall not include (a) any distribution which is 
one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments made not less frequently than 
annually, (i) for the life (or life expectancy) of the Employee or the joint lives (or joint life 
expectancies of the Employee and his Beneficiary, or (ii) for a specified period of 10 years or 
more, and (b) any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code 
Section 401(a)(9).  The portion of a distribution that consists of after-tax employee 
contributions that are not includible in gross income may be transferred only to a traditional 
individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or a Roth 
individual retirement account or annuity described in Code Section 408A (b) or to a qualified 
defined contribution plan or an annuity contract described in Code Section 401(a) or 403(a) 
that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred.  Effective for distributions made 
on and after January 1, 2007, after-tax amounts may also be transferred to an annuity contract 
described in Code Section 403(b) that agrees to the separate accounting rules described 
above.  Effective January 1, 2010, Eligible Rollover Distribution includes a distribution to a 
non-spouse Beneficiary.  An Eligible Rollover Distribution includes a distribution to a non-
spouse Beneficiary. 

2.20 Employee 

Employee means a common law employee employed by the Employer (including elected or 
appointed officials).  Employee shall include employees of the State of Georgia who are 
specifically permitted to participate in local governmental plans under Georgia law. 
Employee shall include Leased Employees unless Leased Employees constitute 20 percent or 
less of the Employer’s non-highly compensated work force within the meaning of Code 
Section 414(n)(5)(C)(ii).  In that case, the term “Employee” shall not include those Leased 
Employees covered by a money purchase plan maintained by the leasing company that 
provides for (i) a nonintegrated employer contribution rate of at least 10 percent of 
compensation, (ii) full and immediate vesting and (iii) immediate participation by each 
employee of the leasing company, as described in Code Section 414(n)(5)(B).   

Employee shall exclude any individual classified by the Employer as an independent 
contractor even if such independent contractor is later determined to be a common law 
employee of the Employer. 

Effective for Plan Years beginning in 2009 and thereafter an individual who otherwise 
satisfies the requirements of this Section and who is not otherwise  in an excludable category 
but who is not currently providing services to the Employer due solely to Qualified Military 
Service and who is receiving Differential Wage Payments, shall be treated as an Employee.  

2.21 Employee Contributions 

Employee Contributions mean Mandatory Employee Contributions and Employee After-Tax 
Contributions. 

109

Item XI. 4.



 9

2.22 Employee After-Tax Contributions 

Employee After-Tax Contributions mean the Contributions made by the Employee on an 
after-tax basis under the terms of the Plan pursuant to Section 4.01, if so elected by the 
Employer in its Adoption Agreement. 

2.23 Employer 

Employer means each county, municipality, authority or other governmental entity adopting 
this Plan, and any Affiliate that is a governmental entity that affirmatively elects to adopt this 
Plan for the benefit of its employees. 

2.24 Employer Basic Contributions 

Employer Basic Contributions mean the Contributions made by the Employer on behalf of 
Participants under the terms of the Plan pursuant to Section 4.02(a), if so elected by the 
Employer it its Adoption Agreement. 

2.25 Employer Discretionary Contributions 

Employer Discretionary Contributions mean the Contributions made by the Employer on 
behalf of Participants under the terms of the Plan pursuant to Section 4.02(b), if so elected by 
the Employer in its Adoption Agreement and as so determined by the Employer in its sole 
discretion. 

2.26 Employer Matching Contributions 

Employer Matching Contributions mean the Contributions made by the Employer that match 
some or all of the Employee’s salary deferral contributions to a Code Section 457(b) Plan 
sponsored by the Employer, pursuant to Section 4.03 of the Plan, if so elected by the 
Employer in its Adoption Agreement. 

2.27 Employment Commencement Date 

Employment Commencement Date means the date on which the Employee first performs an 
Hour of Service for the Employer or Affiliate. 

2.28 Entry Date 

Entry Date means the date designated in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement that the 
Eligible Employee shall begin participating in the Plan.  The Employer may specify different 
Entry Dates for purposes of Employee Contributions and eligibility for Employer Basic, 
Discretionary and Matching Contributions.  

2.29 Forfeiture 

Forfeiture means, for any Plan Year, the dollar amount of Participant’s Account (or portion 
thereof) that is not 100% vested and is forfeited in accordance with Section 6.03.  Forfeitures 
may be used to reduce Restoration Contributions, pay Plan expenses or reduce future 
Employer Contributions, if any, as determined by the Employer. 

110

Item XI. 4.



 10

2.30 Hour of Service 

Hour of Service means the increments of time described in sections (a), (b), and (c) hereof 
(as applicable) subject to any limitations set forth herein: 

(a) Each hour for which the Employer, either directly or indirectly, pays an Employee, or 
for which the Employee is entitled to payment, for the performance of duties during 
the Plan Year.  The Plan Administrator shall credit Hours of Service under this 
paragraph (a) to the Employees for the Plan Year in which the Employee performs 
the duties, irrespective of when paid;  

(b) Each hour for back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, to which the Employer 
has agreed or for which the Employee has received an award.  The Plan 
Administrator shall credit Hours of Service under this paragraph (b) to the Employee 
for the Plan Year(s) to which the award or the agreement pertains rather than for the 
Plan Year in which the award, agreement or payment is made; and 

(c) Each hour for which the Employer, either directly or indirectly, pays an Employee 
(including payments made or due from a trust or insurer to which the Employer 
Contributes or pays premiums), or for which the Employee is entitled to payment 
(irrespective of whether the employment relationship is terminated), for reasons other 
than for the performance of duties during a Plan Year, such as Leave of Absence, 
vacation, holiday, sick leave, illness, incapacity (including Disability), layoff, jury 
duty, or military duty, provided: 

(i) An Employer shall not credit more than five hundred one (501) Hours of 
Service under this paragraph (c) to an Employee on account of any single 
continuous period during which the Employee does not perform any duties as 
an Employee (whether or nor such period occurs during a single Plan Year) 
unless the Employee performs no duties due to Qualified Military Service and 
returns to employment with the Employer during the period that his 
employment rights are protected under Federal law; 

(ii) An hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to 
payment, on account of a period during which he performs no duties as an 
Employee shall not be credited as an Hour of Service if such payment is made 
or due under a plan maintained solely to comply with applicable workers’ 
compensation, unemployment compensation, or disability insurance laws; 

(iii) Hours of Service shall not be credited to an Employee for a payment that 
solely reimburses such Employee for medical or medically related expenses 
incurred by him; and 

(d) Each hour for which the Employee is required to be credited leave under Code 
Section 414(u) relating to USERRA. 

(e) An Employer shall not credit an Hour of Service under more than one (1) of the 
above paragraphs (a), (b), or (c).  If the service counted under this Section can be 
counted under more than one of these paragraphs, the rule crediting the greatest 
number of Hours of Service shall apply.  The Employer shall resolve any ambiguity 
with respect to the crediting of an Hour of Service in favor of the Employee. 

111

Item XI. 4.



 11

(f) The Employer shall credit Hours of Service in accordance with Department of Labor 
Regulation Section 2530.200b-2(b) and (c), 29 CFR Part 2530, as amended, which 
the Plan, by this reference, specifically incorporates in full, or such other federal 
regulations as may from time to time be applicable. 

(g) If the Employer does not maintain records that accurately reflect the actual Hours of 
Service to be credited to an Employee, 190 Hours of Service will be credited to the 
Employee for each month worked, unless the Employer has elected to credit Hours of 
Service in accordance with one of the other equivalencies set forth in paragraph (e) of 
Department of Labor Regulation Section 2530.200b-3. 

2.31 Hours of Service Method 

Hours of Service Method means a method for computing Service by reference to the number 
of Hours of Service performed by the Employee in a twelve (12) consecutive month period or 
any permitted equivalency.  Unless otherwise provided in the Employer’s Adoption 
Agreement, the Hours of Service Method shall require 1000 Hours of Service to earn one (1) 
Year of Service.  Any computations or calculations using the Hours of Service Method shall 
be made on the anniversary date of the Eligible Employee’s Employment or Reemployment 
Commencement Date unless another Eligibility Computation Period is elected by the 
Employer under Section 2.16 of the Adoption Agreement and Section 2.61 of the Adoption 
agreement (for vesting). 

2.32 Inactive Participant 

Inactive Participant means a Participant who has a Severance from Employment with the 
Employer but who has a vested Account balance under the Plan which has not been paid in 
full and who, therefore, is continuing to participate in the allocation of earnings or losses 
under the Trust. 

2.33 Investment Fund or Funds 

Investment Fund or Funds means the investment options available for investment of assets of 
the Plan and agreed to by the Trustee.  

2.34 Leased Employee 

Leased Employee means any person who is not an Employee of the Employer but provides 
services to the Employer pursuant to an agreement between the Employer and any other 
person (the “leasing organization”) on a substantially full time basis for a least one year and 
under the primary direction or control of the Employer all in accordance with Code 
Section 414(n) and the regulations thereunder.  Contributions or benefits provided a Leased 
Employee by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the 
Employer shall be treated as provided by the Employer. 

112

Item XI. 4.



 12

2.35 Leave of Absence 

Leave of Absence means a paid or unpaid excused leave of absence granted to an Employee 
by the Employer in accordance with applicable federal and state law or the Employer’s 
personnel policies.  Leave of Absence shall include the following: 

(a) Military Leave.  Employees who leave the service of the Employer, voluntarily or 
involuntarily to enter the Armed Forces of the United States; provided, (i) the 
Employee is legally entitled to reemployment rights under USERRA; and (ii) the 
Employee applies for and reenters service with the Employer within the time, in the 
manner and under the conditions prescribed by USERRA or any other similar and 
applicable law; and 

(b) FMLA Leave.  Employees who leave the service of the Employer under the 
provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993(FMLA) provided that the 
Employee returns to active employment within the time required under the FMLA. 

(c) Other Leave.  Employees who leave the service of the Employer under such other 
circumstances as the Employer shall determine are fair, reasonable and equitable as 
applied uniformly among Employees under similar circumstances. 

2.36 Limitation Year 

Limitation Year means the Plan Year, which shall be the limitation year for purposes of Code 
Section 415 and the regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the Employer elects a 
different Limitation Year in its Adoption Agreement. 

2.37 Mandatory Employee Contributions 

Mandatory Employee Contributions mean the amounts paid by the Employer to the Trust 
Fund on behalf of each Participant pursuant to Section 4.01(a) and Code Section 414(h), if so 
elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement. 

2.38 Maternity or Paternity Leave 

Maternity or Paternity Leave means any period during which an Employee is absent from 
work as an Employee of the Employer or an Affiliate by reason of (a) pregnancy of such 
Employee; (b) the birth of a child of such Employee; (c) the placement of a child with such 
Employee in connection with the adoption of such child by such Employee; or (d) caring for 
a child immediately after the birth or placement of such child. 

2.39 Normal Retirement Age 

Normal Retirement Age means the age or combination of age plus service as specified in the 
Employer’s Adoption Agreement. 

2.40 Normal Retirement Date 

Normal Retirement Date means the first day of the month coincident with or next following 
the date a Participant attains Normal Retirement Age. 

113

Item XI. 4.



 13

2.41 Participant 

Participant means any Eligible Employee who has been admitted to, and has not been 
removed from, participation in the Plan pursuant to the provisions of Article III.  
“Participant” shall include Active Participants and Inactive Participants who have an 
Account under the Plan. 

2.42 Period of Service 

Period of Service means, under the Elapsed Time Method of determining Service, the 
aggregate of all service performed by the Employee for the Employer and all Affiliates 
commencing with the Employee’s Employment Commencement Date and ending with the 
Employee’s Severance Date. 

2.43 Period of Severance 

Period of Severance means, under the Elapsed Time Method of determining Service, a 
continuous period of time during which the Employee is not employed by the Employer or an 
Affiliate.  Such period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits or is discharged or if 
earlier, the 12-month anniversary of the date on which the Employee was first absent from 
service.  A one-year Period of Severance shall be a Period of Severance of at least 
12 consecutive months.  A Period of Severance shall not be deemed to have occurred during 
any period for which the Employee is granted a Leave of Absence if he returns to the service 
of the Employer or an Affiliate within the time permitted as required by law or as set forth in 
the Plan. 

(a) Maternity or Paternity Leave.  In the case of an Employee absent from work due to a 
Maternity or Paternity Leave, the 12-consecutive month period ending on the first 
anniversary of the first date of such absence, shall not constitute a Period of 
Severance. 

(b) Family and Medical Leave Act.  For purposes of determining whether or not an 
Employee has incurred a Period of Severance, and solely for the purpose of avoiding 
a Period of Severance, to the extent required under the Family and Medical Leave 
Act of 1993 and the regulations thereunder, an Employee shall be deemed to be 
performing services for the Employer or an Affiliate during any period the Employee 
is granted Maternity or Paternity Leave under such Act. 

(c) Military Leave.  For a Leave of Absence due to Military Leave under USERRA a 
Period of Severance shall not be deemed to have occurred if the Eligible Employee 
returns to the Service of the Employer following the Leave of Absence within the 
time required by federal and state law. 

2.44 Plan 

Plan means the ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan as set forth herein and in the 
accompanying Adoption Agreement and all amendments thereto.  The Employer shall 
designate the name of the Plan in the Adoption Agreement.  The Plan shall be administered 
and maintained as a separate and independent Plan for each adopting Employer.  The Plan is 
intended to be a profit sharing plan qualified under the applicable provisions of Code Section 
401(a), as applied to governmental plans. 

114

Item XI. 4.



 14

2.45 Plan Administrator 

Plan Administrator means the Employer or the individuals designated by the Employer as 
defined in Code Section 414(g), to provide directions to the Third Party Service Provider.  
Such designation must be made in a manner specified by the Third Party Service Provider. 

2.46 Plan Year 

Plan Year means the calendar year. 

2.47 Qualified Military Service 

Qualified Military Service means Military Service during which the Eligible Employee is 
entitled to reemployment rights under Chapter 43 Title 38 of the United State Code.  
“Military Service” means the period of an Eligible Employee’s active duty for training and 
service in the Army, Navy, Air Force or Marines of the United States of America, the Army 
National Guard and the Air National Guard when engaged in active duty for training, inactive 
duty training, or full-time National Guard duty, the commissioned corps of the Public Health 
Service, and any other category of persons designated by the President in time of war or 
national emergency.  

2.48 Reemployment Commencement Date 

Reemployment Commencement Date means the date on which the Employee first performs 
an Hour of Service following a Severance from Employment. 

2.49 Restoration Contributions 

Restoration Contributions mean the amounts paid to the Trust Fund by or on behalf of a 
rehired individual pursuant to the terms of Section 4.06. 

2.50 Rollover Contribution 

Rollover Contribution means the amount contributed to the Plan by an Eligible Employee 
(and received and accepted by the Third Party Service Provider) as an Eligible Rollover 
Distribution as defined herein and in Code Section 402.  An amount shall be treated as a 
Rollover Contribution only to the extent that its acceptance by the Third Party Service 
Provider is permitted under the Code (including the regulations and rulings promulgated 
thereunder). 

2.51 Service 

Service means the period of time the Employee is employed by the Employer and all 
Affiliates.  If the Employer maintains the plan of a predecessor employer, service with such 
predecessor employer will be treated as Service for the Employer.  

2.52 Severance from Employment 

Severance from Employment means the date the Employee ceases to be an Employee of the 
Employer or an Affiliate and permanently severs from employment with the Employer due to 
retirement, death, or other severance as provided in rules and regulations issued by the 
Internal Revenue Service under Code Section 401(k). 

115

Item XI. 4.



 15

2.53 Severance Date 

Severance Date means the earlier of the date the Employee (a) has a Severance from 
Employment with the Employer and any Affiliate or (b) the first anniversary of the first day 
of absence for any other reason or the second anniversary of the first day of absence due to 
Maternity or Paternity Leave.  If an individual terminates or is absent from employment with 
the Employer because of military duty, such individual shall not incur a Severance Date if his 
employment rights are protected under Federal law and  he returns to employment with the 
Employer within the period during which he retains such employment rights, but if he does 
not return to such employment within such period his Severance Date shall be the earlier of 
(1) the first anniversary of the date his absence commenced, or (2) the last day of the period 
during which he retains such employment rights.  

2.54 Spouse or Surviving Spouse 

Spouse or Surviving Spouse means the person to whom an individual is lawfully married for 
purposes of federal income taxes.  The determination of a Participant’s Spouse or Surviving 
Spouse shall be made as of the earlier of the date as of which benefit payments from the Plan 
to such Participant are made or commence (as applicable) or the date of such Participant’s 
death. 

2.55 Third Party Service Provider 

Third Party Service Provider means the Association County Commissioners of Georgia or its 
designee. 

2.56 Trust Fund 

Trust Fund means the total amount of cash and other property held by the Defined 
Contribution Plan Program Board of Trustees (or its nominee) at any time under the separate 
Trust Agreement. 

2.57 Trustee(s) 

Trustee(s) means the Defined Contribution Plan Program Board of Trustees and the 
individual members thereof as appointed by the Board of Managers of the Association 
County Commissioners of Georgia. 

2.58 Trust(s) or Trust Agreement 

Trust(s) or Trust Agreement means the separate agreement between Association County 
Commissioners of Georgia and the Defined Contribution Plan Program Board of Trustees 
governing the creation of the Trust Fund.  The provisions of this Plan shall override any 
conflicting provisions contained in the Trust Agreement.  The terms of the Trust Agreement 
are not incorporated into this Plan document, and its provisions have not been reviewed or 
approved by the Internal Revenue Service. 

2.59 USERRA 

USERRA means the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 
1994.  

116

Item XI. 4.



 16

2.60 Valuation Date 

Valuation Date means each business day or such other date as specified and communicated 
by the Third Party Service Provider. 

2.61 Year of Service 

Year of Service means the computation period used to determine a Participant’s eligibility to 
participate in the Plan and for purposes of determining the Participant’s vested interest in his 
or her Account, using the method as set forth in the Employer’s Adoption Agreement.  

ARTICLE III: PARTICIPATION AND SERVICE 

3.01 Participation Eligibility 

Each Eligible Employee shall become a Participant in this Plan effective upon the first Entry 
Date (if actively employed on that date) coincident with or immediately following the date on 
which he meets the eligibility conditions selected by the Employer in its Adoption 
Agreement.  The initial Eligibility Computation Period shall be 12-consecutive month period 
beginning on the Employee’s Employment Commencement Date.  The succeeding 
12-consecutive month periods shall commence on each anniversary of the Employee’s 
Employment Commencement Date, unless the Employer elects to convert to the Plan Year 
under Section 2.16 of its Adoption Agreement.  If the Employer elects to convert the 
Eligibility Computation Period to the Plan Year, the succeeding 12-consecutive month 
periods commence with the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of 
the Employee’s Employment Commencement Date regardless of whether the Employee is 
entitled to be credited with a Year of Service during the initial Eligibility Computation 
Period.  An Employee who has earned a Year of Service in both the initial Eligibility 
Computation Period and the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary 
of the Employee’s Employment Commencement Date, will be credited with two Years of 
Service for purposes of eligibility to participate.  

Each Eligible Employee who was an Active Participant in the Plan on the day before the 
Effective Date of any Plan restatement or Plan amendment, shall continue as a Participant in 
the Plan, except as otherwise specifically provided therein.  

3.02 Participation Upon Reemployment 

Upon the Eligible Employee’s Reemployment Commencement Date, the Eligible Employee 
shall have the following status in the Plan based on his status as of his most recent Severance 
Date: 

(a) If the Eligible Employee was a Participant, he shall reenter the Plan as a Participant 
on his Reemployment Commencement Date.  

(b) If the Eligible Employee had satisfied the Plan’s eligibility conditions but had not 
become a Participant, he shall become a Participant on the later of the date he would 
have entered the Plan had he not had a Severance from Employment or the Plan Entry 
Date immediately following his Reemployment Commencement Date. 

117

Item XI. 4.



 17

(c) If the Eligible Employee had not satisfied the Plan’s eligibility conditions, he shall 
receive all previous Years of Service and shall become a Participant on the Plan 
Entry Date coincident with or immediately following his satisfying the Plan’s 
eligibility conditions. 

(d) Such other conditions shall apply as specified in the Additional Provisions 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.  

3.03 Transfers 

If a Participant  transfers to employment with any other Affiliate that has not adopted the 
Plan or another position with the Employer and is no longer an Eligible Employee, his 
participation under the Plan shall be suspended but he shall not be considered terminated 
from employment with the Employer.  During the period of the Participant’s  employment in 
such ineligible position: (a) he shall continue to participate in allocations of earnings and 
losses pursuant to Section 5.02(d); (b) he shall continue to vest in any Employer 
Contributions; (c) his Employer Account shall receive no Employer Contributions; (d) he 
shall make no Employee Contributions to the Plan during that time; (e) he shall not be 
eligible to receive a distribution from the Plan that is only permitted after Severance from 
Employment; and (f) the applicable provisions of Articles V, VI and VII shall continue to 
apply. 

If an Employee who is not an Eligible Employee becomes an Eligible Employee, such 
Eligible Employee shall become a Participant immediately upon his transfer if such Eligible 
Employee has already satisfied the eligibility requirements and would have otherwise 
previously become a Participant.  Wages and other payments made to an Employee before 
becoming an Eligible Employee for services other than those as an Eligible Employee shall 
not be included in Compensation for purposes of determining the amount and allocation of 
any contribution to such Eligible Employee’s Account under the Plan. 

3.04 Omission of Eligible Employee 

If, in any Plan Year, any Employee who should be included as a Participant in the Plan is 
omitted erroneously and discovery of such omission is not made until after a Contribution by 
the Employer has been made and allocated for such year, the Employer shall make a 
subsequent Contribution with respect to the omitted Eligible Employee in the amount which 
the Employer would have contributed with respect to the Eligible Employee had he not been 
omitted, in accordance with the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System. 

3.05 Inclusion of Ineligible Employee 

If, in any Plan Year, any person who should not have been included as a Participant in the 
Plan is included erroneously, and discovery of such incorrect inclusion is not made until after 
a Contribution by the Employer has been made and allocated for such year, the Employer 
shall not be entitled to recover the Employer Contributions made with respect to the 
ineligible person, in accordance with the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System.  In 
such event, the amount contributed with respect to the ineligible person shall constitute a 
Forfeiture for the Plan Year in which the discovery is made and shall be used to reduce Plan 
expenses or the subsequent Employer Contributions due under the Plan as determined by the 
Employer.  Any Employee Contributions shall be returned to the Employee. 

118

Item XI. 4.



 18

3.06 Election Not to Participate 

The Employer may elect under its Adoption Agreement to allow Employees to elect out of 
participating in the Plan.  Any such election shall be made on a one time only basis and shall 
be irrevocable.  

If the Employer has elected to require Mandatory Employee Contributions under the Plan, as 
provided in Section 4.01 (a), the election out of participating must be made prior to the date 
the Employee first becomes eligible for any qualified retirement plan sponsored by the 
Employer.  If an election out of the Plan is permitted, the Employee may elect out of the Plan 
by executing a form as provided by the Plan Administrator or the Third Party Service 
Provider.   

ARTICLE IV: CONTRIBUTIONS 

4.01 Employee Contributions 

(a) Mandatory Employee Contributions.  If required by the Employer in its Adoption 
Agreement, there shall be deducted from the Compensation paid by the Employer to 
each Eligible Employee who becomes a Participant in the Plan, a Mandatory 
Employee Contribution equal to the percentage of Compensation as designated by the 
Employer in its Adoption Agreement.  The Employer shall contribute to the Plan, as 
of each payroll period on behalf of and to the credit of each Participant, the amount 
of Mandatory Employee Contributions required for participation.  No Participant 
shall be entitled under any circumstances to receive such Contributions in cash in lieu 
of having them contributed to the Plan by the Employer in accordance with the 
preceding sentence.  Such Contributions shall be made pursuant to Code Section 
414(h) and shall be treated as Employer Contributions in determining their federal 
income tax treatment under the Code, but shall be treated as Employee Contributions 
for other purposes under the Plan.  Such Contributions also shall comply with the 
provisions of Revenue Ruling 2006-43.  

(b) Employee After-Tax Contributions.  If permitted by the Employer in its Adoption 
Agreement, Participants may contribute to the Plan on an after-tax basis.  The 
Employer may provide in its Adoption Agreement, a limit on the percentage of 
Compensation a Participant may contribute annually to the Plan as After-Tax 
Contributions. 

4.02 Employer Basic and Discretionary Contributions 

(a) Basic Contributions.  If elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, the 
Employer shall contribute on behalf of each Participant a percentage of each 
Participant’s Compensation or such other amount as designated in the Employer’s 
Adoption Agreement. 

(b) Discretionary Contributions.  If elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, 
the Employer may, but shall not be required to, make a Discretionary Contribution to 
the Plan for a Plan Year, which shall be allocated to the Participant’s Account based 

119

Item XI. 4.



 19

on one or more of the allocation formulas selected in the Adoption Agreement.  In 
any year the Employer decides to make such a Discretionary Contribution, its 
governing body shall specify by resolution, the total amount of the Contribution and 
the specific aggregate amounts to be applied to each of the selected allocation 
formulas. 

(c) Allocation Formula.  Employer Contributions, if any for a Plan Year, may be fixed in 
terms of dollars, percentage of Compensation or based on a uniform allocation 
formula that is age weighted or service weighted.  An allocation formula based on 
age or service must be a uniform points plan where each Employee is given a 
uniform number of points for age, service and Compensation.  Each Participant’s 
allocation shall bear the same relationship to the Employer Contribution as his or her 
total points bear to all points awarded.  A uniform points plan need not grant points 
for both age and service if points are also granted for units of Compensation.  A 
uniform points plan need not grant points for Compensation if it grants points for 
both age and service.  Each employee must receive the same number of points for 
each year of age, service and each unit of Compensation.  The number of years for 
which points are granted may be limited. 

4.03 Employer Matching Contributions 

If elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, Employer Matching Contributions 
shall be made to the Plan for each Active Participant who is making voluntary employee 
salary deferral contributions under a Code Section 457(b) eligible deferred compensation 
plan sponsored by the Employer.  The Employer shall make an Employer Matching 
Contribution of a designated percentage of the salary deferral contribution made by the 
Participant to such Code Section 457(b) Plan for the period selected by the Employer in the 
Adoption Agreement.  The amount of such Employer Matching Contribution may be 
designated by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, or may be discretionary from year to 
year, as selected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement.  In any year the Employer 
decides to make a discretionary Employer Matching Contribution, its governing body shall 
specify by resolution, the amount of such Employer Matching Contribution.  

If an Employer Matching Contribution is made based on a salary deferral contribution to a 
Code Section 457(b) Plan that is later returned to the Participant for any reason, such 
Employer Matching Contribution shall be forfeited and transferred to the Plan’s Forfeiture 
account. 

4.04 Timing of Contribution 

The Employer shall pay to the Trust Fund all Contributions no later than the time prescribed 
by state and federal law. 

120

Item XI. 4.



 20

4.05 Rollovers From Other Plans 

(a) Eligible Rollovers.  All Participants shall be eligible to transfer an Eligible Rollover 
Distribution to the Plan if the Third Party Service Provider, in its sole discretion, 
agrees to accept such transfers and the Employer elects to permit rollovers in its 
Adoption Agreement.  The rollover procedures approved by the Third Party Service 
Provider shall provide that such a transfer may be made only if the following 
conditions are met: 

(i) the amount is received directly from an Eligible Retirement Plan or the 
transfer  of amounts (other than after-tax employee contributions) occurs on 
or before the 60th day following the Eligible Employee’s receipt of the 
distribution from the Eligible Retirement Plan;  

(ii) the amount transferred is equal to any portion of the distribution the Eligible 
Employee received from the Eligible Retirement Plan, subject to the 
maximum rollover provisions of Code Section 402(c)(2);  

(iii) the amount is not rolled over from an individual retirement account or 
annuity described in Code Section 408(a) or (b) (including a Roth IRA under 
Code Section 408A) to the extent such amount would not otherwise be 
includible in the Employee’s income; 

(iv) the Plan will separately account for any rollovers of after-tax amounts. 

(b) Rollover Procedures.  The Third Party Service Provider shall develop such 
procedures, and may require such information from an Eligible Employee desiring to 
make such a transfer, as it deems necessary or desirable to determine that the 
proposed transfer will meet the requirements of this Section.  Upon approval by the 
Third Party Service Provider, the amount transferred shall be deposited in the Plan 
and shall be credited to a Rollover Account.  Such Rollover Accounts shall be one 
hundred percent (100%) vested and shall share in earnings and losses (net 
appreciation or net depreciation) in accordance with Section 5.02(d).  Upon 
Severance from Employment, the total amount of the Employee’s Rollover Account 
shall be distributed in accordance with Article VI.  

(c) Eligibility for Rollover.  If the Employer so designates in its Adoption Agreement, all 
Eligible Employees, whether or not Participants in the Plan, may make Eligible 
Rollovers to the Plan. 

4.06 Restoration Contributions 

(a) Restoration Upon Buy-Back.  If a Participant who is not 100 percent vested in his 
Account upon Severance from  Employment, receives a distribution of the entire 
vested portion of his Account (such that he forfeited the nonvested portion of his 
Account in accordance with the terms of Section 6.03), and such Participant 
subsequently is rehired as an Eligible Employee prior to the occurrence of 
5 consecutive one year Periods of Severance or Breaks in Service, that individual 
may repay the full amount of the distribution to the Plan (unadjusted for gains or 
losses), prior to the earlier of (i) 5 years after the first date on which he is rehired or 
(ii) the close of the first period of 5 consecutive one year Periods of Severance or 

121

Item XI. 4.



 21

Breaks in Service commencing after the distribution.  Upon such repayment, his 
Account will be credited with (i) all amounts (unadjusted for gains or losses) which 
were forfeited, and (ii) the amount of the repayment. 

(b) Restoration of Other Forfeitures.  If a Participant is not 100% vested in his Account 
upon Severance from Employment, and has not received a distribution of the entire 
vested portion of his Account, but has forfeited his nonvested Account and such 
Participant subsequently is rehired as an Eligible Employee prior to the occurrence of 
5 consecutive one year Periods of Severance or Breaks in Service, his Account shall 
be credited with all amounts (unadjusted for gains or losses) which were forfeited. 

(c) Restoration Contribution.  The assets necessary to fund the Account of the rehired 
individual (in excess of the amount of the repayment, if any) shall be provided no 
later than as of the end of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which repayment 
occurs (if subsection (a) hereof applies) or in which the individual is rehired (if 
subsection (b) hereof applies), and shall be provided in the discretion of the 
Employer from (i) income or gain to the Trust Fund, (ii) Forfeitures arising from the 
Accounts of Participants employed or formerly employed by the Employer, or 
(iii) Contributions by the Employer. 

(d) Notice of Buy-Back Rights.  It shall be the duty of the Plan Administrator to give 
timely notice to any rehired individual who is eligible to make a repayment, of his 
right to make such repayment in accordance with this Section by the time required in 
subsection (a) hereof, and of the consequences of not making such repayment; 
namely that the nonvested portion of the benefits accrued under the Plan during his 
previous employment will not be restored by the Plan, will remain forfeited, and will 
not become vested even though he may perform additional Years of Service. 

4.07 Qualified Military Service 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, Contributions, benefits and service 
credit with respect to Qualified Military Service will be provided in accordance with 
USERRA and Code Section 414(u).  In addition, the survivors of any Participant who dies on 
and after January 1, 2007, while performing Qualified Military Service, are entitled to any 
additional benefits (other than Contributions relating to the period of Qualified Military 
Service, but including vesting service credit for such period and any ancillary life insurance 
or other survivors benefits) that would have been provided under the Plan had the Participant 
resumed employment on the day preceding the Participant's death and then terminated 
employment on account of death.  If State law provides a greater protection of retirement 
benefits for Plan Participants who perform military service, the State law shall prevail.  The 
Plan Administrator shall notify the Third Party Service Provider and the Trustee of any 
Participant with respect to whom additional contributions will be made because of USERRA 
requirements. 

(a) Reemployment.  Plan Participants reemployed in accordance with the requirements 
of USERRA and Code Section 414(u) shall be treated as not having incurred a Break 
in Service or Period of Severance under the Plan during such Qualified Military 
Service.  Such periods of Qualified Military Service shall be counted for eligibility 
and vesting purposes under the Plan. 

122

Item XI. 4.



 22

(i) Employer Contributions.  Except as otherwise provided below, the Employer 
shall make an Employer Contribution on behalf of a Participant who returns 
to employment with the Employer in accordance with USERRA following a 
period of Qualified Military Service.  Such Employer Contribution shall be 
made within 90 days after the date the Participant is reemployed by the 
Employer or when Employer Contributions are normally made for the year in 
which Qualified Military Service was performed, whichever is later.  Such 
Employer Contribution shall be made for the period of Qualified Military 
Service based on the actual Employer Contribution made for the Plan Year(s) 
in which the Participant was in Qualified Military Service. 

(ii) Required Employee Contributions.  Except as otherwise elected by the 
Employer in its Adoption Agreement, a Plan Participant must make-up any 
required Employee Contributions in order to receive Employer Contributions 
under the Plan for the period of Qualified Military Service.  For purposes of 
this Section 4.07, “Employee Contributions” shall include any salary 
deferrals under an Employer-sponsored Code Section 457(b) plan, which are 
required in order to receive Employer Matching Contributions.  If the 
Employer elects in its Adoption Agreement not to require the Participant to 
make-up Employee Contributions to receive Employer Contributions for the 
period of Qualified Military Service, the Participant shall be deemed to have 
made the maximum required Employee Contribution, without any 
corresponding increase in the Participant’s Employee Contribution 
Account(s). 

(iii) Make-up Employee Contributions.  A Participant who is required to  make-up 
Employee Contributions in accordance with this Section must do so within 
the time period that begins on the date of the Employee’s Reemployment 
Commencement Date and ends on the date that is three times the period of 
Qualified Military Service or five (5) years, or the Participants’ Severance 
from Employment, whichever is earlier.  The make-up Employee 
Contributions shall not be adjusted for earnings.  The Participant may make-
up all or a portion of any required Employee Contributions and shall receive 
Employer Contributions that are directly proportionate to the amount of 
Employee Contributions that are made up.  The Employee shall designate the 
Plan Year to which such Employee Contributions relate.  The Employer shall 
allocate its Employer Contribution based on the Participant’s make-up 
Employee Contribution in the time and manner as such Employer 
Contributions are made for active Participants 

(b) Death During Qualified Military Service 

(i) Deemed Return to Employment.  If a Participant dies during a period of 
Qualified Military Service, the Participant shall be treated as having returned 
to employment with the Employer on the day before his death and died the 
next day.  Such Participant shall receive credit for vesting purposes for the 
period of Qualified Military Service. 

123

Item XI. 4.



 23

(ii) Employer Contributions.  The Employer may, but is not required to make 
Employer Contributions on behalf of any Participant who dies during a period 
of Qualified Military Service, by making an election under its Adoption 
Agreement.  If the Employer elects to make Employer Contributions on 
behalf of such Participants, and Employee Contributions are generally 
required in order for the Participant to receive an Employer Contribution, the 
maximum amount of Employee Contributions required shall be deemed to 
have been made by the Participant, without any corresponding increase in the 
Participant’s Employee Contribution Account(s). 

(c) Disability During Qualified Military Service.  The Employer may, but is not required 
to credit vesting service to and make Employer Contributions on behalf of any 
Participant who becomes Disabled during a period of Qualified Military Service, by 
making an election under its Adoption Agreement.  If the Employer elects to make 
Employer Contributions on behalf of such Participants, the Employer must also credit 
vesting service for such period.  If the Employer elects to make Employer 
Contributions on behalf of such Participants and Employee Contributions are 
generally required, the maximum amount of Employee Contributions required shall 
be deemed to have been made by the Participant, without any corresponding increase 
in the Participant’s Employee Contribution Account(s). 

(d) Compensation Defined.  For purposes of this Section, a Participant’s Compensation 
during the period of Qualified Military Service shall be treated as equivalent to the 
Compensation he or she would have received during such period but for the period of 
Qualified Military Service.  Such determination shall be based on the rate of pay the 
Employee would have received during that time; provided, however if the 
Compensation the Employee would have received during such period is not 
reasonably certain, Compensation for this purpose shall equal the Employee’s 
average Compensation during the 12 months immediately preceding the Qualified 
Military Service (or, if shorter, the period of employment immediately preceding the 
Qualified Military Service). 

(e) Code Section 415.  Any Contributions made pursuant to this Section are not subject 
to the limits under Code Section 415 in the Plan Year(s) in which they are made; 
rather, such Contributions are subject to such limits in the Plan Year(s) to which the 
Contributions relate. 

4.08 Form of Contributions 

All Contributions shall be paid to the Trust in the form of cash or cash equivalents. 

4.09 Circumstances Permitting Return of Employer Contributions 

A Contribution to the Plan and Trust by the Employer that was made by a mistake of fact 
shall be returned to the Employer.  Any such Contribution shall be returned within one year 
after the mistaken payment of the Contribution.  The amount of the Contribution that may be 
returned to the Employer is the excess of (i) the amount contributed over (ii) the amount that 
would have been contributed had there not occurred a mistake of fact.  Earnings attributable 
to the excess Contribution may not be returned to the Employer, but losses attributable 
thereto must reduce the amount to be so returned. 

124

Item XI. 4.



 24

4.10 Trustee-to-Trustee Transfer 

A Participant may request a trustee-to-trustee transfer of all or part of the Participant’s vested 
Account balance under this Plan, to a qualified governmental defined benefit plan (as defined 
under Code Section 414(d)) for the purpose of purchasing permissive past service credit (as 
defined under Code Section 415(n)(3)(A)) or for purposes of a repayment of Contributions 
under Code Section 415(k)(3), under the receiving plan.  The Plan shall agree to make such a 
transfer only if (a) the defined benefit plan is sponsored by the same Employer; and (b) both 
plans provide for such transfer.  Such transfer may be made before Severance from 
Employment.   

ARTICLE V: ALLOCATIONS TO PARTICIPANTS’ ACCOUNTS 

5.01 Individual Accounts 

To the extent appropriate, the Third Party Service Provider shall establish and maintain, on 
behalf of each Participant or Beneficiary, an Account which shall be divided into segregated 
subaccounts.  The subaccounts may include a Mandatory Employee Contribution, Employee 
After-Tax Contribution, the Employer Basic Contribution, Employer Discretionary 
Contribution, Employer Matching Contribution, and Rollover Accounts, and such other 
subaccounts as the Third Party Service Provider shall deem appropriate or helpful.  Each 
Account shall be credited with Contributions allocated to it and generally shall be credited 
with earnings and losses on investments derived from the assets of such Accounts.  Each 
Account of a Participant or Beneficiary shall be maintained until the value thereof has been 
distributed to or on behalf of such person. 

5.02 Allocations 

The Accounts of Participants, Inactive Participants and Beneficiaries shall be adjusted, 
subject to the provisions of Sections 5.03, 5.04 and 5.05, in accordance with the following: 

(a) Employee Contributions.  As of each payroll period for which the Employee 
Contributions are made, such Employee Contributions shall be allocated and credited 
directly to such Participant’s Employee Contribution Account(s). 

(b) Employer Contributions.  At least annually, the Employer shall provide the Third 
Party Service Provider with all information required to make a proper allocation of 
the Employer Contributions (if any).  As soon as practicable after the date of receipt 
by the Third Party Service Provider of such information, the Third Party Service 
Provider shall allocate the Employer Contributions (if any) to each Participant’s 
Employer Contribution Accounts (if any) in accordance with Sections 4.02 and 4.03. 

(c) Restoration Contributions.  As of the date on which a Restoration Contribution is 
received from an Active Participant, such Contribution (together with the nonvested 
benefits restored by the Plan as a result of such Contribution) shall be credited to the 
appropriate Account of the Active Participant, in the amounts held by such Account 
immediately prior to the earlier distribution to such Participant. 

125

Item XI. 4.



 25

(d) Income.  As of each Valuation Date, any earnings or losses (net appreciation or net 
depreciation) shall be allocated to each Participant’s Account.  Each segregated 
Account maintained on behalf of a Participant shall be credited or charged with its 
separate earnings and losses. 

5.03 Code Section 415 Limitations on Contributions 

(a) General Limit on Annual Additions 

(i) Maximum Permissible Amount for Participants Not Covered by Another 
Plan. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, for a Participant who does 
not participate in, and has never participated in another qualified plan 
maintained by the Employer, or a welfare benefit fund (as defined in 
Section 419(e) of the Code), an individual medical account (as defined in 
Section 415(l)(2) of the Code), or a simplified employee pension (as defined 
in Section 408(k) of the Code) maintained by the Employer ,which provides 
an Annual Addition, in no event shall the Annual Addition to a Participant’s 
Account under this Plan, for any Limitation Year,  exceed the Maximum 
Permissible Amount.  The Maximum Permissible Amount is the lesser of: 

A. The maximum dollar amount permitted under Code 
Section 415(c)(1)(A) (as adjusted for cost of living by the Secretary 
of Treasury in accordance with Code Section 415(d)) or 

B. 100 percent of such Participant’s 415 Compensation for the 
Limitation Year or 

C. Other limitation contained in the Plan. 

If a short Limitation Year is created because of an amendment changing the 
Limitation Year to a different 12-consecutive month period, the dollar 
limitation specified in (A) above shall be adjusted by multiplying it by a 
fraction the numerator of which is the number of months in the short 
Limitation Year and the denominator of which is 12.  

If the Plan is terminated as of a date other than the last day of the Limitation 
Year the Plan is deemed to have been amended to change its Limitation Year 
and the Maximum Permissible Amount shall be prorated for the resulting 
short Limitation Year.  

The limitation specified in (B) above shall not apply to any contribution for 
medical benefits within the meaning of Code Section 401(h) or 419A(f)(2) 
after separation from service which is otherwise treated as an Annual 
Addition under Code Section 419A(d)(2) or 415(l)(1).  

(ii) Maximum Permissible Amount for Participants Covered by Another Plan 

If the Participant is covered under another defined contribution plan, or a 
welfare benefit fund, an individual medical account or a simplified employee 
pension maintained by the Employer, that provides an Annual Addition 

126

Item XI. 4.



 26

during any Limitation Year, the provisions of this subsection 5.03(a)(ii) shall 
apply.  In that case Annual Additions shall not exceed the lesser of; 

A. The Maximum Permissible Amount reduced by the Annual Additions 
to the Participant’s account for the same Limitation Year under such 
other qualified plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical 
accounts or simplified employee pension, or 

B. Any other limitation contained in the Plan. 

If the Annual Additions with respect to a Participant under other qualified 
defined contribution plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical 
accounts, and simplified employee pensions maintained by the Employer are 
less than the Maximum Permissible Amount and a contribution that would 
otherwise be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under the 
Plan would cause the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year to exceed the 
Maximum Permissible Amount, the amount to be contributed or allocated 
shall be reduced so that the Annual Additions for the Limitation Year shall 
equal the Maximum Permissible Amount.  If the Annual Additions with 
respect to the Participant under such other qualified defined contribution 
plans, welfare benefit funds, individual medical benefit accounts or 
simplified employee pension in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the 
Maximum Permissible Amount, no amount shall be contributed or allocated 
to the Participant's Account under the Plan for the Limitation Year. 

As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, 
the amounts referred to in Subsection 5.03(a)(i) shall be determined on the 
basis of the Participant's actual 415 Compensation for such Limitation Year. 

(b) Correction of Excess Annual Additions. 

If allocations to be credited to the Participant would cause that Participant’s Account 
to exceed the applicable Section 415 limits for a Limitation Year (whether solely 
under this Plan or through a combination of plans required to be aggregated) 
allocations shall cease being made to the Plan on behalf of that Participant and no 
further allocations shall be made to the Plan on behalf of that Participant for that 
Limitation Year. 

If the Annual Additions made on behalf of a Participant exceed the limitations set 
forth in this Section, the excess amount shall be corrected in accordance with a 
permissible correction method as set forth in the Employee Plans Compliance 
Resolution System, or other official Internal Revenue Service correction program.  

(c) Annual Additions Defined.  

For purposes of this Section, the term “Annual Additions” for any Participant means 
the sum for any Limitation Year of: 

(i) Contributions made by the Employer or an Affiliate on behalf of the 
Participant; 

127

Item XI. 4.



 27

(ii) Contributions made by the Participant [excluding Rollover Contributions, 
contributions made under Code Section 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3) and 
414(h) and contributions of previously distributed benefits which result in 
such a Plan’s restoration of previously forfeited benefits pursuant to Treasury 
Regulation Sections 1.411(a)-7(d)]; 

(iii) Forfeitures allocated to the Participant;  

(iv) Amounts allocated for the benefit of the Participant to an individual medical 
account established under a pension or annuity plan maintained by the 
Employer or an Affiliate, as defined in Section 415(l)(2) of the Code and 
amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued under a welfare benefit 
fund, as defined in Section 419(e) of the Code maintained by the Employer ; 
and 

(v) Allocations under a simplified employer pension plan.  

Annual Additions include only Employer and/or Affiliate contributions credited to a 
Participant’s Account for the Limitation Year and certain transactions between the 
Plan and the Employer as described in Treasury Regulation Section 1.415(c)-1(b)(4) 
that are made during the Limitation Year.  An Annual Addition is credited to the 
Participant's Account for a particular Limitation Year if it is allocated to the 
Participant's Account under the terms of the Plan as of any date within the Limitation 
Year.  Employer contributions made by governmental employers, must be made to 
the Plan not later the 15th day of the tenth calendar month following the end of the 
calendar year or fiscal year within or within which the particular Limitation Year 
ends.  Employee Contributions are not treated as credited to a Participant’s Account 
for a particular Limitation Year unless the contribution is actually made to the Plan 
no later than 30 days after the close of that Limitation Year. 

(d) Annual Additions Excluded Items  

For purposes of this Section, the term “Annual Additions” for any Participant 
excludes the following: 

(i) Restorative payments allocated to a Participant’s Account, including 
payments made to restore losses to the Plan resulting from actions (or a 
failure to act) by a fiduciary for which there is a reasonable risk of liability 
under applicable federal or state law, where similarly situated Participants are 
similarly treated; 

(ii) Direct transfers of a benefit of employee contributions from a qualified plan 
to the Plan; 

(iii) Restoration of an Employee’s accrued benefit by the Employer or resulting 
from the repayment of cash-outs under Code Section 411(1)(3)(d) or 
411(a)(7)(C); 

(iv) Repayments of employee contributions as described in Code Section 415(k); 
and 

(v) Rollover Contributions. 

128

Item XI. 4.



 28

(e) 415 Compensation Defined.  For purposes of Code Section 415 and this Section 5.03, 
the term "415 Compensation" shall mean wages within the meaning of Code 
Section 3401(a)  for the purpose of income tax reporting at the source but determined 
without regard to any rules that limit the remuneration included in wages based on 
the nature or location of the Employer or the services performed (such as the 
exception for agricultural labor in Code Section 3401(a)(2), as (i) adjusted for the 
special timing rules described in IRS Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(e), and (ii) 
increased by any “deemed section 125 compensation,” as described in IRS 
Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(g)(6).  "Compensation" for any Limitation Year is the 
compensation actually paid or includable in gross income during such year.  
“Compensation” shall not include mandatory contributions to a defined benefit plan 
sponsored by the Employer that are “picked up” pursuant to Section 414(h) of the 
Code and are treated as Employer contributions in determining their federal income 
tax treatment under the Code.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing, "compensation" shall include any elective deferral (as 
defined in Code Section 402(g)(3)) and any amount that is contributed or deferred by 
the Employer at the election of the employee and which is not includible in the gross 
income of the Employee by reason of Code Sections 125 or 457.  In addition, 
"compensation" shall be increased by the amount by which the Participant's pay is 
reduced by salary reduction or similar arrangement under Code Section 132(f)(4) 
(i.e., a qualified transportation program). 

The annual "compensation" taken into account shall not exceed the limitations of 
Code Section 401(a)(17) in effect as of the beginning of the Plan Year in which it is 
paid. 

Amounts that would otherwise constitute "compensation" above but are paid from a 
nonqualified, unfunded deferred "compensation" plan sponsored by the Employer 
nevertheless shall constitute "compensation" for purposes of the limitations in Code 
Section 415 in the year in which such amounts are actually received by the 
Participant, but only to the extent such amounts are includible in the Participant’s 
gross income. 

The following amounts shall also constitute "compensation" only if the amounts are 
paid by the later of 2½ months after the Participant’s Severance from Employment 
with the Employer or the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of the 
Participant’s Severance from Employment, and the amounts would have constituted 
"compensation" under this Section if they were paid prior to the Participant’s 
Severance from Employment with the Employer: 

(i) Payment of regular Compensation for services during the Employee’s regular 
working hours, or Compensation for services outside the Employee’s regular 
working hours (such as overtime or shift differentials), commissions, bonuses 
or other similar payments and absent a Severance from Employment the 
payment would have been paid to the Employee while the Employee 
continued in employment with the Employer; 

129

Item XI. 4.



 29

(ii) Payment for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation or other leave, but only 
if the Participant would have been able to use the leave if employment had 
continued; and  

(iii) Amounts received by a Participant pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded 
deferred "compensation" plan, but only if the payment would have been paid 
to the Participant at the same time if the Participant had continued in 
employment with the Employer and only to the extent that the payment is 
includible in the Participant’s gross income. 

Back pay, within the meaning of Section 1.415(c)-2)(g)(8) of the Treasury 
Regulations shall be treated as Compensation for the Limitation Year to which the 
back pay relates to the extent that the back pay represents wages and Compensation 
would otherwise be included under this definition. 

Compensation shall not include amounts paid as compensation to a nonresident alien, 
as defined in Code Section 7701(b)(1)(B), who is not a Participant in the Plan to the 
extent the Compensation is excluded from gross income and is not effectively 
connected with the conduct of a trade or business within the United States.  

Prior to the determination of a Participant's actual 415 Compensation for the 
Limitation Year, the amounts referred to in Subsection 5.03(a)(ii)(A) above may be 
determined on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's 
415 Compensation for such Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all 
Participants similarly situated.  Any Employer Contribution to be made based on 
estimated annual 415 Compensation shall be reduced by any excess 415 amounts 
carried over from prior Limitation Years. 

Notwithstanding the general rules of this Section, the Plan will take into 
consideration 415 Compensation for a Limitation Year but not paid during the 
Limitation Year resulting from certain de minimis timing differences.  Specifically, 
under this special rule, 415 Compensation shall include amounts earned during a 
Limitation Year but not paid during that Limitation Year solely because of the timing 
of pay periods and pay dates provided:  (1) the amounts are paid during the first few 
weeks of the next Limitation Year; (2) the amounts are included on a uniform and 
consistent basis with respect to all similarly situated Participants and (3) no 
compensation is included in more than one Limitation Year. 

5.04 Notice to Participants of Account Balances 

At least once each calendar quarter, the Plan Administrator shall cause a written statement of 
a Participant’s Account balance to be distributed to the Participant. 

5.05 Good Faith Valuation Binding 

In determining the value of the Trust Fund and the Accounts, the Third Party Service 
Provider and the Trustees shall exercise their best judgment, and all such determinations of 
value (in the absence of bad faith) shall be binding upon all Participants and Beneficiaries. 

130

Item XI. 4.



 30

ARTICLE VI: RETIREMENT/SEVERANCE BENEFITS/IN-
SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS 

6.01 Retirement 

If a Participant has a Severance from Employment with the Employer at or after his Normal 
Retirement Date, he shall be one hundred percent (100%) vested in all of the amounts 
credited to his Account.  Plan participation of an active Eligible Employee shall continue 
until his actual retirement date.  Upon a Participant’s actual retirement date, or as soon 
thereafter as is practicable, the Trustees shall cause the distribution of all amounts credited to 
such Participant’s Account in accordance with Article VIII. 

6.02 Severance for Other Reasons 

(a) A Participant or Beneficiary may not receive a distribution from the Plan earlier than 
upon the Participant’s Severance from Employment, death or Disability, except as 
otherwise provided in Section 6.04.  

(b) If a Participant has a Severance from Employment with the Employer before his 
Normal Retirement Date for any reason other than death or Disability, he is entitled 
to receive the amounts in his Account as of the date of benefit commencement to the 
extent he was vested in those amounts as of his Severance Date.  The Participant’s 
Account shall be distributed to him as provided under Article VIII of the Plan. 

(c) All Participants shall at all times be fully vested in their Employee Contribution and 
Rollover Accounts.  Except as provided below, the Employer Contribution Accounts 
of a Participant shall vest in accordance with the vesting schedule as selected by the 
Employer in its Adoption Agreement, based on the total of the Participant’s Years of 
Service.  Additional rows may be added to any option in the Adoption Agreement, 
provided that the resulting schedule is at least as favorable as 15-year cliff vesting, 
20-year graded from 5-20 Years of Service, or, for qualified public safety employees 
within the meaning of Code Section 72(t)(10)(B), 20-year cliff vesting.   

(d) Notwithstanding the rules above a Participant’s Employer Contribution Account shall 
become 100 percent vested and nonforfeitable upon the occurrence of any of the 
following events: 

(i) the Participant’s attainment of Normal Retirement Age while still employed 
as an Employee of the Employer or Affiliate; 

(ii) the Participant’s death while still employed as an Employee of the Employer 
or Affiliate; or 

(iii) the Participant’s becoming Disabled while still employed as an Employee of 
the Employer or Affiliate. 

131

Item XI. 4.



 31

6.03 Timing and Application of Forfeitures; Vesting After Restoration Contributions 

If a Participant has a Severance from Employment, and the value of the Participant’s vested 
Account Balance derived from Employer and Employee Contributions is not greater than 
$5,000 (or such lesser amount as elected by the Employer in Section 8.05 of its Adoption 
Agreement) the Participant will receive a distribution of the value of the entire vested portion 
of such Account balance and the nonvested portion will be treated as a forfeiture.  If a 
Participant would have received a distribution under the preceding sentence but for the fact 
that the Participant’s vested Account balance exceeded $5,000 (or such lesser amounts as 
elected by the Employer in Section 8.05 of its Adoption Agreement) when the Participant 
had a Severance from Employment, and if at a later time such Account balance is reduced 
such that it is not greater than $5,000 (or such lesser amount as elected by the Employer in 
Section 8.05 of its Adoption Agreement), the Participant will receive a distribution of such 
Account balance and the nonvested portion will be treated as a forfeiture.  If a Participant has 
no vested interest in his Account at the time of his Severance from Employment, he shall be 
deemed to have received a cash-out distribution at the time of his Severance from 
Employment, and the forfeiture provisions of this Section shall apply. 

A forfeiture shall occur on the earlier of the date the Participant receives a distribution of the 
entire vested portion of his or her Account or the last day of the Plan Year in which the 
Participant incurs a one year Break in Service or one year Period of Severance.  If on the 
Participant’s Severance Date the value of the Participant’s vested account balance is zero, the 
Participant will be deemed to have received his entire vested interest from the Plan on his 
Severance Date.  If a Participant who is not yet 100% vested in his Employer Matching, 
Basic or Discretionary Contribution Accounts has a Severance from Employment and elects 
to receive an immediate distribution of the vested amounts in his Employer Matching, 
Discretionary or Basic Contribution Account, the nonvested amounts held in such Accounts 
shall be treated as Forfeiture.  If the Participant elects to have distributed less than the entire 
vested portion of the Account balance derived from Employer Contributions, the part of the 
nonnvested portion that will be treated as a forfeiture is the total nonvested portion 
multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the distribution attributable 
to Employer Contributions and denominator of which is the total value of the vested 
Employer derived account balance.  If a distribution is made at a time when a Participant is 
less than 100% vested in his Employer Matching, Basic or Discretionary Contribution 
Accounts and the Participant may increase his vested percentage in such Accounts a separate 
account will be established for the Participant’s interest in the Plan as of the time of the 
distribution and at any relevant time, the Participant’s  vested Account balance of the 
separate account will be equal to an amount (“X”) determined by the following formula: 

 X=P(AB+(RXD))-(RXD) 

For purposes of this formula, P is the vested percent at the relevant time, AB is the Account 
balance at the relevant time, D is the amount of the distribution and R is the ratio of the 
Account balance at the relevant time to the Account balance after distribution.  

132

Item XI. 4.



 32

Forfeitures shall be used to reduce the Employer’s obligation to make Restoration 
Contributions, to reduce the Employer’s obligation to make Employer Contributions or to 
pay expenses, as determined by the Employer.  Forfeitures shall be so applied no later than 
the last day of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the forfeiture arose.   

If a Participant resumes employment with the Employer after he has incurred 5 or more 
consecutive one year Periods of Severance or Breaks in Service, his nonvested amount shall 
not be restored.  If a Participant resumes employment with the Employer before he has 
incurred 5 consecutive one year Periods of Severance or Breaks in Service, the nonvested 
amount shall be restored as follows: 

(a) Reemployment and Vesting After Cash-Out Distribution.  If by the Participant’s 
Reemployment Commencement Date, the Participant has received a distribution of 
the entire vested interest in his Account not later than the close of the second Plan 
Year following the Plan Year in which his Severance from Employment with all 
Affiliates occurred, the provisions of Section 4.06(a) shall apply (requiring 
repayment by such a Participant as a condition for restoration of the nonvested 
amount).  Upon such repayment, the rehired individual immediately shall be credited 
on the vesting schedule set forth in Section 6.02 with all previously earned Years of 
Service for purposes of determining his vested interest in the restored Account.  

(b) Reemployment and Vesting Before Any Distribution.  If by the Participant’s 
Reemployment Commencement date the Participant has not received any 
distributions of his vested interest in his Account, or if he has no vested interest in his 
Account, the nonvested amount of his Accounts shall be restored pursuant to the 
terms of Section 4.06(b) and shall be credited to those Accounts.  The Participant’s 
Account then shall be subject to all of the vesting rules in this Article as if no 
Forfeitures had occurred. 

6.04 In-Service Distributions 

(a) Availability.  Except as elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement and as 
otherwise permitted under this Section 6.04 with respect to Participants who continue 
in employment past Normal Retirement Age or who continue in employment past 
their Required Beginning Date (as defined in Section 8.07(f)(v), a Participant shall 
not be permitted to make a withdrawal from his Account under the Plan prior to 
retirement or Severance from Employment with the Employer and all Affiliated 
Employers, if any.  The terms and conditions of any in-service withdrawals under this 
section shall be determined by the Third Party Service Provider, including frequency 
limitations and minimum or maximum withdrawal amounts. 

(b) Employee After-Tax Contributions.  If so provided by the Employer in its Adoption 
Agreement, a Participant may elect to withdraw up to one hundred percent (100%) of 
the amount then credited to his or her Employee After-Tax Contribution Account.  

(c) Rollover Contributions.  If so provided by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, 
a Participant may elect to withdraw up to one hundred percent (100%) of the amount 
then credited to his or her Rollover Contribution Account.  

133

Item XI. 4.



 33

(d) Attained Age Withdrawals.  If so provided by the Employer in its Adoption 
Agreement, a Participant who has attained the age specified in its Adoption 
Agreement may make a withdrawal, upon request, of up to one hundred percent 
(100%) of his or her vested Accounts, in one lump sum. 

(e) Active Military Distribution (HEART Act).  A Participant performing service in the 
uniformed services as described in Code Section 3401(h)(2)(A) shall be treated as 
having been severed from employment with the Employer and shall, as long as that 
service in the uniformed services continues, have the option to request a distribution 
of all or any part of his or her vested Account.  Any distribution taken by a 
Participant pursuant to the previous sentence shall be considered an Eligible Rollover 
Distribution. 

(f) Distributions based on Years of Plan Participation.  If so provided by the Employer in 
its Adoption Agreement, a Participant who has participated in the Plan for a 
minimum of five (5) years, may make a withdrawal, upon request, of the lesser of the 
dollar amount specified in the Adoption Agreement or one hundred percent (100%) 
of his or her vested Account, in one lump sum. 

ARTICLE VII: DEATH BENEFITS 

7.01 Death 

If the Severance from Employment of a Participant is caused by his death, or if an Inactive 
Participant dies before he receives a complete distribution of all his vested Accounts, his 
death benefit shall be equal to one hundred percent (100%) of his vested Account credited as 
of the Valuation Date coincident with or next following his date of death and the Beneficiary 
is entitled to receive the entire amount in his Account as of the date of distribution, to be paid 
in one lump sum or any form of payment available to Participants as elected by the Employer 
under Section 7.01 of the Adoption Agreement.  The Participant’s Beneficiary shall be the 
person(s) designated pursuant to Section 7.03.  The Employer may require such proper proof 
of death and such evidence of the right of any person to receive payment of the value of the 
Account of a deceased Participant or a deceased Inactive Participant, as the Employer may 
deem desirable.  The Employer’s determination of death and of the right of any person to 
receive payment shall be conclusive. 

Payment of benefits due under this Section shall be made in accordance with the provisions 
of this Article VII and Article VIII of the Plan. 

7.02 Payment of Death Benefits 

(a) Payments to Spouse.  Except as provided in Section 8.07, if the Participant’s 
Beneficiary is eligible to receive a death benefit under Section 7.01, payment of such 
benefit shall begin as soon as practical following the Participant’s date of death. 

(b) Minimum Benefit Rules.  All distributions will be made in accordance with 
Section 8.07 of the Plan, Code Section 401(a)(9), and the regulations promulgated 
under Code Section 401(a)(9). 

134

Item XI. 4.



 34

7.03 Beneficiary Designation 

In accordance with the terms of this Section 7.03, Participants shall designate and from time 
to time may redesignate their Beneficiary or Beneficiaries in such form and manner as the 
Third Party Service Provider may provide.  If a Participant dies without designating a 
Beneficiary, or the Beneficiary designated by a Participant cannot be located within one year 
after the date benefits are to commence to said person, then the Beneficiary shall be the 
Participant’s Surviving Spouse.  If there is no Surviving Spouse, any benefits that remain 
payable shall be paid to the Participant’s estate. 

No Beneficiary designation shall be given effect to the extent that doing so violates 
O.C.G.A. 47-1-24, as it is in effect as of October 1, 2019, and is set forth in Schedule A 
hereto.  

7.04 Facility of Payment to Minors or For Incapacity 

If the Plan Administrator determines, on the basis of medical reports or other evidence 
satisfactory to the Plan Administrator, that the recipient of any benefit payments under the 
Plan is incapable of handling his affairs by reason of  minority, illness, infirmity or other 
incapacity, the Administrator may direct the Trustee to disburse such payments to a person or 
institution designated by a court which has jurisdiction over such recipient or a person or 
institution otherwise having the legal authority under state law for the care and control of 
such recipient.  The receipt by such person or institution of any such payments shall be 
complete acquittance therefore, and any such payment to the extent thereof, shall discharge 
the liability of the Trust for the payment of benefits hereunder to such recipient. 

ARTICLE VIII: PAYMENT OF BENEFITS 

8.01 Normal Payment Forms 

(a) Forms of Payment.  Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Employer’s 
Adoption Agreement, a benefit described in this Article VIII shall be paid as selected 
by the Participant or Beneficiary from the following options: 

(i) Single-Sum Payment.  A single-sum payment of the Participant’s Account 
balance. 

(ii) Installment Payments.  Certain periodic cash installments paid monthly, 
quarterly, semiannually or annually over a designated period of years offered 
by the Third Party Service Provider and as selected by the Participant or 
Beneficiary. 

(iii) Rules Relating to Installments.  If a Participant or Beneficiary elects for his 
benefit to be paid in installment payments over a term certain as provided in 
subsection (a)(ii) hereof, the following rules shall apply: 

A. The maximum length thereof shall be the joint life expectancy of such 
Participant and his designated Beneficiary.  The initial value of the 
obligation for the installment payments shall be equal to the amount 

135

Item XI. 4.



 35

of the Participant’s Account balance on the day payments are 
scheduled to commence.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 
contrary, distributions from the Plan must satisfy the requirements of 
Code Section 401(a)(9)(G), including the incidental benefit rules as 
described in Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-2. 

B. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Participant or 
Beneficiary whose distribution of benefits from the Plan is in the 
form of installment payments may elect, at any time before his entire 
benefit has been distributed, to receive the remainder of his Account 
balance in the form of a single sum payment.  The Participant or 
Beneficiary may also elect to change the installment method 
previously selected, to the extent permitted by the Third Party Service 
Provider. 

C. If a Participant or Beneficiary dies after payment of his benefits from 
the Plan has begun but before his entire benefit has been distributed, 
the remaining amount of the Account balance shall be distributed to 
the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s designated Beneficiary; provided, 
the Beneficiary may elect to receive the remainder of the Account in 
the form of a single sum payment. 

D. A Participant or Beneficiary who has elected to receive his benefit in 
the form of installment payments shall continue to have the right to 
direct the investment of that portion of his Account which has not yet 
been distributed. 

(iv) Systematic Payments.  Certain periodic cash installments paid monthly, 
quarterly, semiannually or annually, in a designated dollar amount, as offered 
by the Third Party Service Provider and as selected by the Participant or 
Beneficiary. 

(v) Rules Relating to Systematic Payments.  If a Participant or Beneficiary elects 
for his benefit to be paid in systematic payments in a designated dollar 
amount as provided in subsection (a)(iv) hereof, the following rules shall 
apply: 

A. The amount distributed from the Plan must, notwithstanding anything 
herein to the contrary, satisfy the requirements of Code 
Section 401(a)(9)(G), including the incidental benefit rules as 
described in Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-2.  If the 
systematic payment elected by the Participant or Beneficiary is less 
than the amount required by Code Section 401(a)(9)(G), the 
Participant’s or Beneficiary’s systematic payment amount shall be 
increased by an amount determined by the Third Party Service 
Provider to ensure that such provisions are satisfied.  

B. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Participant or 
Beneficiary whose distribution of benefits from the Plan is in the 
form of systematic payments may elect, at any time before his entire 

136

Item XI. 4.



 36

benefit has been distributed, to receive the remainder of his Account 
balance in the form of a single sum payment or convert to installment 
payments under subsection (a)(ii) hereof.  The Participant or 
Beneficiary also may elect to change the systematic payment method 
previously selected, to the extent permitted by the Third Party Service 
Provider. 

C. If a Participant dies after payment of his benefits from the Plan has 
begun but before his entire benefit has been distributed, the remaining 
amount of the Account balance shall be distributed to the 
Participant’s designated Beneficiary in the same payment form (and 
amount) elected by the Participant provided that his Beneficiary may 
elect to receive the remainder of the deceased Participant’s Account 
in the form of a single sum payment or to adjust the payment form in 
any manner that the Participant could have, had the Participant 
survived. 

D. A Participant who has elected to receive his benefit in the form of 
systematic payments shall continue to have the right to direct the 
investment of that portion of his Account that has not yet been 
distributed. 

E. The Third Party Service Provider shall determine the minimum 
payment amount under a systematic payment election and the 
minimum Account balance required to elect systematic payments, 
which requirements shall be applied on a uniform basis to all 
similarly-situated Participants. 

F. For purposes of determining whether a systematic payment is one of a 
series of substantially equal period payments (not less frequently than 
annually) made for the life (or the life expectancy) of the Employee or 
for the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the Employee and the 
Employee’s designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of 10 
years or more, pursuant to Code Section 402(c)(4)(A), the Third Party 
Service Provider shall apply reasonable actuarial assumptions in 
accordance with IRS Regulation 1.402(c)-2, Q-5(d)(2). 

(vi) A Combination Single-Sum Payment and Installments or Systematic 
Payments.  A Participant may elect to have a portion of his Account paid as a 
single-sum payment pursuant to Section 8.01(a)(i) and the remainder paid in 
installments pursuant to Section 8.01(a)(ii) or systematic payments pursuant 
to Section 8.01(a)(iv).  The amount paid pursuant to each sub-section shall be 
separately subject to the relevant rules applicable to that form of payment. 

(vii) Other Forms.  The Third Party Service Provider, may in its sole discretion, 
permit an Employer to offer its Participants benefit payments in one or more 
of the forms which appear in the Forms of Payment Addendum. 

137

Item XI. 4.



 37

(b) Direct Rollovers.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a 
Distributee may elect to have any portion of a distribution due to him from the Plan, 
which is an Eligible Rollover Distribution, paid in a direct rollover to an Eligible 
Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee.  However, a Distributee may not elect a 
direct rollover with respect to a portion of the Eligible Rollover Distribution if such 
portion totals less than $500.  For purposes of this Section, the term “Distributee” is 
defined in Section 2.13 hereof. 

8.02 Assets Distributed 

Any distribution to a Participant or his Beneficiary shall be made in the form of cash.  Cash 
distributions shall be paid directly from the Trust Fund.  Any payment made in accordance 
with the provisions of the Plan to a Participant or Beneficiary, or to his legal representative, 
shall, to the extent of the method of computation as well as the amount thereof, constitute 
full satisfaction of claims hereunder against the Trustees, the Third Party Service Provider 
and the Employer, any of whom may require such Participant, Beneficiary or legal 
representative, as a condition precedent to such payment, to execute a receipt and release 
therefor. 

8.03 Application for Benefits 

Except as otherwise required by law, before payment of any benefit hereunder, the Employer 
shall require that the Participant or Beneficiary, as the case may be, make a written election 
to receive such benefit and submit the election to the Employer in such form as the Third 
Party Service Provider shall prescribe.  In order for such Participant’s election to be valid, he 
must have a Severance from Employment or the distribution must be permitted by the 
Employer under Section 6.04 and the In-Service Withdrawal Addendum to the Adoption 
Agreement.  Distribution of benefits under the Plan shall be made as soon as practicable after 
the Participant or Beneficiary files an election with the Plan Administrator requesting such 
payment.  If a Participant or Beneficiary fails to file an election specifying the time of 
payment, his benefit shall be distributed no later than the Required Beginning Date (as 
defined in Section 8.07(f)(v) below).  The Plan Administrator shall notify the Third Party 
Service Provider, whenever a Participant or Beneficiary is entitled to receive benefits under 
the Plan.   

8.04 Time of Payment 

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, and unless the Participant otherwise 
elects, payment of a Participant’s benefit will begin no later than 60 days after the end of the 
Plan Year which includes the latest of (i) the date on which the Participant attained Normal 
Retirement Age, (ii) the date which is the 10th anniversary of the date he commenced 
participation in the Plan, or (iii) his Severance Date. 

8.05 Participant Consent to Distribution 

No distribution shall be made to the Participant after Severance from Employment before he 
reaches his Normal Retirement Age (or age 62, if later) without the Participant's consent, 
unless the Employer has elected to cash out de minimis Accounts in its Adoption Agreement 
and the Participant's vested interest in his Account does not exceed the maximum amount 
subject to automatic distribution pursuant to Section 8.06 below.  Such consent shall be made 

138

Item XI. 4.



 38

prior to the distribution.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, the 
consent of the Participant shall not be required to the extent that a distribution is required to 
satisfy Code Section 401(a)(9) or Code Section 415.  In addition, upon termination of the 
Plan if it does not offer an annuity option (purchased from a commercial provider) and if the 
Employer does not maintain another defined contribution plan the Participant's Account 
shall, without the Participant's consent, be distributed to the Participant.  However, if the 
Employer maintains another defined contribution plan then the Participant's Account shall be 
transferred, without the Participant's consent, to the other plan if the Participant does not 
consent to an immediate distribution. 

8.06 Small Payments and Automatic Rollovers 

If the Employer has elected to cash out de minimis Accounts under Section 8.05 of its 
Adoption Agreement, the Third Party Service Provider shall make distributions to 
Participants or Beneficiaries without an election from the Participant or the Beneficiary, if 
the Participant’s Account is less than maximum cash out limit permitted under Code 
Section 411(a)(11)(A) ($5,000 in 2018 or $1,000 if so designated by the Employer in its 
Adoption Agreement) at the time of benefit commencement (including any Rollover 
Contribution and any earnings and losses attributable thereto).  If the vested interest in the 
Participant's Account does not exceed one thousand dollars ($1000), distribution shall be 
made to the Participant or Beneficiary in a lump sum as soon as practical.  If the mandatory 
distribution is greater than $1,000, and if the Participant or Beneficiary does not elect to have 
such distribution paid directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Participant or 
Beneficiary in a direct rollover, or to receive the distribution directly in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan, then the Third Party Service Provider shall make such distribution in a 
direct rollover to an individual retirement plan designated by the Third Party Service 
Provider on behalf of the Participant or Beneficiary. 

8.07 Required Minimum Distributions 

(a) Code Section 401(a)(9).  All distributions will be made in accordance with Code 
Section 401(a)(9), the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirement of  Code 
Section 401(a)(9)(G),  the regulations promulgated under Code Section 401(a)(9) and 
any other provisions reflecting the requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) and 
prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service.  The terms of the Plan reflecting the 
requirements of Code Section 401(a)(9) override the distribution options (if any) in 
the Plan which are inconsistent with those requirements.  Under no circumstances, 
however, shall the rules stated in this Section 8.07 be deemed to provide distribution 
rights to Participants or their Beneficiaries that are more expansive or greater than the 
distribution rights stated elsewhere in this Plan (such as a later beginning date for 
distributions or a longer payout period for distributions).  For example, distributions 
to a Participant under this Section 8.07 may only be made in a form that is provided 
pursuant to Section 8.01.  In addition, if the Plan requires distributions to commence 
to Participants or a Beneficiary before age 70 ½, such distributions must commence 
by the date specified elsewhere in this Plan and may not be delayed to age 70-1/2. 

139

Item XI. 4.



 39

(b) Limits on Distribution Periods.  As of the first distribution calendar year, 
distributions to a Participant, if not made in a single lump sum, may only be made 
over one of the following periods: 

(i) The life of the Participant, 

(ii) The joint lives of the Participant and a Designated Beneficiary, 

(iii) A period certain not extending beyond the life expectancy of the Participant, 
or 

(iv) A period not extending beyond the joint life and last survivor expectancy of 
the Participant and a Designated Beneficiary.  

(c) Time and Manner of Distribution Under Code Section 401(a)(9).  The provisions of 
Section 8.07 (b), (c), (d), and (e), will apply for purposes of determining required 
minimum distributions under Code Section 401(a)(9) for calendar years beginning 
with the 2003 calendar year.  The Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or 
begin to be distributed to the Participant no later than the Participant's Required 
Beginning Date.  If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant's 
entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows:  

(i) If the Participant's Surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated 
Beneficiary, then distributions to the Surviving Spouse will begin by 
December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in 
which the Participant dies, or by December 31 of the calendar year in which 
the Participant would have attained age 70 1/2, if later.  

(ii) If the Participant's Surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole Designated 
Beneficiary, distributions to the Designated Beneficiary will begin by 
December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in 
which the Participant dies. 

(iii) If there is no Designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year 
following the year of the Participant's death, the Participant's entire interest 
will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth 
anniversary of the Participant's death. 

(iv) If the Participant's Surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated 
Beneficiary and the Surviving Spouse dies after the Participant but before 
distributions to the Surviving Spouse begin, then subsection (c)(ii), (iii), or 
(iv) will apply as if the Surviving Spouse were the Participant. 

For purposes of this Section 8.07(c) and Section 8.07(e), unless Section 8.07(c)(iv), 
applies, distributions are considered to begin on the Participant's Required Beginning 
Date.  If Section 8.07(c)(iv) applies, distributions are considered to begin on the date 
distributions are required to begin to the Surviving Spouse under Section 8.07(c)(i).  

Notwithstanding any provisions of the Plan to the contrary, a Participant who would 
have been required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the 
enactment of Code Section 401(a)(9)(H), will not receive those distributions for 2009 
unless the Participant chooses to receive such distributions.  Participants described in 

140

Item XI. 4.



 40

the preceding sentence will be given the opportunity to elect to receive the 
distributions described in the preceding sentence.  In addition, any 2009 required 
minimum distributions will be treated as Eligible Rollover Distributions.   

(d) Required Minimum Distributions During Participant's Lifetime.  During the 
Participant's lifetime, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each 
distribution calendar year is the lesser of:  

(i) the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's Account balance by the 
distribution period in the Uniform Lifetime Table set forth in Treasury 
Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 Q&A-2, using the Participant's age as of the 
Participant's birthday in the distribution calendar year; or  

(ii) if the Participant's sole Designated Beneficiary for the distribution calendar 
year is the Participant's Spouse, the quotient obtained by dividing the 
Participant's Account balance by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor 
Table set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 Q&A-3, using 
the Participant's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and 
Spouse's birthdays in the distribution calendar year.  

Required minimum distributions will be determined under Section (i) beginning with 
the first distribution calendar year and up to and including the distribution calendar 
year that includes the Participant's date of death. 

(e) Required Minimum Distributions After Participant's Death. 

(i) Death On or After Date Distributions Begin with no Designated Beneficiary.  
If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no 
Designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year after the year of the 
Participant's death, the minimum amount that will be distributed for each 
distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death is the 
quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's Account balance by the 
Participant's remaining life expectancy calculated using the age of the 
Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year.  

(ii) Death On or After Date Distributions Begin with a Designated Beneficiary.  
If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is a 
Designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed for 
each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's death is the 
quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's Account balance by the longer 
of the remaining life expectancy of the Participant or the remaining life 
expectancy of the Participant's Designated Beneficiary, determined as 
follows: 

A. The Participant's remaining life expectancy is calculated using the age 
of the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each 
subsequent year.  

B. If the Participant's Surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole 
Designated Beneficiary, the remaining life expectancy of the 
Surviving Spouse is calculated for each distribution calendar year 

141

Item XI. 4.



 41

after the year of the Participant's death using the Surviving Spouse's 
age as of the Spouse's birthday in that year.  For distribution calendar 
years after the year of the Surviving Spouse's death, the remaining life 
expectancy of the Surviving Spouse is calculated using the age of the 
Surviving Spouse as of the Spouse's birthday in the calendar year of 
the spouse's death reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year. 

C. If the Participant's Surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole 
Designated Beneficiary, the Designated Beneficiary's remaining life 
expectancy is calculated using the age of the Designated Beneficiary 
in the year following the year of the Participant's death, reduced by 
one for each subsequent year.  

(iii) Death Before Date Distributions Begin 

A. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is a 
Designated Beneficiary, the minimum amount that will be distributed 
for each distribution calendar year after the year of the Participant's 
death is the quotient obtained by dividing the Participant's Account 
balance by the remaining life expectancy of the Participant's 
Designated Beneficiary, determined as provided in Section 8.07(e)(i).  

B. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is 
no Designated Beneficiary as of September 30 of the year following 
the year of the Participant's death, distribution of the Participant's 
entire interest will be completed by December 31 of the calendar year 
containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's death.  

C. If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin, the 
Participant's Surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole Designated 
Beneficiary, and the Surviving Spouse dies before distributions are 
required to begin to the Surviving Spouse under Section 8.07(c)(i), 
this Section 8.07(e)(iii) will apply as if the Surviving Spouse were the 
Participant.  

(f) Definitions 

(i) Designated Beneficiary.  The Designated Beneficiary is the individual who is 
designated as the Beneficiary under Section 7.03 of the Plan and is the 
Beneficiary under Code Section 401(a)(9) and Section 1.401(a)(9)-4, of the 
Treasury regulations. 

(ii) Distribution calendar year.  The distribution calendar year is a calendar year 
for which a minimum distribution is required.  For distributions beginning 
before the Participant's death, the first distribution calendar year is the 
calendar year immediately preceding the calendar year which contains the 
Participant's Required Beginning Date.  For distributions beginning after the 
Participant's death, the first distribution calendar year is the calendar year in 
which distributions are required to begin under Section 8.07(c).  The 
Required Minimum Distribution for the Participant's first distribution 

142

Item XI. 4.



 42

calendar year will be made on or before the Participant's Required Beginning 
Date.  The required minimum distribution for other distribution calendar 
years, including the required minimum distribution for the distribution 
calendar year in which the Participant's Required Beginning Date occurs, will 
be made on or before December 31 of that distribution calendar year. 

(iii) Life expectancy.  Life expectancy is computed by use of the Single Life Table 
in Treasury Regulation Section 1.401(a)(9)-9 Q&A-1. 

(iv) Participant's Account balance.  Participant’s Account balance is the Account 
balance as of the last valuation date in the calendar year immediately 
preceding the distribution calendar year (valuation calendar year) increased 
by the amount of any Contributions made and allocated or forfeitures 
allocated to the Account balance as of dates in the valuation calendar year 
after the valuation date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation 
calendar year after the valuation date.  The Account balance for the valuation 
calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the Plan 
either in the valuation calendar year or in the distribution calendar year if 
distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year. 

(v) Required Beginning Date.  The later of April 1 following the calendar year (i) 
in which the Participant attains age 70-1/2, or (ii) in which the Participant has 
a Severance from Employment.  The Participant’s Severance from 
Employment shall not, for purposes of this Section 8.07, be later than the date 
that the Participant retires within the meaning of Code 
Section 401(a)(9)(C)(i)(II). 

8.08 Nonalienation of Benefits 

Except with respect to federal income tax levies, forfeitures required under State law or as 
otherwise required by law, benefits payable under this Plan shall not be subject in any 
manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, charge, 
garnishment, execution, or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary, including any 
such liability which is for alimony or other payments for the support of a Spouse or former 
spouse or for any other relative of the Employee, prior to actually being received by the 
person entitled to the benefit under the terms of the Plan.  Any attempt to anticipate, alienate, 
sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, charge or otherwise dispose of any right to benefits 
payable hereunder, shall be void.  The Plan does not recognize domestic relations orders. 

8.09 Forfeiture of Benefits 

All Employer Contribution Accounts under the Plan may be forfeited or reduced in the 
manner and to the extent required under O.C.G.A. Sections 47-1-21 through Sections 47-1-
25, as such provisions are in effect as of October 1, 2019, and are set forth in Schedule A 
hereto, if the Participant or Beneficiary is convicted of a public employment, drug related or 
other covered crime. 

143

Item XI. 4.



 43

8.10 Unclaimed Benefits 

The Plan Administrator shall at all times be responsible for determining the whereabouts of 
each Participant and Beneficiary who may be entitled to benefits under the Plan and shall 
direct the Third Party Service Provider as to the current address of each Participant and 
Beneficiary.  The Trustee and Third Party Service Provider shall have no duty to make any 
distribution other than those for which it has received a satisfactory direction from the Plan 
Administrator with a known address.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant 
becomes entitled to benefits under the Plan and the Plan Administrator is unable to locate 
such Participant (after sending a letter, return receipt requested, to the Participant’s last 
known address, and after such further diligent efforts as the Plan Administrator in its sole 
discretion deems appropriate) within one year from the date upon which he becomes so 
entitled, the Plan Administrator shall direct that such benefits be paid to the person(s) who 
have been designated as the Participant’s Beneficiary or, if none, who have been designated 
as the Beneficiary by operation of the Plan; and, provided further, if the distribution is 
payable upon termination of the Plan, the Plan Administrator shall not be required to wait 
until the end of such 1-year period.  If neither the Participant nor his Beneficiary can be 
located and all of them fail to claim such benefits by the end of the fifth Plan Year following 
the Plan year in which such Participant becomes entitled to such benefits, then the full 
Account of the Participant shall be deemed abandoned and treated as a Forfeiture; provided, 
in the event such Participant or Beneficiary is located or makes a claim subsequent to the 
allocation of the abandoned Account but prior to the expiration of the time within which any 
such person’s claim to the Account would expire under appropriate state law, then the 
amount of the abandoned Account (unadjusted for any investment gains or losses from the 
time of abandonment) shall be restored (from abandoned Accounts, Trust earnings or 
Contributions made by the Employer) to such Participant or Beneficiary, as appropriate; and, 
provided further, the Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion, may delay the deemed date of 
abandonment of any such Account for a period longer than the prescribed five Plan Years if 
it believes that it is in the best interest of the Plan to do so. 

8.11 Maintenance of Account 

Upon the entitlement of a Participant or his Beneficiary to benefits under the Plan, the 
amount from which benefits are payable, may be retained in the Trust Fund as such 
Participant’s Account.  Any such Account shall benefit proportionately from any earnings of 
the Trust Fund and any appreciation in the value of its assets and shall suffer the detriment of 
any losses or depreciation in the value of the Trust assets.  The Account balance shall be 
distributed to the Participant or his Beneficiary at such time and in such manner as provided 
in the Plan. 

8.12 Denial of Claims 

(a) Procedure.  Request for benefits under the Plan shall be approved by the Plan 
Administrator or its designee. 

(b) Review Procedure.  Any Participant or Beneficiary who has been denied a benefit, or 
his duly authorized representative, shall be entitled, upon request to the Plan 
Administrator, to appeal the denial of his claim.  To do so, the claimant must obtain a 
form from the Plan Administrator on which to request further consideration of his 

144

Item XI. 4.



 44

position.  The claimant, or his duly authorized representative, may review pertinent 
documents related to the Plan and in the Employer’s or the Plan Administrator’s 
possession in order to prepare the appeal.  The form containing the request for 
review, together with a written statement of the claimant’s position, must be filed 
with the Plan Administrator no later than 60 days after receipt of the written 
notification of denial of a claim.  The Plan Administrator’s decision shall be made 
within 120 days following the filing of the request for review, shall be communicated 
in writing to the claimant and shall be final and binding.  If unfavorable, the notice of 
decision shall explain the reason or reasons for denial and indicate the provisions of 
the Plan or other documents used to arrive at the decision. 

8.13 Explanation of Certain Rollover Distributions 

Within a reasonable period of time (as defined for purposes of Code Section 402(f)) before 
making an Eligible Rollover Distribution from the Plan to a Participant or Beneficiary, the 
Third Party Service Provider shall provide such Participant or Beneficiary with a written 
explanation of: (a) the provisions under which the distributee may have the distribution 
directly transferred to another Eligible Retirement Plan, (b) the provisions which require the 
withholding of tax on the distribution if it is not directly transferred to another Eligible 
Retirement Plan, (c) the provisions under which the distribution will not be subject to tax if 
transferred to an Eligible Retirement Plan within 60 days after the date on which the 
distributee receives the distribution, and (d) such other terms and provisions as may be 
required under Code Section 402(f) and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 

ARTICLE IX: TRUST FUND INVESTMENTS 

9.01 Contributions to Trust Fund 

All Contributions are to be paid over to the Trustees to be held in the Trust Fund and 
invested in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the separate Trust Agreement. 

9.02 Investment Funds 

(a) Named Investment Funds.  The Trustees shall select and make available the array of 
Investment Funds for the investment of Contributions and Accounts.  The Investment 
Funds in such array may be selected, modified or eliminated from time to time 
without necessity of amendment to the Plan.  

(b) Reinvestment of Cash Earnings.  Any investment earnings received in the form of 
cash with respect to any Investment Fund (in excess of the amounts necessary to pay 
Plan or Trust expenses) shall be reinvested in such Investment Fund. 

(c) Investment Policy Statement.  The Trustees shall establish the general investment 
policy guidelines and directions respecting Investment Fund options under the Plan. 

145

Item XI. 4.



 45

9.03 Participant Direction of Investments 

If elected by the Employer in its Adoption Agreement, Participants and Beneficiaries may 
direct the manner in which their Accounts shall be invested among the Investment Funds 
selected by the Trustee; provided, such investment directions shall be made in accordance 
with the following terms: 

(a) Investment of Account.  As of each business day, Contributions, plus earnings (or 
losses) thereon, will be transferred to the Investment Funds in the proportion 
designated by the Participant, Beneficiary or a designee pursuant to the most recent 
election, as described below.  If the Participant, Beneficiary or designee does not 
make an investment election, the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s Accounts shall be 
invested in the Investment Fund determined by the Trustees as the default fund.  
Effective as of each day following his Entry Date into the Plan, the Participant, 
Beneficiary or designee may elect the percentage of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s 
Account that will be invested in each Investment Fund.  Each such election shall 
remain in effect until changed by the Participant, Beneficiary or designee.  If the 
Participant, Beneficiary or designee fails to make an election for his Accounts 
pursuant to the terms of this subsection or if an investment election is incomplete or 
insufficient in some manner, the Accounts will continue to be invested in the same 
manner provided under the terms of the most recent election affecting such Accounts. 

(b) Conditions Applicable to Elections.  Allocations of investments in the various 
Investment Funds, as described in subsection (a) hereof, shall be made in whole 
percentages as directed by the Participant, Beneficiary or designee.  The Third Party 
Service Provider shall adopt and maintain procedures to be followed in making such 
investment elections.  Such procedures may include, but are not limited to, the format 
of the election forms, use of interactive telephone system, the deadline for filing 
elections and the effective date of such elections; provided, elections must be 
permitted at least once every three months.   

(c) Self-Directed Brokerage Accounts.  Investment Funds may include but are not 
limited to self-directed brokerage accounts.  The Employer shall determine the extent 
to which Participants may utilize such self-directed brokerage accounts in its 
Adoption Agreement or through a written Plan amendment. 

9.04 Expenses 

To the extent permitted by law, all reasonable expenses for administration of the Plan and 
Trust may be paid by the Trust; provided however, the Employer may pay all expenses in the 
administration of the Plan outside of the Plan, if it chooses not to pay them out of the Trust. 

9.05 Voting and Tender Offer Rights with Respect to Investment Funds 

Only if, to the extent and in the manner, permitted by the Trust and/or any documents 
establishing or controlling any of the Investment Funds, shall Participants and Beneficiaries 
be given the opportunity to vote and tender their interests in each such Investment Funds.  
Otherwise, such interests shall be voted and/or tendered by the Trustees, Investment Manager 
or other fiduciary that controls such Investment Fund, as may be provided in the controlling 
documents. 

146

Item XI. 4.



 46

ARTICLE X: ADMINISTRATION 

10.01 Plan Administrator’s Powers and Responsibility 

The Plan Administrator shall have control of the administration of the Plan hereunder, with 
all powers necessary to enable it properly to carry out its duties as set forth in the Plan.  The 
Plan Administrator is the agent for service of legal process for the Plan.  The Plan 
Administrator shall have the following duties and responsibilities some or all of which may 
be delegated in whole or in part to the Third Party Service Provider in a separate agreement: 

(a) to construe the Plan and to determine all questions that shall arise thereunder; 

(b) to select the Third Party Service Provider and Trustee, provided however, that by 
adopting this Plan, the Plan Administrator is deemed to have selected  Association 
County Commissioners of Georgia as the Third Party Service Provider and the 
Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Contribution Plan Program 
Board of Trustees as the Trustee; 

(c) to decide all questions relating to the eligibility of Employees to participate in the 
Plan; 

(d) to determine the benefits of the Plan to which any Participant or Beneficiary may be 
entitled; 

(e) to make such adjustments which it deems necessary to correct any arithmetical or 
accounting errors; 

(f) to utilize the correction programs or system established by the Internal Revenue 
Service; 

(g) to maintain and retain records relating to Participants and Beneficiaries; 

(h) to prepare and furnish to Participants all information required under state or federal 
law or provisions of the Plan to be furnished to them; 

(i) to prepare and furnish to the Third Party Service Provider sufficient employee data 
and the amount of Contributions received from all sources so that the Third Party 
Service Provider may maintain separate accounts for Participants and Beneficiaries 
and make required payments of benefits; 

(j) to prepare and file or publish with all other appropriate government officials all 
reports and other information required under law to be so filed or published; 

(k) to provide directions to the Trustee with respect to methods of benefit payment and 
all other matters where called for in the Plan or requested by the Trustees; 

(l) to engage assistants and professional advisers; 

(m) to arrange for fiduciary bonding, if necessary;  

(n) to provide procedures for determination of claims for benefits; and 

(o) to delegate any or all of these responsibilities. 

147

Item XI. 4.



 47

10.02 Directions 

Any notice, direction, order, request, certification or instruction to the Third Party Service 
Provider or to the Trustees shall be in writing and shall be signed by a Plan Administrator.  
Any written communication or disclosure to Participant required under the Plan may be 
provided in any other medium (electronic, telephonic, or otherwise) that is permitted under 
applicable laws and regulations.  The Trustees and every other person shall be entitled to rely 
conclusively upon any and all such notices, directions, orders, requests, certifications and 
instructions received from the Plan Administrator and reasonably believed to be properly 
executed, and shall act in accordance therewith. 

10.03 Reporting and Disclosure 

The Plan Administrator shall keep all individual and group records relating to Participants 
and Beneficiaries and all other records necessary for the proper operation of the Plan.  Such 
records shall be made available to each Participant and Beneficiary for examination during 
normal business hours except that a Participant or Beneficiary shall examine only such 
records as pertain exclusively to the examining Participant or Beneficiary and the Plan.  The 
Plan Administrator shall prepare and shall file as required by law or regulation all reports, 
forms, documents and other items required by the Code and every other relevant statute, each 
as amended, and all regulations thereunder.  This provision shall not be construed as 
imposing upon the Plan Administrator the responsibility or authority for the preparation, 
preservation, publication or filing of any document required to be prepared, preserved or filed 
by the Third Party Service Provider or Trustees to whom such responsibilities are delegated 
by law or by the Plan or Trust. 

10.04 Construction of the Plan 

The Employer shall take such steps as are considered necessary and appropriate to remedy 
any inequity that results from incorrect information received or communicated in good faith 
or as the consequence of an administrative error.  The Employer shall interpret the Plan and 
shall determine the questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of 
the Plan.  The Employer shall endeavor to act, whether by general rules or by particular 
decisions, so as not to discriminate in favor of or against any person and so as to treat all 
persons in similar circumstances uniformly.  The Employer shall correct any defect, reconcile 
any inconsistency or supply any omission with respect to the Plan. 

10.05 Effect of Failure to Qualify Under the Code 

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or Trust to the contrary, if the Employer’s 
Plan fails to be a qualified plan under the Code, such plan can no longer participate in this 
preapproved plan arrangement and shall be considered an individually designed plan. 

10.06 Assistants and Advisers 

(a) Delegation.  The Employer and the Plan Administrator shall have the right to 
delegate any of their responsibilities hereunder and to hire such professional 
assistants and consultants as they, in their sole discretion, deem necessary or 
advisable. 

148

Item XI. 4.



 48

(b) Investment Policy.  The Employer shall delegate its responsibilities for establishing 
and carrying out an investment policy and selecting, monitoring and maintaining 
Investment Funds to the Trustees. 

(c) Reliance. The Employer shall be entitled to rely upon all certificates and reports 
made by an accountant, attorney or other professional adviser selected pursuant to 
this Section and shall be fully protected in respect to any action taken or suffered by 
them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any such accountant, 
attorney or other professional adviser; and any action so taken or suffered shall be 
conclusive upon each of them and upon all other persons interested in the Plan. 

10.07 Bonding 

The Employer shall arrange for fiduciary bonding if required by law, but no bonding in 
excess of the amount required by law shall be required by the Plan. 

ARTICLE XI: ALLOCATION OF AUTHORITY AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

11.01 General Responsibilities 

The Employer is a fiduciary with respect to the Plan and has the following authority and 
responsibilities: 

(a) to appoint the Plan Administrator, and to monitor its performance; 

(b) to communicate such information to the Trustees and the Third Party Service 
Provider as each needs for the proper performance of its duties; 

(c) to provide channels and mechanisms through which the Third Party Service Provider 
and the Trustees can communicate with Participants and Beneficiaries; 

(d) to delegate responsibilities to officers, employees or to other individuals; 

(e) perform such duties as are imposed by law or by regulation.  

11.02 Third Party Service Provider 

The Third Party Service Provider shall have the authority and responsibilities as provided 
herein.  Nothing in this Plan, however, shall preclude the Employer or any other entity from 
delegating to the Third Party Service Provider additional authority and responsibilities 
involving the Plan pursuant to a separate agreement that the Employer or such other entity 
may deem appropriate. 

11.03 Trustees 

Each Trustee shall have the powers and duties set forth in the Trust Agreement. 

149

Item XI. 4.



 49

11.04 Limitations on Obligations of Fiduciaries 

No fiduciary shall have authority or responsibility to deal with matters other than as 
delegated to it under the Plan, the Trust Agreement, or any other written agreement or by 
operation of law.  A fiduciary shall not in any event be liable for breach of fiduciary 
responsibility or obligation by another fiduciary if the responsibility or authority for the act or 
omission deemed to be a breach was not within the scope of such fiduciary’s authority or 
delegated responsibility. 

11.05 Delegation 

Fiduciaries shall have the power to delegate specific fiduciary responsibilities (other than a 
Trustee’s responsibilities).  Such delegations may be to officers or employees of the 
Employer or to other persons, all of whom shall serve at the pleasure of the fiduciary making 
such delegation and, if full-time employees of the Employer, without compensation.  Any 
such person may resign by delivering a written resignation to the delegating fiduciary.  
Vacancies created by any reason may be filled by the appropriate fiduciary or the assigned 
responsibilities may be reabsorbed or redelegated by the fiduciary. 

11.06 Multiple Fiduciary Roles 

Any person may hold more than one position of fiduciary responsibility and shall be liable 
for each such responsibility separately. 

ARTICLE XII: MISCELLANEOUS 

12.01 No Guarantee of Employment 

Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between the 
Employer and any Employee, or as a right of any Employee to be continued in the 
employment of the Employer, or as a limitation of the right of the Employer to discharge any 
of its Employees, with or without cause. 

12.02 Rights to Assets 

No Employee or Beneficiary shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Plan upon 
Severance from Employment or otherwise, except as provided from time to time under this 
Plan, and then only to the extent of the benefits payable under the Plan to such Employee or 
Beneficiary out of the assets of the Plan.  All payments of benefits as provided for in this 
Plan shall be made solely out of the assets of the Plan and none of the fiduciaries shall be 
liable therefor in any manner.  Whenever the Plan pays a benefit in excess of the maximum 
amount of payment required under the Plan, the Plan Administrator will have the right to 
recover any excess payment, plus earnings at the Plan Administrator’s discretion, on behalf 
of the Plan, from the Participant or his Beneficiary.  This right of recovery includes but is not 
limited to a right of offset against future benefit payments to be made under the Plan to the 
Participant or the Beneficiary. 

150

Item XI. 4.



 50

12.03 Nonforfeitability of Benefits 

Subject only to the specific provisions of this Plan, nothing shall be deemed to divest a 
Participant of his right to the nonforfeitable benefit to which he becomes entitled in 
accordance with the provisions of this Plan. 

12.04 Governing Law 

The Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia and federal law to the extent 
applicable. 

12.05 Construction 

Where required by the context, the noun, verb, adjective, and adverb forms of each defined 
term shall include any of its other forms.  The masculine gender, where appearing in the 
Plan, shall be deemed to include the feminine gender, unless the context clearly indicates to 
the contrary.  Whenever used herein, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall 
include the singular, unless the context requires otherwise.  The words “hereof,” “herein,” 
“hereunder” and other similar compounds of the word “here” shall mean and refer to the 
entire Plan and not to any particular provision or Section.  Article and Section headings are 
included for convenience of reference and are not intended to add to, or subtract from, the 
terms of the Plan. 

12.06 Action by the Employer 

Whenever the Employer under the terms of the Plan is permitted or required to do or perform 
any act or matter, it shall be done and performed by a duly authorized individual or by the 
governing body of the Employer. 

12.07 Uniformity 

All provisions of the Plan shall be interpreted and applied in a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory manner. 

151

Item XI. 4.



 51

ARTICLE XIII: AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND ADOPTION 

13.01 Amendments 

(a) Adoption Agreement Elective Provisions.  The elective provisions of the Employer’s 
Adoption Agreement and Addenda may be amended at any time and from time to 
time by written amendment approved by the governing body of the Employer, 
provided: 

(i) No amendment shall increase the duties or liabilities of the Trustees without 
the consent of the Trustees;  

(ii) No amendment shall be made which would divert any of the assets of the 
Trust Fund to any purpose other than the exclusive benefit of Participants and 
Beneficiaries, except that the Plan may be amended retroactively and to affect 
 the Accounts of Participants and Beneficiaries if necessary to cause the Plan 
and Trust to be qualified under the Code; and 

(iii) No amendment may affect the Plan’s preapproved status. 

(b) Plan Amendments by Employer.  The Employer, through its governing body, may 
amend the Plan by adopting provisions that are not included in the Preapproved Plan. 
 Any such amendment shall be made through use of the Plan Superseding Provisions 
Addendum to the Adoption Agreement.  Any amendments so made by the Employer 
to the Preapproved Plan must also be approved by the Trustees. 

(c) Plan Amendment by Trustees.  ACCG has delegated to the Trustees the authority to 
act on its behalf for purposes of adopting amendments to the Plan.  Accordingly, the 
Trustees may amend the Plan at any time; provided, however, for non-discretionary 
Plan amendments that are either required by the Internal Revenue Service in order to 
maintain the qualified status of the Plan or universally applicable to all Employers 
that have adopted the Plan, the Plan may be amended by action of the Trustees with 
written notice to the Employer.  An amendment made by the Trustees may be made 
effective on a date prior to the first day of the Plan Year in which it is adopted if, in 
published guidance, the Internal Revenue Service either permits or requires such an 
amendment to be made to enable the Plan and Trust to satisfy the applicable 
requirements of the Code and all requirements for the retroactive amendment are 
satisfied.  The Trustees will provide a copy of all Plan Amendments to each 
Employer and will notify each Employer in writing if the Plan is discontinued.  The 
Trustees shall satisfy any recordkeeping and notice requirements imposed by the 
Internal Revenue Service in order to maintain its amendment authority.  

(d) No Authority to Amend Individually Designed Plan.  The Trustees will no longer 
have the authority to amend the Plan on behalf of an Employer as of the earlier of 
(a) the date of the adoption of an Employer amendment to the Plan to incorporate a 
provision that is not allowable in the Preapproved Program, as described in 
Section 6.03 of Rev. Proc. 2017-41 (or the successor thereto), or (b) the date the 
Internal Revenue Service gives notice that the Plan is being treated as an 
individually-designed Plan due to the nature and extent of amendments.  The 

152

Item XI. 4.



 52

Employer may amend the Plan to the extent necessary to satisfy Code Section 415 
because of the required aggregation of multiple plans under Code Section 415.  

(e) Amendments Affecting Accrued Benefits.  Except as permitted by Section 13.01(c) 
no amendment to the Plan shall be effective if it has the effect of decreasing a 
Participant’s Account.  If the vesting schedule of the Plan is amended, the 
nonforfeitable interest of a Participant in his Account, determined as of the later of 
the date the amendment is adopted or the date it becomes effective shall not be less 
than the Participant's nonforfeitable interest in his Account determined without 
regard to the amendment.  If the Plan’s vesting schedule is amended and an active 
Participant’s vested interest as calculated by using the amended vesting schedule is 
less in any year than the active Participant’s vested interest calculated under the 
Plan’s vesting schedule immediately prior to the amendment, the amended vesting 
schedule shall apply only to Employees first hired on or after the effective date of the 
change in vesting schedule.  

13.02 Termination of Plan 

(a) Right to Terminate Plan.  The Employer expects the Plan to be continued 
indefinitely, but has no obligation or liability to maintain the Plan any length of time 
and may amend the Plan to terminate the Plan without liability at any time by action 
of the governing body of the Employer.  In such event, the Third Party Service 
Provider and the Trustees shall be promptly notified of such decision in writing.  The 
Employer may amend the Plan at any time to completely discontinue Contributions to 
the Plan or freeze the Plan and may amend the Plan to provide for contributions to 
recommence.  

(b) Vesting Upon Complete or Partial Termination.  If the Plan is terminated by the 
Employer or Contributions to the Plan are completely discontinued or the Plan 
experiences a partial termination, the Accounts of all affected Participants shall 
become 100 percent vested and nonforfeitable.  Upon termination of the Plan, the 
Plan Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall instruct the Trustees either (i) to 
continue to manage and administer its portion of the assets of the Trust for the benefit 
of the Participants and their Beneficiaries pursuant to the terms and provisions of the 
Plan, or (ii) dissolve its portion of the Trust.  

(c) Dissolution of Trust.  If the Employer decides to terminate the Plan and dissolve the 
portion of Trust assets attributable to its Plan, as soon as practicable following the 
termination of the Plan or the Employer’s decision, whichever is later, the portion of 
Trust assets attributable to the Employer’s Plan shall be converted to cash or other 
distributable assets, to the extent necessary to effect a complete distribution of the 
Plan assets to the affected Participants as described below.  Following completion of 
the conversion, on a date agreed to by the Trustees and the Employer, each Employee 
or former Employee of the Employer with an Account under the Plan shall receive a 
distribution of the total amount then credited to his Account in one lump sum 
payment.  The amount of cash and other property distributable to each such 
individual shall be determined as of the date of distribution.  In the case of a 
termination distribution as provided herein, the Plan Administrator may direct the 

153

Item XI. 4.



 53

Trustees to take any action dealing with unclaimed benefits.  Upon completion of 
such distributions, the Trustees shall be relieved from all liability under the Trust and 
no Participant or other person shall have any claim thereunder, except as required by 
applicable law.  The Employer shall be responsible for any due and accrued expenses 
and liabilities of its portion of the Trust assets and any expenses involved in 
termination of the Plan.  

(d) Missing Participants.  If a distribution is to be made to a Participant or Beneficiary 
who cannot be located upon Plan termination, following the Plan Administrator’s 
completion of such search methods as described in applicable Department of Labor 
guidance, the Plan Administrator shall give instructions to the Trustee to roll over the 
distribution to an individual retirement account established by the Plan Administrator 
in the name of the missing Participant or Beneficiary, which account shall satisfy the 
requirements of the Department of Labor automatic rollover safe harbor generally 
applicable to amounts less than or equal to the maximum cash-out permitted under 
Code Section 401(a)(31) that are mandatorily distributed by the Plan.  

(e) Merger or Consolidation.  In the case of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, 
or transfer of assets and liabilities of the Plan to, any other plan, provision must be 
made so that each Participant would, if the Plan then terminated, receive a benefit 
immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer equal to or greater than the 
benefit to which he would have been entitled to receive immediately before the 
merger, consolidation or transfer had the Plan then terminated.  

13.03 Amendment and Continuation of Prior Plan; Transfer of Funds 

(a) Amendment and Continuation of Prior Plan.  If the Employer had previously 
established a plan (the "Prior Plan") which is a defined contribution plan under the 
Code and which on the date of adoption of the Plan meets the applicable 
requirements of Code Section 401(a), the Employer may, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Prior Plan, amend and restate the Prior Plan in the form of this Plan 
and become the Employer hereunder, subject to the following: 

(i) Subject to the provisions of the Plan, each individual who was a Participant 
in the Prior Plan immediately prior to the effective date of such amendment 
and restatement shall become a Participant in this Plan on the effective date 
of the amendment and restatement, provided he or she is an Eligible 
Employee as of that date. 

(ii) No election may be made under the vesting provisions of the Adoption 
Agreement if such election would reduce the benefits of a Participant under 
the Plan to less than the benefits to which he would have been entitled if he 
voluntarily separated from the service of the Employer immediately prior to 
such amendment and restatement. 

(iii) No amendment to the Plan shall decrease a Participant's Account. 

154

Item XI. 4.



 54

(iv) The amounts standing to the credit of a Participant's Account immediately 
prior to such amendment and restatement which represent the amounts 
properly attributable to (A) contributions by the Participant and 
(B) contributions by the Employer and forfeitures shall constitute the opening 
balance of his Account or Accounts under this Plan. 

(v) Amounts being paid to an Inactive Participant or to a Beneficiary in 
accordance with the provisions of the Prior Plan shall continue to be paid in 
accordance with such provisions. 

(vi) All assets of the predecessor trust shall be invested by the Trustee as soon as 
reasonably practicable.  The Employer agrees to assist the Trustee in any way 
requested by the Trustee in order to facilitate the transfer of assets from the 
predecessor trust to the Trust Fund. 

(b) Transfer of Funds from an Existing Plan.  The Employer may from time to time 
direct the Trustee, in accordance with such rules as the Trustee may establish, to 
accept cash, allowable fund shares or participant loan promissory notes transferred 
for the benefit of Participants from a trust forming part of another qualified plan 
under the Code, provided such plan is a defined contribution plan.  Such transferred 
assets shall become assets of the Trust as of the date they are received by the 
Trustee.   Such transferred assets shall be credited to Participants' Accounts in 
accordance with their respective interests immediately upon receipt by the Trustee.  A 
Participant's vested interest under the Plan in transferred assets which were fully 
vested and nonforfeitable under the transferring plan shall be fully vested and 
nonforfeitable at all times.  It is the Employer’s obligation to ensure that all assets of 
the Plan, other than those maintained in separate trust or fund, are transferred to the 
Trustee.  The Trustee shall have no liability for and no duty to inquire into the 
administration of such transferred assets for the period prior to the transfer.  

(c) Acceptance of Assets by Trustee.  The Trustee shall not accept assets that are not 
either in a medium proper for investment under the Plan, as set forth in the Plan or as 
otherwise determined by the Trustee in its sole discretion, or in cash.  Such assets 
shall be accompanied by instructions in writing (or such other medium as may be 
acceptable to the Trustee) showing separately the respective contributions by the 
prior employer (or current Employer to a prior plan) and by the Participant, and 
identifying the assets attributable to such contributions.  The Trustee shall establish 
such accounts as may be necessary or appropriate to reflect such contributions under 
the Plan.  The Trustee shall hold such assets for investment in accordance with the 
provisions of Article IX, and shall in accordance with the instructions of the 
Employer make appropriate credits to the Accounts of the Participants for whose 
benefit assets have been transferred. 

(d) Transfer of Assets from Trust.  The Employer may direct the Trustee to transfer all or 
a specified portion of the Trust assets to any other plan or plans maintained by the 
Employer or the employer or employers of an Inactive Participant or Participants, 
provided that the Trustee has received evidence satisfactory to it that such other plan 
meets all applicable requirements of the Code, and provided that the assets so 

155

Item XI. 4.



 55

transferred shall be accompanied by instructions from the Employer naming the 
persons for whose benefit such assets have been transferred, showing separately the 
respective contributions by the Employer and by each Inactive Participant or 
Participant, if any, and identifying the assets attributable to the various contributions. 
 The Trustee shall not transfer assets hereunder until all applicable filing 
requirements are met.  The Trustee shall have no further liabilities with respect to 
assets so transferred. 

 

156

Item XI. 4.



 1

SCHEDULE A 
 

STATE STATUTORY PROVISIONS REFERENCED 

O.C.G.A.  47-1-20 

Definitions 

As used in this article, the term: 

(1) "Conviction" means a judgment of conviction for the commission of a crime which is entered 
upon a verdict or plea of guilty. 

(1.1) "Drug related crime" means a felony specified in subsection (b) of Code Section 16-
13-30 and any felony specified in Code Section 16-13-31. 

(1.2) "Economic impact of a public employment related crime" means the total of the 
economic gain to the perpetrator of a public employment related crime and the 
economic loss to the public entity. 

(2) "Employee contribution" means that part of the compensation of a public employee which is 
paid by the employee or by the employer on the employee's behalf to a public retirement 
system as a requirement for membership in the public retirement system. 

(3) "Final conviction" means a conviction which has been upheld after the convicted person has 
exhausted all appeals of the conviction. 

(4) "Political subdivision" means any county, municipality, or local school district. 

(5) "Public employee" means elected and appointed officials and employees of the state or any 
branch, department, board, bureau, commission, authority, or other agency of the state and 
elected and appointed officials and employees of any political subdivision or authority or 
other agency of a political subdivision. 

(6) "Public employment related crime" means any one or more of the following crimes: 

(A) Theft as provided in any one or more of Code Sections 6-8-2 through 16-8-9 when 
the theft is by an officer or employee of a government in breach of duties as such 
officer or employee and conviction for such crime is punishable under paragraph (3) 
of subsection (a) of Code Section 16-8-12; 

(B) Any felony provided for in Article 1 of Chapter 10 of Title 16, relating to abuse of 
governmental office; 

(C) Making false statements or concealing facts in matters within the jurisdiction of the 
state or a political subdivision as provided in Code Section 16-10-20; 

(D) Conspiracy to defraud the state or a political subdivision as provided in Code 
Section 16-10-21; 

(E) Stealing, altering, or concealing public records as provided in Code Section 45-11-1; 

(F) Selling offices or dividing fees as provided in Code Section 45-11-2; and 

157

Item XI. 4.



 2

(G) Any felony conviction for any of the crimes specified in subparagraphs (A) through 
(E) of this paragraph under the laws of any other state or the United States; provided, 
however, that the provisions of this subparagraph shall apply to persons who first or 
again become members of a public retirement system on or after July 1, 2008. 

(7) "Public retirement system" means any retirement or pension system now or hereafter created 
by or pursuant to the authority of Georgia law or the Constitution of Georgia which has 
public employees as members of the retirement or pension system. 

(8) "Vested" means having sufficient creditable service as a member of a public retirement 
system to qualify to receive a retirement benefit upon retirement or termination from public 
service or upon attaining retirement age if public service is terminated prior to attaining such 
age. 

O.C.G.A.  47-1-21. 

Public employees in service on July 1, 1985 

(a) This Code section shall apply to public employees in service on July 1, 1985, as long 
as such employees remain in continuous service as public employees.  Any public employee in 
service on July 1, 1985, who ceases to be a public employee on or after that date and who 
subsequently again becomes a public employee shall be subject to the provisions of Code 
Section 47-1-22 upon again becoming a public employee.  Any person who was a public employee 
prior to July 1, 1985, and who ceased to be a public employee prior to that date shall be subject to the 
provisions of Code Section 47-1-22 if such person again becomes a public employee after July 1, 
1985. 

(b) If a public employee commits a public employment related crime on or after July 1, 
1985, in the capacity of a public employee and is convicted for the commission of such crime, such 
employee's membership in any public retirement system shall terminate on the date of final 
conviction and such employee shall not at any time thereafter be eligible for membership in any 
public retirement system.  For any such public employee finally convicted for the commission of a 
public employment related crime, the right to any benefit or any other right under any public 
retirement system in which the employee is a member shall be determined as of the date of final 
conviction. 

O.C.G.A. 47-1-22 

47-1-22.  Public employment related crime committed in the capacity of public employee 

(a) This Code section shall apply to public employees first or again becoming public 
employees after July 1, 1985. 

(b) If a public employee commits a public employment related crime in the capacity of a 
public employee and is convicted for the commission of such crime, upon final conviction such 
person's benefits under a public retirement or pension system, including any survivor's benefits if 
applicable, shall be reduced by an amount equal to three times the economic impact of the crime, as 
determined pursuant to the provisions of Code Section 47-1-25.  Payment of such benefits shall 
cease until such amount has been forfeited, after which benefits shall be restored.  If the person has 
not begun to receive a benefit, the deduction shall commence at the time such benefits would 

158

Item XI. 4.



 3

normally begin.  For purposes of this subsection, the term "benefit" shall not include a refund of 
employee contributions without interest. 

O.C.G.A. 47-1-22.1 

47-1-22.1.  Drug related crimes; public employees first or again becoming public employees 
after July 1, 1990 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, this Code section shall not apply to 
any public employee in service on July 1, 1990, and shall apply only to those public employees 
entering public service after July 1, 1990.  A public employee in service on July 1, 1990, who ceases 
to be a public employee and terminates his or her membership in a public retirement system after that 
date and who subsequently again becomes a public employee shall be subject to the provisions of 
this Code section, beginning with the date of such subsequent employment.  Any person who was a 
public employee prior to July 1, 1990, and who ceased to be a public employee and terminated his or 
her membership in a public retirement system prior to that date shall be subject to the provisions of 
this Code section if such person again becomes a public employee after July 1, 1990, beginning with 
the date of such subsequent employment. 

(b) If a public employee who is not vested under a public retirement system commits a 
drug related crime and is convicted for the commission of such crime, such public employee shall 
forfeit all rights and benefits under and membership in the public retirement system in which the 
employee is not a vested member, effective on the date of final conviction.  Any such public 
employee shall not at any time after such final conviction be eligible for membership in any public 
retirement system.  Any employee contributions made by any such public employee to any public 
retirement system in which the employee is not a vested member shall be reimbursed, without 
interest, to the public employee within 60 days after the date of final conviction for the commission 
of the drug related crime. 

(c) If a public employee who is vested under a public retirement system commits a drug 
related crime, such employee's active membership in any public retirement system shall terminate on 
the date of final conviction and such employee shall not at any time thereafter be eligible for active 
membership in any public retirement system.  For any such public employee, the right to any benefit 
or any other right under any public retirement system in which the employee is a vested member 
shall be determined as of the date of final conviction. 

(d) The provisions of Code Section 47-1-23 shall apply to a public employee charged 
with the commission of a drug related crime in the same manner that they apply to a public employee 
charged with the commission of a public employment related crime. 

O.C.G.A. 47-1-22.2 

47-1-22.2.  Final conviction: notification to former public employer and public retirement 
system 

Upon the final conviction of any person for a public employment related crime, the prosecuting 
attorney shall so notify the defendant's former public employer and any public retirement system in 
which he or she knows the convicted public employee to be an active, inactive, or retired member.  
Upon such notification, the public employer shall also notify any such public retirement system. 

159

Item XI. 4.



 4

O.C.G.A. 47-1-23 

47-1-23.  Construction 

Nothing in this article shall be construed to create a right for any public employee who is charged 
with the commission of a public employment related crime to remain a public employee or a member 
of a public retirement system until such employee is finally convicted for the commission of such 
crime.  Nothing in this article shall be construed to create a right for a public employee who is 
charged with the commission of a public employment related crime to accrue rights or benefits under 
a public retirement system after the date any such employee ceases to be a member of such public 
retirement system. 

O.C.G.A. 47-1-24 

47-1-24.  Persons who commit murder or voluntary manslaughter of member, etc., of public 
retirement system not to received refund of contributions or benefits 

No person who commits or conspires to commit the murder or voluntary manslaughter of a member, 
retiree, or beneficiary under a public retirement system shall receive any refund of contributions or 
any benefit under the public retirement system upon the death of the member, retiree, or beneficiary, 
even though the person so killing or conspiring is a named beneficiary for such refund of 
contributions or benefit.  A plea of guilty or a judicial finding of guilt which is not reversed or 
otherwise set aside as to any such crime shall be prima-facie evidence of guilt for the purpose of 
applying the provisions of this Code section.  All rights, interests, and entitlements to any such 
refund of contributions or benefit shall go to the secondary beneficiary designated by the member, 
retiree, or beneficiary, if a secondary beneficiary is designated and is living, upon the death of the 
member, retiree, or beneficiary, but otherwise to the member's, retiree's, or beneficiary's estate. 

O.C.G.A. 47-1-25 

47-1-25.  Proceedings to determine economic impact of employment related crime 

Within 30 days following the day the board of trustees receives notice that a member of the 
retirement system has been convicted of a public employment related crime, the board shall initiate 
proceedings in the Office of State Administrative Hearings, under the provisions of Article 2 of 
Chapter 13 of Title 50, to determine the economic impact of the public employment related crime.  
Such matter shall be deemed to be a contested case within the meaning of such article.  The 
Department of Law shall represent the board of trustees in such proceedings.  The decision of the 
administrative law judge shall be final unless appeal is made as otherwise provided by law. 

O.C.G.A. 47-23-1 

47-23-1.  Definitions 

As used in this chapter, the term: 

(13) "Juvenile court judge" means a juvenile court judge now or hereafter appointed or otherwise 
holding office pursuant to Code Section 15-11-18 relative to the creation of juvenile courts, except 
judges of the superior courts sitting as juvenile court judges and juvenile court judges who are 
members of local retirement or pension systems created by local law. 

160

Item XI. 4.



 5

O.C.G.A. 47-23-100 

47-23-100.  “Salary” defined for different classes of members 

(a) As used in this article, the term "salary" means: 

(1) For superior court judges, the earnable monthly compensation from state funds 
provided by law for judges of the superior courts on the date the member begins 
receiving a retirement benefit; 

(2) For district attorneys, the earnable monthly compensation from state funds provided 
by law for district attorneys on the date the member begins receiving a retirement 
benefit; 

(3) For judges and solicitors-general of state courts, the average earnable monthly 
compensation received as such judge or solicitor-general; provided, however, that for 
members who become members after July 1, 1998, such amount shall not exceed the 
salary from state funds provided by law for superior court judges; and 

(4) For juvenile court judges, the average earnable monthly compensation received as 
such juvenile judge; provided, however, that for members who become members 
after July 1, 1998, such amount shall not exceed the salary from state funds provided 
by law for superior court judges. 

(b) The monthly employee contributions made by the employer on behalf of the member under 
Code Sections 47-23-80, 47-23-81, and 47-23-82 shall be used in the computation of the member's 
salary for the computation of the member's retirement benefits. 

(c) Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter to the contrary, a member's salary shall be 
subject to limitations set forth in Code Section 47-1-13. 

 

161

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report 

 

Subject:  Reduction of Speed Limit on McCall Road and Blue Jay Road  

Author:  Eric Larson, Asst. County Manager 

Department:  Engineering 

Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 

Item Description: Resolution to reduce the speed limit to 35 MPH on Blue Jay Road and 

McCall Road at their new intersection. 

 

Summary Recommendation:  

Due to an over abundance of concern about traffic accidents and delays that have occurred 

since the reconstruction of the intersection was complete late last year, the County solicited the 

services of a Traffic Engineering firm to study the new, existing condition to determine what 

could be done to reduce accidents.  Among the recommendations is to do a series of speed 

reductions as traffic approaches the intersection.   

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 On March 15, 2022, The Board of Commissioners voted to reduce the speed limit to 45 

mph approaching the area.  On March 18, Public Works installed the 45 MPH zone 

between Hodgeville Road and Low Ground Road. 

 The 35 MPH zone would start approximately 1,000 ft. prior to the intersection. 

 The speed reductions are to support and enforce a 3-way (All way) stop at the new 

intersection, per the recommendations of the speed study completed on March 22, 2022. 

 The speed reduction to 35 MPH and the 3 way stop will be implemented in phases, 

including advanced notification via signage and press release, and installation of solar 

powered lighted signs when they are delivered to the jobsite. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1 - Approve the reduction of speed to 35 MPH for a zone 1,000 ft. on both sides of the 

Intersection of Blue Jay Road and McCall Road, on the newly constructed curve. 

2 – Take no action / Deny 

 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1 

 

Other Alternatives: Alternative 2 

 

Department Review: Engineering 

 

Funding Source: Signs are being purchased from Public Works operating supply budget. 

 

Attachments:  1.   Maldino and Wilburn traffic study report dated March 22, 2022. 

162

Item XI. 5.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF EFFINGHAM 

SPEED ZONE ORDINANCE 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof, as follows: 

 Pursuant to Official Code of Georgia Annotated §40-6-183 concerning Local Authorities’ 

power to alter speed limits, the following ordinance regulating speed limits within the County of 

Effingham, Georgia is adopted. 

  Be it ordained that the following speed zone is established: 

  Blue Jay Road / McCall Road 

 Reduction of speed limit from the existing 45 MPH to 35 MPH at the 

Blue Jay and McCall roads new intersection  

Signs to be erected by Effingham County. 

Be it ordained that any person convicted of a violation of the Ordinance shall be punished 

as provided by law. 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are hereby 

repealed. 

This Ordinance shall become effective when appropriate signs are erected. 

This ________ day of _________, 2022 

      ____________________________________ 

Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Stephanie D. Johnson, County Clerk 

 

        

 

163

Item XI. 5.



 

 

 

   

Traffic Operations Study 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22 March 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maldino and Wilburn, LLC 
Traffic Engineering Consultants 

 

Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd 
 
Effingham County, GA 

 

STUDY AREA

164

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD i 

Traffic Operations Study 

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd 
Effingham County, GA 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared For: 

Mr. Timothy Callanan 
County Manager 
Effingham County 
tcallanan@effinghamcounty.org 
Mr. Eric Larson 
Asistant County Manager 
eLarson@effinghamcounty.org 
 
 
 

Prepared By: 

Vern Wilburn, PE, PTOE 
Maldino & Wilburn 
1864 Lower Fayetteville Rd 
Newnan, GA  30265 
770.362.6184 
vern@mwtraffic.com 
 

Additional Investigation By: 

Mallory Maldino, EIT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Maldino & Wilburn Project No.: 22-11 
 

March 22, 2022 
 

   

 

No. 16546
PROFESSIONAL

3-22-22

165

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD ii 

  

Table of Contents 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................................... 1 
Study Area ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

 
2. Existing Conditions .................................................................................................................................... 3 

Travel Lanes and Traffic Control ...................................................................................................... 3 
Site Visit ........................................................................................................................................... 5 
Peak Hour Traffic Volumes............................................................................................................... 7 
Automatic Traffic Recorder (ATR) Counts ........................................................................................ 8 
Existing Operating Speeds ............................................................................................................... 8 
 

3. Capacity Analysis ...................................................................................................................................... 9 
 Capacity Analysis Results, Side-Street Stop Control ....................................................................... 9 
 Capacity Analysis Results, All-Way Stop Control ........................................................................... 10 
 Capacity Analysis Results, Signal Control ...................................................................................... 10 
 
4. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis ............................................................................................................... 11 
 Hourly Turning Movement Volumes .............................................................................................. 13 
 Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis Results ......................................................................................... 13 
 
5. Summary of Findings .............................................................................................................................. 14 
 
6. Recommendations .................................................................................................................................. 15 
 
Appendices ................................................................................................................................................. 17 

A. Potential Intersection Improvement, NB Right Turn Lane 
B. Turning Movement Count Data 
C. ATR Count Data 
D. Capacity Analysis Reports, Existing Conditions 
E. Capacity Analysis Reports, All-Way Stop Control 
F. Capacity Analysis Reports, Signal Control 
G. Accident Reports 
H. Signal Warrant Analysis Report 
 

 
 
  

166

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD iii 

List of Figures 

Figure 1: Study Location Map ....................................................................................................................... 1 
Figure 2: Study Area ...................................................................................................................................... 2 
Figure 3: Intersection Configuration .............................................................................................................. 3 
Figure 4: Existing Traffic Control ................................................................................................................... 4 
Figure 5: Photos Taken From Stop Line ........................................................................................................ 5 
Figure 6: Existing Peak Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................................ 7 
Figure 7: Collision Diagram ......................................................................................................................... 12 
Figure 8: Recommended Changes in Traffic Control .................................................................................. 16 
 

 

List of Tables 

Table 1: Existing Hourly Volumes ................................................................................................................. 8 
Table 2: Observed Operating Speeds ........................................................................................................... 8 
Table 3: HCM Level of Service Scales .......................................................................................................... 9 
Table 4: Capacity Analysis Results, Existing Conditions ............................................................................... 9 
Table 5: Capacity Analysis Results, All-Way Stop Control .......................................................................... 10 
Table 6: Capacity Analysis Results, Signal Control ..................................................................................... 10 
Table 7: Existing Hourly Turning Volumes .................................................................................................. 12 
Table 8: Warrant Analysis Results .............................................................................................................. 12 
 
 

167

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

1 

1. Introduction 

This study was conducted to evaluate the traffic operations of the intersection of Blue Jay 

Road and McCall Road. The intersection has recently been reconfigured and crash 

experience has been greater than expected. This study includes an evaluation of the 

intersection to identify measures to improve traffic safety and operations. The general 

location of the intersection is shown in Figure 1. 

   

Figure 1:
STUDY LOCATION MAP

Not to Scale

STUDY AREA

95

168

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

2 

Study Area 

Figure 2 illustrates how the existing roadways were reconfigured to form the new 

intersection that is the focus of this study. The construction was completed on January 10, 

2022. 

 

 

  

Figure 2:
STUDY AREA

Not to Scale

Old section of 
McCall Road

ClosedMcCall Rd 
Realigned 
into west 

leg of Blue 
Jay Rd

New 
Intersection

Old section of Blue Jay 
Rd Realigned Into
New Intersection

169

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

3 

2. Existing Conditions 

This chapter provides a description of the existing roadway geometrics, traffic control, and 

traffic volumes at the study intersection. 

Travel Lanes and Traffic Control 
Figure 3 illustrates the intersection configuration resulting from the recent construction 

project. Since the intersection does not directly align along any cardinal direction, Figure 3 

includes assumed directions that will be used in this report. 

 

Figure 3:
INTERSECTION 

CONFIGURATION

55

55

170

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

4 

 

 

Figure 4 is an excerpt from the signing and marking plan that shows the traffic control that 

is currently in effect at the intersection. 

  

Figure 4:
EXISTING TRAFFIC CONTROL

171

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

5 

Site Visit 

An on-site intersection visit was conducted on March 7, 2022. The traffic engineer was on-

site from 2:30 PM until 6:00 PM. This section provides the information gathered. Figure 5 

includes photos taken from the driver’s perspective while stopped at the stop line. 

 

 

 

Figure 5:
PHOTOS TAKEN FROM

STOP LINE Not to Scale

From stop line looking right
toward the northeast

From stop line looking left 
toward the southwest

172

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

6 

 

As can be seen from the photos in Figure 5, right-turning vehicles can create sight 

obstructions for drivers who are stopped, waiting for gaps in the mainline. This is a common 

issue that exists at many intersections. 

 

The intersection configuration requires slow turning speeds for vehicles turning onto the 

east leg of Blue Jay Road. Each leg is in a horizontal curve and the mainline is also 

superelevated. An immediate measure that could be made to improve operations would be 

to widen the southeast corner. Appendix A contains a drawing that illustrates how the 

intersection could be widened to separate the right turn on the south leg from the through 

lane. This would eliminate the sight distance obstruction caused by right turning vehicles 

blocking the view of oncoming traffic for vehicles stopped at the stop line. 

 

This improvement would eliminate the confusion that drivers currently have regarding 

which vehicle has the right of way when a southbound left turner and a northbound right 

turner arrive simultaneously. The improvement would also increase the receiving lane width 

for the southbound to eastbound left turn, thereby increasing capacity. 

  

173

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

7 

Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

Turning movement counts (TMCs) were conducted at the study intersection on Wednesday, 

March 9, 2022. Figure 6 summarizes the peak hourly volumes at the study intersection. Data 

reports from the turning movement counts are provided in Appendix B. 

 

 

  

Figure 6:
EXISTING PEAK TRAFFIC 

VOLUMES Assumed North

LEGEND
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Bl
ue

 Ja
y 

Rd
 13
5

12
9

28
1

29
6

112 227
263 286

M
cC

al
l R

d 
Blue Jay Rd 

(7-8) (4-5)

174

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

8 

Automatic Traffic Recorder (ATR) Counts 

Traffic counters were placed on each leg of the intersection to collect directional traffic data 

for each hour of the day on March 9, 2022. The ATRs measured volume and speed of each 

vehicle. Data reports from the ATR counts are provided in Appendix C. Table 1 summarizes 

the existing hourly volume on each approach. 

 

Table 1– EXISTING HOURLY VOLUMES 

TIME 
NORTHBOUND 
BLUE JAY RD 

SOUTHBOUND 
McCALL RD 

WESTBOUND 
BLUE JAY RD 

TOTAL 

Midnight – 1 AM 22 19 21 62 
1 – 2 AM 11 15 16 42 
2 – 3 AM 8 9 12 29 
3 – 4 AM 22 13 17 52 
4 - 5 AM 113 16 19 148 
5 – 6 AM 220 21 36 277 
6 - 7 AM 332 135 175 642 
7 – 8 AM 430 243 371 1044 
8 – 9 AM 408 159 210 777 

9 – 10 AM 335 147 202 684 
10 – 11 AM 324 184 250 758 
11 – 12 PM 283 165 259 707 
12 – 1 PM 306 172 281 759 
1 – 2 PM 282 201 370 853 
2 – 3 PM 283 214 410 907 
3 – 4 PM 306 260 399 965 
4 – 5 PM 430 361 479 1270 
5 – 6 PM 399 343 502 1244 
6 – 7 PM 373 299 389 1061 
7 – 8 PM 164 170 288 622 
8 – 9 PM 102 132 232 466 

9 – 10 PM 72 89 118 279 
10 – 11 PM 43 59 96 198 

11 - Midnight 21 32 39 92 
TOTAL 5289 3458 5191 13,938 

 

Existing Operating Speeds 

The observed operating speeds are summarized in Table 2. 

 

Table 2 – OBSERVED OPERATING SPEEDS 

MOVEMENT 
85th PERCENTILE 

(MPH) 
10 MPH PACE 

% EXCEEDING 55 
MPH 

Northbound Approach on Blue Jay Rd 52 41-50 5.5 
Southbound Approach on McCall Rd 54 46-55 13.7 
Westbound Approach on Blue Jay Rd 39  31-40 0 

 

 
175

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

9 

3. Capacity Analysis 

Capacity analysis was performed for the intersection using Synchro 10 software by 

Trafficware. The results of intersection capacity analyses are reported in terms of level of 

service (LOS), which is a function of average delay per vehicle, in seconds. The LOS scales 

according to the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) are shown in Table 3.  

 
Table 3 – HCM LEVEL OF SERVICE SCALES 

LEVEL OF SERVICE 
AVERAGE DELAY PER VEHICLE (SECONDS) 

WITH STOP CONTROL WITH SIGNAL CONTROL 
A ≤10.0 ≤10.0 
B 10.1 to 15.0 10.1 to 20.0 
C 15.1 to 25.0 20.1 to 35.0 
D 25.1 to 35.0 35.1 to 55.0 
E 35.1 to 50.0 55.1 to 80.0 
F >50.0 >80.0 

 

Level of Service E is generally considered to be the limit of acceptable operations. While the 

LOS scale is similar to the grading scales used in schools, it is different in that LOS D is 

generally considered as good operation. 

 

Capacity Analysis Results, Side-Street Stop Control 
The capacity analysis results for the intersection, which is currently operating under Side-

Street Stop Control (SSSC), are summarized in Table 4. Capacity analysis reports from the 

Synchro Program for the existing conditions are included in Appendix D. 

 

 

Table 4 – CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS, EXISTING CONDITIONS 

MOVEMENT AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

SB Left Turn from Main-Line (McCall Rd) A (7.9) A (7.9) 
WB Left Turn from Side Rd (Blue Jay Rd) F (74.7) E (39.3) 

WB Right Turn from Side Rd (Blue Jay Rd) A (0.7) B (10.4) 

 

The results above indicate that the left turn movement from the east leg of Blue Jay Road to 

the south leg of Blue Jay Road operates with a poor level of service (LOS) F during the AM 

Peak Hour and LOS E during the PM Peak Hour.  

176

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

10 

Capacity Analysis Results, All-Way Stop Control 

Since the side street left turn operates poorly under SSSC and since the side street left turn 

volume is higher than the through movements along the mainline, capacity analysis was 

conducted to estimate how the intersection would operate if it was converted to All-Way 

Stop Control (AWSC). The results are summarized in Table 5. Capacity analysis reports from 

the Synchro Program for AWSC are included in Appendix E. 

 

Table 5 – CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS, ALL-WAY STOP CONTROL 

MOVEMENT AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

SB Left Approach from McCall R) B (13.8) B (13.5) 
NB Approach from Blue Jay Rd B (14.8) B (14.8) 
WB Approach from Blue Jay Rd C (23.3) C (16.9) 

Overall Intersection C (18) C (15.4) 

 

 

The results shown above indicate that the intersection would operate at LOS C or better with 

AWSC.  

 

Capacity Analysis Results, Signal Control 
Capacity analysis was also used to estimate how the intersection would operate with signal 

control. The results are summarized in Table 6. Capacity analysis reports from the Synchro 

Program for the Signal Control Condition are included in Appendix F. 

 

Table 6 – CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS, SIGNAL CONTROL 

MOVEMENT AM PEAK HOUR PM PEAK HOUR 

SB Left Approach from McCall R) B (11.2) B (10.6) 
NB Approach from Blue Jay Rd A (5.4) A (5.1) 
WB Approach from Blue Jay Rd A (9.9) A (7.7) 

Overall Intersection A (8.6) A (7.4) 

 

 

The results shown above indicate that the intersection would operate at LOS B or better with 

Signal Control. By comparing the results shown in Table 5 (All-Way Stop Control) to Table 

6 (Signal Control), it is apparent that Traffic Signal Control will provide improved operation 

on every approach, especially westbound.  The overall delay will decrease by 17.4 seconds 

per vehicle during the AM Peak Hour and 8 seconds per second per vehicle during the PM 

Peak Hour. 

  

177

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

11 

4. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis 

The previous chapter indicated that benefits would result from converting the intersection 

from Side-Street Stop-Control (SSSC) to All-Way Stop Control (AWSC). Furthermore, the 

intersection would operate even better with signal control. This chapter contains warrant 

analyses to determine the extent to which these alternative types of traffic control are 

warranted. 

 

Warrant analyses were conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Manual on 

Uniform Traffic Control Devices, 2009 (MUTCD) published by the Federal Highway 

Administration. 

 

According to the MUTCD, the investigation of the need for traffic signal control shall include 

an analysis of the applicable factors contained in the following traffic signal warrants and 

other factors related to existing operation and safety at the study intersection: 

 

• Warrant 1 – Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 

• Warrant 2 – Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 

• Warrant 3 – Peak Hour 

• Warrant 4 – Pedestrian Volume 

• Warrant 5 – School Crossing 

• Warrant 6 – Coordinated Signal System 

• Warrant 7 – Crash Experience 

• Warrant 8 – Roadway Network 

 

Warrants 1 through 3 are relevant for the conditions in this study and possibly Warrant 7 

(Crash Experience). The crash reports for the period between January 10, 2022 (When the 

new intersection was substantially complete) and March 4, 2022 were obtained. Copies of the 

accident reports are included in Appendix G. 

 

 

  

178

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

12 

 

Crash Experience 
Figure 7 is a collision diagram for all crashes reported after the new intersection was 

completed. There were nine (9) crashes, and all involved the left turn from the north leg of 

Blue Jay Road turning to the east leg of Blue Jay Road. These crashes may not be fully 

correctible with signalization unless the left turn is operated as ‘Protected Only’. Several 

drivers indicated being distracted by the presence of other conflicting vehicles, so 

signalization may correct some of the crashes. Since the data is only for about a two (2) 

month period, it is felt that Warrant 7 is satisfied. 

 

  

Figure 7:
COLLISION DIAGRAM

Not to Scale

02
/1

1/
22

, 0
4:

25
 P

M

02
/0

1/
22

, 0
8:

33
 A

M

02
/2

6/
22

, 0
3:

38
 P

M

03
/0

1/
22

, 1
0:

29
 A

M

03
/0

1/
22

, 0
6:

55
 A

M

03
/0

4/
22

, 0
3:

40
 P

M

02
/1

6/
22

, 0
3:

57
 P

M

02
/2

4/
22

, 1
1:

20
 A

M

04
/0

4/
22

, 0
7:

25
 A

M

Bl
ue

 Ja
y 

Rd
 

M
cC

al
l R

d 

Blue Jay Rd 

179

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

13 

Hourly Turning Movement Volumes 
Turning movement counts were conducted for a 10-Hour period on March 9, 2022, for use 

in conducting the warrant analysis. Table 7 summarizes the 10-Hour TMC data. 

 

Table 7– EXISTING HOURLY TURNING VOLUMES 

TIME 
NORTHBOUND 
BLUE JAY RD 

SOUTHBOUND 
McCALL RD 

WESTBOUND 
BLUE JAY RD 

Thru Right Left Thru Left Right 
7 – 8 AM 135 281 159 104 263 112 
8 – 9 AM 81 241 173 82 138 70 

9 – 10 AM 74 198 136 61 130 82 
10 – 11 AM 77 169 142 62 150 107 
11 – 12 PM 57 161 124 62 158 106 
12 – 1 PM 65 193 152 50 187 111 
1 – 2 PM 62 160 104 54 233 141 
2 – 3 PM 75 174 119 68 261 166 
3 – 4 PM 97 202 133 83 246 171 
4 – 5 PM 129 296 157 110 286 227 

 

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis Results 
The traffic signal warrant analysis was facilitated using a spreadsheet application developed 

by Spack Academy. The results of the warrant analysis using the existing traffic volumes are 

summarized in Table 8. The warrant analysis report is included in Appendix G. 

 

Table 8– WARRANT ANALYSIS RESULTS 

WARRANT 
HOURS 

REQUIRED 
HOURS MET WARRANTED 

1 – Eight Hour 8 8 Yes 
2 – Four Hour 4 10 Yes 
3 – Peak Hour 1 5 Yes 

7 – Crash Experience 5 7 Yes 
All-Way Stop 8 10 Yes 

 

 

The results in the table above indicate that all warrants evaluated (1,2,3, and 7) are satisfied. 

The warranting condition for All-Way Stop Control is also met. 

 

 

  

180

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

14 

5. Summary of Findings 

The following summarizes the findings of the traffic study: 

 

1. During an on-site review of the intersection operation, it was observed that drivers had 

uncertainty about which vehicle had the right of way. This involved the southbound left 

turn movement and the northbound right turn movement. 

 

2. The on-site review also indicated that intersection sight distance, for the drivers at the 

stop line, was obscured by right turning vehicles. This issue is typically at many 

intersections and in itself is not cause for concern. 

 

3. Items No. 1 and 2 above could be rectified by improving the right turn lane geometrics 

as shown in Appendix A. 

 

4. The intersection currently operates with Side-Street Stop Control (SSSC). The current 

operation provides LOS F during the AM Peak Hour and LOS E during the PM Peak 

Hour. These are the levels of service for the westbound left turn movement. 

 

5. There have been nine (9) reported crashes at the intersection since it was substantially 

complete in a two-month period. All crashes involve southbound left turning vehicles 

being struck by northbound through vehicles. 

 

6. With All-Way Stop Control (AWSC), the intersection would have LOS C or better for all 

approaches. 

 

7. The intersection would operate at LOS B or better with Traffic Signal Control. 

 

8. The 85th percentile speeds observed at the intersection were 52 MPH northbound, 

54 MPH southbound, and 39 MPH westbound. These were measured approximately 

1,000 feet in advance of the intersection. 

 

9. Warrants for All-Way Stop Control and Signal Control were satisfied. 

  

181

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

15 

6. Recommendations 

The following summarizes the recommendations of the traffic study engineer: 

 

1. Install All-Way Stop Control as soon as possible. In conjunction with this change it is 

recommended that the speed limit be reduced incrementally to 45 MPH and 35 MPH on 

the northbound and southbound approaches to the intersection. The recommended 

changes are schematically illustrated in Figure 8 on the following page. 

 

2. Traffic signal plans should be developed for the intersection as soon as possible. 

 

3. Procurement of the traffic signal installation should be initiated while the intersection is 

being evaluated under All-Way Stop-Control. 

 

4. During the observation period, a decision can be made concerning the need to improve 

the right turn lane along Blue Jay Road eastbound. 

 

5. It has been suggested that the old section of McCall Road be reopened. This is not 

recommended. The only benefit of reopening this road would be that westbound traffic 

on Blue Jay Road that desires to go north could bypass the queues on Blue Jay Road. After 

the recommended changes, the queues are expected to be substantially reduced. 

  

182

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

16 

  

Figure 8:
RECOMMENDED CHANGES 

IN TRAFFIC CONTROL Not to Scale

R2-1
24”x30”

R1-1
36”

R1-3P
18”x6”

REGULATORY SIGNS

W3-1
30”x30”

W3-5
36”x36”

WARNING SIGNS

Notes:
1. Remove Existing 55 

MPH Signs that are 
Within Reduced Speed 
Zone

2. The stop signs may be
augmented with
flashing LEDs around 
the perimeter of the 
signs.

3. Stop ahead signs may
be augmented with
flashing yellow bacons.

4. Rumble strips may be 
placed transversely on 
the approach to the 
stop signs.

183

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

17 

 

Appendices 

A. Potential Intersection Improvement, NB Right Turn Lane 

B. Turning Movement Count Data 

C. ATR Count Data 

D. Capacity Analysis Reports, Existing Conditions 

E. Capacity Analysis Reports, All-Way Stop Control 

F. Capacity Analysis Reports, Signal Control 

G. Accident Reports 

H. Signal Warrant Analysis Report 

 

184

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 
Potential Intersection Improvement, 
NB Right Turn Lane 

 

  

185

Item XI. 5.



LEGEND

IMPROVED RIGHT TURN LANE

N

30 120

SCALE IN FEET

0 60

POTENTIAL IMPROVEMENTS

BLUE JAY RD AND MCCALL RD

BLUE JAY RD

Mc
CA

LL
 R

D

BLUE
 JAY RD

1864 Lower Fayetteville Rd, Newnan, GA 30265
770.362.6184

REVISION DATES

3/11/2022

USER: Vern

V8i-GDOT WORKSPACE

M_W_GDOT_PENTABLE.tbl

C:\Projects\22-11 Blue Jay and McCall\Cadd\0000000Imprjust rt.dgn

$
R
E
F
0
1
$

$
R
E
F
0
2
$

$
R
E
F
0
3
$

$
R
E
F
0
4
$

$
R
E
F
0
5
$

Design File and Plot Substitution information

2:14:43 PM

$
R
E
F
0
6
$

$
R
E
F
0
7
$

$
R
E
F
0
8
$

$
R
E
F
0
9
$

$
R
E
F
1
0
$

$
R
E
F
1
1
$

$
R
E
F
1
2
$

$
R
E
F
1
3
$

$
R
E
F
1
4
$

$
R
E
F
1
5
$

GPLN10/23/2015

DRAWING No.CHECKED:

BACKCHECKED:

CORRECTED:

VERIFIED:

DATE:

DATE:

DATE:

DATE:

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

2/11/22

186

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

B 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B 
Turning Movement Count Data 

 

  

187

Item XI. 5.



McCALL RD McCALL RDBLUE JAY RDBLUE JAY RD

(303) 216-2439
www.alltrafficdata.net

Location: 1  McCALL RD & BLUE JAY RD AM

Wednesday, March 9, 2022Date:

Peak Rolling Hour Flow Rates

Peak Hour - Motorized Vehicles

Traffic Counts - Motorized Vehicles

Note: Total study counts contained in parentheses.

Peak Hour - Pedestrians/Bicycles in Crosswalk

Peak Hour: 07:00 AM - 08:00 AM

Peak 15-Minutes: 07:15 AM - 07:30 AM

263 247

375

440

416367

0

0

0.84
N

S

EW

0.87

0.70

0.88

0.00

(901)(1,105)

(1,316)

(1,784)

()

()

(1,474)(1,210)

0 0

159

112

0

263

0

0

0

0

0

104
0 135

281

0

BLUE JAY RD

BLUE JAY RD

McCALL RD

McCALL RD

0

0

0

0

N

S

EW

0
0

00

0 0

0
0

Left Thru Right Total
EastboundInterval

Start Time
Rolling
Hour West East South North

Pedestrian Crossings

U-Turn

Westbound Northbound Southbound

Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn

7:00 AM 0 0 43 0 41 300 0 0 0 65 0 278 0 0 0 01,0540 24 75 0

7:15 AM 0 0 32 0 50 260 0 0 0 93 0 314 0 0 0 09680 40 73 0

7:30 AM 0 0 34 0 36 290 0 0 0 59 0 254 0 0 0 08680 24 72 0

7:45 AM 0 0 26 0 32 190 0 0 0 46 0 208 0 0 0 08210 24 61 0

8:00 AM 0 0 21 0 42 230 0 0 0 39 0 192 0 0 0 07850 22 45 0

8:15 AM 0 0 28 0 44 260 0 0 0 32 0 214 0 0 0 07560 13 71 0

8:30 AM 0 0 19 0 46 190 0 0 0 29 0 207 0 0 0 07080 18 76 0

8:45 AM 0 0 13 0 41 140 0 0 0 38 0 172 0 0 0 06790 17 49 0

9:00 AM 0 0 20 0 35 170 0 0 0 29 0 163 0 0 0 06810 25 37 0

9:15 AM 0 0 14 0 33 200 0 0 0 34 0 166 0 0 0 06780 20 45 0

9:30 AM 0 0 20 0 32 150 0 0 0 32 0 178 0 0 0 07160 17 62 0

9:45 AM 0 0 20 0 36 90 0 0 0 35 0 174 0 0 0 07140 20 54 0

10:00 AM 0 0 16 0 43 100 0 0 0 34 0 160 0 0 0 07070 17 40 0

10:15 AM 0 0 33 0 37 220 0 0 0 32 0 204 0 0 0 07190 25 55 0

10:30 AM 0 0 15 0 34 170 0 0 0 41 0 176 0 0 0 06710 32 37 0

10:45 AM 0 0 13 0 28 130 0 0 0 43 0 167 0 0 0 06640 33 37 0

11:00 AM 0 0 14 0 33 160 0 0 0 43 0 172 0 0 0 06680 29 37 0

11:15 AM 0 0 21 0 36 90 0 0 0 27 0 156 0 0 0 00 16 47 0

11:30 AM 0 0 14 0 21 180 0 0 0 43 0 169 0 0 0 00 30 43 0

11:45 AM 0 0 8 0 34 190 0 0 0 45 0 171 0 0 0 00 31 34 0

Vehicle Type Left Thru Right
Eastbound

U-Turn
Westbound Northbound Southbound

TotalLeft Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-TurnLeft Thru RightU-Turn

Articulated Trucks 0 0 1 0 0 00 0 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0
Lights 0 125 276 155 103 00 0 0 258 0 108 1,0250 0 0 0
Mediums 0 10 4 4 1 00 0 0 5 0 4 280 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 263 0 112 0 135 281 159 104 0 1,0540 0 0 0

B-1
188

Item XI. 5.



McCALL RD McCALL RDBLUE JAY RDBLUE JAY RD

(303) 216-2439
www.alltrafficdata.net

Location: 1  McCALL RD & BLUE JAY RD Noon

Wednesday, March 9, 2022Date:

Peak Rolling Hour Flow Rates

Peak Hour - Motorized Vehicles

Traffic Counts - Motorized Vehicles

Note: Total study counts contained in parentheses.

Peak Hour - Pedestrians/Bicycles in Crosswalk

Peak Hour: 04:00 PM - 05:00 PM

Peak 15-Minutes: 04:30 PM - 04:45 PM

267 356

513

453

425396

0

0

0.94
N

S

EW

0.88

0.94

0.90

0.00

(1,244)(1,030)

(2,030)

(1,691)

()

()

(1,453)(1,578)

0 0

157

227

0

286

0

0

0

0

0

110
0 129

296

0

BLUE JAY RD

BLUE JAY RD

McCALL RD

McCALL RD

0

0

0

0

N

S

EW

0
0

00

0 0

0
0

Left Thru Right Total
EastboundInterval

Start Time
Rolling
Hour West East South North

Pedestrian Crossings

U-Turn

Westbound Northbound Southbound

Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-Turn

12:00 PM 0 0 14 0 31 100 0 0 0 50 0 187 0 0 0 07580 32 50 0

12:15 PM 0 0 18 0 29 180 0 0 0 42 0 176 0 0 0 07460 20 49 0

12:30 PM 0 0 17 0 36 80 0 0 0 49 0 195 0 0 0 07790 30 55 0

12:45 PM 0 0 16 0 56 140 0 0 0 46 0 200 0 0 0 08000 29 39 0

1:00 PM 0 0 17 0 31 80 0 0 0 56 0 175 0 0 0 07550 28 35 0

1:15 PM 0 0 19 0 22 220 0 0 0 68 0 209 0 0 0 07840 43 35 0

1:30 PM 0 0 15 0 28 120 0 0 1 62 0 216 0 0 0 07800 41 57 0

1:45 PM 0 0 11 0 23 120 0 0 0 47 0 155 0 0 0 07880 29 33 0

2:00 PM 0 0 23 0 30 130 0 0 0 50 0 204 0 0 0 08630 35 53 0

2:15 PM 0 0 13 0 29 180 0 0 0 69 0 205 0 0 0 08790 35 41 0

2:30 PM 0 0 20 0 33 190 0 0 0 72 0 224 0 0 0 09020 42 38 0

2:45 PM 0 0 19 0 27 180 0 0 0 70 0 230 0 0 0 09060 54 42 0

3:00 PM 0 0 19 0 23 160 0 0 0 61 0 220 0 0 0 09320 46 55 0

3:15 PM 0 0 27 0 39 160 0 0 0 62 0 228 0 0 0 01,0220 37 47 0

3:30 PM 0 0 23 0 27 150 0 0 0 72 0 228 0 0 0 01,0790 39 52 0

3:45 PM 0 0 28 0 44 360 0 0 0 51 0 256 0 0 0 01,1730 49 48 0

4:00 PM 0 0 24 0 32 410 0 0 0 67 0 310 0 0 0 01,2050 70 76 0

4:15 PM 0 0 38 0 35 240 0 0 0 64 0 285 0 0 0 00 51 73 0

4:30 PM 0 0 41 0 48 210 0 0 0 78 0 322 0 0 0 00 57 77 0

4:45 PM 0 0 26 0 42 240 0 0 0 77 0 288 0 0 0 00 49 70 0

Vehicle Type Left Thru Right
Eastbound

U-Turn
Westbound Northbound Southbound

TotalLeft Thru RightU-Turn Left Thru RightU-TurnLeft Thru RightU-Turn

Articulated Trucks 0 0 2 1 3 00 0 0 1 0 0 70 0 0 0
Lights 0 128 288 152 101 00 0 0 281 0 225 1,1750 0 0 0
Mediums 0 1 6 4 6 00 0 0 4 0 2 230 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 286 0 227 0 129 296 157 110 0 1,2050 0 0 0

B-2
189

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix C 
ATR Count Data 

 

  

190

Item XI. 5.



Page 1 
  
 
 

Site Code: 1
Station ID: 1

McCALL RD N.O BLUE JAY RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
NB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 5
00:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 5
00:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
00:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

0 0 0 0 0 1 5 7 3 1 2 0 0 0 19
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
01:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 7
01:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 0 1 4 4 4 2 0 0 0 0 15
02:00 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
02:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
02:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 3
02:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 1 2 2 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 9
03:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
03:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
03:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 1 0 3 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 13
04:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
04:15 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 5
04:30 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
04:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 6

2 0 0 0 0 0 3 5 5 0 0 0 1 0 16
05:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 3
05:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 6
05:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 1 0 0 0 5
05:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 7

0 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 7 3 2 0 0 0 21
06:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 3 1 0 0 0 0 9
06:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 4 7 2 0 0 0 0 16
06:30 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 13 15 5 1 0 0 0 39
06:45 4 0 0 0 1 3 8 19 28 7 1 0 0 0 71

4 0 0 0 1 6 14 40 53 15 2 0 0 0 135
07:00 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 18 20 5 0 0 0 0 49
07:15 5 0 0 0 1 5 10 28 26 8 0 0 0 0 83
07:30 3 0 0 2 2 5 10 15 15 5 0 0 0 0 57
07:45 3 0 0 0 0 3 6 21 15 4 2 0 0 0 54

12 0 0 2 3 13 31 82 76 22 2 0 0 0 243
08:00 1 0 0 0 0 5 8 14 10 4 0 0 0 0 42
08:15 2 0 0 0 1 0 10 13 11 4 0 0 0 0 41
08:30 1 0 0 0 2 1 9 13 16 3 0 0 0 0 45
08:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 8 14 5 1 0 0 0 0 31

4 0 0 0 3 9 35 54 42 12 0 0 0 0 159
09:00 3 0 0 0 0 0 10 16 10 2 0 0 0 0 41
09:15 2 0 0 1 1 8 7 16 4 1 0 0 0 0 40
09:30 2 0 0 0 0 5 12 6 4 3 0 0 0 0 32
09:45 1 0 0 0 0 2 4 16 10 0 1 0 0 0 34

8 0 0 1 1 15 33 54 28 6 1 0 0 0 147
10:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 11 21 7 3 0 0 0 0 43
10:15 4 0 0 0 0 2 10 9 4 2 0 0 0 0 31
10:30 1 0 0 0 0 0 23 25 9 5 0 0 0 0 63
10:45 1 0 0 0 2 5 9 19 7 3 1 0 0 0 47

6 0 0 0 2 8 53 74 27 13 1 0 0 0 184
11:00 0 0 0 1 3 6 11 17 4 3 0 0 0 0 45
11:15 0 0 0 0 1 4 9 16 10 2 1 0 0 0 43
11:30 2 0 0 0 0 2 5 15 10 1 0 0 0 0 35
11:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 9 23 5 2 0 0 0 0 42

2 0 0 1 4 15 34 71 29 8 1 0 0 0 165
Total 38 0 0 4 16 70 219 404 279 83 12 0 1 0 1126

C-1
191

Item XI. 5.



Page 2 
  
 
 

Site Code: 1
Station ID: 1

McCALL RD N.O BLUE JAY RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
NB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 2 0 0 0 0 4 10 16 9 1 1 0 0 0 43
12:15 1 0 0 0 0 1 15 16 10 3 0 0 0 0 46
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 9 18 8 1 0 0 0 0 37
12:45 0 0 0 0 0 5 16 14 9 2 0 0 0 0 46

3 0 0 0 0 11 50 64 36 7 1 0 0 0 172
13:00 0 0 0 1 0 9 15 12 8 0 0 0 0 0 45
13:15 0 0 0 0 0 6 13 13 12 4 0 0 0 0 48
13:30 2 0 0 0 0 7 16 16 13 2 1 0 0 0 57
13:45 0 0 0 0 0 4 22 12 8 5 0 0 0 0 51

2 0 0 1 0 26 66 53 41 11 1 0 0 0 201
14:00 1 0 0 0 0 3 11 14 11 2 1 0 0 0 43
14:15 1 0 0 1 0 6 19 19 14 1 0 0 0 0 61
14:30 0 0 0 0 1 4 5 22 8 6 0 1 0 0 47
14:45 1 0 0 0 0 5 15 30 9 3 0 0 0 0 63

3 0 0 1 1 18 50 85 42 12 1 1 0 0 214
15:00 1 0 0 0 0 3 16 30 16 3 0 0 0 0 69
15:15 4 0 0 0 0 2 10 34 13 2 0 0 0 0 65
15:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 19 21 17 2 0 0 0 0 64
15:45 3 0 0 1 5 8 8 22 12 3 0 0 0 0 62

8 0 0 1 5 18 53 107 58 10 0 0 0 0 260
16:00 1 0 0 1 2 5 16 28 26 3 2 0 0 0 84
16:15 2 0 0 0 0 2 21 36 17 6 1 0 0 0 85
16:30 3 0 0 0 2 6 14 30 36 6 1 0 0 0 98
16:45 2 0 0 0 0 8 12 24 36 11 1 0 0 0 94

8 0 0 1 4 21 63 118 115 26 5 0 0 0 361
17:00 2 0 0 0 0 2 18 26 22 2 1 0 0 0 73
17:15 3 0 0 0 0 4 15 40 34 10 0 0 0 0 106
17:30 2 0 0 0 0 5 16 44 24 1 0 0 0 0 92
17:45 1 0 0 0 0 1 12 29 24 5 0 0 0 0 72

8 0 0 0 0 12 61 139 104 18 1 0 0 0 343
18:00 3 0 0 0 0 6 12 33 23 8 0 0 0 0 85
18:15 1 0 0 0 0 2 18 36 23 3 0 0 0 0 83
18:30 1 0 0 0 2 7 31 17 4 1 1 0 0 0 64
18:45 0 0 0 0 1 9 22 30 5 0 0 0 0 0 67

5 0 0 0 3 24 83 116 55 12 1 0 0 0 299
19:00 0 0 0 0 1 6 14 19 9 1 0 0 0 0 50
19:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 20 8 4 2 0 0 0 46
19:30 2 0 0 0 0 1 6 16 10 2 0 0 0 0 37
19:45 1 0 0 0 0 2 6 16 9 3 0 0 0 0 37

3 0 0 0 1 9 38 71 36 10 2 0 0 0 170
20:00 0 0 0 0 0 2 10 13 11 2 2 0 0 0 40
20:15 0 0 0 0 0 2 14 10 7 0 0 0 1 0 34
20:30 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 15 7 1 0 0 0 0 29
20:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 7 10 6 4 1 0 0 0 29

0 0 0 0 0 8 34 48 31 7 3 0 1 0 132
21:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 11 3 1 0 0 0 0 22
21:15 0 0 0 0 0 2 8 8 6 3 0 0 0 0 27
21:30 0 0 0 0 0 2 6 8 6 0 0 0 0 0 22
21:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 7 4 2 0 0 0 0 18

0 0 0 0 0 6 24 34 19 6 0 0 0 0 89
22:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 9 2 1 0 0 0 0 13
22:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 7 7 4 2 1 0 0 0 25
22:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 1 0 0 0 0 8
22:45 1 0 0 0 1 0 4 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 13

1 0 0 0 1 4 12 24 12 4 1 0 0 0 59
23:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 1 0 3 0 0 0 10
23:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 1 0 0 0 0 13
23:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
23:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 0 0 9 12 7 1 3 0 0 0 32
Total 41 0 0 4 15 157 543 871 556 124 19 1 1 0 2332

  
Grand

Total
79 0 0 8 31 227 762 1275 835 207 31 1 2 0 3458

  
15th Percentile : 41 MPH
50th Percentile : 47 MPH
85th Percentile : 53 MPH
95th Percentile : 56 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 47 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 46-55  MPH
Number in Pace : 2110

C-2
192

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 61.0%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 241
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 7.0%

C-3
193

Item XI. 5.



Page 4 
  
 
 

Site Code: 1
Station ID: 1

McCALL RD N.O BLUE JAY RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
SB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
00:15 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
00:30 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
00:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 2 2 3 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 13
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 4
01:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
01:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

0 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 8
02:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
02:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 1 0 0 0 0 8
03:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
03:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 2 0 2 0 0 0 7
03:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 0 1 0 0 0 8

0 0 0 0 0 0 3 7 8 0 3 0 0 0 21
04:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 8 4 0 0 0 0 17
04:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 6 14 4 1 0 0 0 27
04:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 11 10 5 0 0 0 0 29
04:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 9 4 4 0 0 0 0 22

0 0 0 0 1 3 9 28 36 17 1 0 0 0 95
05:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 8 3 1 0 0 0 22
05:15 0 0 0 0 0 3 14 7 16 5 0 0 0 0 45
05:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 11 16 21 3 0 0 0 0 52
05:45 0 0 0 0 0 4 7 26 12 7 2 0 0 0 58

0 0 0 0 0 8 37 54 57 18 3 0 0 0 177
06:00 0 0 0 0 0 5 10 32 13 4 2 0 0 0 66
06:15 0 0 0 0 0 8 13 22 10 6 1 0 0 0 60
06:30 2 0 0 0 1 0 27 23 25 8 0 0 0 0 86
06:45 5 0 0 0 0 5 9 40 17 6 3 0 0 0 85

7 0 0 0 1 18 59 117 65 24 6 0 0 0 297
07:00 1 0 0 0 0 0 15 23 27 4 2 0 0 0 72
07:15 1 0 0 0 0 1 17 26 15 4 0 0 0 0 64
07:30 1 0 0 0 0 14 23 30 7 0 0 0 0 0 75
07:45 3 0 0 0 0 1 11 15 22 4 1 0 0 0 57

6 0 0 0 0 16 66 94 71 12 3 0 0 0 268
08:00 2 0 0 0 0 9 21 22 8 1 0 0 0 0 63
08:15 1 0 0 0 0 8 18 25 11 0 1 0 0 0 64
08:30 0 0 0 0 2 6 28 20 8 0 0 0 0 0 64
08:45 2 0 0 0 0 5 21 19 11 3 0 0 0 0 61

5 0 0 0 2 28 88 86 38 4 1 0 0 0 252
09:00 1 0 0 2 2 1 12 24 9 1 0 0 0 0 52
09:15 3 0 0 0 1 3 20 25 10 4 0 0 0 0 66
09:30 2 0 0 0 0 4 12 8 7 1 2 0 0 0 36
09:45 0 0 0 0 1 8 19 14 6 2 0 0 0 0 50

6 0 0 2 4 16 63 71 32 8 2 0 0 0 204
10:00 0 0 0 0 0 5 17 14 7 1 0 0 0 0 44
10:15 1 0 0 0 1 11 9 18 10 5 0 0 0 0 55
10:30 2 0 0 0 1 6 19 17 4 4 0 0 0 0 53
10:45 2 0 0 0 0 6 16 15 10 2 0 0 0 0 51

5 0 0 0 2 28 61 64 31 12 0 0 0 0 203
11:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 12 26 4 1 1 0 0 0 48
11:15 0 0 0 0 0 8 18 14 3 0 0 0 0 0 43
11:30 1 0 0 0 0 8 20 11 6 2 0 0 0 0 48
11:45 1 0 0 0 0 6 21 14 4 0 0 0 0 0 46

2 0 0 0 0 26 71 65 17 3 1 0 0 0 185
Total 31 0 0 2 12 147 462 593 365 99 20 0 0 0 1731

C-4
194

Item XI. 5.



Page 5 
  
 
 

Site Code: 1
Station ID: 1

McCALL RD N.O BLUE JAY RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
SB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 2 0 0 0 4 3 15 14 4 3 0 0 0 0 45
12:15 0 0 0 0 1 4 16 22 3 0 0 0 0 0 46
12:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 10 23 7 0 0 0 0 0 45
12:45 1 0 0 0 0 9 27 11 5 2 1 0 0 0 56

3 0 0 0 5 21 68 70 19 5 1 0 0 0 192
13:00 0 0 0 0 0 5 21 15 8 3 0 0 0 0 52
13:15 2 0 0 0 1 4 13 11 8 1 2 0 0 0 42
13:30 1 0 0 0 0 4 16 14 11 2 0 0 0 0 48
13:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 9 10 7 2 0 0 0 0 31

3 0 0 0 1 16 59 50 34 8 2 0 0 0 173
14:00 0 0 0 0 0 9 15 10 8 1 1 0 0 0 44
14:15 2 0 0 1 1 8 15 13 3 2 0 0 0 0 45
14:30 5 0 0 0 1 4 6 22 12 4 1 0 0 0 55
14:45 3 0 0 0 0 5 14 16 8 2 0 0 0 0 48

10 0 0 1 2 26 50 61 31 9 2 0 0 0 192
15:00 1 0 0 0 0 5 20 10 3 0 0 0 0 0 39
15:15 5 0 0 0 3 3 13 13 2 2 0 0 0 0 41
15:30 0 0 0 0 0 3 17 20 8 1 0 0 0 0 49
15:45 2 0 1 0 0 8 17 12 9 1 0 0 0 0 50

8 0 1 0 3 19 67 55 22 4 0 0 0 0 179
16:00 2 0 0 0 0 25 27 20 9 0 0 0 0 0 83
16:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 13 35 8 1 0 0 0 0 61
16:30 1 0 0 0 0 12 31 15 7 4 0 0 0 0 70
16:45 1 0 0 0 0 6 24 20 7 2 1 0 0 0 61

4 0 0 0 0 47 95 90 31 7 1 0 0 0 275
17:00 1 0 0 0 0 10 17 28 15 2 0 0 0 0 73
17:15 3 0 0 0 1 2 12 21 15 2 2 0 0 0 58
17:30 5 0 0 0 2 7 15 20 8 0 1 0 0 0 58
17:45 0 0 0 0 0 2 15 34 13 0 0 0 0 0 64

9 0 0 0 3 21 59 103 51 4 3 0 0 0 253
18:00 1 0 0 0 2 7 13 13 10 1 0 0 0 0 47
18:15 0 0 0 0 1 5 22 13 3 0 0 0 0 0 44
18:30 0 0 0 0 3 13 12 23 6 3 1 0 0 0 61
18:45 0 0 0 0 0 4 9 17 9 0 1 0 0 0 40

1 0 0 0 6 29 56 66 28 4 2 0 0 0 192
19:00 1 0 0 0 3 6 9 5 5 2 0 0 0 0 31
19:15 0 0 0 0 2 3 8 7 12 0 0 0 0 0 32
19:30 1 0 0 0 0 1 6 9 2 2 0 0 0 0 21
19:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 4 4 3 0 0 0 0 19

2 0 0 0 5 10 31 25 23 7 0 0 0 0 103
20:00 0 0 0 0 1 4 7 10 5 1 0 0 0 0 28
20:15 0 0 0 1 0 1 5 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 18
20:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 8 3 2 1 0 0 0 16
20:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 10 11 4 1 0 0 0 0 27

0 0 0 1 1 6 24 35 16 5 1 0 0 0 89
21:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 10
21:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 15
21:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 8 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 12
21:45 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 11

0 0 0 0 0 4 17 9 12 5 1 0 0 0 48
22:00 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 12
22:15 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 10
22:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 4
22:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 5

0 0 0 0 0 4 8 11 7 1 0 0 0 0 31
23:00 0 0 1 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
23:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
23:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
23:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

0 0 1 0 0 4 2 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 10
Total 40 0 2 2 26 207 536 577 275 59 13 0 0 0 1737

  
Grand

Total
71 0 2 4 38 354 998 1170 640 158 33 0 0 0 3468

  
15th Percentile : 40 MPH
50th Percentile : 46 MPH
85th Percentile : 52 MPH
95th Percentile : 55 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 46 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 41-50  MPH
Number in Pace : 2168

C-5
195

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 62.5%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 191
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 5.5%

C-6
196

Item XI. 5.



Page 1

Site Code: 2
Station ID: 2

BLUE JAY RD W.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

EB
Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 4
00:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
00:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
00:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 5

0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 5 4 0 0 0 0 13
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
01:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 3 1 0 0 0 0 8
02:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
02:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
02:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 1 2 0 0 0 0 7
03:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
03:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
03:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
03:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 3 2 0 0 0 0 9
04:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 1 0 0 4
04:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 5
04:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 1 1 0 0 0 10
04:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 5 2 0 0 0 1 14

0 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 12 6 1 1 0 1 33
05:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 2 7 3 1 0 0 0 16
05:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 7 5 1 0 0 0 21
05:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 7 7 2 0 0 0 21
05:45 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 11 6 1 0 0 0 21

1 0 0 0 0 1 3 16 32 21 5 0 0 0 79
06:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 8 9 7 0 1 0 0 26
06:15 2 0 0 0 1 1 1 8 16 8 2 0 0 0 39
06:30 3 0 0 0 1 10 1 18 33 8 5 1 0 0 80
06:45 4 0 0 0 0 12 10 30 44 17 0 0 0 0 117

9 0 0 0 2 23 13 64 102 40 7 2 0 0 262
07:00 8 0 0 0 0 1 10 21 24 17 1 1 0 0 83
07:15 3 0 0 0 0 4 16 33 52 16 0 0 0 0 124
07:30 4 0 0 0 13 9 15 23 17 5 2 0 0 0 88
07:45 5 0 0 0 1 8 22 37 24 4 1 0 0 0 102

20 0 0 0 14 22 63 114 117 42 4 1 0 0 397
08:00 0 0 0 0 1 8 12 31 22 7 3 0 0 0 84
08:15 1 0 1 1 0 4 20 18 17 6 1 2 0 0 71
08:30 4 0 0 0 0 3 14 55 35 3 1 0 0 0 115
08:45 1 0 0 0 0 2 26 21 14 5 1 0 0 0 70

6 0 1 1 1 17 72 125 88 21 6 2 0 0 340
09:00 0 0 0 1 0 1 11 12 18 8 1 0 0 0 52
09:15 0 0 0 0 0 9 7 23 14 5 3 0 0 0 61
09:30 2 0 0 0 0 2 14 14 15 11 1 0 0 0 59
09:45 1 0 0 0 0 5 16 27 28 9 0 0 0 0 86

3 0 0 1 0 17 48 76 75 33 5 0 0 0 258
10:00 2 0 0 0 0 1 5 16 30 12 1 0 0 0 67
10:15 1 0 0 0 0 0 5 20 21 9 0 0 0 0 56
10:30 1 0 1 0 2 7 27 25 9 8 0 0 0 0 80
10:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 18 19 5 0 0 0 0 65

4 0 1 0 2 8 60 79 79 34 1 0 0 0 268
11:00 0 0 0 1 0 0 5 13 10 3 0 0 0 0 32
11:15 3 0 0 0 0 2 14 18 28 6 0 0 0 0 71
11:30 2 0 0 0 0 1 8 19 18 6 0 0 0 0 54
11:45 3 0 0 0 1 3 11 16 13 5 0 1 0 0 53

8 0 0 1 1 6 38 66 69 20 0 1 0 0 210
Total 51 0 2 3 21 95 306 557 586 226 29 7 0 1 1884

C-7
197

Item XI. 5.



Page 2 
  
 
 

Site Code: 2
Station ID: 2

BLUE JAY RD W.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
EB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 2 0 0 1 1 1 7 20 14 8 2 0 0 0 56
12:15 1 0 1 0 1 6 12 20 15 10 1 0 0 0 67
12:30 2 0 0 0 0 1 5 18 26 6 1 0 0 0 59
12:45 3 0 0 1 1 8 18 36 6 2 0 0 0 0 75

8 0 1 2 3 16 42 94 61 26 4 0 0 0 257
13:00 2 0 0 0 3 6 3 12 21 0 0 0 0 0 47
13:15 4 0 0 0 0 1 13 9 19 8 1 0 0 0 55
13:30 1 0 0 0 0 3 9 16 25 6 2 0 0 0 62
13:45 3 3 1 0 5 3 9 13 19 8 1 0 0 0 65

10 3 1 0 8 13 34 50 84 22 4 0 0 0 229
14:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 24 16 6 0 0 0 0 52
14:15 3 0 0 0 3 1 11 23 13 10 1 0 0 0 65
14:30 0 0 0 0 0 7 6 11 12 7 2 0 0 0 45
14:45 4 2 0 0 0 0 4 16 31 5 2 0 0 0 64

7 2 0 0 3 8 27 74 72 28 5 0 0 0 226
15:00 2 0 0 0 0 0 8 21 40 6 0 0 0 0 77
15:15 2 0 0 3 0 2 14 14 21 9 1 1 0 0 67
15:30 2 0 0 0 0 1 4 25 21 15 1 0 0 0 69
15:45 2 0 0 1 0 5 14 18 27 12 1 0 0 0 80

8 0 0 4 0 8 40 78 109 42 3 1 0 0 293
16:00 2 0 1 0 1 4 8 29 27 9 3 0 0 0 84
16:15 4 0 0 0 0 0 16 32 35 18 0 0 0 0 105
16:30 11 0 0 0 0 6 16 27 48 13 2 0 0 0 123
16:45 3 0 0 0 0 0 14 24 46 15 1 0 0 0 103

20 0 1 0 1 10 54 112 156 55 6 0 0 0 415
17:00 4 0 0 0 1 3 15 32 43 5 1 0 0 0 104
17:15 7 0 0 0 0 2 8 42 23 9 5 1 0 0 97
17:30 3 0 0 0 0 1 12 23 41 13 1 0 0 0 94
17:45 2 0 0 0 0 1 13 21 45 7 0 0 0 0 89

16 0 0 0 1 7 48 118 152 34 7 1 0 0 384
18:00 4 0 0 0 0 1 9 21 39 8 3 0 0 0 85
18:15 7 0 1 0 4 7 24 36 28 8 0 0 0 0 115
18:30 2 0 0 0 0 8 13 36 26 5 1 0 0 0 91
18:45 3 0 0 0 0 3 12 17 26 4 0 1 0 0 66

16 0 1 0 4 19 58 110 119 25 4 1 0 0 357
19:00 0 0 0 0 0 4 8 15 18 3 1 0 0 0 49
19:15 1 0 0 0 2 7 7 11 10 3 0 0 0 0 41
19:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 6 6 5 1 0 0 0 20
19:45 2 0 1 0 1 1 3 8 5 2 1 0 0 0 24

3 0 1 0 4 12 19 40 39 13 3 0 0 0 134
20:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 12 7 0 0 0 0 25
20:15 1 1 0 0 0 1 3 6 3 4 0 0 0 0 19
20:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 8 2 0 0 0 0 13
20:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 7 4 1 0 0 0 17

1 1 0 0 0 2 6 16 30 17 1 0 0 0 74
21:00 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 8 6 3 0 0 0 20
21:15 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 4 3 3 0 0 0 0 14
21:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 5 12 0 0 0 0 0 19
21:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 4 4 1 0 0 0 15

1 0 0 0 0 2 6 15 27 13 4 0 0 0 68
22:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 3 1 3 0 0 0 0 8
22:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 4 4 0 1 0 0 13
22:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 8
22:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

0 0 0 0 0 1 5 12 8 8 0 1 0 0 35
23:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 2 2 2 0 0 0 9
23:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 2 1 0 0 0 7
23:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
23:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 8 6 4 3 0 0 0 23
Total 90 6 5 6 24 99 340 727 863 287 44 4 0 0 2495

  
Grand

Total
141 6 7 9 45 194 646 1284 1449 513 73 11 0 1 4379

  
15th Percentile : 41 MPH
50th Percentile : 49 MPH
85th Percentile : 54 MPH
95th Percentile : 58 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 48 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 46-55  MPH
Number in Pace : 2733

C-8
198

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 62.4%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 598
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 13.7%

C-9
199

Item XI. 5.



Page 4 
  
 
 

Site Code: 2
Station ID: 2

BLUE JAY RD W.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
WB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
00:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
00:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
00:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 1 0 0 0 0 6
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
01:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2
01:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 8
02:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2
02:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 3 2 0 0 0 0 8
03:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
03:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
03:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 3
03:45 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 0 1 3 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 11
04:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
04:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 3
04:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 4
04:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 0 0 0 0 6

0 0 0 0 0 1 0 2 4 7 1 0 0 0 15
05:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 3 4 0 0 0 0 13
05:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 4 2 0 0 0 0 12
05:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 5 5 3 0 0 0 14
05:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 6 1 0 0 0 13

0 0 0 0 0 0 8 8 15 17 4 0 0 0 52
06:00 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 3 4 8 4 0 0 0 22
06:15 2 0 0 0 0 1 8 14 15 6 2 0 0 0 48
06:30 2 0 0 0 1 2 14 21 25 16 3 0 0 0 84
06:45 3 0 0 1 0 0 1 31 38 17 3 0 0 0 94

7 0 0 1 1 3 26 69 82 47 12 0 0 0 248
07:00 3 0 0 0 0 2 9 22 33 23 7 0 0 0 99
07:15 2 0 0 0 0 3 12 38 23 16 2 1 0 0 97
07:30 4 0 0 1 4 6 6 28 32 15 2 0 0 0 98
07:45 2 0 0 0 0 1 6 24 32 8 4 0 0 0 77

11 0 0 1 4 12 33 112 120 62 15 1 0 0 371
08:00 1 0 0 0 0 7 16 20 15 9 0 0 0 0 68
08:15 1 0 0 0 1 6 9 13 16 8 0 0 0 0 54
08:30 1 0 0 0 0 6 11 16 16 2 0 0 0 0 52
08:45 3 0 0 0 0 1 14 22 11 8 0 0 0 0 59

6 0 0 0 1 20 50 71 58 27 0 0 0 0 233
09:00 1 0 0 0 0 4 12 10 9 7 0 0 0 0 43
09:15 1 0 0 0 3 3 9 13 19 3 2 0 0 0 53
09:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 14 18 9 2 0 3 0 0 47
09:45 3 0 1 0 0 2 10 15 8 3 1 0 0 0 43

5 0 1 0 3 10 45 56 45 15 3 3 0 0 186
10:00 4 0 0 0 0 2 8 20 11 2 0 0 0 0 47
10:15 0 0 0 0 2 4 7 14 8 5 2 0 0 0 42
10:30 3 0 0 0 1 3 11 29 9 3 1 0 0 0 60
10:45 1 0 0 0 1 6 12 17 20 5 0 0 0 0 62

8 0 0 0 4 15 38 80 48 15 3 0 0 0 211
11:00 2 0 1 0 1 4 9 16 12 6 1 0 1 1 54
11:15 3 0 1 1 0 3 12 15 13 2 0 0 0 0 50
11:30 2 0 0 0 0 5 10 20 12 2 0 1 0 0 52
11:45 3 0 0 0 1 4 14 27 11 2 0 0 0 0 62

10 0 2 1 2 16 45 78 48 12 1 1 1 1 218
Total 47 0 3 3 16 80 250 485 430 207 39 5 1 1 1567

C-10
200

Item XI. 5.



Page 5 
  
 
 

Site Code: 2
Station ID: 2

BLUE JAY RD W.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
WB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 0 0 0 0 3 1 8 27 11 7 0 0 0 0 57
12:15 3 0 0 0 0 4 17 22 15 5 0 0 0 0 66
12:30 1 0 0 0 3 4 17 24 9 2 1 0 0 0 61
12:45 1 0 0 0 0 5 15 15 14 3 0 0 0 0 53

5 0 0 0 6 14 57 88 49 17 1 0 0 0 237
13:00 5 0 0 1 2 9 22 20 7 1 0 0 0 0 67
13:15 1 0 1 1 0 4 14 21 9 4 3 0 0 0 58
13:30 5 0 0 0 0 3 16 34 29 4 0 0 0 0 91
13:45 6 0 0 0 1 4 15 19 18 3 0 0 0 0 66

17 0 1 2 3 20 67 94 63 12 3 0 0 0 282
14:00 10 0 0 0 0 6 12 21 8 0 0 0 0 0 57
14:15 5 0 0 0 0 9 15 22 13 3 1 0 0 0 68
14:30 26 0 0 0 1 10 14 23 12 11 0 0 0 0 97
14:45 28 0 0 0 0 2 31 25 7 4 0 0 0 0 97

69 0 0 0 1 27 72 91 40 18 1 0 0 0 319
15:00 17 0 0 0 3 2 24 26 3 1 0 0 0 0 76
15:15 21 0 0 0 4 2 23 19 7 0 0 0 0 0 76
15:30 30 0 0 0 1 3 17 22 8 3 0 0 0 0 84
15:45 26 0 0 0 3 9 15 21 7 4 0 0 0 0 85

94 0 0 0 11 16 79 88 25 8 0 0 0 0 321
16:00 18 0 0 0 0 5 25 31 17 7 0 0 0 0 103
16:15 12 0 0 0 0 2 15 41 22 5 0 0 0 0 97
16:30 12 0 0 0 1 4 12 32 21 4 2 0 0 0 88
16:45 6 0 0 0 0 3 10 48 17 2 0 0 0 0 86

48 0 0 0 1 14 62 152 77 18 2 0 0 0 374
17:00 3 0 0 0 0 5 25 34 26 6 0 0 1 0 100
17:15 5 0 0 0 0 2 12 42 33 13 5 0 0 0 112
17:30 2 0 0 0 0 3 18 32 18 9 2 0 0 0 84
17:45 2 0 0 0 1 5 22 34 23 3 0 0 0 0 90

12 0 0 0 1 15 77 142 100 31 7 0 1 0 386
18:00 2 0 0 0 2 7 14 18 17 7 0 0 0 0 67
18:15 2 0 0 0 0 6 10 26 16 5 0 0 0 0 65
18:30 2 0 0 1 2 6 17 26 4 5 0 0 0 0 63
18:45 2 0 0 0 0 7 21 20 15 4 1 0 0 0 70

8 0 0 1 4 26 62 90 52 21 1 0 0 0 265
19:00 1 0 0 0 1 4 18 13 16 1 0 0 0 0 54
19:15 0 0 0 0 0 3 10 23 13 4 1 0 0 0 54
19:30 3 0 0 0 0 2 8 18 9 4 1 0 0 0 45
19:45 1 0 6 6 5 3 15 12 4 4 0 0 0 0 56

5 0 6 6 6 12 51 66 42 13 2 0 0 0 209
20:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 12 13 15 3 1 0 0 0 45
20:15 1 0 0 0 1 5 12 17 10 2 0 0 0 0 48
20:30 0 0 0 0 0 2 7 12 11 5 3 0 0 0 40
20:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 14 6 3 1 0 0 0 30

1 0 0 0 1 8 37 56 42 13 5 0 0 0 163
21:00 1 0 0 0 0 1 10 10 6 0 1 0 0 0 29
21:15 0 0 0 0 4 1 2 10 5 1 0 0 0 0 23
21:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 3 2 2 0 0 0 0 12
21:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 1 2 0 0 0 0 9

1 0 0 0 5 2 16 29 14 5 1 0 0 0 73
22:00 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 7 7 0 0 0 0 0 20
22:15 0 0 0 0 0 1 6 3 4 1 0 1 0 0 16
22:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 6 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
22:45 0 0 0 0 1 0 4 4 3 1 0 0 0 0 13

0 0 0 0 3 3 19 19 14 2 0 1 0 0 61
23:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 7
23:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 2
23:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 3
23:45 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 6

0 0 0 0 0 2 4 6 4 1 0 1 0 0 18
Total 260 0 7 9 42 159 603 921 522 159 23 2 1 0 2708

  
Grand

Total
307 0 10 12 58 239 853 1406 952 366 62 7 2 1 4275

  
15th Percentile : 40 MPH
50th Percentile : 47 MPH
85th Percentile : 53 MPH
95th Percentile : 58 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 45 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 46-55  MPH
Number in Pace : 2358

C-11
201

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 55.2%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 438
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 10.2%

C-12
202

Item XI. 5.



Page 1 
  
 
 

Site Code: 3
Station ID: 3

BLUE JAY RD E.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
EB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
00:15 0 0 0 1 2 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
00:30 0 0 0 1 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
00:45 0 0 0 1 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

0 0 0 3 5 9 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 22
01:00 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:15 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
01:30 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
01:45 0 0 0 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

0 0 0 0 4 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
02:00 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
02:15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
02:30 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
02:45 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

0 0 0 1 4 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
03:00 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
03:15 0 0 0 0 2 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
03:30 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 5
03:45 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

0 0 0 1 4 10 5 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 22
04:00 0 0 0 0 2 5 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
04:15 0 0 0 0 4 18 8 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 34
04:30 0 0 0 0 4 14 13 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 34
04:45 0 0 0 0 6 14 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 29

0 0 0 0 16 51 37 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 113
05:00 0 0 2 1 12 12 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 34
05:15 0 0 1 1 13 33 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 56
05:30 0 0 1 1 11 31 19 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 66
05:45 0 0 0 2 12 29 17 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 64

0 0 4 5 48 105 51 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 220
06:00 2 0 0 1 19 34 15 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 74
06:15 0 0 0 4 17 34 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63
06:30 0 0 0 1 28 49 13 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 95
06:45 4 3 8 13 27 41 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100

6 3 8 19 91 158 40 4 3 0 0 0 0 0 332
07:00 6 0 0 0 29 45 12 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 93
07:15 4 0 1 6 35 55 12 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 115
07:30 11 0 4 15 52 24 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 113
07:45 8 2 4 22 38 27 5 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 109

29 2 9 43 154 151 36 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 430
08:00 2 0 0 4 33 57 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 99
08:15 0 0 0 1 31 45 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 83
08:30 4 0 3 12 42 58 6 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 127
08:45 6 3 3 11 35 34 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 99

12 3 6 28 141 194 21 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 408
09:00 2 2 1 2 26 33 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72
09:15 3 0 0 10 49 23 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 93
09:30 3 0 0 6 26 25 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 64
09:45 5 0 11 19 34 31 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 106

13 2 12 37 135 112 23 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 335
10:00 0 0 4 6 23 34 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 76
10:15 6 0 0 4 34 22 17 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 85
10:30 3 0 0 10 40 24 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 85
10:45 3 0 4 11 34 21 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 78

12 0 8 31 131 101 37 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 324
11:00 3 0 0 3 24 22 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 60
11:15 2 0 0 2 29 34 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75
11:30 4 0 1 4 24 34 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 77
11:45 2 0 5 15 22 21 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 71

11 0 6 24 99 111 32 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 283
Total 83 10 53 192 832 1009 288 36 5 0 0 0 0 0 2508

C-13
203

Item XI. 5.



Page 2 
  
 
 

Site Code: 3
Station ID: 3

BLUE JAY RD E.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
EB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 4 0 1 14 16 17 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61
12:15 2 0 0 8 40 23 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 83
12:30 5 0 0 5 25 33 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 74
12:45 5 0 1 16 41 20 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 88

16 0 2 43 122 93 27 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 306
13:00 3 0 0 8 18 27 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 72
13:15 3 0 1 7 20 23 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 58
13:30 3 0 0 9 24 34 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 77
13:45 7 0 6 18 16 21 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75

16 0 7 42 78 105 31 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 282
14:00 0 0 0 7 27 22 7 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 64
14:15 2 0 3 14 37 26 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 87
14:30 4 0 5 7 11 30 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 62
14:45 6 0 2 14 23 19 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 70

12 0 10 42 98 97 20 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 283
15:00 5 0 0 1 26 37 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79
15:15 3 0 0 0 23 30 12 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 69
15:30 6 0 1 6 28 27 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 79
15:45 16 4 7 9 20 18 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 79

30 4 8 16 97 112 35 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 306
16:00 5 0 2 13 31 37 11 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 101
16:15 8 0 0 18 21 48 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 106
16:30 11 0 4 18 38 32 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 114
16:45 11 0 0 2 28 49 17 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 109

35 0 6 51 118 166 45 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 430
17:00 10 0 2 8 37 44 24 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 126
17:15 13 0 0 3 18 35 14 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 87
17:30 5 0 0 6 29 42 14 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 99
17:45 6 0 0 5 20 42 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 87

34 0 2 22 104 163 66 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 399
18:00 5 0 0 9 35 36 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 94
18:15 5 0 3 11 40 37 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 105
18:30 5 0 8 22 28 32 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 99
18:45 3 0 0 15 23 26 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 75

18 0 11 57 126 131 26 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 373
19:00 3 0 0 4 18 27 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 58
19:15 3 0 0 9 10 19 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 46
19:30 1 0 0 2 4 19 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 32
19:45 2 0 0 2 9 9 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 28

9 0 0 17 41 74 20 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 164
20:00 1 0 0 0 13 18 5 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 38
20:15 0 0 0 0 5 10 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 18
20:30 0 0 0 0 6 9 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 20
20:45 0 0 0 0 9 12 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 26

1 0 0 0 33 49 12 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 102
21:00 0 0 0 1 3 12 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21
21:15 1 0 0 0 5 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
21:30 0 0 0 0 7 8 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 20
21:45 0 0 0 0 4 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

1 0 0 1 19 34 16 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 72
22:00 0 0 0 2 4 6 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
22:15 0 0 0 0 3 4 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
22:30 0 0 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
22:45 1 0 0 0 1 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

1 0 0 2 10 21 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43
23:00 0 0 0 2 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
23:15 0 0 0 0 3 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
23:30 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
23:45 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

0 0 0 3 8 6 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21
Total 173 4 46 296 854 1051 310 42 4 1 0 0 0 0 2781

  
Grand

Total
256 14 99 488 1686 2060 598 78 9 1 0 0 0 0 5289

  
15th Percentile : 29 MPH
50th Percentile : 35 MPH
85th Percentile : 39 MPH
95th Percentile : 43 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 34 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 31-40  MPH
Number in Pace : 3746

C-14
204

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 70.8%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 1
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%

C-15
205

Item XI. 5.



Page 4 
  
 
 

Site Code: 3
Station ID: 3

BLUE JAY RD E.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
WB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

03/09/22 0 0 0 1 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
00:15 0 0 0 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
00:30 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
00:45 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

0 0 0 1 7 8 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 21
01:00 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
01:15 0 0 0 1 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
01:30 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
01:45 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 1 1 7 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16
02:00 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
02:15 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
02:30 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
02:45 0 0 0 0 2 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 1 2 3 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
03:00 0 0 0 0 3 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10
03:15 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
03:30 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
03:45 0 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

0 0 0 0 4 10 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17
04:00 0 0 0 0 1 1 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5
04:15 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
04:30 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2
04:45 0 0 0 0 0 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 6

0 0 0 0 1 10 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
05:00 0 0 0 1 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
05:15 0 0 0 0 1 6 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
05:30 0 0 0 0 0 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 9
05:45 0 0 0 0 1 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

0 0 0 1 2 23 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 36
06:00 0 0 0 1 3 5 3 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
06:15 1 0 0 0 10 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24
06:30 2 0 1 8 16 19 9 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 60
06:45 3 0 0 2 19 39 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 77

6 0 1 11 48 74 28 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 175
07:00 2 0 0 2 14 38 19 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 76
07:15 5 3 9 18 23 33 18 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 111
07:30 16 4 8 18 27 23 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 102
07:45 4 0 0 4 24 34 14 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 82

27 7 17 42 88 128 56 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 371
08:00 1 0 1 7 17 24 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 61
08:15 2 0 0 8 14 23 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 55
08:30 6 3 0 5 12 13 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 49
08:45 2 0 2 6 16 15 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45

11 3 3 26 59 75 30 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 210
09:00 3 0 2 1 19 20 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 52
09:15 2 0 2 5 22 18 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 55
09:30 0 0 5 2 17 26 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 54
09:45 1 1 1 5 12 15 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 41

6 1 10 13 70 79 17 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 202
10:00 1 0 0 5 18 28 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62
10:15 3 0 0 0 17 21 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45
10:30 2 0 0 4 22 33 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 70
10:45 1 0 1 7 23 32 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73

7 0 1 16 80 114 30 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 250
11:00 1 0 1 10 33 29 4 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 80
11:15 0 0 0 13 21 14 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 52
11:30 0 0 0 1 20 29 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 56
11:45 2 0 0 3 38 23 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 71

3 0 1 27 112 95 17 3 0 1 0 0 0 0 259
Total 60 11 35 140 481 625 202 32 1 1 0 0 0 0 1588

C-16
206

Item XI. 5.



Page 5 
  
 
 

Site Code: 3
Station ID: 3

BLUE JAY RD E.O McCALL RD

Latitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined
Longitude: 0' 0.0000 Undefined

All Traffic Data Services
www.alltrafficdata.net

 
WB

Start 1 16 21 26 31 36 41 46 51 56 61 66 71 76  
Time 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70 75 999 Total

12 PM 1 0 0 11 21 24 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 67
12:15 3 0 0 5 26 39 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 81
12:30 1 0 0 3 25 28 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 68
12:45 4 0 0 3 29 22 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 65

9 0 0 22 101 113 34 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 281
13:00 4 0 0 6 42 29 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 82
13:15 3 0 0 8 29 28 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 75
13:30 2 0 3 10 43 54 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 124
13:45 5 0 4 11 38 24 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 89

14 0 7 35 152 135 26 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 370
14:00 0 0 0 5 33 27 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 72
14:15 2 0 0 18 41 31 6 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 99
14:30 2 0 1 16 44 33 15 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 112
14:45 4 0 3 25 49 38 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 127

8 0 4 64 167 129 33 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 410
15:00 6 0 0 7 34 48 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 106
15:15 1 0 0 9 41 45 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 105
15:30 2 0 1 2 43 40 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 99
15:45 7 0 2 17 22 33 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 89

16 0 3 35 140 166 33 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 399
16:00 5 0 1 11 39 55 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 124
16:15 2 0 0 8 32 58 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 119
16:30 4 0 2 19 52 35 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 123
16:45 5 0 0 4 37 45 21 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 113

16 0 3 42 160 193 60 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 479
17:00 4 0 1 14 45 40 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 115
17:15 7 0 0 10 43 82 15 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 157
17:30 0 0 1 2 47 66 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 129
17:45 7 0 0 3 28 52 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 101

18 0 2 29 163 240 46 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 502
18:00 5 0 1 7 36 47 12 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 109
18:15 6 0 0 3 30 47 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 96
18:30 5 0 1 7 47 18 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 83
18:45 1 0 1 26 38 28 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 101

17 0 3 43 151 140 30 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 389
19:00 3 0 0 2 23 42 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 77
19:15 1 0 0 4 27 28 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 64
19:30 1 0 0 4 25 36 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 71
19:45 1 0 0 5 16 40 13 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 76

6 0 0 15 91 146 27 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 288
20:00 1 0 0 3 25 29 8 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 67
20:15 0 0 0 6 21 34 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 65
20:30 0 0 0 2 18 27 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 57
20:45 0 0 0 1 14 19 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 43

1 0 0 12 78 109 27 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 232
21:00 0 0 0 3 10 23 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 41
21:15 0 0 1 2 10 19 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37
21:30 1 0 0 0 8 14 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25
21:45 0 0 0 5 3 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

1 0 1 10 31 61 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118
22:00 0 0 0 0 10 17 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29
22:15 0 0 0 1 15 11 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 30
22:30 0 0 0 2 5 5 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
22:45 1 0 0 4 7 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23

1 0 0 7 37 40 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 96
23:00 0 0 0 3 5 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
23:15 0 0 0 0 3 7 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 12
23:30 0 0 0 0 2 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6
23:45 0 0 0 1 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

0 0 0 4 14 14 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 39
Total 107 0 23 318 1285 1486 344 39 1 0 0 0 0 0 3603

  
Grand

Total
167 11 58 458 1766 2111 546 71 2 1 0 0 0 0 5191

  
15th Percentile : 30 MPH
50th Percentile : 35 MPH
85th Percentile : 39 MPH
95th Percentile : 43 MPH

  
Stats Mean Speed(Average) : 35 MPH

10  MPH Pace Speed : 31-40  MPH
Number in Pace : 3877

C-17
207

Item XI. 5.



Percent in Pace : 74.7%
Number of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 1
Percent of Vehicles > 55  MPH : 0.0%

C-18
208

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

D 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix D 
Capacity Analysis Reports, Existing Conditions 
 

  

209

Item XI. 5.



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd AM Peak Hour

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 23.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 263 112 135 281 159 104
Future Vol, veh/h 263 112 135 281 159 104
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - Yield - Yield - None
Storage Length 170 0 - 200 250 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 70 70 88 88 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 4 7 2 3 1
Mvmt Flow 376 160 153 319 183 120

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 639 153 0 0 153 0
          Stage 1 153 - - - - -
          Stage 2 486 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.24 - - 4.13 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.336 - - 2.227 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 440 888 - - 1421 -
          Stage 1 875 - - - - -
          Stage 2 618 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 383 888 - - 1421 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 383 - - - - -
          Stage 1 875 - - - - -
          Stage 2 538 - - - - -

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 55.3 0 4.8
HCM LOS F

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 383 888 1421 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.981 0.18 0.129 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 74.7 9.9 7.9 -
HCM Lane LOS - - F A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 11.4 0.7 0.4 -

D-1
210

Item XI. 5.



HCM 2010 TWSC Existing Conditions
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd PM Peak Hour

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 12

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 286 227 129 296 157 110
Future Vol, veh/h 286 227 129 296 157 110
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - Yield - Yield - None
Storage Length 170 0 - 200 250 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 90 90 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 1 1 3 3 8
Mvmt Flow 304 241 143 329 178 125
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 624 143 0 0 143 0
          Stage 1 143 - - - - -
          Stage 2 481 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.21 - - 4.13 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.309 - - 2.227 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 449 907 - - 1434 -
          Stage 1 884 - - - - -
          Stage 2 622 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 393 907 - - 1434 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 393 - - - - -
          Stage 1 884 - - - - -
          Stage 2 545 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 26.5 0 4.6
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 393 907 1434 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.774 0.266 0.124 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 39.3 10.4 7.9 -
HCM Lane LOS - - E B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 6.5 1.1 0.4 -

D-2
211

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

E 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix E 
Capacity Analysis Reports, All-Way Stop Control 

  

212

Item XI. 5.



HCM 2010 AWSC ALL-WAY STOP CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd AM Peak Hour

Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 18
Intersection LOS C

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 263 112 135 281 159 104
Future Vol, veh/h 263 112 135 281 159 104
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.88 0.88 0.87 0.87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 4 7 2 3 1
Mvmt Flow 376 160 153 319 183 120
Number of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 1

Approach WB NB SB
Opposing Approach SB NB
Opposing Lanes 0 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left NB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 0 2
Conflicting Approach Right SB WB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 0
HCM Control Delay 23.3 14.8 13.8
HCM LOS C B B

Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 0% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 0% 100% 0% 0%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 135 281 263 112 159 104
LT Vol 0 0 263 0 159 0
Through Vol 135 0 0 0 0 104
RT Vol 0 281 0 112 0 0
Lane Flow Rate 153 319 376 160 183 120
Geometry Grp 7 7 7 7 7 7
Degree of Util (X) 0.294 0.541 0.75 0.267 0.383 0.232
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.905 6.102 7.187 6.005 7.538 6.99
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 517 588 503 595 475 510
Service Time 4.687 3.884 4.953 3.77 5.327 4.779
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.296 0.543 0.748 0.269 0.385 0.235
HCM Control Delay 12.6 15.9 28.6 11 15 11.9
HCM Lane LOS B C D B B B
HCM 95th-tile Q 1.2 3.2 6.4 1.1 1.8 0.9

E-1
213

Item XI. 5.



HCM 2010 AWSC ALL-WAY STOP CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd PM Peak Hour

Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 15.4
Intersection LOS C

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 286 227 129 296 157 110
Future Vol, veh/h 286 227 129 296 157 110
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.90 0.90 0.88 0.88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 1 1 3 3 8
Mvmt Flow 304 241 143 329 178 125
Number of Lanes 1 1 1 1 1 1

Approach WB NB SB
Opposing Approach      SB NB
Opposing Lanes 0 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left NB      WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 0 2
Conflicting Approach Right SB WB      
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 0
HCM Control Delay 16.9 14.8 13.5
HCM LOS C B B
   

Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 0% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Vol Right, % 0% 100% 0% 100% 0% 0%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 129 296 286 227 157 110
LT Vol 0 0 286 0 157 0
Through Vol 129 0 0 0 0 110
RT Vol 0 296 0 227 0 0
Lane Flow Rate 143 329 304 241 178 125
Geometry Grp 7 7 7 7 7 7
Degree of Util (X) 0.267 0.551 0.606 0.398 0.368 0.243
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.708 6.028 7.169 5.935 7.431 7.006
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 533 595 502 604 482 510
Service Time 4.479 3.798 4.932 3.698 5.21 4.784
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.268 0.553 0.606 0.399 0.369 0.245
HCM Control Delay 11.9 16 20.4 12.6 14.5 12
HCM Lane LOS B C C B B B
HCM 95th-tile Q 1.1 3.3 4 1.9 1.7 0.9

E-2
214

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

F 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix F 
Capacity Analysis Reports, Signal Control 

  

215

Item XI. 5.



Phasings SIGNAL CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd AM Peak Hour

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 263 112 135 281 159 104
Future Volume (vph) 263 112 135 281 159 104
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 1553 1776 1583 1752 1881
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.660
Satd. Flow (perm) 1770 1553 1776 1583 1217 1881
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 160 319
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.70 0.70 0.88 0.88 0.87 0.87
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 4% 7% 2% 3% 1%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 376 160 153 319 183 120
Turn Type Prot Perm NA Perm Perm NA
Protected Phases 8 2 6
Permitted Phases 8 2 6
Total Split (s) 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Act Effct Green (s) 11.9 11.9 11.5 11.5 11.5 11.5
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.36 0.36 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35
v/c Ratio 0.58 0.24 0.25 0.42 0.43 0.18
Control Delay 12.8 3.0 9.6 3.5 12.7 9.0
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 12.8 3.0 9.6 3.5 12.7 9.0
LOS B A A A B A
Approach Delay 9.9 5.4 11.2
Approach LOS A A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 43 0 17 0 22 13
Queue Length 95th (ft) 87 12 52 33 67 41
Internal Link Dist (ft) 598 673 610
Turn Bay Length (ft) 170 200 250
Base Capacity (vph) 1011 955 1014 1040 695 1074
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.37 0.17 0.15 0.31 0.26 0.11

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 45
Actuated Cycle Length: 32.7
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.58
Intersection Signal Delay: 8.6 Intersection LOS: A
Intersection Capacity Utilization 41.7% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

F-1
216

Item XI. 5.



Phasings SIGNAL CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd AM Peak Hour

Splits and Phases:     3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd

F-2
217

Item XI. 5.



Phasings ALL-WAY STOP CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd PM Peak Hour

Lane Group WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 286 227 129 296 157 110
Future Volume (vph) 286 227 129 296 157 110
Satd. Flow (prot) 1770 1599 1881 1568 1752 1759
Flt Permitted 0.950 0.666
Satd. Flow (perm) 1770 1599 1881 1568 1229 1759
Satd. Flow (RTOR) 241 329
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.90 0.90 0.88 0.88
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 2% 1% 1% 3% 3% 8%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 304 241 143 329 178 125
Turn Type Prot Perm NA Perm Perm NA
Protected Phases 8 2 6
Permitted Phases 8 2 6
Total Split (s) 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5 22.5
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Act Effct Green (s) 10.7 10.7 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.34 0.34 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35
v/c Ratio 0.50 0.34 0.21 0.43 0.41 0.20
Control Delay 11.4 3.1 8.9 3.4 11.9 8.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 11.4 3.1 8.9 3.4 11.9 8.8
LOS B A A A B A
Approach Delay 7.7 5.1 10.6
Approach LOS A A B
Queue Length 50th (ft) 32 0 14 0 19 12
Queue Length 95th (ft) 96 28 49 35 65 43
Internal Link Dist (ft) 598 673 610
Turn Bay Length (ft) 170 200 250
Base Capacity (vph) 1062 1055 1128 1072 737 1055
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.29 0.23 0.13 0.31 0.24 0.12

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 45
Actuated Cycle Length: 31.1
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.50
Intersection Signal Delay: 7.4 Intersection LOS: A
Intersection Capacity Utilization 42.6% ICU Level of Service A
Analysis Period (min) 15

F-3
218

Item XI. 5.



Phasings ALL-WAY STOP CONTROL
3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd PM Peak Hour

Splits and Phases:     3: Blue Jay Rd & McCall Rd

F-4
219

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix G 
Accident Reports 
 

  

220

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-0063

0002/01/202202/01/202202/01/2022

MCCALL RD BLUE JAY RD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
08:33 AM

TimeDate
08:35 AM 08:39 AM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.2772866534203 Longitude   (X) -81.2671136856079
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 411Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 3

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

ROOT INSURANCE

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

HUMPHRIES MICHAEL A

107 MOREKIS DR

1

SAVANNAH GA 31406 01/26/1994

058904105 GA

TGQMZJ

TOYOTA SCION TC

8087584254

JTKDE167780223492 BLUE

GARWB4681 2022EFFINGHAM

NUNEZ NARANJO MARIA GUADALUPE

11910 WHITE BLUFF RD APT N6

SAVANNAH GA 31419-153

SPRINGFIELD WRECKER

2 2

7

2008

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Citation #     414500420 O.C.G.A.     40-6-71

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Citation #     414500421 O.C.G.A.     40-6-15

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 411Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 4

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 10Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

PROGRESSIVE

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

EDENFIELD TAYLOR ANN

137 SALT CREEK RD

2

GARDEN CITY GA 31405 06/06/2003

061125088 GA

25140573

NISSAN VERSA

9124382689

3N1BC1AP2AL383514 RED

GATAU4037 2022CHATHAM

EDENFIELD TAYLOR ANN

137 SALT CREEK RD

GARDEN CITY GA 31405

SMITHY'S WRECKER SERVICE

2 2

7

2010

D

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 2

G-1
221

Item XI. 5.



G-2
222

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-1786

0002/11/202202/11/202202/11/2022

BLUE JAY RD MCCALL RD

4

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
04:25 PM

TimeDate
04:25 PM 04:25 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.277665 Longitude   (X) -81.266885
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 4

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 11

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

GEICO

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

HUNTER JACQUELYN C

132 DAVIS ST

1

GUYTON GA 31312-000 11/17/1953

055958257 GA

9100212173

NISSAN ALTIMA           4S

9127723215

1N4AL3APXJC133122 BLUE

GACMW4588 2022COBB

HUNTER DANIEL DEMETRIUS

3080 GUARDIAN WALK NW

KENNESAW GA 30152-603

RAHNS WRECKER SERVICE

2 2

5

2018

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Citation #     411300550                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-6-72B

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 4

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 21Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 10Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

SMITH ZAYNE EDWARD

114 RUNS CROSSING DR

2

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-434 04/17/2003

060965957 GA

112C925977

FORD F250             TK

9127049889

1FTHX26F5TEB33611 BLUE

GATDY1626 2022EFFINGHAM

SMITH ZAYNE EDWARD

114 RUNS CROSSING DR

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-434

RAHNS WRECKER SERVICE

2 2

7

1996

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 4

G-3
223

Item XI. 5.



Vehicle 1 was traveling south in the left turn lane on Blue Jay Rd at it's intersection with Blue Jay Rd.
Vehicle 2 was traveling north on Blue Jay Rd approaching the intersection with Blue Jay Rd. Vehicles 3
and 4 were traveling south in the left turn lane behind Vehicle 1 on Blue Jay Rd.

Vehicle 1 attempted a left turn and entered the lane of travel for Vehicle 2. The vehicles collided head on.
The impact rotated Vehicle 1 180 degrees counter-clockwise, where it collided with the front of Vehicle 3.
Vehicle 2 went into a counter-clockwise yaw and collided with the drivers door area of Vehicle 4.

Driver of Vehicle 1 was transported to Memorial Hospital. The driver of Vehicle 1 is cited for failure to
yield while turning left.

420 OAKWOOD DR HARDEEVILLE SC 29927

28 HERMITAGE DR RICHMOND HILL GA 31324

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

MEMORIAL HEALTH
Injured Taken To:

Age:
68

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1

EFFINGHAM EMS

31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:1

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

HUNTER, JACQUELYN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

132 DAVIS ST GUYTON GA 31312-000

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 2 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
18

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SMITH, ZAYNE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

114 RUNS CROSSING DR SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-434

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
39

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
3 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

CARTER JR, DESSIE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
24

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
3 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

MAYVILLE, KATHERINE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
FONDREN, JASON EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
02/11/2022
Report Date:

FONDREN, JASON
Checked By:

02/14/2022
Date Checked:

Page 2 of 4

G-4
224

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-1786

0002/11/202202/11/202202/11/2022

BLUE JAY RD MCCALL RD

4

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
04:25 PM

TimeDate
04:25 PM 04:25 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.277665 Longitude   (X) -81.266885
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 4

Damage to Veh: 312Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 2

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 2Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 10Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

CINCINNATI INSURANCE

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

CARTER JR DESSIE DEWITT

420 OAKWOOD DR

3

HARDEEVILLE SC 29927 09/27/1982

102231748 SC

ENP0601631

GMC SIERRA

8436947555

1GT12ZE86FF509646 WHITE

SCGTG818 2022JASPER

CARTER JR DESSIE DEWITT

420 OAKWOOD DR

HARDEEVILLE SC 29927

DRIVER

2 2

7

2015

D

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 4

Damage to Veh: 49Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 11Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 4Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

COUNTRY MUTUAL

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

SNOOKS AMBER CASEY

103 KINGSLEY DR S

4

GUYTON GA 31312-535 12/25/1989

052037730 GA

GA5629117

TOYOTA 4RUNNER SR5 LI   MP

9127045317

JTEZU5JR0H5155292 GRA

GARBU8794 2022

SNOOKS AMBER CASEY

103 KINGSLEY DR S

GUYTON GA 31312-535

SMITH'S WRECKER SERVICES

2 2

7

2017

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 3 of 4

G-5
225

Item XI. 5.



Vehicle 1 was traveling south in the left turn lane on Blue Jay Rd at it's intersection with Blue Jay Rd.
Vehicle 2 was traveling north on Blue Jay Rd approaching the intersection with Blue Jay Rd. Vehicles 3
and 4 were traveling south in the left turn lane behind Vehicle 1 on Blue Jay Rd.

Vehicle 1 attempted a left turn and entered the lane of travel for Vehicle 2. The vehicles collided head on.
The impact rotated Vehicle 1 180 degrees counter-clockwise, where it collided with the front of Vehicle 3.
Vehicle 2 went into a counter-clockwise yaw and collided with the drivers door area of Vehicle 4.

Driver of Vehicle 1 was transported to Memorial Hospital. The driver of Vehicle 1 is cited for failure to
yield while turning left.

420 OAKWOOD DR HARDEEVILLE SC 29927

28 HERMITAGE DR RICHMOND HILL GA 31324

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

MEMORIAL HEALTH
Injured Taken To:

Age:
68

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1

EFFINGHAM EMS

31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:1

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

HUNTER, JACQUELYN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

132 DAVIS ST GUYTON GA 31312-000

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 2 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
18

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SMITH, ZAYNE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

114 RUNS CROSSING DR SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-434

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
39

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
3 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

CARTER JR, DESSIE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
24

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
3 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

MAYVILLE, KATHERINE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
FONDREN, JASON EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
02/11/2022
Report Date:

FONDREN, JASON
Checked By:

02/14/2022
Date Checked:

Page 4 of 4

G-6
226

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-4328

0402/26/202202/26/202202/26/2022

MCCALL RD BLUE JAY RD

4

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
03:38 PM

TimeDate
03:42 PM 03:47 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.2771914084204 Longitude   (X) -81.2694311141968
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 312Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 3

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 11Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

SAFECO INS CO OF

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

WAY OLIVIA MARY

203 MOULTRIE DR

1

RINCON GA 31326-528 05/26/1949

061007751 GA

F3673590

KIA SPORTAGE         MP

9122104244

KNDPN3AC1J7343726 SIL

GARKU3378 2022EFFINGHAM

WAY OLIVIA MARY

203 MOULTRIE DR

RINCON GA 31326-528

SMITH'S WRECKER

2 2

7

2018

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 312Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 2

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 11Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 5Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

PROGRESSIVE MOUNTAIN

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

SIPES JUSTIN TYLER

203 PALM BAY DR

2

RICHMOND HILL GA 31324-605 08/02/1995

058068285 GA

955257025

KIA SPORTAGE         MP

KNDPC3AC6G7845856 WHITE

GATDE1252 2022BRYAN

SIPES JUSTIN TYLER

203 PALM BAY DR

RICHMOND H GA 31324-605

RAHN'S WRECKER

2 2

7

2016

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 5

G-7
227

Item XI. 5.



On Saturday, February 26, 2022, I was dispatched to the above area for an accident. Upon arrival, I spoke to V1,
“RKU3378/GA, driver, Olivia Way, and she stated she was in the southbound turn lane on McCall Rd to turn left
onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 stated she watched the cars going onto Blue Jay at the yield sign and when the last car pulled
up to it, she turned left and collided with V2 “TDE1252/GA”, driver, Justin Sipes, who was traveling northbound on
McCall Rd. V2 then collided with V3, “CDB2611/GA” “TT93Y22/GA”, driver, Justin Stevens, which was sitting at the
yield sign to go north bound on McCall Rd from Blue Jay Rd. V1 was in the center of the intersection and the car
then rolled into V4, “CNV6277/GA”, driver, Brittany Allen, which was sitting in the turn lane on McCall Rd to turn
left onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 occupants went to Memorial for complaints of injuries. V2 driver had shoulder/neck pain
and passenger had abdominal pain and refused EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves
to the hospital. V3 driver complained of back and leg pain and passenger complained of arm pain and refused
EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves to the hospital. V4 occupants had no complaint
of injuries at the time.

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31326

203 PALM BAY DR RICHMOND HILL GA 31324-605

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

MEMORIAL
Injured Taken To:

Age:
72

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1

EMS UNIT 3

31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY, OLIVIA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31326-528

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 2 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
10

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1 34 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY, CARSON

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31312

MEMORIAL EMS UNIT 3

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
8

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1 36 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY , CAROLINE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

MEMORIAL EMS UNIT 3

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
26

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SIPES, JUSTIN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
BROOKS, ZACHARY EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
02/27/2022
Report Date:

HANDSHUMAKER, DANIEL
Checked By:

02/28/2022
Date Checked:

NARRATIVE CONTINUED ON SUPPLEMENT PAGE...

Page 2 of 5

G-8
228

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-4328

0402/26/202202/26/202202/26/2022

MCCALL RD BLUE JAY RD

4

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
03:38 PM

TimeDate
03:42 PM 03:47 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.2771914084204 Longitude   (X) -81.2694311141968
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 39Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 2

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 2Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 4Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM MUTUAL

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

STEVENS JUSTIN LEANDOR

122 ROSE DR

3

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-493 07/16/1981

054497625 GA

STATE FARM MUTUAL

RAM TRUCK 1500 SLT   TK

9125473229

1C6RR6GT3ES377280 WHITE

GACDB2611 2022EFFINGHAM

TT93Y22 GA EFFINGHAM 2022

STEVENS JUSTIN LEANDOR

122 ROSE DR

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-493

2 2

7

2014

A

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 312Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 2

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM MUTUAL

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

ALLEN BRITTANY

254 FISH RD

4

SYLVANIA GA 30467-933 06/27/1992

054689274 GA

112C370944

TOYOTA CAMRY SE         4S

9127040135

4T1B11HK5JU128323 WHITE

GACNV6277 2022SCREVEN

ALLEN BRITTANY

254 FISH RD

SYLVANIA GA 30467-933

2 2

7

2018

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 3 of 5

G-9
229

Item XI. 5.



On Saturday, February 26, 2022, I was dispatched to the above area for an accident. Upon arrival, I spoke to V1,
“RKU3378/GA, driver, Olivia Way, and she stated she was in the southbound turn lane on McCall Rd to turn left
onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 stated she watched the cars going onto Blue Jay at the yield sign and when the last car pulled
up to it, she turned left and collided with V2 “TDE1252/GA”, driver, Justin Sipes, who was traveling northbound on
McCall Rd. V2 then collided with V3, “CDB2611/GA” “TT93Y22/GA”, driver, Justin Stevens, which was sitting at the
yield sign to go north bound on McCall Rd from Blue Jay Rd. V1 was in the center of the intersection and the car
then rolled into V4, “CNV6277/GA”, driver, Brittany Allen, which was sitting in the turn lane on McCall Rd to turn
left onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 occupants went to Memorial for complaints of injuries. V2 driver had shoulder/neck pain
and passenger had abdominal pain and refused EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves
to the hospital. V3 driver complained of back and leg pain and passenger complained of arm pain and refused
EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves to the hospital. V4 occupants had no complaint
of injuries at the time.

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31326

203 PALM BAY DR RICHMOND HILL GA 31324-605

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

MEMORIAL
Injured Taken To:

Age:
72

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1

EMS UNIT 3

31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY, OLIVIA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31326-528

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 2 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
10

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1 34 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY, CARSON

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

203 MOULTRIE DR RINCON GA 31312

MEMORIAL EMS UNIT 3

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
8

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1 36 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WAY , CAROLINE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

MEMORIAL EMS UNIT 3

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
26

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SIPES, JUSTIN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
BROOKS, ZACHARY EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
02/27/2022
Report Date:

HANDSHUMAKER, DANIEL
Checked By:

02/28/2022
Date Checked:

NARRATIVE CONTINUED ON SUPPLEMENT PAGE...

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Page 4 of 5

G-10
230

Item XI. 5.



ADDITIONAL CITATION INFORMATION

ADDITIONAL OCCUPANT INFORMATION

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

ADDITIONAL WITNESS INFORMATION

On Saturday, February 26, 2022, I was dispatched to the above area for an accident. Upon arrival, I spoke to V1,
“RKU3378/GA, driver, Olivia Way, and she stated she was in the southbound turn lane on McCall Rd to turn left
onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 stated she watched the cars going onto Blue Jay at the yield sign and when the last car pulled
up to it, she turned left and collided with V2 “TDE1252/GA”, driver, Justin Sipes, who was traveling northbound on
McCall Rd. V2 then collided with V3, “CDB2611/GA” “TT93Y22/GA”, driver, Justin Stevens, which was sitting at the
yield sign to go north bound on McCall Rd from Blue Jay Rd. V1 was in the center of the intersection and the car
then rolled into V4, “CNV6277/GA”, driver, Brittany Allen, which was sitting in the turn lane on McCall Rd to turn
left onto Blue Jay Rd. V1 occupants went to Memorial for complaints of injuries. V2 driver had shoulder/neck pain
and passenger had abdominal pain and refused EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves
to the hospital. V3 driver complained of back and leg pain and passenger complained of arm pain and refused
EMS at the scene and stated they were going to go by themselves to the hospital. V4 occupants had no complaint
of injuries at the time.

NARRATIVE

2202-4328
Agency Case Number:

02/26/2022
Estimated Crash Date:

BROOKS, ZACHARY
BROOKS,

Unit #:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
2 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:4

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SIPES, HUNTER

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

203 PALM BAY DR

5
Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
40

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
3 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

STEVENS, JUSTIN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

122 ROSE DR

6
Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
16

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
3 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

STEVENS, JADA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

122 ROSE DR

7
Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
27

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
4 32 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

ALLEN, BRITTANY

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

254 FISH RD

8
Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
52

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
4 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

BISHOP, LISA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:
9

Injury:

Page 5 of 5

G-11
231

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002203-0103

0003/01/202203/01/202203/01/2022

MCCALL RD BLUE JAY RD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
10:29 AM

TimeDate
10:31 AM 10:32 AM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.27729 Longitude   (X) -81.26710167
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 11Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 3

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

USAA

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

CAMACHO VEGA CARLOS EDIEL

79 POPLAR ST

1

GUYTON GA 31312 02/15/2003

061497237 GA

023178037 G 07101

HONDA CR-V

SHSRD78916U408372 BEIGE

GATBK9753 2022EFFINGHAM

RODRIGUEZ JOSE LUIS

79 POPLAR ST

GUYTON GA 31312

SPRINGFIELD WRECKER

2 2

7

2006

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Citation #     414500429                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-6-71

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 10Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

PROGRESSIVE

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

CARTER RICKEY BRYANT

275 JABEZ JONES RD

2

GUYTON GA 31312 02/14/2005

061817154 GA

906534846

FORD THUNDERBIRD LX   2S

9126657216

1FALP62W5TH123589 GREY

GATAJ7070 2023EFFINGHAM

CARTER TONY BRYANT

275 JABEZ JONES RD

GUYTON GA 31312

SMITHEY'S WRECKER

2 2

7

1996

D

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 3

G-12
232

Item XI. 5.



Vehicle 1 was executing a left turn to travel from McCall Rd. onto Blue Jay Rd. when it was struck by Vehicle 2
which was traveling east on Blue Jay Road at the intersection where Blue Jay Rd. transitions into McCall Rd.
Vehicle 1 failed to yield to Vehicle 2 causing the crash. After impact, Vehicle 1 traveled North and came to rest
facing South in the North/East Bound travel lane. Vehicle 2 continued through the intersection and came to final
rest in a roadside ditch on the Northeast corner of the intersection. Both Vehicles received disabling damage to
their front ends and had to be towed. Driver 1 complained of leg pain and was transported to received medical
treatment. Driver 2 complained of hand pain and shoulder pain from airbag and seat belt deployments.

Driver 2 stated he was negotiating the curve at the intersection when he observed Vehicle 1 not yielding, he
applied his brakes in an attempt to avoid the collision to no avail. Skid mark evidence at the scene supports this
statement.

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

EFFINGHAM COUNTY
Injured Taken To:

Age:
19

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1

EFFINGHAM EMS

51 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

CAMACHO VEGA, CARLOS

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

79 POPLAR ST GUYTON GA 31312

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
OLSON, COLLIN 418 PLANTATION WAY RINCON GA 31326 9123984854

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
17

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:1

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

CARTER, RICKEY

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

275 JABEZ JONES RD GUYTON GA 31312

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
MCKIE, JAMES D EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
03/01/2022
Report Date:

MUNDY, BRIAN
Checked By:

03/07/2022
Date Checked:

NARRATIVE CONTINUED ON SUPPLEMENT PAGE...

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Page 2 of 3

G-13
233

Item XI. 5.



ADDITIONAL CITATION INFORMATION

ADDITIONAL OCCUPANT INFORMATION

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

ADDITIONAL WITNESS INFORMATION

Vehicle 1 was executing a left turn to travel from McCall Rd. onto Blue Jay Rd. when it was struck by Vehicle 2
which was traveling east on Blue Jay Road at the intersection where Blue Jay Rd. transitions into McCall Rd.
Vehicle 1 failed to yield to Vehicle 2 causing the crash. After impact, Vehicle 1 traveled North and came to rest
facing South in the North/East Bound travel lane. Vehicle 2 continued through the intersection and came to final
rest in a roadside ditch on the Northeast corner of the intersection. Both Vehicles received disabling damage to
their front ends and had to be towed. Driver 1 complained of leg pain and was transported to received medical
treatment. Driver 2 complained of hand pain and shoulder pain from airbag and seat belt deployments.

Driver 2 stated he was negotiating the curve at the intersection when he observed Vehicle 1 not yielding, he
applied his brakes in an attempt to avoid the collision to no avail. Skid mark evidence at the scene supports this
statement.

Witness 1 was traveling directly behind Vehicle 1 and stated that Vehicle 1 entered the turn lane abruptly and
immediately turned left, directly into the path of Vehicle 2.

Driver 1 was cited for failure to yield while turning left.

NARRATIVE

2203-0103
Agency Case Number:

03/01/2022
Estimated Crash Date:

MCKIE, JAMES D
MCKIE, JAMES D

Unit #:

Citation #     414500429                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-6-71

Page 3 of 3

G-14
234

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002203-0211

SPRINGFIELD0003/02/202203/02/202203/02/2022

BLUEJAY RD MCCALL RD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
06:55 AM

TimeDate
06:57 AM 07:04 AM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.28459333 Longitude   (X) -81.23327667
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 45Number of Lanes: 2

Damage to Veh: 311Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

PROGRESSIVE

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

BROWN RONNIE KEN

123 OAKWOOD CT

1

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-461 09/12/2005

070162816 GA

925143328

DODGE CHARGER          4S

9128001494

2C3CDXBG5FH771261 GRA

GACLQ4254 2022EFFINGHAM

GRIFFIN KENDRIA SAMONE

192 QUAIL RUN CIR

SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-610

SMITHS TOWING

2 2

7

2015

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 45Number of Lanes: 2

Damage to Veh: 49Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 5Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

PHILPOT CARTER

131 JOYCE CV

2

GUYTON GA 31312-614 08/24/2005

062018763 GA

 1128471383

HONDA ACCORD U.S. EX   4S

4046973958

1HGCM56857A126386 BLU

GARCJ3565 2022EFFINGHAM

NORTON PHILPOT JUSTIN DANIEL

131 JOYCE CV

GUYTON GA 31312-614

SPRINGFIELD TOWING

2 2

7

2007

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 2

G-15
235

Item XI. 5.



Driver #1 was attempting to make a left turn onto Bluejay Rd when it failed to yield to Driver #2 while turning left.

Driver #2 was traveling north when he stated driver #1 turned in front of him, causing the crash.

Neither driver was complaint of any injuries.

Based on the physical evidence and both statements, I determined Driver#1 to be at fault for failure to yield while
turning left.

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

Injured Taken To:

Age:
16

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

BROWN, RONNIE

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

123 OAKWOOD CT SPRINGFIELD GA 31329-461

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
16

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

PHILPOT, CARTER

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

131 JOYCE CV GUYTON GA 31312-614

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
LANG, ADAM MICHAEL EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
03/02/2022
Report Date:

HANDSHUMAKER, DANIEL
Checked By:

03/08/2022
Date Checked:

Page 2 of 2

G-16
236

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002203-0652

0003/04/202203/04/202203/04/2022

MCCALL RD BLUE JAY RD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
03:40 PM

TimeDate
03:41 PM 03:47 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.27725333 Longitude   (X) -81.26706833
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 311Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 10Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 3

Roadway Contributing Factors: 4Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

UTICA NATIONAL

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

GREEN ETHAN DANIEL

2 VERSAILLES CT

1

SAVANNAH GA 31419 01/14/2000

059411574 GA

5495557

FORD TRANSIT T-250

9122336764

1FTNR1CM2FKA14270 WHITE

GAPWU5994 2022CHATHAM

INCORPORATED SRB

4131 OGEECHEE RD STE 131

SAVANNAH GA 31405

DRIVER

2 2

7

2015

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Citation #     414500441                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-6-71

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 5Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 411Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 2Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 10Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

USAA

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

MALLORY BRIAN M

916 NEASE RD

2

GUYTON GA 31312 07/05/1968

054530400 GA

00495 98 07C 71051

DODGE RAM TRUCK 2500

9126639405

3D7KS29A47G795365 WHITE

CTPXK8623 2022EFFINGHAM

MALLORY BRIAN M

916 NEASE RD

GUYTON GA 31312

SMITHEY'S WRECKER SERVICE

2 2

7

2007

CM

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 2

G-17
237

Item XI. 5.



Vehicle 1 was executing a left turn to travel from McCall Rd. onto Blue Jay Rd. when it was struck by Vehicle 2
which was traveling east on Blue Jay Road at the intersection where Blue Jay Rd. transitions into McCall Rd.
Vehicle 1 failed to yield to Vehicle 2 causing the crash. Vehicle 1 came to rest in the intersection while Vehicle 2
gyrated and came to rest in the south bound travel lane. Vehicle 1 received damage to the front end and was able
to be driven away after dislocated plastic was removed from the bumper/under carriage areas. Vehicle 2 received
disabling damage to the driver side front wheel and had to be towed.

Driver 1 reported no injuries. Driver 2 complained of neck, back, and leg pain and was transported for treatment.

Driver 1 was cited for failure to yield while turning left.

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

Injured Taken To:

Age:
22

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

GREEN, ETHAN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

2 VERSAILLES CT SAVANNAH GA 31419

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
53

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
2 31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

MALLORY, BRIAN

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

916 NEASE RD GUYTON GA 31312

EFFINGHAM COUNTY EFFINGHAM EMS

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
MCKIE, JAMES D EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
03/04/2022
Report Date:

MUNDY, BRIAN
Checked By:

03/07/2022
Date Checked:

Page 2 of 2

G-18
238

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-2635

0002/16/202202/16/202202/16/2022

MCCALL ROAD NORTH BLUE JAY ROAD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
03:57 PM

TimeDate
03:58 PM 04:04 PM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.27732667 Longitude   (X) -81.267075
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 1Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4 13 17

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

MENDOTA INS CO

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

HARDING LARISA SHAYLYNN

42 LEISURE DR

1

GARDEN CIT GA 31408-272 12/01/1998

061647248 GA

GA0012197M

NISSAN ALTIMA           4S

5806471319

1N4BL3AP0HC175877 UNK

GAP305832 2022CHATHAM

ALVAREZ HADI NICOLE

42 LEISURE DR

SAVANNAH GA 31408-272

RAHN'S

2 2

7

2017

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Citation #     415500569                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-5-20

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Citation #     415500570                                                  O.C.G.A.     40-6-71

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 1Posted Speed: 55Number of Lanes: 3

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 5Direction of Travel: 1

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

VANCE BETH AMBER

102 FLETCHER LN

2

CLYO GA 31303-290 02/28/1967

051352223 GA

1122368552

TOYOTA COROLLA L LE X   4S

9126570660

2T1BURHE0JC000668 RED

GACHR3665 2023EFFINGHAM

VANCE BETH AMBER

102 FLETCHER LN

CLYO GA 31303-290

SMITHEY'S

2 2

7

2018

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 2

G-19
239

Item XI. 5.



Vehicle 1 was in the left turn lane of McCall Road southbound to Blue Jay Road and turned in front of
Vehicle 2, Northbound on McCall Road. Both vehicles struck in the intersection and came to an
uncontrolled rest there.

Driver 1 told me she did not know what happened, the last thing she remembered was sitting in the turn
lane. A check of her name and date of birth through GCIC showed she was denied a driver's license in
Georgia. Driver 2 stated was just driving when the silver car turned in front of her and she did not have
time to react.

Both driver's were transported to Effingham Hospital. Driver 1 left AMA immediately upon arrival. Driver 2
had injuries to her left wrist and chest as well as a seat belt abrasion to her left shoulder.

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

EFFINGHAM HOSPITAL
Injured Taken To:

Age:
23

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1

EMS UNIT 3

31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:1

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

HARDING, LARISA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

42 LEISURE DR GARDEN CIT GA 31408-272

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
54

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
2 31 1

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:5

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

3

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

VANCE, BETH

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

102 FLETCHER LN CLYO GA 31303-290

EFFINGHAM HOSPITAL EMS UNIT 3

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
GROVENSTEIN, CALEB EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
02/16/2022
Report Date:

GROVENSTEIN, CALEB
Checked By:

02/19/2022
Date Checked:

Page 2 of 2

G-20
240

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002202-3938

0002/24/202202/24/202202/24/2022

BLUE JAY MCCALL ROAD

1

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
11:20 AM

TimeDate
11:20 AM 11:30 AM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.14321167 Longitude   (X) -81.37803667
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 1Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 45Number of Lanes: 2

Damage to Veh: 25Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 11Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

STATE FARM

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

SMITH MARTHA WILLIS

216 TIMBERGATE LN

1

RINCON GA 31326-383 02/09/1941

000049591772 GA

1145430664

HONDA CR-V             SW

9127546164

JHLRE38317C005891 WHI

GAPTW5637 2023EFFINGHAM

SMITH MARTHA WILLIS

216 TIMBERGATE LN

RINCON GA 31326-383

2 2

7

2007

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 2

G-21
241

Item XI. 5.



Driver of the Honda CRV stated she was making a left hand turn on to Blue Jay Road from McCall Road North
when a silver Chevy truck struck the back right end of her vehicle. She advised she pulled to the shoulder while
the Chevy truck came to a stop then turned around and left the scene. Driver did not have any complaints of
injuries and denied EMS on scene.

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

Injured Taken To:

Age:
81

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

SMITH, MARTHA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

216 TIMBERGATE LN RINCON GA 31326-383

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
HANTON, BRITTANY EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
03/01/2022
Report Date:

SHEAROUSE, BRYAN
Checked By:

03/02/2022
Date Checked:

Page 2 of 2

G-22
242

Item XI. 5.



00.00000

South

Agency Case Number

Estimated Crash

 Corrected Report

 Agency NCIC Number GEORGIA  County   Date Rec. by DOT

Dispatch Arrival  Inside City Of
Vehicles Injuries Fatalities

Total Number of

 Sup To Original

 Hit and Run

Road of
Occurence

Not At Its
Intersection But

Miles
Of

At Its
Intersection With

EFFINGHAMGA05100002203-0597

0003/04/202203/04/202203/04/2022

MCCALL ROAD BLUE JAY ROAD

2

MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Date
07:25 AM

TimeDate
07:27 AM 07:32 AM

TimeDate

North East

Feet West

Latitude  (Y) 32.27763667 Longitude   (X) -81.266995
(Format) (Format) -00.00000

Time

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 45Number of Lanes: 2

Damage to Veh: 41Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 2

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 2Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 1Direction of Travel: 2

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 4 13 1 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

OWNERS

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

WATERS CLAY BRANDON

1281 LOW GROUND RD

1

GUYTON GA 31312-513 04/03/1985

000054540314 GA

482956400

FORD F150             TK

9124296044

1FTPW12596KB84606 GRA

GARYC5866 2022EFFINGHAM

WATERS CLAY BRANDON

1281 LOW GROUND RD

GUYTON GA 31312-513

SMITH'S

2 2

7

2006

C

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City

US

State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Vehicle Config.

City ZipState

Road Character: 4Road Comp: 2Traffic-Way Flow: 1

Work Zone: 0Posted Speed: 45Number of Lanes: 2

Damage to Veh: 412Area of Initial Contact:Number of Occupants: 1

Vision Obscured: 1Vehicle Type: 1Vehicle Class: 1

Non-Motor Maneuver:Vehicle Maneuver: 5Direction of Travel: 4

Roadway Contributing Factors: 1Vehicle Contributing Factors: 1

Operator Contributing Factors: 1 1 1 1

11 Operator/Ped Cond: 111First Harmful Event:

COUNTRY

Ped

Bike
Address

Unit #

Device Inoperative

Results:Type:Drug Test:Results:Alcohol Test:

City

Address

Same as Driver

Trailer Tag #

Tag #

VIN

Year

Insurance Co.

Driver's License No.

LAST NAME

Susp At Fault

Traffic Control:

BELL JESSICA WING

180 JOSHUA CIR

2

ELLABELL GA 31308-730 05/15/1978

000042055112

JA5350239

KIA SPORTAGE         MP

9125074910

KNDP63AC6L7822711 SIL

GACNG8663 2022BRYAN

BELL JESSICA WING

180 JOSHUA CIR

ELLABELL GA 31308-730

RAHN'S

2 2

7

2020

     Ran Off Road       Down Hill Runaway       Cargo Loss or Shift       Separation of Units

Released?

Vehicle Placarded?

C.D.L. Suspended?

Hazardous Materials?

C.D.L.?

Address

U.S.D.O.T.#

InterstateCargo Body Type Fed. Reportable

G.V.W.R.No. of Axles

Carrier Name

Yes

If YES,      Name of 4 Digit Number from Diamond or Box:

One Digit Number from Bottom of Diamond:

Driver FIRST NAME MIDDLE NAME

City State Zip DOB

Class State Country

Policy No. Telephone No.

Make Model

Vehicle Color

State County Year

YearCountyState

Owner Last Name First Middle

State Zip

Removed By: Request

List

Type:

Most Harmful Event:

Yes No

COMMERCIAL MOTOR VEHICLES ONLY

Intrastate No

Yes No NoYes

Yes No NoYes

Yes No

Citation Information:

Page 1 of 3

G-23
243

Item XI. 5.



On March 4, 2022 I responded to the intersection of Blue Jay Road and McCall Road for a two vehicle collision.
Upon arrival I spoke with driver 2, who complained of some wrist pain but declined medical attention. Driver two
stated she was traveling east on Blue Jay Road and was continuing through the curve to travel north on to McCall
Road and when vehicle one pulled out in front of her.

I then spoke with driver one who stated he was traveling south on McCall Road and was in the left turn lane to
turn on to Blue Jay Road. Driver two stated he was watching the traffic on Blue Jay Road in the turn lane and did
not see driver two was not turing and continued to travel north to travel on to McCall Road. Driver two stated he
pulled out in front of driver two and caused the collision. Driver one stated his daughter was also in the vehilce
and had no injuries. Driver one stated his wife had alrteady picked up his daughter. Driver one complained of no
injuries and declined medical attention. Both parties were given exchange of information sheets with their
respective contact and insurance information. Smith's towing arrived on scene to take possession of vehicle one

180 JOSHUA CIR ELLABELL GA 31308-730

Officer Note: If collision resulted in a fatality, please send prompt notification to the GDOT Crash
Reporting Unit via either email at GeorgiaFARS@dot.ga.gov or Fax at (404) 635-2963.

Injured Taken To:

Age:
36

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
M

Unit #:
1 31 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WATERS, CLAY

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

1281 LOW GROUND RD GUYTON GA 31312-513

4

1

COLLISION FIELDS

NARRATIVE

Manner of Collision: 1 7Location at Area of Impact: 1Weather: 1Surface Condition: 1Light Condition:

DIAGRAM

PROPERTY DAMAGE INFORMATION

WITNESS INFORMATION

OCCUPANT INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATIVE

Damage Other Than Vehicle: Owner:

Name (Last, First) Address City State Zip Code Telephone Number
,

,

,

2

3

Injury:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
5

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
1 44 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:2

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

0

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

WATERS, SUTTON

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

1281 LOW GROUND RD GUTON GA 31312

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:
43

Name (Last, First):

Sex:
F

Unit #:
2 33 2

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

1
Taken for
Treatment:1

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

4

Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

BELL, JESSICA

Position: Air Bag:
2

Ejected:

Injury:

Injured Taken To:

Age:

Name (Last, First):

Sex: Unit #:

EMS Notified Time (Fatality Only):

Taken for
Treatment:

Extricated:

Address

By:

Safety Eq:

EMS Arrival Time (Fatality Only): Hospital Arrival Time (Fatality Only):

,

Position: Air Bag:Ejected:

Photos Taken: Yes
No

By:

Report By:
WITHEM, KRISTOPHER EFFINGHAM COUNTY

Agency:
03/04/2022
Report Date:

GARLAND, JASON
Checked By:

03/06/2022
Date Checked:

NARRATIVE CONTINUED ON SUPPLEMENT PAGE...

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

Page 2 of 3

G-24
244

Item XI. 5.



ADDITIONAL CITATION INFORMATION

ADDITIONAL OCCUPANT INFORMATION

GEORGIA MOTOR VEHICLE CRASH REPORT

ADDITIONAL WITNESS INFORMATION

On March 4, 2022 I responded to the intersection of Blue Jay Road and McCall Road for a two vehicle collision.
Upon arrival I spoke with driver 2, who complained of some wrist pain but declined medical attention. Driver two
stated she was traveling east on Blue Jay Road and was continuing through the curve to travel north on to McCall
Road and when vehicle one pulled out in front of her.

I then spoke with driver one who stated he was traveling south on McCall Road and was in the left turn lane to
turn on to Blue Jay Road. Driver two stated he was watching the traffic on Blue Jay Road in the turn lane and did
not see driver two was not turing and continued to travel north to travel on to McCall Road. Driver two stated he
pulled out in front of driver two and caused the collision. Driver one stated his daughter was also in the vehilce
and had no injuries. Driver one stated his wife had alrteady picked up his daughter. Driver one complained of no
injuries and declined medical attention. Both parties were given exchange of information sheets with their
respective contact and insurance information. Smith's towing arrived on scene to take possession of vehicle one
and Rahn's towing arrived on scene to take possesion of vehicle two.

NARRATIVE

2203-0597
Agency Case Number:

03/04/2022
Estimated Crash Date:

WITHEM, KRISTOPHER
WITHEM,

Unit #:

Page 3 of 3

G-25
245

Item XI. 5.



 

BLUE JAY RD AND McCALL RD 
 

H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix H 
Signal Warrant Analysis Report 
 

 

246

Item XI. 5.



Project Name
Project/File #
Scenario

Yes
North/South or East/West No

No
No

% of Right Turn Traffic to Include No
No

% of Right Turn Traffic to Include Yes

Speed Limit 45 mph or greater
# of Approach Lanes

# of Approach Lanes

100%

1

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis     

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd
22‐11

Existing Volumes

Major Street Name Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd
Intersection Information What Additional Warrants to Consider?

Warrant 3, Peak Hour (A ‐ Vol. and Delay)

Warrant 9, Intersection Near a

    Grade Crossing
No

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume
Warrant 5, School Crossing
Warrant 6, Coordinated Signal System
Warrant 7, Crash Experience
Warrant 8, Roadway Network

Isolated Community < 10,000 pop

N/S

Blue Jay Rd WB

All‐Way Stop Warrant100%

Minor Street Name

Yes

2 or more

H-1
247

Item XI. 5.



 

Time Left Turns Through Right Turns Peds/Bikes Time Left Turns Through Right Turns Peds/Bikes

12 ‐ 1 AM 12 ‐ 1 AM
1 ‐ 2 AM 1 ‐ 2 AM
2 ‐ 3 AM 2 ‐ 3 AM
3 ‐ 4 AM 3 ‐ 4 AM
4 ‐ 5 AM 4 ‐ 5 AM
5 ‐ 6 AM 5 ‐ 6 AM
6 ‐ 7 AM 6 ‐ 7 AM
7 ‐ 8 AM 135 281 7 ‐ 8 AM 159 104
8 ‐ 9 AM 81 241 8 ‐ 9 AM 173 82
9 ‐ 10 AM 74 198 9 ‐ 10 AM 136 61
10 ‐ 11 AM 77 169 10 ‐ 11 AM 142 62
11 ‐ 12 PM 57 161 11 ‐ 12 PM 124 62
12 ‐ 1 PM 65 193 12 ‐ 1 PM 152 50
1 ‐ 2 PM 62 160 1 ‐ 2 PM 104 54
2 ‐ 3 PM 75 174 2 ‐ 3 PM 119 68
3 ‐ 4 PM 97 202 3 ‐ 4 PM 133 83
4 ‐ 5 PM 129 296 4 ‐ 5 PM 157 110
5 ‐ 6 PM 5 ‐ 6 PM
6 ‐ 7 PM 6 ‐ 7 PM
7 ‐ 8 PM 7 ‐ 8 PM
8 ‐ 9 PM 8 ‐ 9 PM
9 ‐ 10 PM 9 ‐ 10 PM
10 ‐ 11 PM 10 ‐ 11 PM
11 ‐ 12 AM 11 ‐ 12 AM

2,927 0 2,135 0

Time Left Turns Through Right Turns Peds/Bikes Time Left Turns Through Right Turns Peds/Bikes

12 ‐ 1 AM 12 ‐ 1 AM
1 ‐ 2 AM 1 ‐ 2 AM
2 ‐ 3 AM 2 ‐ 3 AM
3 ‐ 4 AM 3 ‐ 4 AM
4 ‐ 5 AM 4 ‐ 5 AM
5 ‐ 6 AM 5 ‐ 6 AM
6 ‐ 7 AM 6 ‐ 7 AM
7 ‐ 8 AM 7 ‐ 8 AM 263 112
8 ‐ 9 AM 8 ‐ 9 AM 138 70
9 ‐ 10 AM 9 ‐ 10 AM 130 82
10 ‐ 11 AM 10 ‐ 11 AM 150 107
11 ‐ 12 PM 11 ‐ 12 PM 158 106
12 ‐ 1 PM 12 ‐ 1 PM 187 111
1 ‐ 2 PM 1 ‐ 2 PM 233 141
2 ‐ 3 PM 2 ‐ 3 PM 261 166
3 ‐ 4 PM 3 ‐ 4 PM 246 171
4 ‐ 5 PM 4 ‐ 5 PM 286 227
5 ‐ 6 PM 5 ‐ 6 PM
6 ‐ 7 PM 6 ‐ 7 PM
7 ‐ 8 PM 7 ‐ 8 PM
8 ‐ 9 PM 8 ‐ 9 PM
9 ‐ 10 PM 9 ‐ 10 PM
10 ‐ 11 PM 10 ‐ 11 PM
11 ‐ 12 AM 11 ‐ 12 AM

0 0 3,345 0

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Northbound Volume by Hour

Total Vehicles (unadjusted)

Southbound Volume by Hour

Total Vehicles (unadjusted)

Eastbound Volume by Hour Westbound Volume by Hour

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Total Vehicles (unadjusted) Total Vehicles (unadjusted)

Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd (Major Street) Volume

Blue Jay Rd WB (Minor Street) Volume

H-2
248

Item XI. 5.



T‐intersection or 4‐legged? T One‐way or Two‐way Street? Two‐Way Tracks cross which Blue Jay Rd WB  Southbound
Peak Hour Reviewed? 7‐8 AM

Combined Approach Volume 679

High Volume Side Volume 375
High Volume Side Average Delay (Sec.) 55.3
High Volume Side # of Approach Lanes 2 or more
Low Volume Side Volume (leave blank if T)

Number of approach lanes at the crossing? 2 or more
Rail traffic per day? 3‐5
Percentage of high‐occupancy buses?** 0%
Percentage of Tractor‐Trailer Trucks? 7.6%‐12.5%

Common intersection of two major routes?* Yes

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Additional Inputs for Warrants 3 to 9 and the Multi‐Way Stop Warrants

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

* Alternatives to consider or try should include:

     ‐ Providing additional pavement that would enable

        vehicles to clear the track or provide space for an

        evasive maneuver.

     ‐ Reassigning the stop controls at the intersection to

        make the approach across the track non‐stopping.

Warrant 7: Crash Experience

Warrant 9: Intersection Near a Grade CrossingWarrant 6: Coordinated Signal System

Adjacent traffic control signals do not 

provide the necessary degree of platooning, 

but will collectively provide a progressive 

operation with the proposed traffic control 

signal?

No

* Include supporting documentation of no progressive

      movement impact.

** May need to include supporting documentation of

      inadequate gaps in traffic.

Consideration given to other remedial 

measures (warning signs/flashers, school 

speed zones, school crossing guards, or a 

grade‐separated crossing)?

Yes

300 feet or more to nearest traffic control 

signal or STOP sign controlling the street 

that pedestrians desire to cross?
If no, will a traffic control signal restrict the 

progressive movement of traffic?*
Minimum of 20 schoolchildren crossing 

during the highest crossing hour?
* Major Route defined as:

     ‐ Part of the street or highway system that serves as the

       principal roadway network for through traffic flow.

     ‐ Rural or suburban highways outside, entering, or

       traversing a city.

     ‐ Appears as a major route on an official plan, such as a

       major street plan in an urban area traffic and

       transportation study.

Number of reportable crashes (types 

susceptible to correction by a traffic control 

signal ) within a 12‐month period?*
Adequate trial of alternatives with 

satisfactory observance and enforcement 

failed to reduce crash frequency?**

* May need to include supporting documentation of

      crash details.

** May need to include supporting documentation of

      alternative trail(s) and results.

4 or less

Yes

Include Right Turn Reduction for Vehicular 

Volume?
Yes

Warrant 8: Roadway Network

Projected entering volume of at least 1,000 

vehicles per hour during the peak hour of a 

typical weekday?
5‐Year projected traffic volumes meet one or 

more of Warrants 1, 2, and 3 during an 

average weekday?
Total existing or immediately projected 

entering volume of at least 1,000 vehicles 

per hour for each of any 5 hours of a non‐

normal business day (Saturday or Sunday)?

Yes

Yes

No

Engineering Study completed showing the 

number of adequate gaps in the traffic 

stream during the period when 

schoolchildren are using the crossing is less 

than the number of minutes in the same 

period?**

Yes

N/A

Yes

No

Warrant 5: School Crossing
Schoolchildren (elementary through high 

school) crossing the major street (Blue Jay 
Yes

* Include supporting documentation of no progressive

      movement impact.

** Not common. Include supporting documentation of low

      crossing speed.

300 feet or more to nearest traffic control 

signal or STOP sign controlling the street 

that pedestrians desire to cross?
If no, will a traffic control signal restrict the 

progressive movement of traffic?*

Yes

N/A

15th‐percentile crossing speed of 

pedestrians less than 3.5 feet per second?** No

If yes, then percent reduction to apply to 

crossing volume? (up to 50%)
N/A

Warrant 3: Peak Hour Delay Additional Information

Warrant 4: Pedestrian Volume Additional Information

* Crashes include right‐turn and left‐turn collisions as

      well as right‐angle collisions.

Traffic control signal warranted & justified 

with existing traffic?
Yes

4

Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd (Major Street) Data

Blue Jay Rd WB (Minor Street) Data

Multi‐Way Stop Warrant Additional Information

Number of correctable  crashes* in 12‐

month period?

Resultant spacing of traffic control signals 

1,000 feet or more?
Yes

Include Right Turn Reduction for Vehicular 

Volume?
Yes

Peak Hour high volume approach average 

delay (Sec.)
55.3

** High‐occupancy is defined as a bus occupied by at least

      20 people.

Consideration given to other 

alternatives/trial of alternative failed to 

alleviate the safety concerns?*
Yes

Distance between STOP or YIELD controlled 

approach and center of track nearest to the 

intersection within 140 feet?
Yes

Clear storage distance (Distance D) between 

the tracks and the intersection? (See Below)
70 feet

H-3
249

Item XI. 5.



Project Name

Project/File #

Scenario

 Major Street (N/S Road)  Minor Street (E/W Road)
Analyzed with  Analyzed with 
Total Approach Volume Total Approach Volume
Total Ped/Bike Volume Total Ped/Bike Volume
Right turn reduction of  Right turn reduction of 

Reduction applied to Volume Warrant thresholds due to isolated community.

 

 

 

Warrant 2,  Four Hour Vehicular Volume

Required values reached for 8 hours 2 hours 10 (Cond. A) & 4 (Cond. B)

Criteria ‐ Major Street (veh/hr) 420 630 336 (Cond. A) & 504 (Cond. B)
Criteria ‐ Minor Street (veh/hr) 105 53 84 (Cond. A) & 42 (Cond. B)

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Figure 4C‐2 (Warrant 2 ‐ 70% Factor) & Figure 4C‐4 (Warrant 3 ‐ 70% Factor)

Condition A Condition B

See Figure BelowCriteria

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd

22‐11

Existing Volumes

Intersection Information

Condition Satisfied? Satisfied Not Satisfied Not Satisfied

Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd Blue Jay Rd WB
2 or more approach lanes 1 Approach Lane

0 percent applied 0 percent applied

Warrant 1,  Eight Hour Vehicular Volume
Condition A Condition B Condition A+B*

5062 vehicles 3345 vehicles
0 crossings 0 crossings

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Required values reached for 1054 total, 375 minor, 5.8 delay 5 hours
Condition Satisfied? Satisfied Satisfied

Criteria ‐ Total Approach Volume (veh in one hour) 650
See Figure BelowCriteria ‐ Minor Street High Side Volume (veh in one hour) 150

Criteria ‐ Minor Street High Side Delay (veh‐hrs) 5

* Should be applied only after an adequate trial of other alternatives that could cause less delay and inconvenience to

      traffic has failed to solve the traffic problems.

Satisfied

10 hours

Condition Satisfied?

Required values reached for

Warrant 3,  Peak Hour Vehicular Volume

Warrants 1 ‐ 3 (Volume Warrants)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t V
ol

um
e 

(H
ig

h 
A

pp
ro

ac
h 

O
nl

y)

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Warrant 2 Threshold Warrant 3 Threshold Intersection Volumes

H-4
250

Item XI. 5.



Project Name

Project/File #

Scenario

 Major Street (N/S Road)  Minor Street (E/W Road)
Analyzed with  Analyzed with 
Total Approach Volume Total Approach Volume
Total Ped/Bike Volume Total Ped/Bike Volume
Right turn reduction of  Right turn reduction of 

Reduction applied to Pedestrian Warrant thresholds due to high speeds on Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd and isolated community.

 

 

0 percent applied 0 percent applied

Warrant 4,  Pedestrian Volume

Condition Satisfied?
Required values reached for  

Criteria ‐ Min. Distance to Nearest Controlled Crossing
Criteria ‐ Major Street Volume and Crossing Volume

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Condition Satisfied? Not Examined

 

Figure 4C‐6 & Figure 4C‐8 (Warrant 4 Four Hour & Peak Hour ‐ 70% Factor)

5062 vehicles 3345 vehicles
0 crossings

 
 

Warrant 5, School Crossing

Criteria ‐ Coordinated Signal System

Criteria ‐ School Crossing Data

Warrant 6,  Coordinated Signal System

Condition Satisfied? Not Examined

 
 

 

 

Condition A ‐ Four Hour Vol. Condition B ‐ Peak Hour Vol.
Not Examined Not Examined

 

0 crossings

Intersection Information
Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd Blue Jay Rd WB

2 or more approach lanes 1 Approach Lane

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Warrants 4 to 6 (Pedestrian, School, Coordinated Systems)

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd

22‐11

Existing Volumes

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

C
ro

ss
in

g 
V

ol
um

e

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches)

Ped Vol 4-Hour Threshold Ped Vol Peak Hour Threshold Intersection Volumes

H-5
251

Item XI. 5.



Project Name

Project/File #

Scenario

 Major Street (N/S Road)  Minor Street (E/W Road)
Analyzed with  Analyzed with 
Total Approach Volume Total Approach Volume
Total Ped/Bike Volume Total Ped/Bike Volume
Right turn reduction of  Right turn reduction of 

Reduction applied to the Crash and Roadway Network Warrant thresholds due to isolated community.

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Warrants 7‐9 (Crash, Network, Rail Crossing)

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd

22‐11

Existing Volumes

Intersection Information
Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd Blue Jay Rd WB

2 or more approach lanes 1 Approach Lane
5062 vehicles 3345 vehicles
0 crossings 0 crossings

0 percent applied 0 percent applied

Warrant 7,  Crash Experience

Condition Satisfied? Not Examined

Condition Satisfied? Not Examined

Criteria ‐ Alternatives  
 Criteria ‐ Reported Crashes (within 12‐month period)

 (Alternative Volume Requirement) Criteria ‐ Pedestrian Volume

(Alternative Requirement) Criteria ‐ Non‐normal Business Day  

Criteria ‐ Existing or Immediately Projected Entering Volume  
Criteria ‐ Warrants   

Required values reached for
 

Criteria ‐ Common Intersection of Two Major Routes  

 
 

Criteria ‐ Major Street (veh/hr)

 ‐ Minor Street (veh/hr)
 
 

 
Required values reached for

Warrant 8,  Roadway Network

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Warrant 9,  Intersection Near a Grade Crossing

Condition Satisfied?
Required values reached for

Figure 4C‐10 (Two or More Approach Lanes): Distance D = 70 feet

Not Examined
 

Criteria ‐ Max. Distance to Nearest Controlled Crossing  
Criteria ‐ Major Street Volume and Crossing Volume

Criteria ‐ Alternatives

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900M
in

or
 S

tr
ee

t, 
C

ro
ss

in
g 

A
pp

ro
ac

h 
E

qu
iv

al
en

t V
eh

ic
le

s 
pe

r 
H

ou
r

Major Street Volume (Both Approaches) - Vehicles per Hour

Grade Crossing Threshold Intersection Volume

H-6
252

Item XI. 5.



Project Name

Project/File #

Scenario

 Major Street (N/S Road)  Minor Street (E/W Road)
Analyzed with  Analyzed with 
Total Approach Volume Total Approach Volume
Total Ped/Bike Volume Total Ped/Bike Volume
Right turn reduction of  Right turn reduction of 

Reduction applied to Multi‐Way Stop Warrant thresholds due to high speeds on Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd and isolated community.

 

 

5062 vehicles 3345 vehicles
0 crossings 0 crossings

0 percent applied 0 percent applied

Condition A ‐ Traffic Signal Warrant

Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis

Multi‐Way Stop Warrants

Blue Jay Rd and McCall Rd

22‐11

Existing Volumes

Intersection Information
Blue Jay Rd/McCall Rd Blue Jay Rd WB

2 or more approach lanes 1 Approach Lane

Condition Satisfied? Satisfied
Required values reached for 10 hours & 55.3 sec. average delay/veh

Criteria ‐ Major Street (veh/hr) 210 for any 8 hours of an average day

Condition Satisfied? Satisfied
Criteria* Traffic Signal Warranted & Justified

* Multi‐way stop control may be used as an interim measure that can be installed quickly to control traffic while arrangements are

      being made for the installation of the traffic control signal.

Condition B ‐ Crash Experience

Condition Satisfied? Not satisfied

Criteria ‐ Major Street (veh/hr) 240 for any 8 hours of an average day

Criteria ‐ Minor Street (total vol‐veh, ped, & bikes/hr) 140 for the same 8 hours of an average day
Criteria ‐ Delay (average sec/veh) 30 during the highest hour

Condition D ‐ Combination Volume, Crash Experience, & Delay

Condition Satisfied?

Required values reached for 4 correctable crashes

Criteria ‐ Crash Experience 5 or more correctable crashes in 12‐month period

Satisfied

Condition C ‐ Intersection Volume & Delay

Spack Academy is part of the Spack Enterprise family of companies

Criteria ‐ Minor Street (total vol‐veh, ped, & bikes/hr) 160 for the same 8 hours of an average day
Criteria ‐ Crash Experience 4 or more correctable crashes in 12‐month period

Criteria ‐ Delay (average sec/veh) 24 during the highest hour

Required values reached for 10 hours, 4 crashes, & 55.3 sec. average delay/veh

H-7
253

Item XI. 5.



 

 

 

Maldino and Wilburn, LLC
1864 Lower Fayetteville Rd

Newnan, GA 30265

770.362.6184

254

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report 
 

Subject:  Change Order #2 for Contract with 21-25-005 with McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

for TSPLOST/LMIG Road Resurfacing  

Author:  Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  Public Works/Roads 

Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 

Item Description: Approval of Change Order #2 for Contract with 21-25-005 with McLendon 

Enterprises, Inc. for TSPLOST/LMIG Road Resurfacing to delete paving of Labrador Lane Cul-

De-Sac bulb. 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Change Order #2 for Contract 

with 21-25-005 with McLendon Enterprises, Inc. for TSPLOST/LMIG Road Resurfacing in the 

credit amount of $18,025.00. 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 In June 2021, staff posted an ITB for 2020 TSPLOST and 2021 LMIG road resurfacing 

Project for an estimated 25 miles of milling, resurfacing, traffic signs, markings, RPM 

installation, rumble strips and roadway striping at various locations around unincorporated 

Effingham County. McLendon Enterprises was awarded the project in July of 2021. 

 Included in the list of roads for TSPLOST was Labrador Lane Cul-De-Sac.  The purpose 

was to regrade the bulb via asphalt overlay to correct a drainage issue. After further 

review, it was determined that additional engineering and surveying was needed to 

properly address the problem.  This is beyond the scope of a resurfacing contract. 

 McLendon has requested to delete this road from the paving contract. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Change Order #2 for Contract with 21-25-005 with McLendon Enterprises, 

Inc. for TSPLOST/LMIG Road Resurfacing in the credit amount of $18,025.00 

2. Take no action.   

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, Finance, Asst. County Manager, EOM 

Funding Source: 2020 TSPLOST Funds 

Attachments: 

1. Change Order #2 for McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

2. McLendon letter of request for change order.  

3. Agreement for McLendon Enterprise, Inc. 

255

Item XI. 6.



Change Order # 2

 
 

Project: _ITB #21-25-005- 2021 Road Resurfacing Project 

Contract Date: July 29, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: ___3/11/22__________ 

Change Order Issued to: McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract.  

 

Removal of Alternative No. 2 Labrador Lane Cul-de-sac 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNITS BID QTY Unit Price Total 

150-1000 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 

413-1000 BITUMINOUS TACK COAT GL 110 $4.50 $495.00 

432-0206 MILL ASPH CONC PVMT, 1 1/2 IN DEPTH SF 30 $1.00 $30.00 

652-5451 2 IN RECYCLED ASPH. CONC 12.5 mm 

SUPERPAVE, TYPE 1, GP 2 ONLY, INCL 

BITUM MATL & H LIME (220 LB/SY) 

TN 124 $125.00 $15,500.00 

 TOTAL    $18,025.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 4,543,464.44 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 0 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 4,601,891.26 

The Contract Sum will be decreased by this Change Order............................$ 18,025.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 4,583,866.26 

The Contract Time will be increased by _0_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore ________________________________________ 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 

804 S. Laurel Street     2365 Aimwell Road  

Springfield, GA 31329     Vidalia, GA 30474 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

256

Item XI. 6.



 
 
 
March 9, 2022 
 
 
Mr. Eric Larson 
Effingham County 
804 S Laurel Street  
Springfield, Georgia 31329 
 
 
RE: ITB No. 21-25-005– 2021  

Road Resurfacing Project 
Labrador Ln. Removal 

 
Mr. Larson, 
 
We would like to formally request that the work on the cul-de-sac of Labrador Lane be omitted from the contract.  
It was originally set up as Alternate No. 2 on the project.  After meeting with EOM and the County on multiple 
occasions, it was determined that the work on Labrador Lane will require more work and items than originally 
intended in the original contract documents.  These improvements would include, but not be limited to: utility 
relocation, reconstructed driveways, drainage ditches and swales, and final stabilization. 
 
I have attached our survey information that we compiled while trying to figure out what we could do to help here.  
However, due to the tight grades and the location of the work impacting multiple homes in a very small stretch of 
right of way, we suggest that the county consider getting a full design on this area.  This would allow for the 
County and EOM to get a solid plan together to include this work in the next contract you bid. 
 
Please advise if you need anything else.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
Matthew Betsill 
Project Engineer 
912-245-6088 
matt@mclendonenterprises.com 
 
Cc: Sean Scott, McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 
 Adam Lee, McLendon Enterprises, Inc. 
   

257

Item XI. 6.



258

Item XI. 6.



259

Item XI. 6.



260

Item XI. 6.



261

Item XI. 6.



262

Item XI. 6.



263

Item XI. 6.



264

Item XI. 6.



265

Item XI. 6.



266

Item XI. 6.



267

Item XI. 6.



268

Item XI. 6.



269

Item XI. 6.



270

Item XI. 6.



271

Item XI. 6.



272

Item XI. 6.



273

Item XI. 6.



274

Item XI. 6.



275

Item XI. 6.



276

Item XI. 6.



277

Item XI. 6.



278

Item XI. 6.



279

Item XI. 6.



280

Item XI. 6.



281

Item XI. 6.



282

Item XI. 6.



283

Item XI. 6.



284

Item XI. 6.



285

Item XI. 6.



286

Item XI. 6.



287

Item XI. 6.



288

Item XI. 6.



289

Item XI. 6.



290

Item XI. 6.



291

Item XI. 6.



292

Item XI. 6.



293

Item XI. 6.



294

Item XI. 6.



295

Item XI. 6.



296

Item XI. 6.



297

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Reorganization of positions in Recreation and Sports Management Department 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources 
Meeting Date:  April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Reorganization of current personnel, authorized positions and addition 
of needed positions before we head into their busy summer season and tournament 
schedule.  
 
Summary Recommendation 
The following changes are being requested based on a review of the needs of the 
department to better utilize staff and resources. 
 
Executive Summary 
A review of duties and responsibilities within the Recreation and Sports Management 
Department indicates a need for additional Athletic Coordinators and defunding one 
Assistant Director position. The assignment of additional Athletic Coordinators will allow 
the Director and Assistant Director to concentrate on their duties and better serve our 
citizens with quality services provided by our Recreation and Sports Management 
Department.   
 
Background 

 Review of department structure, current workload, continued growth and increases 
in registrations determined the need for reorganization to better utilize personnel 
and resources. 

 
Alternatives 
1.  Recommend approval of reorganization of the Recreation and Sports Management 
Department, defunding one full time Assistant Director position and adding two new, full 
time Athletic Coordinator positions to the department. 
2, Recommend disapproval of the reorganization and provide staff with additional 
direction. 
 
Other Alternatives:  None 
 
Department Review:  County Manager, Human Resources, Director of Finance, Director 
of Recreation and Sports Management 
 
Funding Source:  No impact on funding this budget year as position will be funded from 
the unfunded Assistant Director position. Next year’s budget will be impacted by $45,000 
to $75,000 depending on the insurance benefit selections.  
 
Attachments: Athletic Coordinator Job Description 
     

 

298

Item XI. 7.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

Job Title: Athletic Coordinator Job Code: 0506501 

Reports to: Director of Recreation and 

Sport Management FLSA Status: Exempt 

Department: Recreation  

Class specifications are intended to present a descriptive list of the range of duties 

performed by employees in the class. Specifications are not intended to reflect all 

duties performed within the job. 

Position Overview: 

The purpose of this classification is to plan, coordinate, organize, develop, and schedule 

recreational activities for the citizens of Effingham County. 

 

Principal Duties and Responsibilities (Essential Functions**): 

The following duties are typical for this classification. Incumbents may not perform all 

of the listed duties and/or may be required to perform additional or different duties 

from those set forth below to address business needs and changing business practices. 

Develops teams and master schedules for youth and adult baseball, softball, and 

basketball, and youth football and cheerleading; inputs team in sports scheduler; places 

time, date, and location of each game; generates and proofs master schedules; 

circulates master schedules. 

Develops playoff brackets for all sports; supervises and attends games in all sports; 

organizes and conducts end of season tournaments. 

Observes players, coaches, and officials and meets with coaches/officials to answer 

questions to resolve problems. 

Plans and coordinates all star selections; conducts and presides over all star meetings, 

counts ballots, and performs other related functions. 

Develops rules and regulations for various sports and athletic activities by utilizing 

G.R.P.A. manual and other rule books. 

Develops athletic policies and procedures. 

Assigns, organizes, and coordinates all make up athletic activities. 

299

Item XI. 7.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Job Title: Athletic Coordinator Job Code:  0506501 

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 2 of 5 

 

 

Recruits and motivates volunteers and part-time employees. 

Plans, organizes, coordinates, and directs drafting of all athletic teams for Effingham 

County and all athletic associations in all youth sports. 

Performs work on field for maintenance and markings. 

Attends meetings; plans, organizes, and conducts coaches’ meetings for various 

athletic programs; presents and discusses rules and issues necessary equipment. 

Coordinates practice schedule for athletic fields and gyms. 

Organizes, coordinates, and assists with cheerleading program; coordinates skating 

programs. 

Plans and conducts youth sports camps; plans organizes, and conducts preseason 

tournaments and Jamboree in youth athletics. 

Assists the Director by planning new facilities and recommending improvements for 

present facilities; arranges for the use of school facilities as needed. 

Purchases supplies for concession stands; coordinates concession stand program. 

Coordinates and conducts certification program. 

Develops financial reports for programs; prepares coaches sheets; prepares flyers; 

prepares or completes various forms, reports, correspondence, or other documents. 

Orders trophies and t-shirts. 

Organizes Senior Olympics. 

Receives various forms, reports, correspondence, manuals, reference materials, or other 

documentation; reviews, completes, processes, forwards or retains as appropriate; files 

results of each season. 

Operates a computer to enter, retrieve, review or modify data; verifies accuracy of 

entered data and makes corrections; utilizes word processing, spreadsheet, or other 

software programs. 

300

Item XI. 7.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Job Title: Athletic Coordinator Job Code:  0506501 

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 3 of 5 

 

 

Communicates with supervisor, employees, other departments, the public, and other 

individuals as needed to coordinate work activities, review status of work, exchange 

information, or resolve problems. 

 

ADDITIONAL FUNCTIONS 

Provides assistance to other employees or departments as needed. 

Performs other related duties as required. 

 

MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS 

High school diploma or GED; supplemented by college level course work or 

vocational training in recreation; supplemented by three (3) years previous 

experience and/or training that includes organizing recreational activities; or any 

equivalent combination of education, training, and experience which provides the 

requisite knowledge, skills, and abilities for this job.   

 

PERFORMANCE APTITUDES 

Data Utilization:   

Requires the ability to review, classify, categorize, prioritize, and/or analyze data.  

Includes exercising discretion in determining data classification, and in referencing 

such analysis to established standards for the purpose of recognizing actual or 

probable interactive effects and relationships.   

Human Interaction:   

Requires the ability to apply principles of persuasion and/or influence. 

Equipment, Machinery, Tools, and Materials Utilization:   

Requires the ability to operate, maneuver and/or control the actions of equipment, 

machinery, tools, and/or materials used in performing essential functions. 

301

Item XI. 7.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Job Title: Athletic Coordinator Job Code:  0506501 

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 4 of 5 

 

 

Verbal Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to utilize a wide variety of reference, descriptive, and/or advisory 

data and information. 

Mathematical Aptitude:   

Requires the ability to perform addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division; the 

ability to calculate decimals and percentages; the ability to utilize principles of fractions; 

and the ability to interpret graphs. 

Functional Reasoning:   

Requires the ability to apply principles of rational systems; to interpret instructions 

furnished in written, oral, diagrammatic, or schedule form; and to exercise independent 

judgment to adopt or modify methods and standards to meet variations in assigned 

objectives. 

Situational Reasoning:   

Requires the ability to exercise judgment, decisiveness and creativity in situations 

involving evaluation of information against measurable or verifiable criteria. 

ADA COMPLIANCE 

Physical Ability:    

Tasks require the ability to exert moderate, though not constant physical effort, typically 

involving some combination of climbing and balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, 

and crawling, and which may involve some lifting, carrying, pushing and/or pulling of 

objects and materials of moderate weight (12-20 pounds). 

Sensory Requirements:  

Some tasks require the ability to perceive and discriminate sounds and visual cues or 

signals.  Some tasks require the ability to communicate orally. 

 

 

302

Item XI. 7.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Job Title: Athletic Coordinator Job Code:  0506501 

  

 

Office of Human Resources  Page 5 of 5 

 

Environmental Factors:  

Essential functions are regularly performed without exposure to adverse environmental 

conditions. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

** To comply with regulations by the American with Disabilities Act (ADA), the 
principal duties in job descriptions must be essential to the job. To identify essential 
functions, focus on the purpose and the result of the duties rather than the 
manner in which they are performed. The following definition applies: a job 
function is essential if removal of that function would fundamentally change the 
job. 

 

303

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    CRC Contract Amendment 2022-08.3 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director  

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 4/5/22  

Item Description: Consideration to approve FY 2022 CRC Contract Amendment 
2022-08.3 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting consideration to approve FY 2022 CRC Contract Amendment 2022-
08.3 for the 2022 grant budget. 
 

Executive Summary/Background: 

1. The County has an existing contract with the Coastal Regional Commission (CRC) 
to provide for congregate and home delivered meals for fiscal year 2022. 

2. The attached CRC contract amendment provides additional resources for the 
following: 

 Decrease in HDC5 Home Delivered Meals funding in the amount of $20,000 

 Decrease in Cares Congregate meals funding in the amount of $2,842 

 Decrease in Title III C1 Congregate meals funding in the amount of $10,000 
3. The contract amendment is an overall budget decrease of $32,842.00. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Amended Contract for FY 2022.  
2. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the Amended Contract for FY 2022. 

 

Other Alternatives: N/A  

 

Department Review: Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

General Fund 

 

Attachments: 

CRC Contract Amendment 2022-08.3. 

304

Item XI. 8.



305

Item XI. 8.



306

Item XI. 8.



307

Item XI. 8.



308

Item XI. 8.



309

Item XI. 8.



310

Item XI. 8.



311

Item XI. 8.



312

Item XI. 8.



313

Item XI. 8.



314

Item XI. 8.



315

Item XI. 8.



316

Item XI. 8.



317

Item XI. 8.



318

Item XI. 8.



319

Item XI. 8.



320

Item XI. 8.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    ACCG Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP)  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 4/5/22  

Item Description: Consideration for ECBOC to contract with ACCG Civic Affairs 
Foundation Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP). 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval for ECBOC to contract with ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation 
Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP). The award amount is $2,607.60 
 

Executive Summary: 

The ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation is a nonprofit organization established by ACCG 

in2006. The Foundation operates the Georgia County Internship Program (GCIP) which 

offers grants to counties to recruit and hire college and university students for county 

internships. The goal of the program is to enable counties to hire talented college students 

and recent graduates for specific projects that will, 1) benefit county government and its 

citizens; 2) give students a chance to learn first-hand about the role of county government; 

3) provide practical work experiences students can use in the job market upon graduation; 

4) and inspire young people to consider a career in county government. Effingham County 

Administration was awarded a Roads Condition Assessment Intern.   

 Background: 
1. The grant hourly wage is $12 but the County will pay an additional $3 for the wage to 

be @ $15 per hour. 
2. Interns must be currently enrolled in a college/university or a recent graduate to be 

eligible to participate in the program. 
3. This will require a budget amendment. The County will pay $5,204.64. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to contract with ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation GCIP.  
2. Do not approve to contract with ACCG Civic Affairs Foundation GCIP.   
3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to contract with ACCG Civic Affairs 

Foundation GCIP. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

321

Item XI. 9.



 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

The hourly salary will be reimbursed at the end of the grant period. 

 

Attachments: 

GCIP grant award contract 

  

 

 

 

322

Item XI. 9.



323

Item XI. 9.



324

Item XI. 9.



325

Item XI. 9.



326

Item XI. 9.



327

Item XI. 9.



328

Item XI. 9.



329

Item XI. 9.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:   Governor’s OPB GA Public Safety Officials & First Responders 

Supplement Grant 

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 4/5/22  

Item Description: Consideration for the Board of Commissioners to ratify and affirm 
acceptance of a grant award from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget (OPB) 
for a Georgia Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement Grant. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting consideration for the Board of Commissioners to ratify and affirm 

acceptance of a grant award from the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget (OPB) 

for a Georgia Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement Grant. 

 

Executive Summary: 

Governor Kemp announced a Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement 
Grant using funding from the American Rescue Plan Act. This program was established 
in recognition of the sacrifice and dedication public safety officers and first responders 
have shown in serving Georgians and their communities during the COVID-19 
pandemic. The grant provides a $1,000 pay supplement for all eligible sworn law 
enforcement officials and first responders and a $300 supplement for all active 
volunteer firefighters in Georgia serving during August of 2021.  
 
Eligible employees are workers who served full-time in August of 2021 as a public 
safety official or first responder in a position requiring active certification as a law 
enforcement officer, jail officer, communications officer, firefighter, or emergency 
medical services personnel from the state from either the Georgia Peace Officer 
Standards and Training Council (POST), Georgia Firefighter Standards and Training 
Council (GFSTC), or Department of Public Health (DPH). 
 
Effingham County applied on behalf of eligible county employees and will disburse 

payments to individuals through a special payroll process.  

 
Background: 
1. There is no cost share requirement. 
2. The award amount is $272,248.50. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to ratify and affirm acceptance of a grant award from OPB for a Georgia 
Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement Grant. 

330

Item XI. 10.



2. Do not approve to ratify and affirm acceptance of a grant award from OPB for a 
Georgia Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement Grant. 

3. Provide Staff with Direction 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve to ratify and affirm acceptance of a 

grant award from OPB for a Georgia Public Safety Officials and First Responders 

Supplement Grant. 

 

Other Alternatives: 

N/A  

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

Human Resources 

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

There is no cost share requirement.  

 

Attachments: 

OPB for a Georgia Public Safety Officials and First Responders Supplement Grant 
award information 
 

 

 

 

331

Item XI. 10.



332

Item XI. 10.



333

Item XI. 10.



334

Item XI. 10.



335

Item XI. 10.



336

Item XI. 10.



337

Item XI. 10.



338

Item XI. 10.



339

Item XI. 10.



340

Item XI. 10.



341

Item XI. 10.



342

Item XI. 10.



343

Item XI. 10.



344

Item XI. 10.



345

Item XI. 10.



346

Item XI. 10.



347

Item XI. 10.



348

Item XI. 10.



349

Item XI. 10.



Staff Report 

 

Subject:  2020 Transportation Master Plan – Blue Jay Road Amendment  

Author:  Eric Larson, Asst. County Manager 

Department:  County Engineering 

Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 

Item Description: Approve a change order to the 2020 Transportation Master Plan contract 

to add alternative intersection design to the traffic model and study traffic 

impacts and performance. 

 

Summary Recommendation:  

The 2020 Transportation Master Plan did not originally include studying alternative intersections 

of Blue Jay Road and the Effingham Parkway.  However, with the addition of the curve and 

intersection further east with Blue Jay Road and McCall Road, the performance of that new curve 

and intersection has raised questions in the design of the Blue Jay / Effingham Parkway 

intersection, which is designed very similarly.  This proposed amendment would consider a 

roundabout option and model the impact to the road, its intersections with Blue Jay Road, and 

what improvements would be needed in design to mitigate the effects.   

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Pond Co. was selected to prepare the 2020 Transportation Master Plan in December 

2020.  The original contract was $99,850 

 Previous Change orders = $49,350 

 This change order = $31,500 

 New Contract Amount = $180,700 

 Work will take approximately 5 weeks. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1 - Approve the change order to Pond Co. in the amount of $31,500 to study the Blue Jay Road 

and Effingham Parkway intersection. 

2 – Take no action and request further information 

3 – Deny. No study will be done. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Alternative 1 

 

Other Alternatives: Alternate 2 

 

Department Review: County Engineer; County Attorney 

 

Funding Source: SPLOST. 

 

Attachments:  1.   Pond Proposal. 

350

Item XI. 11.



Change Order # 1

 
 

Project: _Deign – Transportation Master Plan 2020 

Contract Date: April 5, 2022 

Change Order Effective Date: ________________ 

Change Order Issued to: Pond 

    49 Park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 

    Savannah, GA 31405 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT

S 

BID 

QTY 

Unit Price Total 

1 Roundabout concept study of the 

Intersection of Blue Jay Road and 

Effingham Parkway 

LS 1 $31,500 $31,500 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 TOTAL    $31,500 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 99,850.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 49,350.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 149,200.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 31,500.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 1,80,700.00 

The Contract Time will be increased by _35_ days 

The Time allowed for completion is therefore _5 weeks from a Notice to Proceed._____ 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Pond 

804 S. Laurel Street     49 park of Commerce Way, Suite 203 

Springfield, GA 31329     Savannah, GA 31405 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

351

Item XI. 11.



 

 

 

 
March 8, 2022 
 
Eric W. Larson, PE, AICP, CFM, CPSWQ 
Assistant County Manager 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
601 N. Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 
 
Re: Effingham County – Professional Transportation Design Services Fee Proposal –  

Effingham Parkway at Blue Jay Road - Roundabout Evaluation and Concept Design 
 

Pond & Company (Pond) is pleased to submit this proposal for transportation engineering design services for the 
above project. The paragraphs below describe the professional services and fees to accomplish this work. 
 
PROJECT UNDERSTANDING: 
Effingham County is looking to evaluate the intersection of Effingham Parkway at Blue Jay Road for the feasibility 
of a roundabout alternative. Tasks will include traffic analysis, as well as the development of concept layout and 
associated costs to identify impacts including adjacent properties, utilities, etc. 
 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES: 
Pond will provide all labor, materials, and equipment necessary to assist Effingham County in completing the tasks 
as described herein. 
 
Scope of Work 
 
Task 1: Traffic Analysis 
 
Task 1A.  Traffic Data – Pond will utilize the approved design traffic volumes from the GDOT Effingham Parkway 
from SR 30 to Blue Jay Road (PI #006700) project. Traffic volumes will be projected into a revised open year (2023) 
and design year (2043) based on the growth rates and methodology developed for the Effingham County 
Transportation Master Plan (TMP). 
 
Task 1B.  Traffic Analysis – Pond will analyze the traffic at the intersection of Effingham Parkway at Blue Jay Road 
to determine the operations of the previously proposed stop-controlled configuration and a roundabout.  
 
A review of crash history will be completed utilizing GDOT’s GEARS and Numetric databases. Capacity analysis will 
be performed for each intersection using Synchro Software. This analysis will be performed for the AM and PM 
peak hours of the existing year, opening year, and design year. Analysis of the opening and design years will 
include a no-build condition as well as the previously proposed stop-controlled condition and a roundabout 
condition. This analysis will be used to determine what improvements and alternatives are necessary to obtain 
acceptable operations. 
 

352

Item XI. 11.



 

 

 
Page 2 

 

Task 1C. Traffic Engineering Technical Memorandum – Pond will document the analysis results and 
recommendations in a Traffic Engineering Technical Memo. 

• Pond will submit the  Report to Effingham County for comment/approval. This task includes one 
meeting with the county to discuss the plans. We will respond to (1) round of comments and 
incorporate appropriate comments into the memo. 
 

Deliverables for (Task 1) 

• Traffic Engineering Technical Memo 
 
 
Task 2: Concept Layout 
 
Task 2A:  Base Mapping Setup: Pond will utilize the electronic design files (i.e. DGN, DWG, etc)  provided by 
Effigham County to develop the basemapping. This includes topographic survey, parcel data, roadway data, 
utility data, and contour information. This information will be overlayed on high-resolution aerial imagery. 

 
Task 2B:  Concept Layout – Pond will utilize the basemapping from Task 2A to prepare a concept layout for the 
intersection of Effingham Parkway at Blue Jay Road. The alternative will consist of the following: 

• Alternative 1 – Roundabout 
o This alternative will identify the horizontal geometric improvements needed for a single lane 

roundabout. 
o Evaluation will include swept path analysis of the design vehicle determined for this 

intersection, along with performance checks (i.e. fastest path analysis).  
 
The concept layout will indicate the proposed improvements and potential impacts, including property/right-of-
way, utility, etc. 

• Includes (1) meeting with Effingham County staff and addressing (1) round of comments. 
 

Task 2B:  Cost Estimate – Pond will prepare a concept-level cost estimate for the concept layout, including right-
of-way/property costs. 

 
Deliverables (Task 2) 

o Concept Layout for Roundabout Alternative 
o Cost Estimate for Roundabout Alternative 

 
 
Schedule 
Pond understands the importance of expediting the delivery of this project, and we are confident that the draft 
of the concept layout can be completed within (5) weeks from Notice-to-Proceed. 
 
ASSUMPTIONS: 
The concept plans will be prepared as a Effingham County let and funded project.  
 
Services or tasks not specifically outlined above are excluded and would be considered additional services.  
Services not included in the scope: 

• Design/Engineering Plans • Additional Concept Alternative 

353

Item XI. 11.



 

 

 
Page 3 

 

• Roundabout Alternative 

• GDOT Forecasting and Methodology Process 

• Traffic Analysis (Beyond Task 1) 

• Right-of-Way Plans 

• GDOT Plan Development Process (PDP) 

• Staging Plans 

• Topographic Survey 

• Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Services 

• Landscape/Hardscape Plans 

• GDOT Concept Report 

• Additional Meetings 

• MS4 Analysis/Documentation 

• Environmental Services 

• Erosion Control Plans/Inspection 

• Utility Coordination 

• Public Involvement 

• Geotechnical Services 

 
PROFESSIONAL FEES: 
Pond proposes to accomplish Task 1 through Task 2 for a total Lump-Sum fee of $31,500.  

 
Total Fee: $31,500 (Lump-Sum fee is inclusive of labor, expenses, and direct costs) 
 
If this fee and scope is acceptable, Pond & Company is available to begin work immediately. If you have any 
questions or would like us to discuss/modify the scope, please contact myself or Zach Puckett, who will serve as 
the Project Manager. If you need any additional information, please feel free to contact me at (678) 336-7740.   
 
Sincerely, 
 
POND & COMPANY 
 

 
Richard Fangmann, PE, PTOE 
Vice-President 
 
Cc:    
Melissa Phillips, Client Liaison 
Zach Puckett, PE, IMSA II   
 

354

Item XI. 11.



Staff Report                
 
Subject:  Rezone (First District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Zeny Carmen Rafael requests to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
the separation of a home site. Located at 591 Zittrouer Road. Map# 374 Parcel# 29 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the separation of a home site with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 

requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to separate a 3-acre home site, and, therefore, must rezone the 3 acres to AR-2 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to to 

rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and 

be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives   
1. Approve the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, 

and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.  Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

355

Item XV. 1.



356

Item XV. 1.



357

Item XV. 1.



358

Item XV. 1.



359

Item XV. 1.



360

Item XV. 1.



361

Item XV. 1.



362

Item XV. 1.



363

Item XV. 1.



364

Item XV. 1.



365

Item XV. 1.



366

Item XV. 1.



367

Item XV. 1.



368

Item XV. 1.



369

Item XV. 1.



370

Item XV. 1.



371

Item XV. 1.



Staff Report                
 
Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Zeny Carmen Rafael requests to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for 
the separation of a home site. Located at 591 Zittrouer Road. Map# 374 Parcel# 29 

 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from 
AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the separation of a home site with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 

requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to separate a 3-acre home site, and, therefore, must rezone the 3 acres to AR-2 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to to 

rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and 

be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives   
1. Approve the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, 

and be recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. Deny the request to rezone 3 of 14 acres from AR-1 to AR-2.. 

Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  

372

Item XV. 2.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

374-29 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

374-29 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS ZENY CARMEN RAFAEL has filed an application to rezone three (3) +/- acres; from AR-1 to AR-2 to allow 

for the separation of a home site; map and parcel number 374-29, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT three (3) +/- acres; map and parcel number 374-29, located in the 1st commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be recorded, 

before the rezoning can take effect. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

373

Item XV. 2.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Sketch Plan (First District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Buckel Design Group, LLC as Agent for Drayton-Parker Companies, LLC requests 
approval of a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Kitchen at US 80 & SR 17”. Located at US Highway 80 & GA Highway 
17 South, zoned B-3.  Map# 378 Parcels# 40 & 41 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Kitchen at US 
80 & SR 17”. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for approval of a sketch plan is a requirement of Appendix B – Subdivision Regulations, 

Article V-Plan and Plat Requirements, Section 5.1 – Sketch Plan. 

The purpose of a sketch plan is to provide both the applicant and the county an opportunity to review 

the proposed development before significant financial resources have been invested. Therefore, the 

sketch plan does not require the certification of an engineer, surveyor, or other professional. Existing 

features, including water bodies, wetlands, and flood zone limits, are required to be surveyed for the 

sketch plan.   

 Development Services and DPH staff met with the development team on 1/12/2022 via 

teleconference, and discussed septic system design & approval; stormwater requirements; and fire 

department requirements (community v. private well).   

 The recombination plat must be recorded before submittal of septic system plans for DPH review. 

 The applicant proposes to obtain water service from Water Utility Management. 

 All proposed driveways are on state roads. GDOT encroachment permits will be required for site 

development approval. The Traffic Impact Assessme has been submitted to GDOT.  

 A 30’ vegetative buffer is required on property boundaries adjacent to R and AR properties.  

 The development does not trigger a regional review, as it does not contain more than three diesel 

fuel pumps, or a half acre of truck parking, or 10 truck parking spaces. Any increase in these features 

will trigger a regional review. 

 Staff directed the design engineers to provide adequate turn radius for trucks to safely access the 

property from Hwy 17 & Hwy 80. 

 After Sketch Plan approval, staff will follow-up with a Notice to Proceed, summarizing requirements 

and recommendations. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Ryan Thompson made a motion to approve a sketch plan 

for: “Parker’s Kitchen at US 80 & SR 17”. 

 The motion was seconded by Peter Higgins, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives 
1. Approve request for a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Kitchen at US 80 & SR 17”. 
2. Deny the request of a sketch plan for: “Parker’s Kitchen at US 80 & SR 17”. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1   Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Sketch Plan Application 3. Aerial Photograph 2. Sketch Plan 

374

Item XV. 3.



375

Item XV. 3.



376

Item XV. 3.



377

Item XV. 3.



378

Item XV. 3.



379

Item XV. 3.



380

Item XV. 3.



381

Item XV. 3.



382

Item XV. 3.



383

Item XV. 3.



384

Item XV. 3.



385

Item XV. 3.



386

Item XV. 3.



387

Item XV. 3.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Second District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Alan Fred Hazard Jr. requests to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the 
creation of two lots under 5 acres. Located at 3535 Noel C Conaway Road.  Map# 436 Parcel# 44 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to 
AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 acres, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 

requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to subdivide a parcel under 5 acres to create an additional home site and, 

therefore, must rezone it to AR-2. 

 The parcel is located in Scuffletown Estates, a major subdivision, which is zoned AR-1. Pursuant to 

section 6.6 Resubdivision, the following criteria must be considered before approving resubdivision 

within a major subdivision: 

 Whether the size of the proposed lots is compatible with the size of the lots created by the 
previously approved subdivision,  

 Lot 1 has been subdivided. No other lots in Scuffletown Estates are less than 2 acres.   
 Whether the intended use of the property as previously subdivided has been frustrated by 

changing economic conditions, by the exercise of eminent domain, or other circumstances. 

 No change. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. The applicant 
chooses to split the parcel, which requires it to be rezoned. 

 Whether the proposed resubdivision will adversely affect the values of other property within the 
previously platted subdivision in which the property is located, and 

 No change. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. 
 Whether the proposed resubdivision is compatible with the purposes of the Effingham County 

subdivision regulations. 

 Yes. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots must meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Revised major subdivision final plat must be approved by Environmental Health and the Board of 

Commissioners, and be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 
acres, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots must meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Revised major subdivision final plat must be approved by Environmental Health and the Board of 

Commissioners, and be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 acres. 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.  Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 
388

Item XV. 4.



389

Item XV. 4.



390

Item XV. 4.



391

Item XV. 4.



392

Item XV. 4.



393

Item XV. 4.



394

Item XV. 4.



395

Item XV. 4.



396

Item XV. 4.



397

Item XV. 4.



398

Item XV. 4.



399

Item XV. 4.



400

Item XV. 4.



401

Item XV. 4.



402

Item XV. 4.



403

Item XV. 4.



404

Item XV. 4.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Alan Fred Hazard Jr. requests to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the 
creation of two lots under 5 acres. Located at 3535 Noel C Conaway Road.  Map# 436 Parcel# 44 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to 
AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 acres, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, 

Section 9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 

requires a minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to subdivide a parcel under 5 acres to create an additional home site and, 

therefore, must rezone it to AR-2. 

 The parcel is located in Scuffletown Estates, a major subdivision, which is zoned AR-1. Pursuant to 

section 6.6 Resubdivision, the following criteria must be considered before approving resubdivision 

within a major subdivision: 

 Whether the size of the proposed lots is compatible with the size of the lots created by the 
previously approved subdivision,  

 Lot 1 has been subdivided. No other lots in Scuffletown Estates are less than 2 acres.   
 Whether the intended use of the property as previously subdivided has been frustrated by 

changing economic conditions, by the exercise of eminent domain, or other circumstances. 

 No change. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. The applicant 
chooses to split the parcel, which requires it to be rezoned. 

 Whether the proposed resubdivision will adversely affect the values of other property within the 
previously platted subdivision in which the property is located, and 

 No change. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. 
 Whether the proposed resubdivision is compatible with the purposes of the Effingham County 

subdivision regulations. 

 Yes. A second home is already allowed on the AR-1 parcel. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots must meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Revised major subdivision final plat must be approved by Environmental Health and the Board of 

Commissioners, and be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Brad Smith, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 
acres, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots must meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Revised major subdivision final plat must be approved by Environmental Health and the Board of 

Commissioners, and be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 3.5 acres from AR-1 to AR-2 allow for the creation of two lots under 5 acres. 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

405

Item XV. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

436-44 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

436-44 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS ALAN FRED HAZARD JR. has filed an application to rezone three and fifty hundredth (3.5) +/- acres; from 

AR-1 to AR-2 to allow for the creation of two lots under 5 acres; map and parcel number 436-44, located in the 2nd commissioner 

district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT three and fifty hundredth (3.5) +/- acres; map and parcel number 436-44, located in the 

2nd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lots must meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. Revised major subdivision final plat must be approved by Environmental Health and the Board of Commissioners, and be 

recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

406

Item XV. 5.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Third District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Shelley McCraw requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 238 
Griffin Lake Road, zoned AR-1.  Map# 234 Parcel# 7 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a 
rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 

requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – the proposed business will provide “Mommy & Me” style development and enrichment 

classes for accompanied young children. There will be 10-15 children per one-hour class, which 

will meet 2-3 classes per week. As presented, this business would have little to no impact on 

surrounding properties. 

o Structure – the business will operate out of the existing dwelling, there is a proposed plan to 

relocate activity to an existing accessory structure which will be renovated for the purpose.  

o Square footage – Neither the area devoted to the business while in the home, nor the entirety of 

the accessory structure exceed 1,000 square feet.   

o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Griffin Lake Road. 

o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 3 acres.  

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request for a conditional use for a rural business, with conditions:  

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  
2.  Deny the request a conditional use for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments: 1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph 3. Deed 
  

407

Item XV. 6.



408

Item XV. 6.



409

Item XV. 6.



410

Item XV. 6.



411

Item XV. 6.



412

Item XV. 6.



413

Item XV. 6.



414

Item XV. 6.



415

Item XV. 6.



416

Item XV. 6.



417

Item XV. 6.



418

Item XV. 6.



419

Item XV. 6.



420

Item XV. 6.



421

Item XV. 6.



422

Item XV. 6.



423

Item XV. 6.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Shelley McCraw requests a conditional use for a rural business. Located at 238 
Griffin Lake Road, zoned AR-1.  Map# 234 Parcel# 7 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a 
rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 

requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – the proposed business will provide “Mommy & Me” style development and enrichment 

classes for accompanied young children. There will be 10-15 children per one-hour class, which 

will meet 2-3 classes per week. As presented, this business would have little to no impact on 

surrounding properties. 

o Structure – the business will operate out of the existing dwelling, there is a proposed plan to 

relocate activity to an existing accessory structure which will be renovated for the purpose.  

o Square footage – Neither the area devoted to the business while in the home, nor the entirety of 

the accessory structure exceed 1,000 square feet.   

o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Griffin Lake Road. 

o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 3 acres.  

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request for a conditional use for a rural business, with conditions:  

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  
2.  Deny the request a conditional use for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  

424

Item XV. 7.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

234-7 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

234-7 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, SHELLEY MCGRAW has filed an application for a conditional use for a rural business, for the development 

enrichment classes for accompanied young children; map and parcel number 234-7, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use for a rural business, for the development enrichment classes for 

accompanied young children; map and parcel number 234-7, located in the 3rd commissioner district, is approved, with the following 

conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of operation. The business 

license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 

3. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory structures for use in the 

business.  

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

425

Item XV. 7.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Third District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: La Von Morell requests to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for 
the separation of a home site. Located at 519 Savannah Town Road.  Map# 264 Parcel# 23  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for the separation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 

minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to subdivide a parcel in a manner that creates one lot under 5 acres and, therefore, 

must rezone 3.84 acres to AR-2. The remaining acreage is to be combined with an adjacent AR-1 parcel. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application   3. Deed  

2. Ownership certificate   4. Aerial photograph 
  

426

Item XV. 8.



427

Item XV. 8.



428

Item XV. 8.



429

Item XV. 8.



430

Item XV. 8.



431

Item XV. 8.



432

Item XV. 8.



433

Item XV. 8.



434

Item XV. 8.



435

Item XV. 8.



436

Item XV. 8.



437

Item XV. 8.



438

Item XV. 8.



439

Item XV. 8.



440

Item XV. 8.



441

Item XV. 8.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: La Von Morell requests to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for 
the separation of a home site. Located at 519 Savannah Town Road.  Map# 264 Parcel# 23  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres 
from AR-1 to AR-2, to allow for the separation of a home site, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts. AR-1 requires a 

minimum lot size of 5 acres. AR-2 allows lots of one acre or more. 

 The applicant wishes to subdivide a parcel in a manner that creates one lot under 5 acres and, therefore, 

must rezone 3.84 acres to AR-2. The remaining acreage is to be combined with an adjacent AR-1 parcel. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Alan Zipperer made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 

 The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions:  

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 
2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be 

recorded, before the rezoning can take effect. 
 
2. Deny the request to rezone 3.84 of 10.15 acres from AR-1 to AR-2. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  

442

Item XV. 9.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

264-23 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

264-23 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS LAVON MORELL has filed an application to rezone three and eighty-four hundredth (3.84) +/- acres; from AR-

1 to AR-2 to allow for the separation of a home site; map and parcel number 264-23, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT three and eighty-four hundredth (3.84) +/- acres; map and parcel number 264-23, 

located in the 3rd commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to AR-2, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-2 zoning district. 

2. Minor subdivision plat must be approved by Development Services and Environmental Health, and be recorded, before the 

rezoning can take effect. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

443

Item XV. 9.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Third District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Katie McGrory Brown requests a conditional use for a rural business to offer equine 
therapy to clients. Located at 716 Floyd Avenue, zoned AR-1.  Map# 296 Parcel# 27  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a 
rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 

requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – Therapy conducted from an in-home office is an activity which will have little to no impact 

to surrounding residences. Equine therapy is suitable to the AR-1 zoning of the property. The 

applicant already has horses on site. 

o Structure – the therapy business will operate out of the existing dwelling. The interaction with 

horses will take place on the exterior portion of the property. 

o Square Footage – 700 square feet of dedicated in-dwelling space, 1100 square feet for equine 

use. 

o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Floyd Avenue. 

o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 7.8 acres.  

 The nature of the business will be therapy from an in-home office, and equine therapy. 

 The applicant is an established therapist within Effingham County. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Total indoor and outdoor area dedicated to equine therapy may not exceed 1,000 square feet. 
4. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions:  

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Total indoor and outdoor area dedicated to equine therapy may not exceed 1,000 square feet. 
4. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  
 
2. Deny the conditional use for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2.  Aerial photograph  3. Deed  

444

Item XV. 10.



445

Item XV. 10.



446

Item XV. 10.



447

Item XV. 10.



448

Item XV. 10.



449

Item XV. 10.



450

Item XV. 10.



451

Item XV. 10.



452

Item XV. 10.



453

Item XV. 10.



454

Item XV. 10.



455

Item XV. 10.



456

Item XV. 10.



457

Item XV. 10.



458

Item XV. 10.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Katie McGrory Brown requests a conditional use for a rural business to offer equine 
therapy to clients. Located at 716 Floyd Avenue, zoned AR-1.  Map# 296 Parcel# 27  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use for a 
rural business, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for Rural Business Conditional Use is a requirement of Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, 

Article III-General Provisions, Section 3.15B - Rural Business. The Rural Business Conditional use 

requirements include consideration of:  

o Intent – Therapy conducted from an in-home office is an activity which will have little to no impact 

to surrounding residences. Equine therapy is suitable to the AR-1 zoning of the property. The 

applicant already has horses on site. 

o Structure – the therapy business will operate out of the existing dwelling. The interaction with 

horses will take place on the exterior portion of the property. 

o Square Footage – 700 square feet of dedicated in-dwelling space, 1100 square feet for equine 

use. 

o Public Road Frontage – the property has frontage on Floyd Avenue. 

o Acreage (3 minimum) – the property is 7.8 acres.  

 The nature of the business will be therapy from an in-home office, and equine therapy. 

 The applicant is an established therapist within Effingham County. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Peter Higgins made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Total indoor and outdoor area dedicated to equine therapy may not exceed 1,000 square feet. 
4. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the conditional use for a rural business, with the following conditions:  

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of 
operation. The business license shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 
3. Total indoor and outdoor area dedicated to equine therapy may not exceed 1,000 square feet. 
4. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory 

structures for use in the business.  
 
2. Deny the conditional use for a rural business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  
459

Item XV. 11.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

296-27 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

296-27 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, KATIE MCGRORY BROWN has filed an application for a conditional use for a rural business; map and 

parcel number 296-27, located in the 3rd commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use for a rural business; map and parcel number 234-7, located in the 3rd 

commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant must obtain an Effingham County Occupational Tax Certificate prior to the start of operation. The business license 

shall be maintained by annual renewal. 

2. The business shall conform, at all times, to rural business standards as outlined in Section 3.15B. 

3. Total indoor and outdoor area dedicated to equine therapy may not exceed 1,000 square feet. 

4. Applicant shall meet all building permit requirements for the renovation/construction of accessory structures for use in the 

business.  

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

460

Item XV. 11.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Jonathan Yates as Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester request to rezone 38.495 
acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower. Located at 2800 Little McCall Road. Map# 
392 Parcel# 2A  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 38.495 acres from 
R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 Pursuant to sections 5.1.2.11 (AR-1) and 14-133(3) Telecommunications Regulations, guyed or lattice 

towers are permitted in AR-1 as a conditional use, in accordance with the provisions of Article VII - 

Planning Board (sec. 7.1.6). 

 The parcel was part of a 58.43-acre tract rezoned to R-1 in 2006 for The Cottages, a residential 

subdivision that has not been developed.  The 38.495 acres was subdivided in 2019. A house has been 

constructed in the center of the property. 

 The owners wish to enter into a lease agreement for a telecommunications tower. Therefore, they must 

rezone the parcel to AR-1. 

 Due to wetlands coverage, the parcel is unlikely to be further subdivided, and is not suitable for 

additional development. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 

 The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request to rezone 38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application   3. Deed  

2. Ownership certificate   4. Aerial photograph 

461

Item XV. 12.



462

Item XV. 12.



463

Item XV. 12.



464

Item XV. 12.



465

Item XV. 12.



466

Item XV. 12.



467

Item XV. 12.



468

Item XV. 12.



469

Item XV. 12.



470

Item XV. 12.



471

Item XV. 12.



472

Item XV. 12.



473

Item XV. 12.



474

Item XV. 12.



475

Item XV. 12.



476

Item XV. 12.



477

Item XV. 12.



478

Item XV. 12.



479

Item XV. 12.



480

Item XV. 12.



481

Item XV. 12.



482

Item XV. 12.



483

Item XV. 12.



484

Item XV. 12.



485

Item XV. 12.



486

Item XV. 12.



487

Item XV. 12.



488

Item XV. 12.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: Jonathan Yates as Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester request to rezone 38.495 
acres from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower. Located at 2800 Little McCall Road. Map# 
392 Parcel# 2A  
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 38.495 acres from 
R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 Pursuant to sections 5.1.2.11 (AR-1) and 14-133(3) Telecommunications Regulations, guyed or lattice 

towers are permitted in AR-1 as a conditional use, in accordance with the provisions of Article VII - 

Planning Board (sec. 7.1.6). 

 The parcel was part of a 58.43-acre tract rezoned to R-1 in 2006 for The Cottages, a residential 

subdivision that has not been developed.  The 38.495 acres was subdivided in 2019. A house has been 

constructed in the center of the property. 

 The owners wish to enter into a lease agreement for a telecommunications tower. Therefore, they must 

rezone the parcel to AR-1. 

 Due to wetlands coverage, the parcel is unlikely to be further subdivided, and is not suitable for 

additional development. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 

 The motion was seconded by Ryan Thompson, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request to rezone 38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 
2. Deny the request to rezone 38.495 acres from R-1 to AR-1. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

489

Item XV. 13.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

392-2A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

392-2A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS JONATHAN YATES AS AGENT FOR DONALD A. & LYN M. WESTER has filed an application to rezone 

thirty-eight and forty-nine hundredth (38.49) +/- acres; from R-1 to AR-1 to allow for a telecommunications tower; map and parcel 

number 392-2A, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT thirty-eight and forty-nine hundredth (38.49) +/- acres; map and parcel number 392-2A, 

located in the 4th commissioner district is rezoned from R-1 to AR-1, with the following condition: 

1. The lot shall meet the requirements of the AR-1 zoning district. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

490

Item XV. 13.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Fourth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description:    Jonathan Yates as Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester requests a conditional use 
to allow for a telecommunications tower. Located at 2800 Little McCall Road, zoned R-1 proposed zoning 
AR-1. Map# 392 Parcel# 2A  
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to allow 
for a telecommunications tower in AR-1, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 Section 14-133(3) Telecommunications Regulations, permits lattice towers in AR-1 as a conditional use.  

 Pursuant to section 5.1.2.11, telecommunications towers may be permitted in AR-1, in accordance with 

the provisions of section 7.1.6 on a conditional basis: 

o Shall not adversely affect economic values or physical appearance of the surrounding areas; 

The proposed 260’ tower site is on a 38.495-acre parcel, set back ~1,200’ from Little McCall Rd.  

o Physical and environmental effects; 

The tower is FAA-approved. 

o Buffer zones; and Additional space for parking, landscaping, building, loading zones, and setbacks, 

to protect adjacent structures or lots from adverse impact. 

The tower site meets all county requirements. Applicant proposes to plant 32 Southern Magnolia 

along the lease area fence line in a 10’ wide landscaping buffer. 

 The applicant’s objectives are to serve the surrounding area by providing effective and essential wireless 

infrastructure. There are no known antenna structures within a three-mile radius. The proposed tower will 

support three additional providers, and will be located ~228’ from property line, which is ~128’ more than 

required (sec. 14-134(b)(6)). The break point is 130’; the fall zone is 156’ (1.2 X breakpoint). 

 Pursuant to sec. 14-134(i)(2), towers may be located on sites containing another principal use in the 

same buildable area. As long as all of the other siting, setback, separation, and general requirements 

of this article are met, towers may occupy a parcel meeting the minimum lot size requirements for the 

zoning district in which it is located. The minimum distance between a tower and other principal use 

located on the same lot shall be for a monopole or lattice tower the greater of 20 percent of the tower 

height or 25 feet. 

 The proposed tower will be located 447’ from the residence on the parcel, at least 228’ from the nearest 

property boundary, and over 1,000’ from existing residences in neighboring parcels. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lease area will be shown on a plat, which will be reviewed by Development Services. 
2. The tower site shall meet the requirements of Article V - Telecommunications Regulations. 

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request for conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in the AR-1 zoning district, 
with the following conditions: 

1. The lease area will be shown on a plat, which will be reviewed by Development Services. 
2. The tower site shall meet the requirements of Article V - Telecommunications Regulations. 

2. Deny the request for conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in the AR-1 zoning district. 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 2. Deed  3.  Aerial photograph  

491

Item XV. 14.



492

Item XV. 14.



493

Item XV. 14.



494

Item XV. 14.



495

Item XV. 14.



496

Item XV. 14.



497

Item XV. 14.



498

Item XV. 14.



499

Item XV. 14.



500

Item XV. 14.



501

Item XV. 14.



502

Item XV. 14.



503

Item XV. 14.



504

Item XV. 14.



505

Item XV. 14.



506

Item XV. 14.



507

Item XV. 14.



508

Item XV. 14.



509

Item XV. 14.



510

Item XV. 14.



511

Item XV. 14.



512

Item XV. 14.



513

Item XV. 14.



514

Item XV. 14.



515

Item XV. 14.



516

Item XV. 14.



517

Item XV. 14.



518

Item XV. 14.



519

Item XV. 14.



520

Item XV. 14.



521

Item XV. 14.



522

Item XV. 14.



523

Item XV. 14.



524

Item XV. 14.



525

Item XV. 14.



526

Item XV. 14.



527

Item XV. 14.



528

Item XV. 14.



529

Item XV. 14.



530

Item XV. 14.



531

Item XV. 14.



532

Item XV. 14.



533

Item XV. 14.



534

Item XV. 14.



535

Item XV. 14.



536

Item XV. 14.



537

Item XV. 14.



538

Item XV. 14.



539

Item XV. 14.



540

Item XV. 14.



541

Item XV. 14.



542

Item XV. 14.



543

Item XV. 14.



544

Item XV. 14.



545

Item XV. 14.



546

Item XV. 14.



547

Item XV. 14.



548

Item XV. 14.



549

Item XV. 14.



550

Item XV. 14.



551

Item XV. 14.



552

Item XV. 14.



553

Item XV. 14.



554

Item XV. 14.



555

Item XV. 14.



556

Item XV. 14.



557

Item XV. 14.



558

Item XV. 14.



559

Item XV. 14.



560

Item XV. 14.



561

Item XV. 14.



562

Item XV. 14.



563

Item XV. 14.



564

Item XV. 14.



565

Item XV. 14.



566

Item XV. 14.



567

Item XV. 14.



568

Item XV. 14.



569

Item XV. 14.



570

Item XV. 14.



571

Item XV. 14.



572

Item XV. 14.



573

Item XV. 14.



574

Item XV. 14.



575

Item XV. 14.



576

Item XV. 14.



577

Item XV. 14.



578

Item XV. 14.



579

Item XV. 14.



580

Item XV. 14.



581

Item XV. 14.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description:    Jonathan Yates as Agent for Donald A. & Lyn M. Wester requests a conditional use 
to allow for a telecommunications tower. Located at 2800 Little McCall Road, zoned R-1 proposed zoning 
AR-1. Map# 392 Parcel# 2A  
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a conditional use to allow 
for a telecommunications tower in AR-1, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background 

 Section 14-133(3) Telecommunications Regulations, permits lattice towers in AR-1 as a conditional use.  

 Pursuant to section 5.1.2.11, telecommunications towers may be permitted in AR-1, in accordance with 

the provisions of section 7.1.6 on a conditional basis: 

o Shall not adversely affect economic values or physical appearance of the surrounding areas; 

The proposed 260’ tower site is on a 38.495-acre parcel, set back ~1,200’ from Little McCall Rd.  

o Physical and environmental effects; 

The tower is FAA-approved. 

o Buffer zones; and Additional space for parking, landscaping, building, loading zones, and setbacks, 

to protect adjacent structures or lots from adverse impact. 

The tower site meets all county requirements. Applicant proposes to plant 32 Southern Magnolia 

along the lease area fence line in a 10’ wide landscaping buffer. 

 The applicant’s objectives are to serve the surrounding area by providing effective and essential wireless 

infrastructure. There are no known antenna structures within a three-mile radius. The proposed tower will 

support three additional providers, and will be located ~228’ from property line, which is ~128’ more than 

required (sec. 14-134(b)(6)). The break point is 130’; the fall zone is 156’ (1.2 X breakpoint). 

 Pursuant to sec. 14-134(i)(2), towers may be located on sites containing another principal use in the 

same buildable area. As long as all of the other siting, setback, separation, and general requirements 

of this article are met, towers may occupy a parcel meeting the minimum lot size requirements for the 

zoning district in which it is located. The minimum distance between a tower and other principal use 

located on the same lot shall be for a monopole or lattice tower the greater of 20 percent of the tower 

height or 25 feet. 

 The proposed tower will be located 447’ from the residence on the parcel, at least 228’ from the nearest 

property boundary, and over 1,000’ from existing residences in neighboring parcels. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request for a 

conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in AR-1, with the following conditions: 

1. The lease area will be shown on a plat, which will be reviewed by Development Services. 
2. The tower site shall meet the requirements of Article V - Telecommunications Regulations. 

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve request for conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in the AR-1 zoning district, 
with the following conditions: 

1. The lease area will be shown on a plat, which will be reviewed by Development Services. 
2. The tower site shall meet the requirements of Article V - Telecommunications Regulations. 

2. Deny the request for conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower in the AR-1 zoning district. 
Recommended Alternative:  1     Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

582

Item XV. 15.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

392-2A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

392-2A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, JONATHAN YATES AS AGENT FOR DONALD A. & LYN M. WESTER has filed an application for a 

conditional use to allow for a telecommunications tower; map and parcel number 392-2A, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use for a telecommunications tower; map and parcel number 392-2A, 

located in the 4th commissioner district, is approved, with the following conditions: 

1. The lease area will be shown on a plat, which will be reviewed by Development Services. 

2. The tower site shall meet the requirements of Article V - Telecommunications Regulations. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

583

Item XV. 15.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Conditional Use (Fourth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: On Site Truck Maintenance, LLC as Agent for William Henry Webb requests a 
conditional use to allow for a diesel truck and semi-truck service business located on a 7-acre tract zoned 
B-2. Located at 1105 Stillwell Road. Map# 409 Parcel# 49A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck 
service business in B-2. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for conditional use is a requirement of Article V - Uses Permitted in Districts, Sec. 5.1.2 

Conditional Uses.  

 The parcel was rezoned to B-2 in 2006, with a condition to “allow tractor and equipment sales and 

service only”. 

 The applicant has a business in Port Wentworth, but has to relocate. He currently operates a mobile 

repair business providing general maintenance repairs on diesel trucks/semi-trucks.  

 The B-2 zoning district does not include diesel truck/semi-truck service or repair as either a 

permitted or a conditional use. B-2 conditional uses include “Commercial Parking Areas” and 

“Automobile Service”. The applicant’s other option was to apply for B-3 zoning, where “Automobile 

Sales, Service, and Service” is a permitted use, and “Automotive Paint and Body Shops” is a 

conditional use. 

 There are two farm supply-related businesses on Stillwell Road, which generate truck traffic and 

include onsite storage of trucks and containers. Stillwell Road is not a designated truck route. 

 The applicant plans to use the existing structure, and eventually add a mobile office. He estimates 

that 8-10 trucks will be present at any time, with no vehicle on site for more than three days. 

Business hours will be 8am-6pm, Monday-Friday, and 8am-2pm on Saturday. 

 A 30’ vegetative buffer is required between commercial and AR uses. The sketch plan must include 

information on water and sewer service, access management, and any planned improvements. 

 The property is in the Springfield service delivery area. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to deny the request for a 

conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business in B-2,  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business. 
2. Deny the request for a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2     Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Conditional Use application 3.  Aerial photograph 

2. Deed 

584

Item XV. 16.



585

Item XV. 16.



586

Item XV. 16.



587

Item XV. 16.



588

Item XV. 16.



589

Item XV. 16.



590

Item XV. 16.



591

Item XV. 16.



592

Item XV. 16.



593

Item XV. 16.



594

Item XV. 16.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: On Site Truck Maintenance, LLC as Agent for William Henry Webb requests a 
conditional use to allow for a diesel truck and semi-truck service business located on a 7-acre tract zoned 
B-2. Located at 1105 Stillwell Road. Map# 409 Parcel# 49A 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck 
service business in B-2. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for conditional use is a requirement of Article V - Uses Permitted in Districts, Sec. 5.1.2 

Conditional Uses.  

 The parcel was rezoned to B-2 in 2006, with a condition to “allow tractor and equipment sales and 

service only”. 

 The applicant has a business in Port Wentworth, but has to relocate. He currently operates a mobile 

repair business providing general maintenance repairs on diesel trucks/semi-trucks.  

 The B-2 zoning district does not include diesel truck/semi-truck service or repair as either a 

permitted or a conditional use. B-2 conditional uses include “Commercial Parking Areas” and 

“Automobile Service”. The applicant’s other option was to apply for B-3 zoning, where “Automobile 

Sales, Service, and Service” is a permitted use, and “Automotive Paint and Body Shops” is a 

conditional use. 

 There are two farm supply-related businesses on Stillwell Road, which generate truck traffic and 

include onsite storage of trucks and containers. Stillwell Road is not a designated truck route. 

 The applicant plans to use the existing structure, and eventually add a mobile office. He estimates 

that 8-10 trucks will be present at any time, with no vehicle on site for more than three days. 

Business hours will be 8am-6pm, Monday-Friday, and 8am-2pm on Saturday. 

 A 30’ vegetative buffer is required between commercial and AR uses. The sketch plan must include 

information on water and sewer service, access management, and any planned improvements. 

 The property is in the Springfield service delivery area. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to deny the request for a 

conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business in B-2,  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business. 
2. Deny the request for a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2     Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services   FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

595

Item XV. 17.



STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

409-49A 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

409-49A 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ON SITE TRUCK MAINTENANCE, LLC AS AGENT FOR WILLIAM HENRY WEBB has filed an 

application for a conditional use to allow for a semi-truck service business; map and parcel number 409-49A, located in the 4th 

commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a conditional use for a semi-truck service business; map and parcel number 409-49A, 

located in the 4th commissioner district, is approved. 

 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

596

Item XV. 17.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Variance (Fourth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: DR Horton requests a variance from section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk requirement 
in a major subdivision. Located at 136 Ramsey Way, zoned R-1. Map# 445C Parcel# 141 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request for a variance from the sidewalk 
requirement for 136 Ramsey Way. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district 

in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property 

can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization 

of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 Applicant requests a waiver from the requirement to include a sidewalk at 136 Ramsey Way, due to 

topographical conditions.  

 Ramsey Landing Architectural Review Guidelines (2012) note that sidewalks are not required on several 

lots, including #141. Effingham County is not party to these guidelines. 

 Neighboring properties include sidewalks. Lots can be graded, or retaining walls added, to create a flat 

surface for sidewalks. 

 A sidewalk was included on lot 142, contrary to the Architectural guidelines. It ends abruptly, with no 

transition to curb. This presents a safety issue for pedestrians, strollers, scooters, etc. 

 Ramsey Landing is a gated, private subdivision; the County does not maintain these roads.  The HOA is 

therefore responsible for construction, maintenance, and safety of the sidewalks. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request for a 

variance from the sidewalk requirement for 136 Ramsey Way.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a variance from the sidewalk requirement. 
2. Deny the request for a variance from the sidewalk requirement. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Variance application   3.  Deed 

2. Ownership Certification  4. Aerial photography 
  

597

Item XV. 18.



598

Item XV. 18.



599

Item XV. 18.



600

Item XV. 18.



601

Item XV. 18.



602

Item XV. 18.



603

Item XV. 18.



604

Item XV. 18.



605

Item XV. 18.



606

Item XV. 18.



607

Item XV. 18.



608

Item XV. 18.



609

Item XV. 18.



610

Item XV. 18.



611

Item XV. 18.



612

Item XV. 18.



613

Item XV. 18.



614

Item XV. 18.



615

Item XV. 18.



616

Item XV. 18.



617

Item XV. 18.



618

Item XV. 18.



619

Item XV. 18.



620

Item XV. 18.



621

Item XV. 18.



622

Item XV. 18.



623

Item XV. 18.



624

Item XV. 18.



625

Item XV. 18.



626

Item XV. 18.



627

Item XV. 18.



628

Item XV. 18.



629

Item XV. 18.



630

Item XV. 18.



631

Item XV. 18.



632

Item XV. 18.



633

Item XV. 18.



634

Item XV. 18.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description: DR Horton requests a variance from section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk requirement 
in a major subdivision. Located at 136 Ramsey Way, zoned R-1. Map# 445C Parcel# 141 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends denial of the request for a variance from the sidewalk 
requirement for 136 Ramsey Way. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district 

in which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property 

can be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization 

of a variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 Applicant requests a waiver from the requirement to include a sidewalk at 136 Ramsey Way, due to 

topographical conditions.  

 Ramsey Landing Architectural Review Guidelines (2012) note that sidewalks are not required on several 

lots, including #141. Effingham County is not party to these guidelines. 

 Neighboring properties include sidewalks. Lots can be graded, or retaining walls added, to create a flat 

surface for sidewalks. 

 A sidewalk was included on lot 142, contrary to the Architectural guidelines. It ends abruptly, with no 

transition to curb. This presents a safety issue for pedestrians, strollers, scooters, etc. 

 Ramsey Landing is a gated, private subdivision; the County does not maintain these roads.  The HOA is 

therefore responsible for construction, maintenance, and safety of the sidewalks. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request for a 

variance from the sidewalk requirement for 136 Ramsey Way.  

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a variance from the sidewalk requirement. 
2. Deny the request for a variance from the sidewalk requirement. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  2    Other Alternatives:  1 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

  

635

Item XV. 19.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

445C-141 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

445C-141 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, DR HORTON has filed an application for a variance, from section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk requirement 

for 136 Ramsey Way; map and parcel number 445C-141, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance from section 6.1, to eliminate the sidewalk requirement for 136 Ramsey 

Way; map and parcel number 445C-141, located in the 4th commissioner district is approved. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

636

Item XV. 19.



Staff Report            

Subject:  Rezoning (Fourth District) 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description:    Dennis Trotter as Agent for Krista Seckinger requests to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres 
from AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store, located at 1369 Ebenezer 
Road. Map# 460 Parcel# 48 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from 
AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 Retail businesses are a permitted use in the B-2 General Commercial District. B-2 is compatible with the 

surrounding area, which includes residential development, a school complex, and an undeveloped 

property zoned B-2 across Ebenezer Rd. 

 The property is in the Springfield water & sewer service delivery area. 

 The proposed development will be 10,640 sf store clad in brick, stone, or stucco, with no exposed metal 

wall panels. Other decorative features, such as shutters and awnings, are proposed. 

 A 30’ vegetative buffer is required between R and B districts.  Wetlands to the west ensure that even with 

additional development of the parent parcel, there will be extensive buffering between commercial and 

adjacent residential uses. 

 Staff met with the applicant via Zoom on 2/28/2022, and discussed exterior building materials, the speed 

limit on Long Pond and Ebenezer Roads, and the sketch plan process. The applicant is working with 

GDOT on a driveway design permit. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-2 zoning district. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-2 zoning district. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

637

Item XV. 20.



2.  Deny the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1. Rezoning application  3. Deed  

2. Ownership certificate  4. Aerial photograph 
 

638

Item XV. 20.



639

Item XV. 20.



640

Item XV. 20.



641

Item XV. 20.



642

Item XV. 20.



643

Item XV. 20.



644

Item XV. 20.



645

Item XV. 20.



646

Item XV. 20.



647

Item XV. 20.



648

Item XV. 20.



649

Item XV. 20.



650

Item XV. 20.



651

Item XV. 20.



652

Item XV. 20.



653

Item XV. 20.



654

Item XV. 20.



655

Item XV. 20.



656

Item XV. 20.



657

Item XV. 20.



658

Item XV. 20.



659

Item XV. 20.



Staff Report            

Subject:  2nd Reading Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Teresa Concannon, AICP, Planning & Zoning Manager 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022 
Item Description:    Dennis Trotter as Agent for Krista Seckinger requests to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres 
from AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store, located at 1369 Ebenezer 
Road. Map# 460 Parcel# 48 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from 
AR-1 to B-2, to allow for the future development of a Dollar General store, with conditions. 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 

9.  Zoning districts are described in Appendix C, Article V-Uses Permitted in Districts.  

 Retail businesses are a permitted use in the B-2 General Commercial District. B-2 is compatible with the 

surrounding area, which includes residential development, a school complex, and an undeveloped 

property zoned B-2 across Ebenezer Rd. 

 The property is in the Springfield water & sewer service delivery area. 

 The proposed development will be 10,640 sf store clad in brick, stone, or stucco, with no exposed metal 

wall panels. Other decorative features, such as shutters and awnings, are proposed. 

 A 30’ vegetative buffer is required between R and B districts.  Wetlands to the west ensure that even with 

additional development of the parent parcel, there will be extensive buffering between commercial and 

adjacent residential uses. 

 Staff met with the applicant via Zoom on 2/28/2022, and discussed exterior building materials, the speed 

limit on Long Pond and Ebenezer Roads, and the sketch plan process. The applicant is working with 

GDOT on a driveway design permit. 

 At the March 21 Planning Board meeting, Brad Smith made a motion to approve the request to rezone 

2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-2 zoning district. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

 The motion was seconded by Alan Zipperer, and carried unanimously. 

Alternatives  
1.  Approve the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-2 zoning district. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are 

submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection 

Ordinance and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham 

County Traffic Study Requirements. 

660

Item XV. 21.



2.  Deny the request to rezone 2 of 23.32 acres from AR-1 to B-2 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

 

661

Item XV. 21.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

460-48 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

460-48 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS DENNIS TROTTER AS AGENT FOR KRISTA SECKINGER has filed an application to rezone two (2) +/- 

acres; from AR-1 to B-2 to allow for the future development of a Dollar general store; map and parcel number 460-48, located in the 

4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on April 5, 2022 and notice of said hearing having been published in the Effingham 

County Herald on March 9, 2022; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on March 2, 2022; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT two (2) +/- acres; map and parcel number 460-48, located in the 4th commissioner 

district is rezoned from AR-1 to B-2, with the following conditions: 

1. Minor subdivision plat must be recorded before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. The lot shall meet the requirements of the B-2 zoning district. 

3. A Sketch Plan must be approved by the Board of Commissioners before site development plans are submitted. 

4. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resources Protection Ordinance and the Stormwater 

Management Local Design Manual. 

5. All wetland impacts must be approved and permitted by USACE. 

6. A traffic study must be submitted during the development plan review process, pursuant to Effingham County Traffic Study 

Requirements. 

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

662

Item XV. 21.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	IDC renewals
	1. Staff Report IDC eng Arch fy 22 rev 03292021
	2. IDC Breakdown by Category
	3. ALL IDC Contracts

	Item X. 1.	Konter Rezone (postponed from 3/1/2022)
	04052022 Presentments_Old Bus_Konter
	416-20D_Konter_RZ

	Item X. 2.	Konter Rezone_2nd reading
	04052022 Presentments_ 2nd readings_Konter
	416-20D_Konter_RZ

	Item XI. 1.	Audited annual financial report transmission to State of Georgia
	Audit Presentation

	Item XI. 2.	Audit Transmission
	2022 staff report - audit transmission FY 2021

	Item XI. 3.	Eden Baptist Church Resolution
	Eden Baptist Church_sr
	Eden Missionary Baptist Church Resolution
	EMBC Res Req 2022

	Item XI. 4.	ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement
	ACCG 2022 Defined Contribution Plan Restatement 4.5.2022
	IRS Opinion Letter on Restated ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan
	Effingham County Resolution to Adopt 2022 Restated DC Plan
	Effingham County 2022 Restated DC Adoption Agreement
	Summary of Default Elections in Restated Adoption Agreement
	Notice - Instructions to Participating Employer
	Restated ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan Document

	Item XI. 5.	Reduction of Speed Limit on McCall Road and Blue Jay Road
	Staff Report 35 04052022 draft 01
	Speed Ordinance Bluejay McCall Road
	Preliminary Traffic Study Report 3-22-22

	Item XI. 6.	McLendon Change Order
	1. Staff Report McLendon change order 2
	2. McLendon Change Order 2 2021 Road Resurfacing Project
	3. Effingham Co. Resurfacing - Labrador Ln
	4. 2021-365_McClendon Enterprise,INC._21-25-005_072021

	Item XI. 7.	Reorganization of positions in Recreation and Sports Management Department
	Reorganization of Positions- Recreation and Sports Management 4.5.2022
	Athletic Coordinator - 2020 Template

	Item XI. 8.	contract amendment - CRC senior meals FY 2022
	2022 staff report - CRC Third Contact Amendment 2022-08.3
	Third Amendment FY2022 CRC Contract#2022-08.3

	Item XI. 9.	contract - ACCG internship grant
	2022 staff report - ACCG GCIP Contract with
	2022 ACCG GCIP Contract

	Item XI. 10.	Grant ratification-acceptance - First Responders COVID pay
	2022 staff report - AWARD Acceptance Governor's OPB Public Safety Officials  1st Responders Supplement Grant
	Award information - 1st Responder Grant

	Item XI. 11.	2020 Transportation Master Plan – Blue Jay Road Amendment
	staff report Efn parkway BJ intersection 04052022 draft01
	Change Order pond efn parkway bj intersection 04052022
	Effingham Parkway at Blue Jay Road - RAB Evaluation and Concept Design - Proposal

	Item XV. 1.	1 of 11 Rafael
	Rafael RZ
	1. 374-29 Rafael RZ

	Item XV. 2.	1 of 10 Rafael 2nd reading
	Rafael RZ 2nd reading
	374-29_Rafael_RZ

	Item XV. 3.	2 of 11 Buckel
	Buckel SP
	2. 378-40&41 Buckel SP

	Item XV. 4.	3 of 11 Hazard
	Hazard RZ
	3. 436-44 Hazard RZ

	Item XV. 5.	2 of 10 Hazard 2nd reading
	Hazard RZ 2nd reading
	436-44_Hazard Jr._RZ

	Item XV. 6.	4 of 11 McCraw
	McCraw CU
	4. 234-7 McCraw CU

	Item XV. 7.	3 of 10 McCraw 2nd reading
	McCraw RZ 2nd reading
	234-7_McGraw_CU

	Item XV. 8.	5 of 11 Morell
	Morell RZ
	5. 264-23 Morell RZ

	Item XV. 9.	4 of 10 Morell 2nd reading
	Morell RZ 2nd reading
	264-23_Morell_RZ

	Item XV. 10.	6 of 11 Brown
	Brown CU
	6. 296-27 Brown CU

	Item XV. 11.	5 of 10 Brown 2nd reading
	Brown CU 2nd reading
	296-27_Brown_CU

	Item XV. 12.	7 of 11 Yates RZ
	Yates RZ
	7. 392-2A Yates RZ

	Item XV. 13.	6 of 10 Yates RZ 2nd reading
	Yates RZ 2nd reading
	392-2A_Yates_RZ

	Item XV. 14.	8 of 11 Yates CU
	Yates CU
	8. 392-2A Yates CU

	Item XV. 15.	7 of 10 Yates CU 2nd reading
	Yates CU 2nd reading
	392-2A_Yates_CU

	Item XV. 16.	9 of 11 On Site for Webb
	Onsite Webb CU
	9. 409-49A Onsite CU

	Item XV. 17.	8 of 10 onsite Webb CU 2nd reading
	On site - Webb 2nd readaing
	409-49A_Webb_CU

	Item XV. 18.	10 of 11 DR Horton
	DR Horton V
	10. 445C-141 DR Horton V

	Item XV. 19.	9 of 10 DR Horton V 2nd reading
	DR Horton 2nd reading
	445C-141_DR Horton_V

	Item XV. 20.	11 of 11 Trotter
	Trotter RZ
	11. 460-48 Trotter RZ

	Item XV. 21.	10 of 10 Trotter RZ 2nd reading
	Trotter 2nd readaing
	460-48_Trotter_RZ

	Bottom

